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Foreword

The City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study developed from the community perceptions and
recommendations regarding cultural and social values contained in our Conservation Strategy
December 1991. Heritage which is valued and well preserved has many positive benefits for our
community. One of the most important of these is that it offers one means of fostering a sense of
identification and belonging amongst the residents of the area.

It was considered vital that a City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study take place to identify those
elements of our heritage which are worthy of preservation and protection before they are lost forever.

The name of the City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study reflects the importance placed on
heritage in the Cultural and Social Values section on the Conservation Strategy of the City of Berwick.

The Charter for the conservation of places of cultural significance (Burra Charter), accepted as the
authoritative guide to conserving important places in Australia, defines the processes and principles
used in conservation. In this respect: '

'Conservation means all the processes of looking after a place so as to retain its
cultural significance. It includes maintenance and may according to circumstance
include preservation, restoration, reconstruction and adaptation and will be
commonly a combination of more than one of these.'

The City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study Steering Committee was formed to oversee the
preparation of the study, as a first step in caring for our heritage. The next challenge to our community
is to continue the process through review and implementation.

The Steering Committee hopes that the wider community will develop a commitment to heritage in
conjunction with the ongoing process of implementing the Conservation Strategy of the City. This will
be vital to our past, present and future identity.

City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study Steering Committee
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PART 1: INTRODUCTION



Introduction

Background

The City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study arises from a recommendation in the City's
Conservation Strategy (section 2.3.3). After applying for and receiving partial funding for the project,
the City commissioned Context Pty Ltd to conduct the study. The consultants were appointed in May
1992 and completed their preliminary survey in June. They were commissioned in late July for Stage 2,
and the work was completed as agreed in August 1993. The study budget funded a total of 19 weeks
work over this period. .

Purpose of study

The City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study seeks to identify, document and recommend ways to
conserve historic places throughout the City.

Scope

The study brief requires the study to consider buildings, areas, gardens and trees of historical or special
significance in each locality of the City of Berwick, including those on Crown Land or owned by the
city.

The specific tasks required are summarised under Methods below.

Assessment of Aboriginal heritage places was not able to be included as a major part of the study due to
budget limitations; a brief summary of existing information on important Aboriginal places has been
prepared by Isabel Ellender, consultant archaeologist, and included in Part 3 of this report. The City of
Berwick Local Conservation Strategy does recognise the significance of the past and present

Wurundjeri culture. A special study of Aboriginal places should be commissioned jointly by the City
- and the Wurundjeri community.

Objectives ,
The study brief specified the objectives as being to:
@ identify, evaluate and document post-contact places of cultural significance in the study area

@ to make recommendations for the comservation and management of identified places of
cultural significance.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Introduction « 1



Management & funding

Funds for the study came from three sources. A grant of $10,000 was provided by the Commonwealth
Government under the National Estate Grants Program 1991/92 (Project No. 930). The City of Berwick
contributed $15,000, and the Department of Planning and Development $10,000.

The study was managed by a Steering Committee comprising:
= Councillors - Cr Kirsty Lottkowitz (to August 1992), Cr Tom Gyles.
o City of Berwick officers - Mike Tyler, David Westlake, Fiona Murray, Dr. Debbie Stephan

e Victorian National Estate Committee and Heritage Branch of the Department of Planning &
Development - David Hill

o City of Berwick Local Conservation Strategy Implementation and Review Committee - Dr
Bruce Coller (Chair), Elspeth Longney.

o A person representing historical interests - Louise Reeve
o A person representing real estate or development industry - Stephen Hallett
o A representative of arts and cultural interest - Dimitee Hogg Ramage.

A representative of the Wurundjeri Tribe Land and Compensation Cultural Heritage Council Inc was
invited to participate.

Methods

Previous studies

In designing the study, the consultants sought to build on existing knowledge about the heritage of the
City. During the preparation of the South-Eastern Growth Area Plan released in 1990, preliminary
heritage assessments were undertaken. .

An historical overview and architectural survey of the Berwick-Pakenham corridor by the former
Ministry for Planning and Environment provided an historical overview and a preliminary list of places
within the proposed growth corridor. A comprehensive study of the whole City was recommended.

At the same time a preliminary survey of Aboriginal sites was conducted, resulting in a number of new
sites being identified. Further detailed work was recommended during the development planning stage.

Key elements
The project involved four key elements:

1. Environmental analysis & history: an analysis of the natural and cultural landscape, the
dominant historical themes, and the community's sense of place. The results of this work are
contained in Part 2.

2. Investigation of heritage places: each place of potential heritage value was visited, its
history researched and its significance assessed. The most significant places are documented in
Part 3.

3. Community values & information: informing the community of the study and enabling
people to contribute their ideas about what is valued as a part of the City of Berwick's heritage.

4. Heritage Program: a program of policies and action to assist with caring for heritage places
was devised within the framework provided by the City of Berwick Conservation Strategy and
Council's planning policies.
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Stages

The project was conducted in two stages. In Stage 1, the Preliminary Survey, the consultants were
required to refine the study methods, determine the allocation of time between the different components
of the study and prepare a preliminary list of places worthy of investigation, a list of the major
historical themes and a bibliography of historical source materials.

In refining the study methods, priority was given to:

o sound research and investigation to identify, assess and document the significance of the area's
heritage assets

o analysing the requirements for the conservation of significant places, considering the role and
mechanisms available to local government.

o devising a practical program to encourage conservation of heritage places within the City

e producing a final report to inform the community of the important features of the City's
heritage and the opportunities to assist with its conservation. )

The results of Stage 1 were presented to the Steering Committee for approval prior to proceeding with
Stage 2, which represents the major portion of the study. The tasks described below formed the major
components of this stage.

Historical research
The historical research task involved: .
o updating the preliminary bibliography, adding sources located during the course of the study

o researching and writing a brief history of the City of Berwick, linking that history to the
heritage places that remain today (see Part 2).

o using the historical themes developed in Stage 1 as a framework for the environmental history
and comparative analysis of places

o researching the history and development stages of buildings, structures and areas

Field investigation of places
To provide an adequate information base on significant places, the following tasks were undertaken:

o comprehensive field survey throughout the municipality to locate places contained on the
preliminary list (Stage 1) and identify other places worthy of assessment. A survey form was
used to record these places, and each place likely to be of at least local significance was
photographed.

@ compilation of a computer-based inventory of basic information on all places identified
Analysis of significance

Information relevant to assessing the significance of a place was gathered through historical and
architectural research. Consultation with people knowledgeable about the place, such as past and
present owners, proved a valuable source of information.

The criteria used to assess significance are discussed in the following section - Valuing our heritage. In
assessing the significance of each place, the criteria were considered and comparisons made with
similar places known to the consultants within the municipality and elsewhere.

Documentation

Of the many significant places throughout the city, those assessed as being of the greatest significance
have been documented in this report. For each of these places there is a brief history and description,
followed by a statement of significance, a succinct statement of the reasons for its inclusion.

Where a place had already been thoroughly investigated and its significance assessed through previous
studies, this work was not duplicated.

Heritage of the City of Berwick | Introduction ¢ 3



Heritage Program

To develop a set of policies and practices that reflect community views and values, the requirements of
sound conservation practice, and the responsibilities of the City of Berwick.

Preparing a Heritage Program (linked to the Conservation Strategy) involved:

e Consideration of factors that will impinge on the conservation of significant places (for
example, existing zoning, condition of the place, opportunities for continuing or new uses,
land tenure, development proposals, and so on)

= Evaluation of Council's current policies and planning scheme requirements in terms of their
potential impact on significant places.

o Recommending policies and actions suited to conserving significant places within the City of
Berwick, including consideration of the need for planning measures, the effect of Council's
own internal policies and procedures, the need for support and assistance for property owners,
opportunities for community information and education. .

o Proposing procedures for giving effect to the Heritage Program, including an implementation
timetable, recommendations on developing detailed policies, controls and guidelines, drafting
of statutory controls; development of internal procedures to guide Council; development of an
incentives package for property owners; assessment of the need for community information or
specific guidelines.

Community information & values

The task of informing the community about the study was agreed to be primarily the responsibility of
the Steering Committee. The consultants prepared a preferred consultation program, parts of which
were able to be implemented by the Steering Committee.

During the development of the City of Berwick Conservation Strategy, a questionnaire and local
workshops asked the community to identify which places they considered to be part of the City's
heritage. The results are reported on in the City of Berwick Conservation Strategy (1991).

To inform the community about the study, the Steering Committee and Council officers:
o placed articles in the Berwick City Bulletin (April/May 1992, July/August 1992, April 1993)

‘@ prepared a display during World Environment Week 1992, using a leaflet prepared by the
consultants

o in April 1993, prepared a leaflet for inclusion in the New Residents Kit and distribution at the
Council's offices

The local media assisted with articles in the following papers: Berwick Journal 6.4.1992, 22.3.1993,
Pakenham Gazette 17.3.1993.

Owners or occupiers of properties being surveyed were left a leaflet about the study during the field
survey phase. This leaflet was prepared by the consultants. A draft broadsheet on recognising and
protecting important heritage places was prepared for the 1993 Heritage Festival but was unable to
proceed. This concept may be taken up by the City of Berwick in future.

Limitations

The scope of the study was determined by the funding available. This limited the number of places able
to be researched. The amount of work required to complete the study extended beyond the available
funds, and the consultants have contributed many weeks work at no additional cost to the City to
complete the project.

One of the most important sources for building research are the rate books. The pre-1960 rate books are
held at the Shire of Pakenham, with the earliest being 1876 (the location of the 1862 to 1875 rate books
is not known). These rate books are easily accessible but are not on microfilm.
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The rate books were used in researching individual places, but present substantial problems to the
researcher. Entries in the rate books are by the name of the rate payer, who is often not the owner,
making it difficult to trace a property year by year. The amount of information contained in the
ratebooks on each place is very limited. For example, the earliest entries list names of ratepayers in
alphabetical order with brief descriptions of the rated property such as the number of acres, Section
No., NAV (Net Annual Value) and if the owner or a tenant occupies the property. However,
descriptions of any buildings or developments on the land are rare and limited to commercial and
public buildings. By the 1880s more houses were being listed, although many would pre-date this
period.

The Valuer's records (property files and cards) are arranged in street number order, and commence in
the mid 1960s. These records were used extensively during the study, and proved to be a valuable and
accessible source. There are also building permit files post-1973, one for each application.

The Registrar General's Office records were used extensively during the study, particularly the General
Searches made when a piece of land is registered with a volume and folio number. These searches
begin with the Crown Grant and end with the first application for title. Using these records, it was
possible to discover the original and other early owners of a number of historic properties, especially
Harkaway's German farms.
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Valuing our heritage

Introduction

Essentially heritage studies are interested in the physical evidence of history and the associations of a
place with past people and events. Evidence and associations may remain in:

o places: buildings, structures, plantings, sub-surface remains; land use patterns etc.

o known sites with no evidence: some activities leave no trace or such ephemeral remains that
they quickly disappear (eg. an explorer's camp; a landing place). The general location of such
an event or activity may be common knowledge locally and the site may have a continuing
value,

o pames: place names often provide a record of past activities (eg. Old Coach Road)

Heritage studies are also concerned with understanding the value attributed to a place by the
community associated with that place or locality. This value is commonly known as social value. In this
study, our understanding of social value has been derived from the questionnaire and workshops
conducted during the development of the City of Berwick Conservation Strategy. '

What does the community value?

During the development of the Conservation Strategy two processes enabled people in the community
to identify places that were of some significance to them. These were:

o 3 questionnaire
o community workshops.

The responses provided a lot of information, of which we were particularly interested in how people
define heritage, and the specific places regarded as significant to the community.

Each of these aspects is briefly discussed below.
Specific places

The specific places identified in either the questionnaire or at the workshops have been added to our
data base of historic places, and each place coded to identify that it is of community significance.
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It is far harder to answer the question - how important are each of these places to the local community?
The best measure will be whether the community supports this report and is willing to see public funds
used to help conserve significant properties.

What is seen as ‘heritage’

Many responses focused on buildings, identifying heritage as, for example, all buildings with an
historic past. Other types of places recognised as part of the heritage included:

o, Berwick township - High Street precinct; older housing areas; plantings; whole town.
o trees, avenues

o rural heritage and rural landscapes

o pérks & gardens

o landmarks and viewing places.

Most of the buildings mentioned were the well-known examples that are gemerally in public or
community ownership or located in the main street of a township. Frequently mentioned examples
included:

o former Berwick Post Office & Court House
The Old Cheese Factory
o Berwick Mechanics' Institute

o BerwickInn

v Harkaway Bell Tower

¢ Myuna Farm.
Parks and tree plantings that rated a mention included:

o Akoonah Park '

o Plantings in the median in High Street Berwick

o Brechin garden

o Wilson Botanic Park

o Buchanan Park

o Avenue plantings and Avenues of Honour
Areas, historic sites and landscapes recognised included:

s Berwick Village

o Casey Airfield )

o Harkaway Cemetery

°  Cardinia Creek

o Churchill National Park,

A number of people referred to the age of places as a measure of their significance: for example all
buildings over 75 years old (ie. say pre 1920) or all buildings over 100 years old (ie. say pre 1890) or
all buildings over 50 years old (ie. say pre 1940).

Some responses indicated that condition was a major issue, and that only places in good condition
should be considered to be kept: for example comments such as historic buildings in reasonable
condition; any that are old and solidly built, any solid building that can be turned into restaurants
(etc); good examples that can be economic and used practically.
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And other responses also identified the need to conserve only those buildings that can be used: for
example comments such as - only those with practical use.

Most résponses seem to recognise specific places worth keeping, but some people considered there were
few left: for example comments such as most have gone and most have been destroyed. There was some
comment about the destruction of Brechin.

Most responses were positive and identified places worth keeping, however, some people hedged their
answer with a comment about the condition or future use of a place.

A few people rejected the idea of keeping heritage at all: for example: no areas need to be preserved,
while some thought heritage was less important than other issues.

Heritage significance

Berwick contains a lot of physical evidence that tells us something about the past. Not all such evidence
can be or should be protected. This means selecting the places that are important enough to be
conserved. In judging the value of a place, there are certain questions that need to be considered such
as:

o What aspects of the hiétory of an area does the place represent?
o What are the factors which contribute to the heritage value or significance of the place?

o How does it rate against other similar places? For example - Are there other places like it? Is
" it the best or 4 representative example of its type? Is its value enhanced by being part of an
area or group of sites?

o How valuable is a place to the community, or to particular parts of the community?

Criteria

Nature of significance

As required in the brief, our work was guided by the Charter for the conservation of places of cultural
significance (The Burra Charter) a charter developed by Australia ICOMOS. The Charter defines
cultural significance as being aesthetic, historic, scientific or social value for past, present or future
generations.

From these four adjectives, more specific criteria can be developed to help describe why a place has
significance (ie. the nature of significance). In most instances a place is significant for several reasons
and all aspects of its significance need to be considered.

These terms mean:
Aesthetic: aesthetic value includes aspects of sensory perception

. Historic: historic value encompasses the history of aesthetics; science and society (and therefore
architecture).

Scientific: the scientific or research value of a place depends on the importance of the data
involved and the extent to- which a place can contribute further substantial information. (This
criterion is often applied to archaeological sites)

Social: social value embraces the qualities for which a place has become a focus of spiritual,
political, national or other cultural sentiment.

A place may be important because its physical form and fabric demonstrates its significance. A place
may also be important because it was associated with significant events even though no physical
evidence remains.

The following criteria, which expand on the four values defined above, were used by the consultants in
assessing identified places and preparing the statements of significance.

8 e Valuing our heritage Heritage of the City of Berwick
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History: Does the place provide physical evidence of history? For example, is the place:

o important for association with events,-developments or cultural phases which have had a
significant role in the human occupation and evolution of the nation, state or locality

e important in demonstrating a distinctive way of life, custom, process, land-use or function no
longer practised, in danger of being lost, or of exceptional interest

e important in demonstrating the principal characteristics of the range of human activities in the
Australian environment (including way of life, custom, land-use, function or technique)

o important for the way it represents aspects of national or local sentiment, values or concepts.

Design: Does the place demonstrate a particular design style or tradition in relation to the type of
place? For example, is the place:

= important for its technical, creative, design or artistic excellence, innovation or achievement
o important as an illustration of the typical fashions, styles and tastes of a past period.

Aesthetic value: Does the place demonstrate qualities that are considered to contribute to contemporéry
aesthetic values? , ’

Social value: Does the place have strong or special associations with a particular community or group
for social, cultural, symbolic or spiritual reasons?

Research value: Does the place have the potential to provide information (through a process of
research and investigation) that will contribute to a greater understanding of the history of the locality
or beyond?

Association: Does the place have close or special associations with individuals or organisations and
groups whose activities have been significant within the history of the locality or beyond?

Degree of significance

The degree of significance refers to its relative importance compared to other similar known examples.
It is usually summarised as the following categories

National or state siglfiﬁcance: part of the heritage of Australia or Victoria

Regional significance: part of the heritage of Melbourne's outer eastern region
High local significance: an essential part of the heritage of the City of Berwick
Local significance: part of the heritage of a locality within the City of Berwick,

of historical interest (although lacking in the integrity
required for a higher ranking), or of probable significance
but requiring further research and assessment.

Contributory significance a place that contributes to the significance of a heritage
area or precinct. Individually such a place would not be of
local significance.

A priority is also often placed on places of national and state significance in heritage studies. Usually,
only a small proportion of heritage places in a municipality are of state or national importance, whereas
the majority will be of local significance. Places of local importance are those that create overall
character and appearance of a municipality, and their conservation may therefore be more important.
This study has focused on places of high local, regional, state and national significance. The budget did
not allow research on places identified as of local significance or probable local significance. These
places are listed and briefly described at the end of each section within Part 3. Further research on
these places is recommended and some may prove to be of greater importance than has been recognised
in this study.
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Statement of significance

Finally, these assessments are then presented as a statement of significance for each place. A statement
of significance aims to state both the nature and degree of significance. For example:

This 1860s artisan's cottage is of regional historical significance as a rare survivor in an area
of predominantly 1940s and 1950s houses, and for its associations with early artisans
including ... It is of local architectural significance as a surviving early timber cottage with
various intact elements such as ogee spouting and twelve-paned windows.

Results

During the study, 223 places were identified and entered into the database. The following analysis by
level of significance is provided below:

National or state significance 10
Regional significance 32
High local significance 82
Local significance 72
Contributory 13

Another 14 places of some historical interest were also noted.

Study products
The results of the study comprise:

L
2.
3.

This report
Map series indicating the location of each place

Nominations to the Register of the National Estate, a requirement under the National Estate
Grants Program.

Copies of historical research materials gathered by the consultants from sources such as the
Central Plan Office and Registrar General's Office. These have been placed in the Local -
History Archive in the Narre Warren Library.

A file of field survey and research information containing:
- negatives of all places photographed during the study

- " some information on places ranked as of local significance; as the study resources did
not extend to the writing up of these places the data gathered by the consultants has
been supplied to the Council to enable this task to occur at some future time.
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PART 2: ENVIRONMENTAL
HISTORY



Environmental history

Introduction

The Berwick district with its rich black volcanic soil, abundant grasses and excellent water supply,
became well-known as a predominantly rural area with many large and well-kept dairy farms as well as
some notable cattle, sheep and horse studs. In earlier times before the British colonisation of Australia,
the Berwick area was the home of the Bunurong and Wurundjeri, who hunted and camped along the
Cardinia Creek and endowed the sites they inhabited with spiritual meanings. Some of these sites
remain as part of the region's heritage. It is hoped that a special study will be conducted in the future to
document this important aspect of Berwick's history.

After a brief squatting period, new patterns began to emerge which are illustrated in surviving
buildings and other structures. A few of these historic places relate to the early pastoral era but far
more are associated with the district's development as a prosperous farming area. The growth of
Berwick township as a major service centre for a rich dairying and agricultural region is of particular
importance in the district's history. The remaining evidence of early German settlement at Harkaway is
another major theme. It has been important, also, to consider how much the traditional rural image of
Berwick has been changed this century by industrial and residential development on its western side
near Dandenong.

The aim of the present study has been to explore the historic themes which have helped to shape the
City of Berwick's cultural landscape as it is today. An attempt has been made to determine what
remains to illustrate the history of the City of Berwick in the form of buildings, other structures, ruins,
sites and precincts. The heritage items (some of which are extremely rare) are precious to the City's
special identity and have historic and other values. In some respects, such as the important sites
associated with the first contact between Aboriginal and European cultures, and the number of
surviving farming properties, the Berwick district is unusual among areas in urban growth corridors
close to Melbourne. '

More needs to be done, especially the exploration and assessment of the district's Aboriginal heritage.
It is hoped that the present study will help to increase community awareness of the City's heritage. It is

also hoped that the identification and research process begun in the study will continue and lead to the
protection of important heritage places.
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Wurundjeri heritage

Members of the Wurundjeri and Bunurong tribes were the first to make history in the area now within
the City of Berwick. They hunted and camped in the district, finding ample food resources along the
many crecks (and particularly the Cardinia Creek), in the swamps, on the profuse grasslands and
within the forests of red gum, box, peppermint and manna gums. In earlier times there were also areas
of scrubland dominated by the tea-tree, melaleuca and banksia with low-growing heath.! Greenstone
was quarried and transported and traded into the territory of the Bunurong? a neighbouring tribe
closely linked to the Wurundjeri by marriage and trade ties.?> The Bunurong appear to have followed
set paths through the Wurundjeri territory. One such path was most probably along the Cardinia
Creek.4

The Aboriginal people created sites that contain important evidence of a distant past and to which they
attribute spiritual meaning. Some of these sites are known to remain today and include two sites at
Harkaway. One is in an area known to local whites as 'Bald Hill', where axe heads have been found.’
There are reports also that a corroboree was held in 1858 on the properties of Jolin Milne and Edward
Halleur, district pioneers, on the Harkaway Road. An axehead was found years later near this site by
Fred Fritzlaff, the last blacksmith in Berwick.6 '

There are now one thousand direct descendants of the Wurundjeri people living in the Berwick region
who are legally responsible for protecting the parts of their heritage that remain. A special study will
be sought in the future, it is hoped, to fully document this important aspect of the district's history.

The present study is only concerned with the time since British settlement began. This had a profound
effect on the local tribes with the introduction of European diseases, the wholesale clearing of
vegetation, the introduction of hoofed animals and the subsequent disappearance of native grasses, and
the drainage of flood plains and swamps, which destroyed many traditional Aboriginal food resources.
Quarrying of the basalt deposits on the hills above Berwick destroyed evidence of earlier quarrying.’

Historic places which demonstrate the meeting of the Aboriginal and European cultures include the
Dandenong Police Paddocks (or Native Police Depot and Narre Warren Protectorate Station),
Churchill Park Drive, Endeavour Hills. This significant historical and archaeological place was chosen
in 1837 as the headquarters of a newly-established Corps of the Native Police. In 1841, it was selected
as the central station of the Westernport Protectorate formed to protect Aboriginal groups from the
impact of British colonisation. At the same time it became the headquarters of the 1842 Corps of
Native Police. In 1853, the area was handed over to the newly-constituted Victoria police as the site for
their Stud Depot for horse breeding. It remained central to Mounted Police work until 1931 when the
Stud Depot was moved to Bundoora.® During 1964 Dandenong -Council demolished two of the three
remaining buildings on the site - the Police Studmaster's House and granite stables. The remaining
building, a dairy, was demolished about 1974.° The site is now managed by the Dandenong Police
Paddocks Reserve Committee of Management.

1. Laurajane Smith, The Berwick-Pakenham Corridor, Victoria Archaeological Survey, 1989,
pp.5-10, 16; Maria Hansen Fels, The Dandenong Police Paddocks, Victoria Archaeological
Survey, 1990, vol 1., pp.1-2.

Smith, p.13.

Smith, p.16.

Smith, p.16.

Norman E. Beaumont, James F. Curran and R. H. Hughes, Early Days of Berwick, Berwick,
1979 edition, pp.94-95. .

Beaumont, Curran and Hughes, p.69; information supplied by Louise Reeve.

Smith, p. 13.
Fels, vol.2, p.1.
David Rhodes, The Dandenong Police Paddocks, An Archaeological Survey, Victoria
Archaeological Survey, 1990, p.17.
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The site of the Police Paddocks has particular significance for the Wurundjeri as part of the traditional
clan territory owned by ancestors of the present-day Wurundjeri Aboriginal community. It also formed
part of the tribal boundary of the Woiworung and Bunurong (Westernport tribes) and was probably an
important meeting place. The Police Paddocks were selected by the Woiworung and Bunurong as the
site of the Westernport Aboriginal Protectorate Station and the first, third, and fourth Native Police
Headquarters. It is an area where ancestors of the Wurundjeri maintained contact with their traditional
land.10

Pastoralists and farmers

Pastoralists

When the first European settlers came to the Berwick region, they were attracted by the same features
that made the area attractive to Aboriginal people. An 1847 survey map of the lands between Toomuc
Creek and 'the Great Swamp' (that is, the Koo-Wee-Rup Swamp, now drained), noted that the area was
'heavily timbered' with 'white gum, box and native hop', and that there was 'open grassy land' and 'good
grassy land timbered with box, mimosa and acacia'. In the vicinity of the present Berwick and
Harkaway, there was 'good black soil timbered with Acacia and Eucalyptus'.!!

A few years later, when the Township of Berwick was laid out, Surveyor Robert Hoddle commented on
the light sandy soil thickly timbered with Box - Gum - Cherry and Lightwood' and the 'fine agricultural
land'. He also noted 'basalt' deposits near the township.12 Thirty years later, although the Berwick
district had been settled from the 1830s or 1840s, Andrew Garran described 'a thick jungle of ti-tree
scrub extending from Hallam's Road to Narre Warren'.13

The Berwick district proved most suitable for pastoral and agricultural development. The process of
pastoral licenses and later land selection resulted in the subdivision of the land, clearing the splendid
red gums and other forest timber for stock, crops and for building timbers.!4 The changes caused by
clearing and the introduction of cattle and sheep over large grazing areas altered the Berwick landscape
forever and created the pastoral scene valued today and seen by many as under threat from suburban
development.

From 1837 to 1846 grazing licenses were taken up in the Port Phillip area, as Victoria was known
before its separation from the mother colony of New South Wales in 1851. Squatting licenses of ten
pounds per year were issued for any run. Under this system almost the whole of Port Phillip (with the
exception of the Mallee Scrub in the north-west), was acquired by the squatters. They held runs
covering vast tracts of country. Land within the present Berwick City boundaries was in the Western
Port District, one of the two squatting districts in Port Phillip.

The particular suitability of the Berwick district for grazing purposes was confirmed by the famous
pioneer stockman, Hugh Peck, who declared that,

'that area...from just beyond Dandenong in the west, to the Bunyip in the east...carried a great deal
of native grasses, and with its good rainfall, fattened cattle in spring and summer'.15

10, D. Rhodes, p.4. .

11. Continuation of the Survey of the Toomuc Creek to the Great Swamp, by W. S. Urquhart,
1847.

12. Syd. B33, Berwick Town Plan, Hoddle, c1852.

13. Andrew Garran, Picturesque Atlas of Australasia, Melbourne, 1886, quoted in Paul Hicks,
Architectural Survey of the Berwick-Pakenham Corridor, Historical Survey, 1989, p.6.

14. Beaumont, pp.2-3. '

15. Hugh Peck, Mermoirs of a Stockman, Melbourne, 1974 edition, p.178.
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New regulations were gazetted in 1847 allowing squatters to purchase pre-emptive rights to their
homestead blocks. Pastoral run holders who previously held grazing leases (sometimes called 'grass
rights')!¢ were able to purchase up to six hundred and forty acres of their runs before any land in the
locality was made available to the general public. This privilege was given in recognition of their
pioneering efforts. Pre-emptive right plans, which had to be lodged with the authorities, remain as
important historical documents. They show improvements such as buildings, fences, tracks and
wells.17

Under the provisions of this legislation, the colony of Victoria was divided into three districts: Settled,
Intermediate and Unsettled. The City of Berwick area fell within the Settled District, which embraced
all land within twenty-five miles of Melbourne with the Cardinia Creek as its eastern boundary.!8

The Berwick region runs tended to be smaller than those in other pastoral areas in the colony, and to
stock cattle rather than sheep.!? Little evidence remains of these runs that once covered most of the
Berwick region nor of the homesteads associated with them. Surviving homesteads with the possible
exception of Gardiner's and James Robertson's are located outside the City of Berwick.

There has been some debate about the earliest and most important pastoral run holder within Berwick
City boundaries. Lands Department and other records suggest that it was Captain Robert Gardiner,
who arrived in Victoria in 1837, Early maps indicate Gardiner's Station in Crown Allotment 17 (the
future site of Edrington), fronting Cardinia Creek and on the Gippsland Road. It is south of the
Berwick Township Reserve, which was established on part of Gardiner's original Berwick run.20
Gardiner reputedly built a first house about 1845-50 east of Cardinia creek and soon afterwards 'a stone
house on high ground west of the creek', calling it Melville Park.2! This was also on Crown Allotment
17.22 1t is possible that the small brick cottage and associated sandstone stables on the Edrington site
was Gardiner's second home. The later history of this property is discussed in another section. After
selling Melville Park and subdividing his Berwick properties, Gardiner reputedly purchased St.
Enoch's Station near Skipton.23

Some pastoralists under the Pre-Emptive Right legislation took the opportunity to purchase their
homestead blocks and, where possible, adjoining land. Gardiner, as well as the 120 acres in his
Berwick run homestead block, also purchased seven nearby allotments. The other run-holder in the
Berwick City area was the auctioneer Thomas H. Power, M.L.C., owner in the 1850s of Eumemmerring
(on the site of the present-day Endeavour Hills and Doveton). Power secured part of this homestead
block, 400 acres in 'Power's Paddock' and an additional six allotments. Neither Gardiner nor Power
were satisfied with their purchases. Gardiner originally wanted 1280 acres and Power, 640 acres.24

Landowners who purchased Berwick allotments at this time often turned to dairying in addition to, or
in place of grazing. A number of families such as the Buchanans and Wilsons already in the area
bought blocks, their combined purchases giving them a solid stake in the future development of the
district. Over the years these families added to their first allotments, increasing the total size of family
holdings. These comparatively wealthy landowning families tended to wield a degree of influence in
local organisations such as roads boards, shire councils, hospital and other committees.

16. Lynette J. Peel, Rural Industry in the Port Phillip Region. 1835-1880, M. U. P., 1974, pp.49-
53.

17. P. Cabena, H. McRae and E. Bladin, The Lands Manual: A Finding Guide to Victorian Land
Records, 1836-1983, Royal Historical Society of Victoria, Melbourne, 1989, pp.2-3.

18. Graeme Broomfield, 'The Land and its Uses', pp.14-15.

19. Broomfield, p.20.

20. County of Mornington, Bibbs, 1866; Roll Plan 25, Parish of Berwick, 1850s.

21. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.10. Gardiner's brother Abraham was also associated with
this house.

22, National Trust File No. 4461.

23, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.10.

24, M. Morgan, Crown Lands Pre-Emptive Right Applications in Victoria 1850-1854, p.19.
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Early cottage at Edrington

(Context Pty Lid, 1993)

(Context Pty Lid, 1992)
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Their holdings and residences contrasted markedly with the smaller farm allotments and more modest
dwellings of the German Lutherans at Harkaway. As Peck has commented:

Gardiner lived on the run until the days when the leases were subdivided and sold, when the
Wilson brothers, the Buchanans and Gibb bought the best of the rich Berwick hills. These hills
besides being noted for high-class stud stock to the present day have yielded fortunes in extensive
basalt quarries.2’

Maps from the 1850s onwards show these early Berwick freehold propertics. Gardiner's eight
allotments each contained between 300 and 600 acres with the exception of his homestead block.
Three had Cardinia Creek frontages.26 Gardiner, as a major local landholder, was influential within
the local community. Surveyor Hoddle commented when the Berwick Township was laid out that a site
for a church and schoolhouse had been chosen as 'required here by Gardiner and others'.2” This site on
the corner of Lyall Road and the Gippsland Road was the location chosen instead for the Berwick
Hotel.

A number of buildings associated with these influential landholding families remain today as an
important part of Berwick City's heritage. In addition to the early building at Edrington, which may
have associations with Gardiner, Quarry Hills (Quarry Hills Drive), is significant as the home in 1854
of William Wilson. It has been described as 'the oldest house in Berwick' and was associated with a
successful dairying and wheat farming property.28

Unfortunately, Wilson House, the early home of James Wilson, has gone but a venerable Moreton Bay
Fig Tree marks the site.2? One of the best-known examples of the homes of influential pioneer
landowners is Burr Hill (Burr Hill Court) at Berwick, associated with Hon. James Buchanan M.L.C,, a
Scottish pioneer who settled in Berwick in the 1850s, growing wheat and grapes and breeding prize
cattle. Burr Hill was his retirement house, dating from the 1860s with extensions in the 1880s.30

Nothing is known to remain in the present-day industrial landscape of Doveton to recall Power and his
Eumemmerring run,

The finest home of early major landholders in the Berwick area is undoubtedly the historic Springfield
(Homestead Road). Originally known as The Springs, it was reputedly built at Berwick in 1855 for
William John Turner Clarke (1801?-1874), pastoralist and landowner.3! After Clarke's death in 1874,
it became the property of his son, Sir William John Clarke (1831-1897), stud-breeder and
philanthropist, who was interested in scientific farming.32 Springfield was part of a dairy farm
complex with a cheese factory added in 1875, 'the most elaborate of a number of such factories in the
Berwick area' and now the only surviving example. Springfield is a significant example of Sir W. J.
Clarke's scientific farming methods and of his upgradmg of properties into model tenant farms
complete with the latest technology and equipment'.33

This property illustrates another important aspect of land use in the Berwick district - the holding of
large areas of land by wealthy absentee landowners, who leased blocks to local farmers or employed
them as managers.34 Edwin Greaves was appointed as manager of Clarke's Berwick Estate. Later,
Greaves bought 1620 acres of the Estate, built a new house called The Springs (Greaves Road) after the
original homestead and the natural springs on the property, and ran sheep there. Springfield and The

25. Peck, p.186. (cf. Hoddle plan).

26. Bibbs 1866 map.

27. Syd. B33, Berwick Town Plan, Hoddle, c1852.

28. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p. 12; E. C. Henry, Six Homesteads of Berwick, p.15.
29, Viewed with Max Thomson, 15 February 1993; Beaumont, p.36.

30. Beaumont, p.114 (early photograph).

31, Australian Dictionary of Biography, vol.1, pp.228-229.

32. Australian Dictionary of Biography, vol.3, pp.422-424,

33, Ministry for Planning and Environment File No. 603911E.

34, Beaumont, pp.17-18.
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Old Cheese Factory (Homestead Road) property, judged of national importance, is now in public
ownership and regarded as among the most significant heritage places in the City of Berwick.35

A more modest residence from the pioneer period is an old timber house at Narre Warren North. The
Former Robertson property (Belgrave-Hallam Road) is reputedly associated with James Robertson,
owner of early Crown land. Robertson had a cattle run north-east of Berwick. His nephew, George
Washington Robinson, was another important pioneer farmer, and also architect, engineer and builder.
He designed a number of notable local houses.36

Timber-getters

Some timber-getters arrived in the Berwick district even before the pastoralists, attracted by the
splendid red gum and other timbers. Living in wattle and daub huts, they ‘took out thousands of feet of
timber for works in the infant city of Melbourne'.37 Saw-pits were set up and the timber transported
back to Melbourne by bullock cart and dray. Some of the timber ‘was sawn into blocks for paving the
streets of Melbourne'.38

The results of these pioneer sawyers' efforts are demonstrated by the almost total disappearance of the
thickly timbered areas shown on early maps as a distinctive feature of the Berwick district. Today, the
City of Berwick is concerned about saving remnants of the Casuarina forest at Endeavour Hills and
several specimens of indigenous River Red Gum on the Gunn's Road reserve. However, the wattle and
daub huts of the timber-getters and early district timber mills have long since gone.

Early German farmers

The German Lutheran families who settled in Harkaway in the 1850s are among the district's earliest
farmers. Gottlab Wanke and Johann Bischoff were among the first, purchasing Crown Allotments of
640 acres and 597 acres in the 1853 government sale.?® Both properties were bounded on the north by
King Road (or Koenig Road as it was then called). The Bischoff property stretched to Cardinia
Creek.40 Two years earlier, Wanke was one of sixteen German farming families who purchased land at
Thomastown from William Westgarth, designed as part of a German settlement there. Wanke almost
immediately sold his Thomastown land, went gold-mining but, when he was unsuccessful, settled at
Harkaway.4!

Harkaway and Thomastown were only two of a number of German settlements established in Victoria
between 1840 and 1860. Small groups of Germans also settled at Germantown (now Grovedale), near
Geelong; at Greensborough, around Doncaster, Bulleen and Nunawading, and at Oakleigh. These
settlers sometimes came to Victoria via South Australia. Groups of Germans also emigrated in large
numbers during this period to other parts of the world including Texas.42

These German settlers were farming people who normally settled in rural areas outside townships.
They chose undulating to hilly land in the higher rainfall areas, as at Harkaway. 'They were hard-
working farmers and characteristically owned their own small farms and farmed them intensively."$3

The progress of the Harkaway German settlement followed a similar pattern. These families primarily
engaged in clearing the land and growing wheat, oats and potatoes, and were ‘also very active in
dairying'.#4 Like the Doncaster Germans, they mainly came from Silesia.45

3s. Ministry for Planning and Environment File No. 603911E; E. C. Henry, Six Homesteads of
Berwick, pp.29-34.

36. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.111; Max Thomson, Little Hills, 1839-1977, pp.4,5.

37. Beaumont, p.3.

38. Beaumont, p.3.

39. Registrar-General's Office Search Notes 41635, 21226. Wanke's name was sometimes spelled
Gottlieb, or Johann Gottlieb.

40, Registrar-General's Office Search Notes 41635, 21226.

41, Robert Wuchatsch, Westgarthtown, 1985, pp.16, 27.

4. Rural Industry in the Port Phillip Region, p.72.

43. Rural Industry in the Port Phillip Region, p.72.

44, Rural Industry in the Port Phillip Region, p.72.
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Wanke and Bischoff immediately subdivided their large Harkaway allotments and sold land to other
German families including the Koenig, Bruhn, Walsdorf, Aurisch, Hessell (after whom a local road
was named), Scholtz, Schloche, Lensing and Meyer families.*¢ In addition, the early land owner,
Robert Gardiner, sold the northern half of Crown Allotment 8 to Wanke. This land was-on the south
side of Koenig Road between Wanke's first allotment and Bischoff's property.4’ German families also
bought land north of Koenig Road in Crown Allotment 3. An 1855 Lands Department map shows the
land purchased by William Wiese and John M. F. Fritzlaff, who was associated with the construction of
a number of Harkaway buildings. This property was typical of those sought by German Lutheran
farmers with its 'good red soil', and was bounded on both sides by 'patches of stringy bark'. Koenig
Road was marked as 'Cattle Road to Water' and ran to the Cardinia Creek. A track from Dandenong
ran through this property as far as the Stoney Creek in an adjacent Crown Allotment.48

As in other German settlements, a Lutheran School, Church and Cemetery were established?? in the
1860s. A few of the early Harkaway German farm cottages have survived, or at least parts of them.
The Harkaway settlers did not appear to have the money or time to build the more substantial
traditional German buildings of other scttlements, such as the well-built bluestone farmhouses and
stables at Thomastown. Among the Harkaway homes which have survived are also a number built by
wealthier English or Irish settlers, who bought land already cleared by the Germans. 50

The hawthorn hedges lining local roads, the Harkaway cemetery and the reconstructed 1869 bell-tower
(Hessell Road), and a small number of cottages and cottage sites are important reminders of Harkaway's
German Lutheran heritage. Outbuildings at Warrenwood (formerly Hillcroft) in Hessell Road may be
all that is left of the Wanke family's second home. However, Wickham on King Road, a cottage built of
handmade bricks for "Butter' Meyer in the 1860s with 1920s additions, remains.>! A mud and wood
cottage with extensions and alterations at the rear, known as Kilfera (King Road), was built circa 1856
for the settlers Wiese and Fritzlaff. This building was used as the Harkaway post office at an early date
and between 1946 and 1970.%2 Its heritage value has been recognised by its inclusion on the registers
of the National Trust, Historic Buildings Council of Victoria and the Australian Heritage Commission:
Farmhouses associated with the Hillbrich and Tschentscher families have also survived. There are also
a number of cottage sites, one of which, the Bruhn site on King Road, is marked by a poplar tree.

Other district farming families

The discovery of gold in the early 1850s in colonial Victoria resulted in a rapid influx of population,
while demand for increased food production led to the opening up of country lands. There was a new
emphasis on dairying and cultivation. The process of subdivision which began with the carving up of
pastoral runs continued into the 1860s. During this period a series of Land Acts were passed, which
allowed the sale and selection of Crown Lands. Under the 1860 Land Sales Act three million acres of
country lands were surveyed into allotments of 80 to 640 acres and made available for selection. No
person could generally select more than 640 acres annually. The land had to be paid for outright or
half paid for and half leased.

Further areas were opened up for selection under the Land Act (1862) and the 1865 Amendment Act.
Finally, the new Land Act in 1869 opened up the whole colony of Victoria for selection, including
unsurveyed land.

45. Rural Industry in the Port Phillip Region, p.72.

46, Subdivisional plans for Crown Allotments 6 and 9.

47. Registrar-General's Office Search Notes 2680.

48, Plans of Portions of Land in the Parish of Berwick, Crown Lands Department, 1855-56.

49, Wuchatsch, p.55.

50. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.105.

51, The Gazette, April 1992, (Article 'Wickham-one of Harkaway's finest).

52 Ministry for Planning and Environment File No. 603870; The Gazette, 11 Oct. 1972, (Article
‘Harkaway Home classed 'C' by National Trust').
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The selectors of unsurveyed land pegged out their claims and then applied for survey. Under this Act
land was held under licence for three years before it could be purchased. Furthermore, sclectors were
required to live on and make improvements to the land before purchase,>3 The passage of these Acts in
the 1860s further encouraged the trend from the 1850s in the Berwick district in which landholders like
Gardiner and Wanke carved up their Crown Allotments into smaller and smaller farm properties.>4

Among the homestead buildings associated with this new wave of district farmers, one of the most
historically significant is Hillsley (Robinson Road). This brick house built in 1866 with later
extensions, was the second home of George Washington Robinson, (nephew of the pioneer James
Robertson), farmer, architect and builder. Robinson's farm was run as an orchard property. He is
associated with the design of a number of important brick homes for district farmers. They include The
Grange, Cleveland (now Aranmore), and Troups (now Glencairn).>> All have survived except The
Grange (a'Beckett Road), which was built for the important a'Beckett family.¢ John Troup, a Scottish
farmer, established a fine herd of Ayrshire cattle on his Glencairn (Robinson Road) property at Narre
Warren North.3”7 This house with its tuckpointed brickwork has a convex verandah and a complex
garden layout. Aranmore (the former Cleveland, Aranmore Crescent), was originally a four-roomed
brick cottage but had alterations and additions in the 1920s. The pioneering Barr family worked this
property from the 1860s.8 The Robinsons, a'Becketts, Troups and Barrs were all represented on the
Berwick Shire Council and were prominent local residents. Another early farming property, Ardblair,
(known now as Beaumont Farm, Beaumont Road), was built for James Buchanan in 1854 and later
owned by Mrs L. D. Beaumont, Buchanan's daughter, in the 1890s. Mrs Beaumont with her husband
bred Ayrshire stud cattle, Southdown sheep and Suffolk Punch farm horses on this property.>®

Sheep and dairy farms continued to be a feature in the Berwick district. One of the most notable farms
in later years is Roads End (Beaumont Road) built in the 1920s for Sir Sidney Sewell. This important
dairy farm complex will be discussed in a later section.

Soldier settlers

A later process of land subdivision was started after both World Wars with the intention of providing
small farms for returned soldiers. The Royal Commission into Closer Settlement in 1913 suggested
dairying as the most profitable activity on small blocks. The Land Purchase Board followed this advice
and recommended that soldier settlers should engage in dairying alone or dairying combined with cash
crops, in t6hle well-watered districts of the State.5 There was a great rush of applicants between 1919
and 1920,

At Narre Warren North a fairly successful settlement was established with several flower-growers and
market gardeners still on the land after many years. The Hallam Valley Settlement on the other hand
was a complete failure.52

53. The Lands Manual, pp.3-4.

54, Peel, p.134.

55. Ministry for Planning and Environment File No. 603911E; 'Robinsons: The Millionaires of
Narre North'.

56. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.119.

7. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.119.

58. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.118.

59. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.13; Beaumont, pp. 27 37.

60. Neil Gunson, The Good Country: Cranbourne Shire, Melbourne, 1968, p.194.

61. The Good Country: Cranbourne Shire, p.200.

62. Hicks, p.35.
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Kilfera, an early house built c1856 for settlers Wiese and Fritzlaff

(Context Pty Ltd, 1992)

Aurisch monument, Harkaway Cemetery

(Context Pty Ltd, 1992)
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In 1922 the Hallam Valley Settlement Scheme purchased a section of the former Clarke Springfield
Estate for closer settlement by returned soldiers.?3 This land was subdivided in 1927 into small blocks
(16-20 acres) intended for vegetable growing. Failure was due mainly to the inexperience of the settlers
who were not used to running small farms and the lack of suitable markets. Within three years settlers
were leaving and by 1936 none were left.4

Similar schemes were tried after the Second World War. One was on land acquired from the former
Clarke estate in Homestead Road, Berwick. A few remaining houses once occupied by soldier settlers
can be seen still in Homestead and Narre Warren North Roads.

Towns and transport

The earliest townships

The first permanent townships in the City of Berwick were established after the early surveys of the
1850s carried out as part of the land selection process. These townships with their schools, churches,
hotels and shops provided services for the pioneer farming communities. Because Berwick was on the
main road to Gippsland, it served a much wider community than just those within the present City of
Berwick boundaries.

An 1847 regional survey showed only a few scattered sheep and cattle stations and outstations in the
Berwick district, linked by tracks from Dandenong, surrounded by grasslands and native bush, and
watered by the Dandenong, Eumemmerring and Cardinia Crecks and the Great Swamp.5® It was only
in the 1850s and 1860s with the subdivision of the large pastoral runs and the sale of homestead and
other Crown Allotments, that the Village Reserves of Berwick and Narre Warren (now Narre Warren
North) began to appear on official maps.

Berwick

This locality was known earlier as Kardinia Creek and only later became Berwick. This name was
from the birthplace of the pioneer settler, Captain Robert Gardiner, at Berwick-upon-Tweed, North of
England, a name he also gave to his Berwick pastoral run.66 The bear chained to the base of a tree on
Berwick's official Coat of Arms is taken from the Coat of Arms of Berwick-upon-Tweed.5”

An early Roll Plan of the Parishes of Dandenong, Berwick, Cranbourne and Pakenham showed the
Berwick Village Reserve on the north side of the Gippsland Road beside the Cardinia Creek with
twelve town allotments marked out. These blocks stretched east from Campbell Street to Cardinia
Street and were bounded on the north by Palmerston Street. On the other side of the road 'Mr
. Gardiner's station' was indicated on 'rich agricultural land'.6® A Berwick Town Plan of the same era
signed by Surveyor Robert Hoddle commented that:

The blocks numbered are the only ones pegged out at present, which as far as I can learn will be
sufficient for the requirements of the locality for some time. 5%

The allotments of three major purchasers of land adjoining the township, Gardiner, Wilson and English
(or Inglis) were indicated as well as the 'main road' and 'old tracks' around an intended extension of the
town westward. The development of the road system will be discussed later. :

63. Nigel Lewis & Associates, The Springfield Project. (Historic Structures Report for the City of
Berwick). '

64. Hicks, p.35.

65. Continuation of the Survey of the Toomuc Creek to the Great Swamp, W. S. Urquhart, 1847.

66. Beaumont, p.16.

67. Beaumont, p.viii.

68. Roll Plan. Parish of Berwick, c1854.
69. Syd. B33 Berwick Town Plan, Robert Hoddle, c1852.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Environmental history « 23



——— .
xXvi R e e TR

Crrms - B o o N i

‘.‘-,.a_::— . ‘5?;:_.*'“%:‘ ..\

~fulree

S

GE RESERVE

i3
i | - XVt
e
. \:l .
oy . N 8 Cradr el ri v
Jf"né(r‘/ PRI ?/rn (,5. I - LYY IR 4
“’ w .. oA h MHebilve Kewcr
gor. o, oo\ 1.
A 7.4
I." / ’ A \'(tl'- (Ilr re ~,
L .
5 / ,fp’)m FLEN ) ™ L. HNows
.\b. i + “ . ) .
- l / S . 200 ¢
_ e seze 2
T SO T - fu
%\ . . - oy -
' Soderd Creredrriar ST it ! $3¢
o " LR 4 ‘- [ gE——
2 XXV . F— L TR
3 e R

7> S N

B Ry

Bozs
;
L

Plan of Berwick Village Reserve, c1854
(Central Plan Office)

24 « Environmental history Heritage of the City of Berwick



The proposed town site and a Berwick Common (120 acres on the east side of Berwick Hill running
down to Cardinia Creek), were proclaimed in 1861.7° The gradual extension of the township was
shown on later maps. An 1858 map by M. Callanan, Assistant Surveyor, gave some of the street names
chosen for that time - High Street for the main Gippsland Road, with parallel streets - Wilson (after a
local family), Elgin (collector of the Elgin marbles - sculptures from the Parthenon now held in the
British Museum, London) and Palmerston (Prime Minister of England). The names of cross streets
included Cardinia (an Aboriginal name), Lawrence, Neill, Havelock, Campbell and Edwards.

A road skirting the Wilson property towards Harkaway was named Lyall Road,”! a name still in use. A
cemetery allotment of eight acres was indicated near the northern Village Reserve boundary, now Inglis
Road. Some of the street names had been changed already by 1871, when the township was extended
even further. The township then comprised 32 blocks extending from Lyall Road (named after a local
pastoralist) to Cardinia Street and was bounded on the north by Brisbane Street (after a local
landowner). Large suburban allotments adjoining the township (by this time comprising more than
twenty blocks) were shown in Callanan's survey of that year.”2 Today, only a few of the early street
names including High Street for the main road remain.

The growth of the Berwick township, particularly along High Street, and the gradual increase in the
number and size of its buildings may be estimated by comparing a surviving 1877 woodcut of the town
with an 1887 photograph?3 and later views. Early township development was west of Campbell Street.
The land to the east included in the first town grid didn't become a residential area until much later.

Only a few very early township buildings remain today on Berwick Hill (now called the Berwick
Village), an important local precinct, so those that remain have great rarity value. They include the
Berwick Inn (known earlier as the Border Inn and Ye Berwick Inn). Its éarliest portion dates from the
1850s. A local landmark for more than one hundred and forty years, this hotel was used as the first
police court and the first licensing court in the 1860s, and the Berwick Road Board held its first
meetings there.’4 Another building from that era, the Berwick Mechanics’ Institute (High Street), dates
from 1862, and was moved to its present site in 1878.7> The Berwick Cemetery (Inglis Road), which
may date from as early as 1858, also survives.

Harkaway

Although the German Lutheran settlement was established at an early date and contained a church,
school and cemetery, as a focus for the local community, an official township was never proclaimed
there. Today, only the cemetery and bell-tower (Hessell Road), Kilfera (King Road), an 1858 mud and
brick house, and the Harkaway Primary School (1874-76), remain from its pioneer years.”® However,
a small township service centre was established at the intersection of Harkaway and King Roads with a
cluster of buildings around the Primary School, including farm houses, a former post office and later,
the 1909 Harkaway Hall (King Road). Hawthorn hedge plantings and a Memorial Avenue (1914-18,
Harkaway Road), mark the entrance to this historic precinct.

70. Beaumont, p.16.
71. The Township of Berwick, M. Callanan, 1858. Lyall made an early attempt to drain the Koo-
we-rup Swamp. . '

72. Town and Suburban Lots. Berwick, M. Callanan, 1871.

73, Beaumont, opp. p.16; opp. p.24.

74. Beaumont, pp.128-129.

75. Beaumont, pp.43-44.

76. John Wells & Maggie Mackie, Berwick. Some Aspects, Melbourne, 1980, p.56. (Contains a
" sketch of the little village school).
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Narre Warren North township c1895 - the old store with Mechanics' Institute in background, and
Raduchel's blacksmith shop on the right.

(Max Thomson collection)
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Narre Warren township - the corner store and bakery in the background, ¢1920

(Max Thomson collection)
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Narre Warren North

Another small farming township, Narree Worran (now Narre Warren North), was established in the
1860s. When the Government surveyed the Parish of Narree Worran, the township was laid out in one
and a half acre blocks with two properties divided into residential blocks. The present recreation
ground and the site of the hall were originally reserved for a cemetery.”” An 1867 map of Village
Allotments Parish of Narree Worran sketched a township, bound on the south by the road from
Dandenong (Mornington Road), and on the north by the road 'to the Emerald Diggings' (a'Beckett
Road). A site for a Wesleyan Church was marked on this map.’® The Narre Warren North Primary
School in a'Beckett Road remains from the early days. It was opened in 1877 and built by Henry Powis
of Dandenong. An old brick store, also used as a post office, built for George Rae, a district pioneer,
about 1880, also remains but without its original verandah. Known for many years as Ellis and
Bailey's, it stands at 15 Main Street.”®

Berwick District Road Board

After colonial Victoria was separated from New South Wales, and during the gold rush period, a Roads
Act was passed in 1853 creating a central road board with the authority to build main roads and co-
ordinate the activities of district road boards.®0 The Berwick Road Board formed on 14 November
186281 was the earliest form of local government in the Berwick region. It was a most important body,
which governed a vast area far larger than the present City of Berwick. It was dominated at first by
local wealthy landowners. The original nine members included Francis Barr, James Buchanan, Gottlab
Wanke and John Troup, all influential early settlers. The Board's first meetings were held in the
Border Inn at Berwick but offices were erected soon after in 1865 at the top of the Berwick Hill. The
Board functioned until 5 May 1868 when the Shire of Berwick was proclaimed incorporating three
Ridings: Berwick, Pakenham and Scoresby. In 1889, the Scoresby Riding severed and became the
Shire of Ferntree Gully. The Berwick Road Board members in 1868 became the new Berwick Shire
Councillors. Wilson (an important Berwick resident) became president, Wanke was auditor, and
Buchanan and Barr were members.32 In 1901, the Shire headquarters were moved to Pakenham. This
change may have lessened the influence of the Berwick Councillors.

The important role of Berwick within the region during the last century was further consolidated by the
formation of a Berwick branch of the Port Phillip Farmers' Society (known from 1856 as the
Mommington Farmers Society). Abraham Gardiner, Captain Robert Gardiner's brother, was a member
of the first committee.83 About 1875, a ploughing match was held on James Buchanan's Ardblair farm.
The winner was Lotha Schmidt of Harkaway.34 The Momington Farmers Society was the oldest
farming society in Victoria. The Berwick branch, (called the Berwick and District Agricultural and
Horticultural Society), is a surviving member.

The road network

Transport has been a major theme in the history of the City of Berwick. One of the issues facing
district squatters was 'the need for an effective stock route between Gippsland and Melbourne'.8> The
creation of road boards was the first step towards the drawing up of systematic plans, the carrying out
of district road surveys, the construction of new roads®® and the raising of finance to pay for them.

71. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.117.

78. Village Allotments Parish of Narree Worran, M. Callanan, Surveyor, 12 July 1867.
79. Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.18, 21, 54.

20. Bemnard Barrett, The Civic Frontier, pp.86-87.

8l. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.19.

82 In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp.20-21.

83, Beaumont, p.57.

84. Beaumont, p.60. Unfortunately Schmidt's farm no longer survives.

8s. Hicks, p.17.
86. The Central Plan Office holds a large collection of both Old Road and New Road plans.
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Early attempts to find the best route from Melbourne to Dandenong and into Gippsland resulted in the
formation of a route starting in Brighton, progressing to Cheltenham, and then on to Dandenong, 87

In 1858, most significantly for Berwick, the Victorian Government undertook the formation of a road
from Melbourne to Sale. A sam of thirty thousand pounds was allocated for the section from
Melbourne to Bunyip.38 This road was completed in 1865.8°

Some of the problems associated with improving Berwick's roads related to the area's hilly terrain.
When the township of Berwick was being laid out in the 1850s, Hoddle commented on the 'old track
road' which 'the general traffic passes on', as 'passing over a steep hill'. He thought that a proposed
track skirting around Wilson's land was 'the best route...for the settlers to the north, that is, the German
settlers at Harkaway.'90

The Berwick settlement received a further impetus with the introduction of regular coach services in
1865. Coach services ran six times weekly from Berwick to Melbourne and three times weekly from
Berwick to Sale. Passengers changed coaches within the Border Inn yard.®! A section of an old road
alignment known as Old Coach Road survives. This remnant road extends northward off the
Harkaway Road with a steep incline to the ridge. It is constructed of basalt (bluestone) rubble. The
earliest road to Harkaway, a section was known as the 'Glue Pot' because of its sticky and slippery red
clay surface. There is no conclusive evidence of whether it was used for coaches, although coach
services did come to the district in 1865 and the 'deviation road' (the present Harkaway Road) was not
constructed until 1890. The width of the road would suggest that it was designed for vehicular
traffic.92 It is now used only as a fire track.

Although the Country Roads Board was constituted in 1912, it did not become effective until after the
1914-18 War. Maps prepared by the Australian section of the Imperial General Staff in 1922 and 1924
show the upgrading of Berwick's roads by that time. Priority was obviously given to major roads or
roads associated with district rail services. The main Gippsland Road was metalled as was the road
from Narre Warren Railway Station (Webb Street), to Narre Warren North, and the road between
Hallam Railway Station and the Gippsland Road. The Harkaway Road was metalled along the section
near Berwick but further away was unformed. The old Koenig (now King) Road at Harkaway (the site
of a number of German properties) was still unmade and reduced to a mere track as it approached
Cardinia Creek. The Momington Road, which passed through the Narre Warren North area, had been
formed but not metalled. There were only unmade roads in the Doveton area.?3

The Gippsland Road became a State Highway in 1925 and is now called the Princes Highway, except
for the section between Lyall Road and the Beaconsfield-Emerald Road at Berwick. This section of
road, which includes the Berwick Boulevard, is called High Street, as it was in the 1850s.

Rail

The arrival of rail services made a considerable impact on access to local and regional markets and led
to the development of Berwick's farming communities. Berwick Railway Station was completed in
1877. This 'gave a further boost to the town' and increased the business of the Wilson Quarry, a major
local industry. In about 1885, a siding was built to bring stone from the quarry. The Wilson siding, the
original railway cottages and the old station have gone.94

87, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.31.

88. Beaumont, p.20.
89. Beaumont, p.32.
90. Syd B33. Berwick Town.
9l. Beaumont, p.25.

92, Correspondence, Norman E. Beaumont to the City of Berwick, 19 Sept., 1983; The
Dandenong Advertiser, 13 may, 22 May, 19 June 1890. (Accounts of the opening of the new
road).

93, Cranbourne. Victoria, prepared by Australian Section Imperial General Staff, June 1922;
Ringwood Victoria, Aug. 1924,

94, Hicks, p.23; Wells & Mackie, pp.30-31.
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0ld Coach Road: the view north to Harkaway

(Context pty Ltd, 1993)
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Narre Warren railway station & signal box

(Context Pty Ltd, 1992)
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The Narre Warren Station (Webb Street), completed in 1882 remains. It originally carried wheat,
milk, butter and cream daily to Melbourne. The opening of this station was followed by the formation
of the new township of Narre Warren. This left Narre Warren North (the old Narre Warren) as a small
village town with little prospect of growth until recent times.?>

Other localities

Hallam

A railway station was also built at Hallam (known originally as Eumemmerring and then as Hallam's
Road) in 1880 but, unlike Narre Warren, did not result in the creation of a new township. This was .
most probably because, unlike Narre Warren, the Hallam railway did not run close to the Gippsland
Road, and this area lacked men like Sydney J. Webb to support the development of settlement around
the new station.>¢ Hallam, which was known at first as Hallam's Road was settled by a small farming
community in the 1850s.%7 In the early 1860s it had a general store run by William and Mary Hallam.
This was followed by the building of Hallam's Road Hotel on the same site. The Hallam’s Road Hotel
(Princes Highway) is all that remains today of this early farming settlement,®% with a later 1890s
weatherboard house, the White Peacock (Princes Domain Drive), now used as a reception centre.®®
The Hallam area continued to be occupied by small farms until the 1950s, when Hallam was developed
as an alternative to the Housing Commission Estate at Doveton. Both developments were designed to
provide homes for the employees of the H. J. Heinz, General Motors Holden and International
Harvester companies. 100

Doveton

Like Hallam, Doveton remained a small farming centre until the 1940s and 1950s. Known originally
as 'Enmemmerring', Doveton was located on the pastoral run of that name owned in the 1850s by T. H.
Power. He secured part of his homestead block under Pre-Emptive Right legislation, his PR block
being indicated on early maps as 'Power's paddock'.l®! The 'numerous fern gullies' along the
Eumemmerring Creek were noted there still in the late 1890s.192 Doveton owes its name to Captain
Doveton who lived there late last century and early this century.!%3 Some Victorian houses which
remain in Doveton Street are a reminder of the area's earlier, rural history. Most of the early buildings,
however, disappeared with the construction of the Doveton Housing Commission Estate and the three
major factories on the Princes Highway, a name which came into official use for the Gippsland Road
when it became a State Highway in July 1925, after the visit of the Prince of Wales.104

Endeavour Hills

This area was also once part of Power's Eumemmerring run and was a rural community until quite
recently. An early property, Four Oaks in Cardigan Street which remains, was built c1883 for Dr. John'
Tremearne of Creswick. It was the original homestead on the large Grassmere Estate sold in 1888 at
the height of the land boom and transformed later into suburban Endeavour Hills, 105

95. Wells & Mackie, pp.22-23.

96, Deborah Stephan, 'Hallam, 1830-1930', 1993, p.10.

97. Registrar-General's Office Search Notes 31400, (William Hallam). The land of Crown
Grantee Murphy was subdivided into small farms in 1855-57.

98, Wells & Mackie, P.61; Deborah Stephan, A small farm at Hallam: The Andrews 1854-1934,
1992, p.2.

99, Information supplied by Dr. Deborah Stephan.

100. ‘Hallam since 1930', p.11.

101. Featr. Plans Parish of Enmemmerring, pp.502 & 503.

102. Beaconsfield Guide Book, p.38.

103. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp.88-89; Title Vol. 2144, Folio 42 8662; City of Berwick rate
records.

104. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.32.

105. Registrar-General's Office Search No.20037 (Tremearne); South Bourke and Mornington
Journal, 18 Nov., 1888,
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Major service centre

Following the advent of the railway, improvements in the road network, the advancement of old towns
and the formation of at least one new town, the Berwick district townships settled into their role as
important service centres for agricultural and dairying communities in the region. From the 1880s,
new churches, schools, mechanics institutes and commercial buildings were constructed. Many
township buildings from the Victorian era (particularly from the 1880s boom years) have survived as
well as some from the first decades of this century and the inter-war years. They form a rich local
heritage. In Berwick, three churches in the High Street date from this period of development - St
Andrew’s Uniting Church (1879-88), Christ Church (1876-77), and the Former Christian Meeting
House (Church of Christ) in 1886. Berwick's Court House and Post Office complex, built in 1884-85
has served the community for many years, with the post office finding a new use several years ago as
offices for Andrew Gray and Associates, solicitors. The former Rechabite Hall, now the Masonic Hall,
dates from 1886.

Likewise a number of schools were built in most of the townships, and many remain today, including
parts of the Berwick Primary School (Peel Street, 1870s), Harkaway Primary School (King Road, 1874-
76) and Narre Warren North Primary School (a'Beckett Road, 1874). Two private schools favoured by
more well-off district families were the Berwick Boys' Grammar School (Brisbane Street, now Mary
Blackwood House), and St Margaret's Girls' School, (Gloucester Avenue). The fine Avenue of Oaks in
Church Street, Berwick, was planted in memory of Old Boys from the Grammar School who died in the
1914-18 War.

Surviving significant commercial buildings in Berwick's High Street precinct include the former
Paternoster's Store dating from 1884, Part of this building remains within the present Berwick

Licensed Supermarket. There is also a twentieth century addition that makes a contribution to the
* streetscape. The 1920s half-timbered shop group at 71-75 High Street was financed by Sir Sidney
Sewell of Roads End, (Beaumont Road), and was once known as the Blue Plate Tea Rooms and Jan's
Tea House. 196

A group of commercial and public buildings at Narre Warren at the intersection of the Princes Highway
and Webb Street form part of an early post-1880 town centre associated with the opening of the nearby
railway station. The group includes a former bakery a former blacksmith's shop, the 1891 Mechanics’
Institute (Webb Street), and a later 1960s hay and corn store. 197

Many townscapes were enhanced, also, by special precincts, parks, Avenues of Honour and Memorial
Avenues at the entrances to the town centres, such as the fine Oak Avenue at Narre Warren. These
trees, planted by S. J. Webb, a district pioneer, in 1890, came from the famous Nobelius Nursery at
Emerald.!%® The southern row was lost when the highway was duplicated in 1970.

An example of the district's engineering heritage, which helped maintain an adequate water supply to
Berwick and beyond, is the Lysterfield Reservoir at Narre Warren North. Linked with the Beaconsfield
aqueduct, this reservoir supplied water to the Hallam Valley, Berwick, Cranbourne and other small
inland towns as well as a number of Port Phillip Bay and Western Port towns. 109

Tourism

Despite the many changes and developments throughout the Berwick district, its townships retained a
village-like character within a surrounding countryside dotted with small farms, well into the present
century. Residents of more urbanised parts of Melbourne were attracted to the picturesque rural
landscape. With improvements to transport, including the extension of rail services, better roads and
the advent of the motor car and bus, tourism flourished. An 1899 tourist guide described Berwick as
‘an exceedingly pretty little township on the Gippsland line' and spoke of 'delightful drives' through the
district.

106. City of Berwick rate records; information supplied by Bill Hudson.,
107. Berwick City News, 21 Nov. 1991.

108. From Bullock Tracks to Bitumen, Shire of Berwick, 1962, p.60.
109. Beaumont, p.116.
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Berwick Post Office & Court House early 1900s

(Berwick Local History Archive, Narre Warren Library)

Harvesting at Kelly's, King Road, Harkaway, c1910

{Max Thomson collection)
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One of the most interesting was through Harkaway 'and thence to the township of Narre Warren, which
nestles among the hills. This is now Narre Warren North. The township of Berwick was
complimented for its 'good buildings' including the Shire Hall 'where the local magnates meet once a
month to transact the municipal business'. Harkaway reminded this writer of 'English scenery on
account of the many cultivations and the long rows of neatly kept hawthorn hedges'.110

Some tourists preferred to walk rather than drive, even after the advent of the car. Robert Henderson
Croll, Vice-President of the Melbourne Walking Club, writing in 1928, suggested a 'One Day Walk'
from Berwick to Belgrave after catching the Sunday train to Berwick Railway Station. He thought that
carrying a small billy, 'skilfully camouflaged with brown paper (would) avoid hurting the feelings of
such Sabbatarians as you may encounter'.1!! Passing an old house, Tyrone, at Old Narre Warren, Croll
enthused about a walk:

along a lane with high hawthorn hedges, which present a magnificent sight in spring, for they are
veritable banks of bloom, ...At the foot of the lane is a creek rich in wattles and the soft-foliaged
swamp tea-tree... Altogether a choice corner...112

Tyrone, now known as Treverbyn Farm, still exists in King Road, Harkaway. 1t was built c1880 for the
early farmer, Robert Kelly.113

Artists

The Berwick district landscape and its village-like townships also attracted a number of artists to the
area, some of whom stayed and made their homes within the City of Berwick. Among those are a
number who made their mark in the cultural and artistic life of Victoria and beyond. They included the
Boyd family, who were associated with The Grange property in a'Beckett Road at Harkaway, now
unfortunately gone. Both Martin Boyd, the novelist, and the notable artist Arthur Boyd Jnr., spent time
at this property. Fortunately the Arthur Boyd murals at The Grange were rescued by Dr. Joseph Brown
before the building went. Arthur Streeton was a visitor at Inveresk on High Street, Berwick, where he
painted the Brown family. At Harkaway, Jessie Traill's Studio remains. Jessie Traill has left many
paintings and sketches of the local landscape as she knew it. Lady Casey and her aunt, Ellis Rowan,
the distinguished woman painter, painted at Edrington. More than 100 of Rowan's works were in Lady
Casey's possession when she died. The silks, recently restored, are still held locally.

Professor Jock Marshall, Foundation Professor of Zoology at Monash University, who lived at Quarry
Hills, was instrumental in establishing the Monash Art Advisory Board and numbered among his
friends the artists Cliff Pugh, John Percival and Russell Drysdale. Quarry Hills was filled with a fine
collection of paintings with a Drysdale mural in the dining room and a Pugh mosaic in the bathroom.
A fabulous collection of paintings at Roads End, when the home of Sir Sidney and Lady Sewell,
included works by McCubbin, Roberts, Phillips Fox and Conder.14

LLocal industry

Many important local industries have flourished from an early date. Examples include grazing for
meat production, timber-getting, quarrying, dairying (butter, milk and cheese), the growing of wheat
and potatoes, and, after the Second World War, secondary industry. The City of Berwick's Coat of
Arms recognises the importance of its local industries. It includes a bull's head (beef and dairy cattle),
a lamb (primary products), and a bluestone wall (quarrying). The two black horses are included
because of the importance of the horse in the early days, particularly in the coaching period.!1®> Much

110, Beaconsfield Guide Book, pp.38-39.

111. Robert Henderson Croll, The Open Road in Victoria, Melbourne, 1928, p.34.
112. The Open Road in Victoria, p.34.

113, Information supplied by Max Thomson.

114, Helen Millicer, 'A Brief Cultural review of the City of Berwick’, 1991.

115. Beaumont, p.viii. '
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remains within Berwick City boundaries to tell the story of these ventures, including old farm
properties, buildings and historic sites.

Dairying

The most important industry in the early period was dairying, with Springfield and The Old Cheese
Factory (Homestead Road; discussed in an earlier section) the best known property. ‘Butter' Meyer's
Wickham (previously Ratharnay), in King Road, Harkaway, was another early dairying property. Many

small farmers at Hallam and Doveton also turned to dairying. The 1899 Beaconsfield Guide Book
discussed the importance of farming in the district in these words:

The chief occupation of the farmers in the district is dairying, and they are justly celebrated for
their dairy produce;!16

An important 1920s dairy farm, Roads End (Beaumont Road), was associated with Sir Sidney Sewell, a
well-known Victorian cancer specialist. Sewell was partner in a joint dairying company with Edwin
Flack, helping to establish one of Victoria's pioneer Friesian herds which held both Australian and
world records for milk production.

Cattle and sheep studs

G. L. Wilson and L. D. Beaumont of Ardblair (Beaumont Road; now Beaumont Farm) kept notable
Ayrshirs cattle studs, with Beaumont also establishing the first Southdown sheep stud in the district.!17

Sheep, cattle and horse-breeding continued to be important industries within the Berwick district. On
the eve of the new century, one writer described:

several large and well-appointed farms, where horse and cattle raising are carried on, and the herds
of several Berwick breeders have a good reputation throughout the entire length and breadth of the
colony. Sheep are also raised, but to a limited extent, as only portions of the district are suitable to
this kind of stock.118

Three existing farming properties where important sheep studs were located, are the Baillieu family's
Minta (Soldiers Road), The Springs, (Greaves Road), where the Greaves family ran a sheep stud at the
turn of the century, and Pine Lodge (King Road), a sheep farm that turned to dairying in the 1960s.

Quarrying

Quarrying was a very early local industry. Aboriginal groups reputedly quarried prior to the arrival of
Europeans. The Berwick bluestone quarries. were part of the original Wilson pastoral properties.
When the brothers James and William divided their holding, William took the southern portion.
Subsequently, in 1859, William opened the Berwick Quarry. Stone was used by Berwick and adjoining
Shires for roadmaking and later, railway construction. In about 1884, William Wilson Jnr. started
contracting and took over the quarry from his father. Shortly afterwards a siding for the Wilson Quarry
was constructed on the Berwick railway line. Wilson worked the quarry until 1918.11° 1t has been
estimated that this quarry:

played a big part in the advancement of towns in west and south Gippsland by pouring thousands
of yards of metal into the stations of Warragul, Drouin, Korumburra and intervening towns. 120

The Daniel Brothers reopened the quarry just before the Second World War. It was then purchased by
Bayview Quarries and in October 1966 by Boral Ltd. They provided 'stone for the great number of
residential subdivisions spreading eastward from Dandenong'.12! The original quarry is now closed.

116. Beaconsfield Guide Book, p.38.

117, Beaumont, pp.37, 39.

118, Beaconsfield Guide Book, p.38.

119, 'Wilson Blue Stone Quarries, 1870-1977', H.S.C. Local History Option. Lionie Tuit, 1986.

120, Evan C. Henry, History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries, in Mining and Geological Journal,
1972

121. 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', in Mining and Geological Journal, 1972,
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The site is owned by the City of Berwick and known as the Wilson Botanic Park, a community
recreation area.122 The Wilson railway siding (known as the railway spur site), no longer exists.

Secondary industry

In the 1950s, the rural character of the western end of the City of Berwick was transformed into an
industrial area. The development of a number of important secondary industries on the outskirts of
Dandenong with an increased demand for labour and housing for the workers employed there has led to
changing patterns within the City of Berwick. One result was that Doveton, formerly an area of small
farms, developed into an industrial suburb with a town centre and a large residential Housing
Commission Estate. The Princes Domain Estate was developed at Hallam and Endeavour Hills, once a
rural area, was converted into a residential suburb.

The earliest industry in Doveton was the abattoirs.123 Later, in 1950, a lace factory was established in
Lace Street on land purchased in 1942 on the Princes Highway close to Eumemmerring Creek. This
factory was founded by William A. Smith Pty. Ltd., a firm from Nottingham which had been ‘bombed
out' during the War. The company worked in Doveton for several years but later moved to Russell
Street in the City and is now in Collingwood.124 None of the Doveton lace factory buildings remain,

In the same year three international companies moved into the Doveton area. International Harvester
Company bought land at the junction of the South Gippsland and Princes Highway. In 1952 a major
truck plant was officially opened, expanding in 1953.125 By 1973, this plant employed workers of
thirty nationalities and depended heavily on casual labour.126

During 1954, another automotive plant, General Motors-Holden, purchased 154 acres on the same side
of the Princes Highway, which later increased to 318 acres. By the end of 1956, a body and assembly
plant was in operation, enabling the company to assemble its car bodies in Victoria for the first time.!27
It was a 'reflection of the importance of the company in the local community that it received its very
own railway station'.128 This station, known as General Motors, still services shift and other workers
at the GMH plant.12°

A third company, H. J. Heinz, opened a big new plant and its Australian headquarters in the Doveton
area.!130 This was claimed to be 'the largest food processing plant in the Southern Hemisphere' and an
‘architectural show-piece'.!3! It won the Architecture and Arts 1955 Award for the best designed
building erected in Australia in that year.132

Doveton Riding

The Doveton area (known earlier as Eumemmerring), had been part of the Shire of Berwick since its
inception in 1868. In 1956 the City of Dandenong sought to annex the industrially important western
section of Berwick Shire, which adjoined Dandenong's borders. This included the sites of the three
huge complexes of GMH, International Harvester and Heinz, as well as the large Doveton Housing
Commission Estate.133

122, 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', in Mining and Geological Journal, 1972.
123. Information from Dr. Bruce Coller. More information required for this pioneer industry.
124, Berwick. Evolution of a City, 1988.

125. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89.

126. Hicks, p.37.

127. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89.

128. Hicks, p.37.

129, Hicks, p.37.

130. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89.

131, The Heinz Story.

132, Architecture and Arts, March 1955.

133, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.22.
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In 1964, in recognition of the extensive development on the Berwick Shire's western boundary, a new

Doveton Riding was formed from part of the Berwick Riding. The Shire then comprised five Ridings:

Doveton, Berwick, Beaconsfield, Pakenham and Iona.!34 In 1970, the Shire of Berwick sent a stern
letter to the City of Dandenong advising that:

this Council strongly objects to the selfish and parochial way your Council has attempted to gain
more finance for your City by making this Application to the Minister to acquire the high
Municipal revenue producing area of the Doveton Riding of the Shire of Berwick.135

After a long legal battle the Shire of Berwick retained this important area.!3¢ Later, on 14 February
1973, it was announced that the Berwick and Doveton Ridings of the Shire would be constituted as the
City of Berwick, which was proclaimed on 1 October 1973.137

Houses

The story of settlement in an area is told most vividly in its surviving houses. However, it is often the
later and more substantial homes that remain rather than the very early, more primitive structures. The
rare remaining early houses consequently have great historical significance. The earliest homes of
European settlers in the Berwick district were said to be wattle and daub cottages built near the banks
of the Cardinia Creck. When this area became public parkland, these settlers had to move. Nothing
remains today of those pioneer dwellings.

Very little remains either of early homes from the pastoral era, apart from the small brick cottage and
sandstone stables on the Edrington (High Street) property, once known as Melville Park. This cottage
is said to be the second home of Robert Gardiner, holder of the original Berwick run that covered most
of the district. Another house, the Former Robertson property on the Belgrave-Hallam Road at Narre
Warren North, is associated with pioneer James Robertson, owner of the cattle run Watwillroon, north-
east of Berwick. Unfortunately little remains of the original fabric of this house although some old

timber may have been used during its rebuilding this century. :

Farm houses

The pastoral era lasted for a relatively short time in the Berwick district. At an early stage Berwick
developed into a farming community in which dairying, cheese-making, agriculture, the breeding of
horses and cattle, and the planting of orchards were major occupations over magny decades and into
recent times. This development is reflected in the district's domestic buildings. In fact, the Berwick
district is quite remarkable for the number of farmhouses that remain, ranging from the humble
cottages of early German settlers at Harkaway to more substantial homestead complexes on large rural
" properties. All eras are well represented. There are still a number of Victorian and Edwardian
farmhouses, which have sometimes been incorporated into later houses, or remain as outbuildings
associated with newer homesteads. Some of the earlier houses illustrate interesting colonial building
techniques. There are also some splendid examples of large farmhouses of the early twentieth century,
inter-war period and later, some architect-designed. Although subdivision has greatly reduced the size
of many of the once-extensive district farm properties, the remaining farmhouses of Narre Warren
North, Harkaway and Berwick, with a few rare survivors in newer areas to the west, have helped
preserve Berwick's traditional rural character.

Early farmhouses

An ecarly farm house in which primitive building techniques were used is Kilfera (King Road) at
Harkaway, built about 1856 by and for the German settlers William Wiese and John M. F. Fritzlaff,
carpenter/builders. The old part of this house, (once used as a local post office), comprises two rooms

134, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.22.
135. Berwick. Evolution of a City.

136, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89.
137. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89.
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with walls constructed with a wooden frame and battens supporting a mud infill. This house may be
typical of early German cottages at Harkaway, using local materials. It is the only known example of
this building type remaining in the Berwick district.

Quarry Hills (Quarry Hills Drive) is believed to be the oldest house in Berwick and was the home of
pioneer farmers, William and James Wilson, possibly as early as 1854. The 1850s section is now
hidden by later extensions, yet the house remains much as it was when the Wilsons owned it in the
1880s. It has particular importance as a model for local construction in which bricks were
manufactured on site and a cheese room was incorporated into the homestead complex.

Another 1850s Harkaway farmhouse, Wickham (King Road, formerly Ratharnay), the home of Wilhelm
'Butter' Meyer, a Swiss settler with a butter-making business, and the original detached smokehouse
were constructed of clay bricks made on the property. As at Quarry Hills, the hand-made bricks were
produced on the site.

Burnbank (Beaumont Road) at Berwick, also regarded as one of the district's earliest farmhouses, has
an earlier c1854 section, although considerably altered, within the later structure. It appears today as
an elegant Victorian villa with a timber ashlar finish. It was once the home of pioneer farmer Robert
Buchanan, who with his brother James, bred Ayrshire cattle. Burr Hill, (Burr Hill Court) the Berwick
farmhouse built for the Hon. James Buchanan, MLC, in 1878 as his second home, retains some original
features which may date from the 1850s. These include an old wine cellar and kitchen at lower ground
level.

A somewhat later example of a modest nineteenth century farmhouse is the brick Victorian home,
Doveton Heights, one of two houses of that era remaining in Doveton Avenue. They are rare survivors
from Doveton's past before it changed from farmland to a residential and industrial suburb.

Larger farm homesteads

Some district farm properties, however, boasted substantial brick or timber residences. This was
particularly true of homesteads built on extensive allotments for prosperous Narre Warren North,
Berwick and Harkaway farmers. Three notable farm homesteads built at Narre Warren North in the
1860s and early 1870s remain as fine examples of the work of George Washington Robinson, (nephew
of the pastoral pioneer, James Robertson), who designed and built them. Unfostunately, a fourth, The
Grange (aBeckett Road), built for the aBeckett family has gone. Stylistically, they are typica! of their
period. Glen Cairn (Robinson Road), once the mixed farming and dairying property of Scottish
pioneer John Troup, is an important and early homestead in the district. It is characterised by its
convex verandah roof, tuck-pointed brickwork, triple light windows, Italianate eave brackets and
remnants of an earlier garden layout.

The former Cleveland, now Aranmore, (Aranmore Crescent, also designed and built by Robinson) was
the home from 1862 of early Narre Warren settler, Francis Barr, and his family. Originally a four-
roomed brick house, it was added to in the 1920s when the brick work was rendered and the roof form
" altered. Today, the house presents a 1920s appearance with a broad gabled hip roof with protruding
hip section but contains earlier parts internally.

Robinson's own home, Hillsley (Robinson Road), was built about 1872 and used at first for orchard
purposes and later for vegetable growing and grazing. This farmhouse is remarkably intact with an
undecorated verandah returning on both sides and a series of double-hung, six-paned windows with
characteristic arched lintels. Built as Robinson's second home, Hillsley in its important garden and
rural landscape setting has 1935 extensions that blend sympathetically with the earlier structure.

A landmark building, Melrose (Harkaway Road) at Harkaway, is an imposing and substantially intact
brick house on an elevated site with a tower commanding panoramic views of the surrounding
countryside. It was built in 1875 as a rural retreat for John Edward Deeble. Later, it became a training
farm for boys between 1938 and 1958 and then was used as the homestead of horse and cattle studs.

Not all larger farm homesteads were built in brick, some were substantial weatherboard residences.
One example of an early 1880s weatherboard homestead, Four Oaks (Cardigan Street), is a rare
survivor at Endeavour Hills. This property brings back memories of when the district's suburban west
was open land dotted with farmhouses. This property was the original homestead on the Grassmere
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Estate, auctioned in 1888 at the height of the land boom. This extensive estate was owned in the early
1880s by Dr. John Tremearne of Creswick.

After the 1880s land boom burst and following the depression of the early 1890s, when recovery
returned in the late 1890s, some prosperous district farmers began to build themselves fine new houses
on large allotments. Minard (Manuka Road), an Edwardian brick and timber villa residence, dates
from this period. It was built about 1897 on a hill overlooking Berwick township within the prestigious
Manuka Park property owned by Malwyn a'Beckett, civil servant, brother of W. A. C. a'Beckett of The
Grange. Malwyn married Affra Robinson, sister of George Washington Robinson, local architect and
builder. Minard with its high gabled roof, and the 1875 Manuka Park homestead (now demolished)
were associated later with the celebrated Manuka Park Andalusian Stud, the Victorian home of this
southern Spanish breed.

Farmhouses with cheese factories

Cheese-making was an important district industry and many early farms, such as the Wilsons' Quarry
Hills (Quarry Hills Drive), once had cheese rooms or, in the case of the larger properties, associated
cheese factories. The survival of buildings used for cheese-making in remaining farm complexes
illustrates an important phase in Berwick's history.

The historically important Springfield (Homestead Road) at Berwick is probably the most notable carly
property with an associated cheese factory. This homestead was reputedly built about 1855 for W. J. T.
(Big') Clarke, pastoralist and landowner. The Old Cheese Factory was constructed in 1875 for
Clarke's son, Sir William Clarke, who became known for his upgrading of properties into model tenant
farms complete with the latest technology and equipment. The factory building was designed by the
architect George Browne and was constructed of hand-made bricks. It is the only cheese factory of its
type remaining in the Berwick district and forms an integral part of this important early dairy farm
complex.

The lower floor of the factory, a two-storey structure, was used for making the cheese and the building
was designed to maximise insulation and has a cavity brick wall with a nine inch external layer and an
internal wall of half that thickness. The roof is double-layered for insulation, with hardwood shingles
beneath a corrugated iron cladding. The factory's first manager was the farmer and cheese maker
Murdoch MacDonald, a Scot who arrived in Victoria about 1853.

Another early Berwick farm, Beaumont Farm (Beaumont Road, the former Ardblair) constructed about
- 1854 for pioneer settler, James Buchanan, has an 1860s two-storey section used for cheese-making. A

large proportion of the original house remains today, the kitchen being the oldest part. This building is
" joined by more recent additions to the former cheese factory. The floor of the upper level is constructed
of hand-hewn beams. The handmade brick walls are rendered and painted. The Buchanans were also
involved in cattle breeding and wheat growing. One of the district's earliest and most important farms,
Beaumont Farm provides good examples of colonial building technology of the 1850s, 1860s and
1890s.

The splendid 1920s Roads End (Beaumont Road) farm complex at Berwick, which will be discussed in
a later section, is said to have once had a cheese factory or dairy associated with its role as a major
district dairy farm.

Outbuildings

Remaining outbuildings can tell us much about the origins and historical development of a farm
property. They provide clues about exactly when the farmhouse was built and about early ownership
and usage. Some of the largest district properties are notable for the number and importance of their
outbuildings. In this dairying district, as we have seen, these may include a cheese room or even a
large cheese factory. There may be a farm complex comprising homestead, stables, dairy and
miscellaneous sheds.
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Melrose, a fine landmark building

(Context Pty Ltd, 1993)

Cheese factory at Springfield homestead, built in 1875

(Context Pty Ltd, 1992)
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Oatlands (Narre Warren North Road) at Narre Warren is an outstanding example of a farm complex
with a large number of outbuildings. Anthony Burden Kent, a district pioneer, was the original owner
of this property. The farm includes a substantial brick homestead with granite foundations built in
1890-92, an old cottage, cool stores built in 1943 and attached residence, two-storey stables and other
outbuildings. The property, a local landmark, is remarkable for its plantings of exotic trees, old
orchard trees and remnant Hawthorn hedges. :

Another farm property with an exceptional number of remaining outbuildings, The Springs (Greaves
Road) at Narre Warren South, was the home of the Greaves family, pioneer English farmers who
established important Border Leicester and Southdown sheep studs. This complex includes a 1903 red
brick Queen Anne style residence with an associated brick cottage, stables and a very intact
blacksmith's shop, a valuable facility on a large farming property. The residence is mainly intact, and
is of symmetrical design with Federation features such as a large bay window set diagonally at the
north-east corner, two tall potted chimneys and a gabled hip roof. Internally, the house retains a lot of
its original carpentry. The blacksmith's shop is constructed of handmade bricks, and its hearth and
bellows are still operational. The stables north of the blacksmith's shop have a broad gable roof with a
loft and pulley below the ridge. '

The Hessell Road property Warrenwood (once known as Hillcroft), was owned by Dr. Ernst Gottlob
Wanke, prominent German settler, and later, by his son Immanuel. This farm has interesting
outbuildings, but both earlier farmhouses have gone. The outbuildings may date from the Wanke
ownership and include a large barn, a glass house with its original brickwork and a milking shed and
dairy. The glass house may have been used by Bertha, Immanuel's wife, a keen gardener. There is also
a fine example of an old dairy currently used as stables. This building has a brick floor in part with a
wooden floor mounted on granite boulder and tree stump supports. It is probable that the remains of a
cheese press exist beneath the floor.

A somewhat later property, Rowallan Farm (Rowallan Road) at Harkaway, the home of another
German settler, Gottfried Tscherner, from the 1880s or earlier, retains its old barn and other
outbuildings. The building technology illustrated by this property is most interesting and may have
been used by other pioneer German farmers in the district.

The earliest parts of the large weatherboard farmhouse, which is remarkably intact, were also built of
timber posts, lined with beaded pine board and insulated with charcoal. The earliest garden plantings
are believed to date from 1880 or earlier. There are several weatherboard outbuildings. A shed
externally clad in a mix of second hand sheet material contains a wood slab structure within. Pathways
and external drains in handmade brick connect these sheds and stores with the older part of the house.
An old barn with bush pole structural timbers stands in the paddock adjacent to the house.

There are stables, a hay shed and a restored brick cottage at Brentwood (Clyde Road, formerly known
as Kippenross) as well as the 1903 weatherboard homestead, the Berwick home of the Pearson family.
The Pearsons were prominent Victorian pastoralists and parliamentarians. The remaining outbuildings
provide valuable evidence of the various farming uses of this property.

Outbuildings of a much later date may be found at Grasmere (Inglis Road), a Berwick dairy farm in
which the present homestead is built around an early c1856 section made from handmade bricks. The
intact outbuildings include an old 1920s milking shed, pre-1920s stables, brick creamery rooms and a
very large well. Built for J. Inglis, an early Berwick storekeeper, the property was owned later by Hon.
James Buchanan (the holder of a number of district properties). It is owned still by Buchanan
descendants.

The remaining outbuildings on some Berwick district farms, however, are all that is left of a significant
early property. At Rossmoyne Park (Hessell Road) for example, the property adjoining Warrenwood, at
least one of the outbuildings, a timber barn, is of equal historical importance to the brick Victorian style
house, both dating from the early ownership of the property by the pioneer German settlers, the
Hillbrichs.
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An early photograph of William Martin 'German' Brown's house. Narre Warren North.
Now called The Grattons

(Max Thomson collection)

The large barn at Warrenwood (former Hillcroft), scene of many district dances

(Context Pty Ltd, 1992)
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Similarly, the oldest buildings at Pine Lodge (King Road) another Harkaway farm, are the outbuildings
which appear to date from the 1870s or earlier. There is a former timber farmhouse with pine and mud
filled walls and a shearing shed with pine walls. These structures have significance as interesting
examples of early building technology. The property, which once covered 467 acres, has historical
significance for its associations with the Hillbrichs and Kents, pioneer families who inter-married.
Pine Lodge may have been the first home of Anthony B. Kent who married Mary Hillbrich.

Post-1900 farmhouses

The Berwick district remained a predominantly rural farming community until quite recent times.
Although there are a large number of surviving nineteenth century farm houses, some remarkably
intact and with interesting early outbuildings, there are also some fine examples of farmhouses built at
the turn of the century and during the inter-war period. An assessment of post-Second World War
farmhouses is of importance, also, in understanding Berwick's rural heritage. Some of the post-1900
homesteads are exceptional from both an historical and architectural viewpoint and have not only local
but regional and even state significance. They are comparable with the most important farm houses
built in other parts of Victoria during this period. The Grattons (Bailey Road) at Narre Warren North,
for instance, is a good example of a brick Edwardian farm residence, the former home of William
Martin 'German' Brown, prominent early dairy farmer, brickmaker and roadmaker.

Narre Warren was a prosperous orchard area at the turn of the century, so it is not surprising that some
of the best district farm houses of this period are located there. Two of the most important were built
for the Baileys, a prominent local family which inter-married with the Webbs, district pioneers.
Araluen (Narre Warren North Road) with its large dam is an exceptional orchard property, which sent
apples all over Australia from 1905 until the 1940s. The Edwardian farm residence with its Federation
Bungalow details was constructed for James W. Bailey, son-in-law of Sydney J. Webb. This farm has
remained in Bailey family ownership and is owned currently by Miss Lucy Bailey. Its garden,
established in 1903, is still one of the best in the district. Clarinda Park (Narre Warren North Road,
once known as Brentwood), the neighbouring property, was the home about 1904 of George Bailey,
Narre Warren storekeeper and overseas fruit exporter. The intact Federation period weatherboard
farmhouse is notable for its superbly crafted timber verandah.

Some post-1900 district farm homesteads could almost be classed as mansions. Located on very large
properties, these substantial buildings were designed by prominent Victorian architects and became the
residences of extremely wealthy and important families. Edrington (High Street) at Berwick is perhaps
the best known historic property. As well as earlier structures, there is a splendid Arts and Crafts
Bungalow mansion, a prime example of the innovative designs of the architectural practice of
Klingender and Alsop. The 1906 design is one of the earliest examples in Victoria of the Vernacular
Revival style, which was to become popular for suburban residences over the next twenty years. The
homestead, built for pastoralist Samuel MacKay, was owned later by the grazier S. Chirnside and, more
recently, Lord and Lady Casey.

Sir Sidney Sewell, a well-known surgeon, who was a partner in an important district dairying company,
was the first owner of another Berwick near-mansion, Roads End. Constructed between 1921 and
1928, and standing within extensive grounds, this large homestead is an outstanding and intact
example of the work of the notable architectural firm, Blackett and Forster. In a hybrid architectural
style which became popular in the 1920s, the building incorporates the Arts and Crafts, Bungalow,
Shingle Style and Sydney Balcony Style. It is built in a variety of materials with bluestone foundations
and columns constructed in bluestone with unpainted roughcast rendered walls in the ground storey.
The upper level is a composition of gable sections with vertical timbers above a shingled apron. There
are exposed rafters in the eaves and multi-paned sashed windows.

In its spectacular garden setting, Roads End retains its ongmal stables and stable master's quarters, a
small builder's cottage and an old well and sundial.
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Araluen, c1930

(Miss Lucy Bailey)

Kippenross

(Context Pty Lid, 1992)

44 « Environmental history Heritage of the City of Berwick



The Spanish Mission style which became popular in Australia in the 1930s was used in the design of
New Ardblair (Beaumont Road) at Berwick, designed by Sydney architects Greenwell and Shirley in
1932-33. It was the home of local farmer and historian, Norman E. Beaumont, descendant of two
important pioneer families, the Buchanans and Beaumonts. Now standing on a much reduced
allotment, New Ardblair has lost some of its original features.

Another large brick Spanish Mission farm residence, Piney Ridge (Heatherton Road) at Endeavour
Hills, is one of only two farmhouses remaining in this now highly-urbanised area. Set in landscaped
gardens, Piney Ridge (once run as a Jersey stud) was the home in the 1940s of Charles Hartley, a
Melbourne manufacturer of rotary sprinklers and irrigation supplies. A second storey was added in
1954, A locat landmark overlooking the Endeavour Hills shopping centre, Piney Ridge also has a red
brick manager's cottage at the rear of the main house, an old dairy, garage and chicken sheds.

Soldier and Closer Settlement houses

In the present century, there have been various attempts at closer scttlement in rural Victoria. These
schemes have related to the settlement of returned soldiers and others who could not otherwise afford a
farm, on land purchased by the Government. Two of these schemes in the Berwick district were the
Narre Warren North Estate subdivided in 1925 and the Hallam Valley Estate subdivided in 1928. The
latter Estate involved the purchase for closer settlement of Crown Allotments 25 and 26 in the former
Clarke Springfield Estate.

In Victoria, most soldier settler farms were abandoned as a result of the inexperience of these new
farmers. However, Narre Warren North soldier settlers were more successful and often retained their
properties until their death. These settlers were encouraged to become mixed farmers, combining
dairying with growing vegetables and other crops. The building design of their houses was usually a
simplified weatherboard bungalow form with a simple gable roof clad in corrugated iron. This style
became popular in the expanding suburbs of the 1920s. The most intact of the six similar Closer
Settlement houses identified within the Narre Warren Estate is the Lowry House (Narre Warren North
Road). This was on Leslie Lowry's 14 acre farm taken up in 1937. Lowry was the son of a returned
soldier who lost his Gippsland farm during the Depression. The Narre Warren North farm was more
successful. Dairying was carried on there, maize and oats grown, and farm produce sold locally and in
Dandenong. Other known soldier settler houses are in Narre Warren North Road, in Fox Road, and at
Tara Park off Brundrett Road. ' :

Residences

Homes other than houses associated with farms were comparatively rare in the Berwick district until
the urbanisation of recent times. The district remained a predominantly farming community for many
decades served by quite small townships. There were only two gazetted townships, at Berwick and
Narre Warren (now Narre Warren North), although small township centres sprang up at an early date
at Harkaway and, after the opening of the railway, at Narre Warren.

Throughout the district most early township residences were at Berwick, which developed as an
important district service centre. It was here that local doctors, school teachers, bank managers,
drapers, local parliamentarians and workers in the building trades had their homes. Later, prosperous
sheep or cattle farmers, or families like the Wilsons who ran the local quarry, retired to substantial
town residences, leaving their farm homesteads to younger family members or others.

In recent decades, however, there has been a proliferation of township houses as suburbanisation
followed the establishment of the large residential estates at Doveton, Narre Warren and Hallam.
These developments have been associated with the introduction by the Housing Commission of the
mass-produced concrete house, and an attempt to offer some innovative house designs by leading
modern architects to Fountain Gate residents.

Inveresk at Berwick, built in 1891 on an elevated site in High Street, is a good exampie of the fine
residences built last century for prosperous local business people. Constructed for the draper George
Brown, of local brown bricks, this residence features half-timbered flying gables with curved brackets
and drop pendants and a gabled verandah. This late Victorian villa is a fine illustration of the domestic
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work of the Melbourne architects, Little and Beasley. Inveresk remains as a remarkably intact local
landmark in the prestigious Berwick Hill area.

A fine Edwardian town residence, Kilkirean (the former Liskic Brae), was built in 1902 as the last
home of William Wilson Snr., pioneer settler and founder of the Wilson Quarry, a major Berwick
district industry. Located on the hill slope above the Princes Highway, this Italianate villa with its
polychromatic brick work, deep window bays, ornate brick chimney and charming floral leadlights, is a
good example of the craftsmanship of the local designer and builder, Ballantyne.

There are also a number of good examples of smaller township houses in the Victorian and Edwardian
eras. Gloucester Cottage, a Victorian house with ashlar block front and a central door with a fanlight,
was the home in the 1880s or later of John Joseph William Warne, painter and decorator. The Warnes
had an early painting and decorating business in Station Street (the early name for Gloucester Avenue),
the location also of this residence.

Lumeah, another High Street residence, is typical of the modest weatherboard cottages built in this area
at the turn of the century which helped give the township its village-like character, In the 1940s it was
the home of Mrs Ryan, a retired school teacher.

An architectural style, now known as the Federation style, became popular during the first decades of .
this century. The former Kippenross, a substantial two-storey brick bungalow built in Gloucester
Avenue in 1911, was the private residence of the Hon. John Pearson, MLA. The most striking feature
of this residence is its sprawling terracotta roof form which splays at the verandah with exposed rafters
and simple square timber verandah posts. Although constructed as a private residence, Kippenross was
used as the Berwick Presbyterian Girls School from 1920 to 1929. From 1930 it became part of St
Margaret's, an important district educational establishment. Another private residence later
incorporated into the school, Gloucester House, is a single storey federation style bungalow built in
1918 for George Wilson Snr., and his wife, Marie, associated with the important Wilson Quarry.

During the 1920s, the Californian Bungalow, often with Arts and Crafts features, became popular
throughout Australia. A number of examples can be found in Berwick. Dhuringa, (Peel Street) built
for Mrs Fanny Hume Hutchinson, grand-daughter of Hamilton Hume, the explorer, is in this style.
This house displays a high quality of craftsmanship with superb interior carpentry detailing and an
intact external form, and is set within a complementary period garden landscape.

A more unusual 1920s residence is the Jessie Traill Studio (Baker Road) at Harkaway, designed as an
artist's studio but also used as a home by this major artist during her last years. She lived and painted
there and entertained her friends. This simple gabled building has half-timbered upper walls and
weatherboard to first floor level. Its balcony overlooks the former Traill cottage built in 1918-19 and
sold in 1948 to Enid Joske, Principal at Janet Clarke Hall, the first Women's College at Melbourne
University. The Studio retains a Bavarian character.

The Keys House (Shrives Road) at Narre Warren built in the 1930s is a fine example of the inter-war
brick English Cottage style. This two-storey residence with walls and gable ends featuring vertical
timber cladding finished in a dark stain with white painted tracery and frames highlighting the multi-
paned windows. It was built for Harold L. Keys, Shire of Berwick Engineer from 1904 to 1948, and is
stylistically similar to Sir Sidney Sewell's 1920s farm residence, Roads End (Beaumont Road).

Modern residences

The 1940s and 1950s were periods in which few significant town residences seem to have been built in
Berwick. However, Caseldene off Brisbane Street with its unusual modern design, rooftop studio
approached by an exterior cast-iron spiral staircase, and dramatic architectural forr, is an interesting
local house of this era. Built about 1946, reputedly for an artist, it has splendid roof top views of
Berwick.

Sunways, the innovative timber house designed in 1947 by the architect Norman Seabrooke (of
Seabrooke and Fildes), is the home of the Loveridges, important district storckeepers. Located in Lyall
Road, this residence demonstrates several architectural ideas popular in modern post-war housing. Its
open plan with generous windows punctuating cubic forms was a typical design approach aimed at
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creating a more honest and functional architecture. The patios and pergolas are characteristic of the
modern fashion for outdoor living.

The 1950s a'Beckett House in Rutland Road, Berwick, also expresses modern architectural ideas. This
fine timber residence was built in 1955 for Gertrude a'Beckett, widow of William a'Beckett, from the
designs of her nephew, the notable and innovative architect Robin Boyd. The original design featured
glass walls looking into a garden area, a feature reflecting the contemporary encouragement of outdoor
living, :

Housing Commission homes

A new kind of home, a small concrete house prefabricated by mass-production methods, was introduced
in to the Berwick district in the 1950s. These homes were built in the Dovefton Estate by the Housing
Commission of Victoria for workers employed in the new factories of General Motors Holden, Heinz
and International Harvester. This residential development completely altered the character of the
western end of Berwick near Dandenong, formerly farming land.

The Housing Commission of Victoria was established in 1937 to provide accommodation for people of
limited means and to solve the social problems associated with inner city slum housing. After the
Second World War, its focus on slum clearance gave way to an attempt to deal with the post-war
housing shortage. In the 1950s, in order to provide local housing for the huge labour force needed for
the new Doveton factories, the HCV bought up large tracts of former farming land in the vicinity. It
expressed its objectives in these words:

In view of the intense industrial development which is taking place at Dandenong, the Commission
has purchased land well ahead of its immediate requirements so that the number of houses being
built can be readily increased to assist in providing the labour required for these new industries. 138

The Housing Commission Estate at Doveton was originally part of Power's Eumemmerring pastoral run
and later formed part of the new Doveton Riding created in 1964. It was planned to build 2,500 houses
on the estate at a cost of about seven million pounds. The majority of these houses were to be of
concrete construction,!3?

As early as 1939 the HCV had built 60 concrete houses at its first estate at Fishermen's Bend, using the
Fowler System of pre-fabricated concrete construction. This system was invented by T. W. Fowler of
Werribee, who devised a method of casting concrete walls on an elevated flat metal table, each wall
complete with the required window and door openings. After Fowler's death in 1942 the HCV took
over his plant and in 1947 a factory was established at Holmesglen.!40 During 194849 the
Commission's Concrete House Project had completed 503 concrete houses and in 1951 the number had
almost doubled to 962,141

These concrete houses were chosen for working-class housing in both city and country housing estates.
The production cost was far below that of either brick or timber houses. In 1955-56 about 399 houses
were built in the Doveton Estate, 374 of which were concrete. 142

138. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1953-54, p.30.

139. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1956-57. Quoted in Hicks, p.39. .

140. George Tibbits, 'The Enemy Within Our Gates' in New Houses for Old, ed. Renate Howe,
pp.125-138.

141. Victorian Housing Commission, 4nnual Reports, 1947-49, 1950-51.

142. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Reports, 1955-56; Annual Report, 1956-57 pp.14, 26
(illustration Concrete Houses, Doveton Estate).
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A gleaming kitchen in a Doveton Housing Commission house, 1955

(Dandenong & District Historical Society)

Link House: designed by architect Reg Grouse for the Fountain Gate estate

(City of Berwick)
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These Doveton houses are typically three-bedroom houses with small front and rear porches, a lounge
room, small hallway, kitchen, laundry, bathroom and toilet. Although the work was supervised by the
Commission's Architects Panel of eminent architects with long experience in public housing, by the
1990s some concrete houses at Doveton were exhibiting significant structural problems. These were
among the earlier houses built between the mid-1950s and early 1960s on highly reactive soils.
Redevelopment of those houses remaining in public ownership is currently being considered.143

Modern residential estates

The establishment of the Housing Commission's Doveton Estate was followed by the development of
two private residential estates in the Berwick area, the Princes Domain Estate at Hallam and the
Fountain Gate Estate at Narre Warren. '

In the 1950s, the Princes Domain Estate, was opened at Hallam, offering a private housing alternative
to the Doveton Estate. In 1954 Overland Development Corporation acquired its first Hallam land. The
founder and managing director of Overland, Isador Magid, was born in China of Russian parents and
emigrated to Australia with his family in 1951. His company was actively involved in developing land
in a number of Melbourne suburbs and country Victoria before investing in Hallam. About seventy per
cent of the original Princes Domain Estate was developed and sold in near record time. Further
purchases and development followed and a good deal of Hallam's residential development is based on
Overland's original estate.144

The Fountain Gate Estate was an innovative housing development designed by the architect Robin
Boyd in collaboration with the developer Isador Magid. In the 1960s project house builders in
Melbourne started to commission independent and forward-looking architects to design both estates
and project houses. This was in response to a market for more individuality without the expense of a
one-off house design.

The Fountain Gate project involved four notable architectural firms providing a range of contemporary
house designs. These architects agreed on certain principles to guide their design approach. The
houses were to be low in height, expansive in plans and flexible in internal arrangements. The
provision of sunlight and privacy were major considerations. Bathroom accommodation was to be
generous. Houses were to have at least three bedrooms and outdoor living was to be encouraged. 14

Four display homes were built following these principles on prominent sites. They include the Link
House designed by Reg Grouse at 15 Fountain Gate Drive; the Colonnade House design by Daryl
Jackson and Evan Walker, at 7 Green Ridge Avenue; and the Three Courts House, designed by Robin
Boyd and Frederick Romberg, at 7 Oakwood Avenue, 146

These display houses were built in the western part of the estate, the first part developed. The estate
was sold with a series of special conditions including a design covenant, stipulating that the houses
should be built in brick or brick veneer and not have side fences.!47 The latter proviso has been
ignored.

The contemporary houses designed as display homes, and others created by the same team of architects,
stand out from the conventional hipped roof houses which dominate the estate. However, they
comprise a mere handful. As Magid himself admitted, in this middle-class residential estate, most
residents did not favour the more advanced contemporary designs but ‘'wanted homes just like their
mum and dad's'.148

143, South Doveton Redevelopment Strategy Plan, Operations Planning Branch, Nov. 1991, pp.2-
3. '

144, 'Hallam since 1930, 1993, p.11.

145, Australian Home Beautiful, Oct. 1967, pp.41-44, 45; Business Review Weekly, 29 March,

1991.
146, Australian Home Beautiful, Oct. 1967, pp.41-44, 45.
147. Fountain Gate Estate records.

148, Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Environmental history « 49



The Fountain Gate complex was consolidated by the construction of Berwick Civic Centre built nearby
with land and some finance provided by Magid. The offices were officially opened on 8 December
1978.14° Magid's innovative concept integrated residential, civic and commercial elements.

Endeavour Hills, a major subdivision by Lewis Land Corp., Finance Corp. of Australia Ltd and
Cambridge Credit, was designed in the 1960s and developed during the 1970s. The symbol of the
estate, a statue of Captain James Cook, remains alongside the former land sales office in Monkhouse
Drive. The estate was said to be one of the largest being developed in Melbourne at that time, and is an
interesting recent example.

The cultural landscape today

The City of Berwick still retains something of its traditional image which developed from the 1850s
after a brief pastoral era. This district still has many acres of farmland, old farm homesteads and
remnant Hawthorn hedges, particularly in the early settled areas of Narre Warren North and Harkaway.

However, the landscape has changed considerably since the days when the Bunurong and Wurundjeri
tribes hunted and camped along the Cardinia Creck. The wholesale clearing of vegetation and
introduction of hoofed animals for grazing purposes destroyed many traditional food sources and had a
profound effect on the original inhabitants. Berwick is remarkable, though, for important heritage sites
associated with the first contact between Aboriginal and European cultures. The Darndenong Police
Paddocks (or Native Police Depot and Narre Warren Protectorate Station) at Endeavour Hilis is a
significant historical and archaeological place.

Very few places relate to the early pastoral runs. Those that remain have great rarity value.
Fortunately, a number of cottages, or parts of cottages, built for Harkaway's pioneer German settlers
illustrate that important phase in the district's history. There is also an old German cemetery, a
reconstructed 1860s bell tower, primary school, remnant Hawthorn hedges and an identifiable township
precinct with an historic Avenue of Honour.

The City of Berwick is remarkable for its large number of surviving farm properties. This is an
unusual heritage for an area within an urban growth corridor close to Melbourne. There are
farmhouses of all eras, ranging from modest cottages (often demonstrating unusual early building
techniques) of the 1850s and 1860s, to large homesteads on extensive holdings owned by wealthy
district farming families.

There is a rich heritage relating to Berwick's agricultural and dairying past in the form not only of
farmhouses but other structures such as dairies, cheese rooms and factories. Of the few remaining large
farm properties with associated cheese factories, the most notable is the Springfield and the Old Cheese
Factory in Homestead Road at Berwick, which has state-wide significance. There are also some
remnant orchards around Narre Warren, once among the state's chief fruit-growing areas. Old and new
properties associated with well-known horse and cattle studs are also of significant heritage value.

Berwick's rural and agricultural landscape is, however, undergoing a process of change. Many once
large properties have been greatly reduced by subdivision. Some have become hobby farms, holiday
homes, or the country retreats of wealthy commuters or retirees. Some former farmland has been
converted to industrial and residential use, a trend which has completely transformed the City, of
Berwick's western end.

Although the City (formerly part of the Shire) had only two gazetted townships, at Berwick and Narre
Warren (now Narre Warren North) there were several small township centres serving prosperous
dairying and agricultural communities. Evidence of this early development survives today in
identifiable small township precincts at Harkaway and near the Narre Warren railway station.
However, these township centres are undergoing rapid change as old buildings disappear to be replaced
by new ones, the transition marked by residential and road development. This change is most

149, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.24; Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991. (Magid gave
20 hectares of land and $500,000 to the City of Berwick 'to get its offices started’).
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noticeable in the once important Narre Warren township precinct at the intersection of the Highway
and Webb Street.

The township of Berwick with its significant High Street commercial precinct has also undergone
change, although it retains something of its village-like quality. A fine collection of commercial and
public buildings remain, including the early landmark Berwick Inn, and a group dating from the 1880s
boom years. Some of these buildings have both regional and state significance. But the distinctive
High Street verandahs have gone, as have many old shops, while key buildings like the former
Paternoster's Store on the hill are hidden behind newer facades. Today, there are modern shopping
arcades and other components of a contemporary suburban shopping centre.

Berwick township is no longer the kind of commercial centre it once was. The huge shopping
complexes at Fountain Gate and Dandenong attract much of the local trade. However, rather than
competing, Berwick's shopkeepers have specialised, providing a diversity of high quality goods, many
locally produced and some not available elsewhere in the district. Today the High Street precinct
presents a positive image based on its traditional village character.

Although Berwick's pioneers cleared great areas of the early forests of red gum, box and manna gum,
as well as tea-tree, melaleuca, banksia, heath and native grasses, tree planting became a popular civic
activity of prominent residents in the late nineteenth century. The planting of exotic and native trees in
the townships, the laying out of leafy tree-lined streets and Memorial and Honour Avenues enhanced
the Berwick district from this time onward, and provided impressive entrances to town centres. There
was once a municipal rose garden in Berwick's High Street precinct, tended for many years by Dr.
Percy Langmore and Sir Sidney Sewell, who were also responsible for much of the street plantings.

Most of the significant remaining township residences of the pre-1950s era are located within the
Berwick township particularly along High Street and on prestigious sites on the Berwick Hill. These
were the homes of local doctors, school teachers, parliamentarians, storekeepers, and workers in the
building trades. Later, they were the houses of retired farmers like the Wilsons.

These residences date from all eras and illustrate a variety of styles ranging from Victorian to
Edwardian, Federation to Inter-War. Some were architect-designed or good examples of the work of
local builders. There are modest cottages and near-mansions. Many have fine associated gardens.
One of the grandest in a vast garden setting of exotic and native plantings is Sir Sidney Sewell's Roads
End.

.Another interesting aspect of the City of Berwick's cultural landscape is the number of remaining
buildings and sites associated with notable artists who visited or came to live in the district. Two of the
most important are Jessie Traill's Studio and residence Harfra at Harkaway and The Grange site at
Berwick, associated with the novelist Martin Boyd, and the world-famous contemporary artist, Arthur
Boyd.

Little remains of Berwick's early industrial heritage. All that remains of the Wilson Quarry, a major
local industry over many decades, is its site now being redeveloped as Wilson Botanic Park.

The greatest change in Berwick's cultural landscape in recent years has been the industrial and
residential development of its west end near Dandenong in the 1950s and 1960s. By the 1960s the City
of Berwick was regarded as a major growth corridor on the fringe of metropolitan Melbourne. The
three giant factories of General Motors Holden, Heinz and International Harvester, established in the
1950s on former farmland at Doveton, are important components of Berwick's twentieth century
industrial heritage.

New trends in housing associated with residential estate development in the 1950s and 1960s have
added interest and new dimensions to the cultural landscape of Berwick as it is today. The small mass-
produced concrete houses built on the Doveton Estate were part of a project begun by the Housing
Commission of Victoria in the late 1930s. Its aim was to provide low cost housing for working-class
families. The Doveton Estate was an attempt to provide housing and a labour supply for the new
factories on the Princes Highway. Today, some houses are displaying structural faults as a result of
their construction on unstable soil. Redevelopment of the area, which is proposed, may resuit in this
building type becoming rare in Berwick.
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Innovative house designs associated with the Magid Fountain Gate project at Narre Warren are also
important to Berwick's twentieth century heritage. This project has metropolitan significance for its
combination of residential, shopping and civic development.

Dating from the 1960s, project architects (all major contemporary architectsy prepared designs that
were featured in display houses constructed on key sites within this new middleclass residential estate.
However, few Fountain Gate residents took up this option, preferring to live in more conventional
houses. The remaining display houses, and a small number of houses designed by the same architects,
nevertheless, have considerable heritage value.

The City of Berwick continues to be chosen by many people as a desirable place to live. The concern of
many residents about preserving significant buildings and sites as part of a rich local heritage has
helped io retain Berwick's traditional image. It is hoped that the enthusiasm of these residents will be
rewarded and that what is most valued by the local community will remain as an important part of the
future cultural landscape.
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PART 3: CITY OF BERWICK'S
HERITAGE



Aboriginal heritage

Introduction

A number of archaeological surveys (and a few excavations) have been conducted in the Melbourne
area. The surveys have had two common objectives: mapping the pre-contact Aboriginal heritage, aid
the protection and management of sites and seeking an understanding of the Aboriginal use of the
landscape.

The surveys have employed a sampling strategy to locate pre-contact Aboriginal sites. As a result,
several hundred sites in the Melbourne Metropolitan area have been recorded at Aboriginal Affairs
Victoria (AAV). The sites recorded consist of scatters of stone artefacts, the residues of old campsites,
scarred trees, stone arrangements, living mounds, quarried stone sources for tools, shell middens, axe-
grinding grooves, burials and rock wells.

These studies have identified the Aboriginal use of the rivers and crecks as well as the foothills of the
Dandenong Ranges. Sixty-two Aboriginal sites were recorded during the archaeological survey of the
Berwick-Pakenham corridor in 1989.

Continuity and change

As with any situation where a dominant culture has overwhelmed a minority group of indigenous
people, there is both a strand of continuity of traditional ways and also an adaptation of old ways to
cope with the new order and to ensure survival.

For the Melbourne area, evidence of the pre-contact history exists in the form of archacological sites.
There are historical accounts of the contact period. There are a number of Aborigines who not only
survived the contact period but who also retain memories or oral traditions of a more traditional past.
To tie together pre-contact and post-contact history requires examination of:

o the archaeological evidence contained in the sites of the contact and post-contact period
= historical sources, the writings of government officials, settlers and early explorers
= oral histories from long-time residents of the area, both non-Aborigines and Aborigines.

The archaeological perspective is necessarily regional. Aboriginal tribal areas do not necessarily
coincide with present day cadastral boundaries. Furthermore, Aboriginal groups did not reside in a
single location but followed well-worn traditional rounds of their clan area in response to the
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availability of food and other resources. Therefore, a good knowledge of the extent and land use of clan
territories and of the pre-contact environment is essential background to the interpretation of continuity
and change within that society. This information can be derived from archaeological studies carried
out in the region.

From all accounts, (historical and archaeological), the Melbourne area supported a sizeable Aboriginal
population. It has been estimated that Aboriginal tribes probably consisted of some 500 people. In
south-central Victoria there appeared to be an alliance of clans called the Kulin. Most spoke a common
language and belonged to the Woiworung language group.

The Melbourne region was one of considerable natural resources: the Yarra River and many of its
tributaries held permanent water and the river and its flood plain supplied an abundance of food
resources and raw materials. Between the Yarra and Port Phillip Bay and to the south of the
Dandenong Ranges there were extensive swamps which provided food and game and were favoured
places for Aboriginal groups.

The effect of European invasion of the Kulin lands was devastating. Even before the actual arrival of
Europeans in the Melbourne area, smallpox had already swept outwards from Sydney through the
Aboriginal population which had no immunity to it. Settlement of the Port Phillip District was very
rapid. The plant and animal food resources of a hunting and gathering people, soon became
inaccessible or replaced by exotic species. Other threats to the traditional social order included
diseases, alcohol and conflicts which inflicted almost total social dislocation and decimation, with an
associated low birth rate and high death rate.

Survivors were herded first to a mission on the Yarra and later, men were taken into the Native Police
camp at Narre Warren. The Aboriginal Protectorate aimed at keeping Aborigines in reserves and
missions for the purpose of ‘civilising and Christianising' them. Finally, the remainder were uprooted
again and placed at Coranderrk in Healesville.

A survey of Aboriginal heritage places

No systematic investigation of the post-contact Aboriginal history of the region has been carried out,
and the City of Berwick Heritage Study only considers the Narre Warren Protectorate Station
(Dandenong Police Paddocks), the history of which has been well documented. A regional study of all
Aboriginal places is essential. The history of the region suggests that a study of the post-contact
Aboriginal history will find that the evidence of continuity in the form of social and material
adaptations will be scarce, (and therefore highly significant).

Important evidence about the post-contact era will come from oral histories of both non-Aboriginal and
Aboriginal sources. Such evidence will probably include references to locations of Aboriginal activities
such as camping places (Ghin Ghin Bin homestead and Akoonah Park), meeting places (properties on
the Harkaway Road), a ceremonial place (Bald Hill), and a stone procurement source (near Clyde).

Archaeological evidence of persistent traditions may be encountered. For example the use of long-
established seasonal routes and of sites which show evidence of adaptation such as the adoption of 19th
century bottle glass for making traditional artefacts (AAV site n0.7921/0197).
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Dandenong Police Paddocks

Churchill Park Drive Endeavour Hills

History & description

The earliest history of this site relates to Aboriginal use. Although the Baluk-Willan clan of the
Wurundjeri owned the land, it was on the border of the country owned by the Ngaruk-Willan clan of
the Bunurong tribe. Both groups would certainly have used the resources of the creek and the flood
plain for thousands of years.!

Between 1837 and 1853 the site was jointly occupied by Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal groups. A
Native Police Corps was established in 1837 by Captain William Lonsdale, the Superintendent of Port
Phillip, under the leadership of Christian Ludolph Johannes de Villiers. Its purpose was to apprehend
runaway convicts and try to keep the peace between Aborigines and non-Aborigines. It was believed
that membership of the Corps would 'civilise' the men and help them to assimilate. Men from three
tribes, the Wurundjeri, Bunurong and Taungurong, chose the site in an area then known as Nerre Nerre
Warren, and commenced building their headquarters in the closing months of 1837. However, the
Corps was disbanded three months later. Further attempts to set up a native corps were made in 1838
and 1839. In 1840, a third Native Police Corps moved to the Dandenong Protectorate Station. This
was the Central Station for the Westernport District of the Aboriginal Protectorate. Aboriginal people
were encouraged to adopt a settled agricultural life style. They worked hard constructing a village,
sowing, ploughing and fencing, but they continued their seasonal movements to other areas and to
Melbourne.2

A fourth Native Police Corps formed in 1842 contained a third division composed of old men and
recruits who built a large and substantial headquarters on the site. During these years eight Aboriginal
troopers on the station died and were buried there. Three Aboriginal people associated with the police
died and were also buried there. There was also a European Sergeant-Major, who may have been

1. Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, March 1992, p.16.
2. Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, pp.16-17.
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buried there, as well as a number of Aboriginal people who died during the period of the Protectorate.
However, the site of the Native Police cemetery has not been found.3

In the post-1853 years, after the discovery of gold in Victoria, the Police Paddocks had a number of
uses. It was the period of the massive reorganisation that resulted in the establishment of the Victoria
Police as we know it today. The Native Police ceased to function as a unit after 1852. From 1853 to
1931 the site was the central station for the Police Stud Depot. Also, between 1877 and 1931
Queensland Black Trackers on contract to Victoria Police lived at the Stud Depot. The first five had
been recruited in 1877 to assist in the search for Ned Kelly.4

In recent years the historic Police Paddocks have come under municipal control. In 1930 the
Dandenong Police Paddock Reserve was permanently reserved for public purposes under the Narre
Warren Land Act. Later, in 1957, the Shires of Dandenong (now City), Ferntree Gully (now City of
Knox), and Berwick (now City), agreed to control separate areas of the Police Paddocks under
Committees of Management.’

In 1962 a stone house and barracks were pulled down to make the site safe for scouts attending the
1964-65 World Jamboree at the Police Paddocks. Many roads and services were constructed at this
time. In 1969 an area was set aside for a golf course (now under the ownership of the City of Berwick),
and since 1973 tip sites in the area have been operated by the Cities of Berwick and Dandenong.$

Today many features of historical, social and archaeological significance remain in the Police
Paddocks, dating from various periods in the history of the area. They include ruins of buildings,
remains of an old bridge, Aboriginal stone artefacts, trees and rubbish dumps.”

The site of the headquarters buildings of the Native Police Corps has been reserved as an Historic Zone
in the Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve Management Plan. A committee of management now
administers the area.8

Significance

The Dandenong Police Paddocks is a site of state and national significance as the location of the
Central Station of the Westernport Aboriginal Protectorate Station and the Native Police Corps
Headquarters in the 1837-1853 period. From 1853 to 1931 it was the site of the Victoria Police Stud
Depot. The Police Paddocks site has considerable significance for its associations with pre and post-
contact Aboriginal heritage. The area was originally part of the clan territory of the Wurundjeri and on
the border of the country of the Bunurong tribe.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, pp.17-18.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, p.18.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, p.19.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, pp.19-20.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, p.20.

Dandenong Police Paddocks Reserve. Management Plan, pp.20, 46. (Historic Zone indicated
on map).
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Aboriginal heritage places: other significant
examples

Many other Aboriginal heritage places remain within the City of Berwick. The example documented in
this study is the major place associated with the colonial period. Other known places of significance
include:

o Akoonah Park (and Berwick Showgrounds)
2 Cardinia Street Berwick
Recognised as a favourite Aboriginal camping spot and one of a number of localitics along
Cardinia Creek that retain evidence of Aboriginal people's occupation of the locality.”

o Cardinia Creek

Cardinia Creek (including Akoonah Park). twenty three sites have been located along the
Creck, and it has been suggested that it may have formed an important access or trade route
between the coast and through the Koo-wee-rup Swamp into the municipality.

o Artefact site

An artefact scatter containing nineteenth century bottle glass south of Berwick is evidence of
the post-contact period.19

. Corroboree ground

A corroboree ground (used in 1858) on the properties of John Milne and Edward Halleur,
Harkaway. 1!

o Vercoe site

Site close to that of an early squatier's hut (Robert Vercoe} where Aboriginal people are known
to have gathered, and artefacts have been found.!2 Originally part of Robertson property (see
Farms and rural properties section).

9. Early Days of Berwick, p. 132; L. Smitk, The Berwick-Pakenham corridor: the archaeological
survey of Aboriginal sites, 1989,

10, L. Smith The Berwick-Fakenham corridor: the archaeological survey of Aboriginal sites,
1989,

11. L. Smith The Berwick-Pakenham corridor;: the archoeclogical survey of Aboriginal sites,
1989,

12, Information supplied by Max Thomson.
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The historical landscape

Introduction

The complex history of land use and development has shaped the natural environment to produce a
distinctive landscape character. This study is not concerned with assessing the significance of natural
areas or landscapes, but rather to understand the historical landscape of the City.

The rural landscape of the City of Berwick is highly valued by the community.! The key characteristics
of this rural landscape are its combination of open pasture and bush remnants, windbreak and
hedgerow plantings, and older farm complexes (many a significant part of the area's heritage).

Landscape elements

Steep, largely bush covered hills to the north and east form the backdrop in many panoramic views
around the municipality. These hills include the Lysterfield Hills (a landscape Classified by the
National Trust), Sugarloaf Hill, and the hills towards Beaconsfield. Around Narre Warren North and
Harkaway, the landscape is one of rolling hills, predominantly open pasture but retaining bush along
many creek lines, with windbreaks of pine and cypress, hawthorn hedges, contained townships and a
variety of rural buildings.

Around Hallam, Hallam Valley and south of Berwick, the landscape is gently undulating, open with
few trees, much of it previously swampy. Throughout the urban area several small creek valleys still
retain a rural flavour - for example the Eumemmerring Creek valley and Troups Creek. Cardinia Creek
forms the eastern boundary of the municipality and is an important habitat area.

Also part of the historical landscape are the former sites of old farms, now marked by a few trees and
possibly some sub-surface evidence; the cemetery landscapes of Harkaway and Berwick Cemeteries
contain a variety of evidence including monuments, plants, fencing and small buildings; and historic
places such as Casey Airfield and Lysterfield Reservoir. '

Trees, parks and gardens are important elements within the historical landscape and are considered
separately in a later section.

1. City of Berwick Conservation Strategy: Questionnaire and workshops.
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Schmidt site

153 Beaumont Road Berwick

History & description

Lotha Schmidt purchased land in this locality from Francis Schmidt in 1875, building a house,
farming, and establishing a vineyard and winery.Z He won a medal in the wine section of the Paris
International Exhibition in 1876. For some time an artist, Ford Patterson, lived on the property. Lotha
Schmidt later went to Wonthaggi.? Schmidt's house was later occupied by the Cadbys until they built
another house in 1938. The property was subdivided in 1993, and now contains 0.125 hectares.

The site of the house 1s marked by a well and older trees including peppercorns, several pines, and a
variety of fruit trees (plums, pears, apples, quince). Evidence of an old path and drain remains in the
vicinity of the old well. located west of the house site. The site of the dairy, coolroom and tank is now
occupied by a dam. and no evidence of these structures is apparent.

Significance

This site has high local significance as the place where district pioneer Lotha Schmidt built his house,
farmed, and established a vineyard and winery which won a medal at the 1876 Paris International
Exhibition, and as the home for some years of the artist Ford Patterson. Significant features of the site
include pine, peppercorn and fruit tree plantings, which form an historic landmark on the open hill
side. Important evidence of a well, brick paths and drains exist in the vicinity of the house site.

2. Registrar-General's Office Search No.36847 (Findlay).
3. Early Days of Berwick, p.74.
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Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property.

= Conserve significant plantings on the property, in particular the pines, peppercorns and fruit
trees;

o  Conserve surviving remnants of the site layout and the visual relationship between the
significant elements of the site, namely an old well and remnants of brick paths and drains;

= Prevent development adjacent to this historic site from overwhelming the key features of the
site or adversely affecting the integrity of the site as a clearly identifiable feature of the
historical landscape; its defining characteristic is the cluster of mature plantings set on clear
slopes of open pasture;

o Retain views of the site from adjacent streets and public areas, such as the view over the site
from Marks Court. .
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Casey Airfield

Clyde Road Berwick

%
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escription |

This airfield has been in continual use since 1938. It was established by Colonel Rupert Ryan, M.H.R.
for Flinders and owner of Edrington, for his brother-in-law, R. G. Casey (later Lord Casey) so he could
commute to and from Canberra in his newly purchased Percival Gull monoplane. The Cascys were
flying enthusiasts.* They were later owners of Edrington.

Richard Gardiner Casey (1890-1976), was born in Melbourne and educated at Melbourne Grammar
School, Melbourne University and Trinity College, Cambridge, where he graduated in Engineering and
Mechanical Science. He earned the D.S.0. and M.C. in the 1914-18 War. In 1924 he began his career
as diplomat and politician. In 1960 Casey was made a Life Baron, Lord Casey of Berwick and
Westminster. His last public office was as Governor-General of Australia from 1965-69. His wife
Ethel Marian Sumner (Maie) Casey, whom he married in 1926, was notable in her own right as an
artist and author.’

On the expiration of the long-term lease held by Lord Casey. Groupair Pty Ltd took over the aerodrome
on 16 April 1968, opening a basic flying school with aerial charter, and repair and maintenance of
aircraft. This company was formed by Col. L. K. Hatfield and Major R. P. Kerrison, who had known
each other in the Army. In 1969, with the need for extra capital, the company was bought by B. G. L.
Killen, a millionaire grazier. After the tragic death of Major Kerrison, Killen Holdings sold the land.
However, Groupair continued to be operated by Colonel and Mrs Hatfield. The Hatfields purchased the
Groupair business when the holding company went into liquidation in the 1970s.6

4, Early Days of Berwick, p.151.
5. Early Days of Berwick, p.153.
& Early Days of Berwick, p.151; J. Sammons, "Casey Airfield', Berwick High School Project.
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Today Casey Airfield is significantly diminished in its operational capacity having functioned on the
basis of permits with specific time limits since 1969.7 One of the three original runways is still in use,
extending east-west along the site. At the Clyde Road end a cluster of established conifers and other
trees shelter a recent transportable office building and a hangar, There have been three nissan huts on
the site, (only one remains today), hangars and an assortment of smaller sheds.

The airfield site has been rezoned for public purposes for the establishment of a new wniversity. This
occurred after detailed investigation of alternative sites, and a government decision to pursue the
airfield as the preferred site in September 19923

Significance

Casey Airfield has high local significance for its associations with notable Berwick residents, Lord and
Lady Casey of Edrington. The airfield was established in 1938 by Col. Rupert Ryan (an earlier owner
of Edrington) for his brother-in-law, R. G. Casey, to use for the purpose of commuting to and from
Canberra. The Caseys, both distinguished Australians, were fiying enthusiasts. The Casey Airfield has
been in continual use for more than fifty years.®

Conservation guidelines

In order to conscrve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the fitture maintenance or development of the property.
e Continee o use the site in a manner compatible with its historical uses and the conservation of
its significance;
o Conserve significant plantings on the property, in particular the stand of pine trees located in
the north eastern corner of the gite;

o Conserve the significant features of the site which include the open runway area, allowing
extensive views across the plaing;

o  Retain views of the site from adjacent strects and public areas;

o Prevent development on this historic site from overwhelming the key features of the site or
adversely affecting the integrity of the sile as a clearly identifiable feature of the historical

landscape.
7. Information supplied by the City of Berwick.
E. Information supplied by the City of Berwick.
9. City of Berwick Conservation Strategy, data from questionnaire and workshops.
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Harkaway Cemetery & Bell Tower

204 Hessell Road Harkaway
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History & description

The earliest history of the Harkaway Cemetery and associated bell tower begins with the arrival of
German Lutheran settlers into the area in the 1840s. Located on a bend in Hessell Road, it is thought
that some of the unmarked graves in the cemetery may date from that early time, but unfortunately, no
records survive.!® The cemetery site was gazetted on 20 February 1856 and registered on 13 March
1856, the land costing £390.!! Each district family was allotted their own resting place and most major
Harkaway families are represented. The carliest identified graves are those of the Koenig (1863),
Aurisch (1871), Kent (1875), Hessell (1879) and Wanke (1884) families. Other district names found
on the tombstones include Halleur, Hillbrich, Edebohls, Schirner, Fritzlaff, Erdmann and Barr. Some
of the farmhouses built by these pioneer families still remain, although often greatly altered. Until
about 1900 many inscriptions were in German.!? In 1962 to honour the memory of the district
pioneers and their descendants, the Wanke family erected memorial gates and pillars at the entrance to
the cemetery.!> Harkaway Cemetery is a square allotment abutting Hessell Road near the bell tower
intersection. The gently sloping land is abundant with flowering garden plants that have naturalised in
the cemetery. Pine trees line the entrance, flanking the central memorial gates, and the cemetery is
enclosed by hedges (two hawthorn and melaleuca). 14

10. Information supplied by Alan Wanke.

11. Register Book 35 Memorial No.569.

12. Harkaway Cemetery: Transcript of Register and Memorials, Narre Warren and District
Family History Group, (Typescript) 1991. (Copy held by Berwick Mechanics' Institute
Library).

13. Berwick City News, 18 Feb., 1988, (Article 'Still hallowed ground for the Wanke family".).

14, Berwick City News, 18 Feb., 1988.
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Cast iron railing and marble headstones are a feature of many graves. Some of these memorials are in
a deteriorated condition with occasional damage caused by large trees growing through graves, and
general problems with site drainage. The cemetery is still in use today.

A decade after the establishment of the cemetery, Harkaway's German Lutherans built a substantial
weatherboard structure nearby in 1869, known generally as the German Church. This building served
as a school and a church on Sundays. It has now been pulled down.15

At the same time, a timber bell tower was erected beside the church. The bell, which was imported
from Germany in 1869 at a cost of £16, tolled every New Years Eve and whenever a pioneer was laid to
rest in the adjoining cemetery.16 In 1935 the bell tower was reconstructed with wood from the site.17
The new tower, resembling the original, has a gable protecting the original bell and its brass bearings,
and timber cross bracing bolted between the main supports. A shed constructed of bush poles with an
extensive chicken wire enclosure is located on the site. A hawthorn hedge borders this corner site, with
Italian cypresses and elms as landmark plantings. The bell still tolls for the local community on New
Years Eve and at every Harkaway funeral.!® The land on which the bell tower stands (an area of 0.093
hectares) is now owned by the City of Berwick, which also manages the cemetery site.

Significance

The 1856 Harkaway Cemetery and associated reconstructed 1869 timber bell tower with its original bell
have regional significance as important memorials to the district's German Lutheran heritage and to the
pioneer farming families who founded a strong community in the Harkaway area. Both the cemetery
and bell tower are still in use today.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property.

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, in particular the cypress and elm plantings
around the bell tower and the cypress, hawthorn hedge and eucalyptus plantings in the
cemetery;, ) :

o Conserve the significant features of the site which include the reconstructed bell tower, the
cemetery gates and older graves (including headstones, surrounds, plantings and other
elements) associated with pioneer families;

@ Conserve the significant site layout and the visual relationship between the significant
elements of the cemetery and bell tower sites;

o Prevent development adjacent to this historic site from overwhelming the key features of the
site or adversely affecting the integrity of the site as a clearly identifiable feature of the
historical landscape;

= Continue to use the site in a manner compatible with its historical uses and the conservation of
its significance;

= Retain views of the site from adjacent streets and public areas.

15. Early Days of Berwick, pp.84-85 (opposite p.85 illustration showing Lutheran Church and
Belfry at Harkaway).

16. Early Days of Berwick, pp.84-85; Berwick City News, 18 Feb., 1988,

17. ‘Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School Project, 1988.

18. Information supplied by Alan Wanke.
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Berwick Cemetery

16 Inglis Road Berwick

~
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History & description
An eight acre allotment of land was set aside for cemetery purposes during the 1850s when the first
surveys were made for a Berwick township.!® An early 1858 map of the Township of Berwick,
prepared by the Public Lands Office in Melbourne, shows the cemetery allotment close to the town's
northern boundary.2° A later 1871 map of Town and Suburban Lots at Berwick, surveyed by M.
Callanan, shows the cemetery site bounded by Inglis and Buchanan Roads. It is located on the north

side of Allotment 10,2! known at first as the Berwick Recreation Ground and from 1978 as the Arch
Brown Reserve, 22 '

As with other rural cemeteries, the Berwick Cemetery is a memorial to 'the rigours and difficulties of
country living - virtually every burial ground has reminders of men, women and children who perished
under harsh conditions' 23

The earliest graves at Berwick include that of George Moore, a 60 year old labourer who died in 1867,
and children from the pioneer Brisbane, Buchanan and Wilson families who died in 1868. The story of
hardship and suffering in those early days is also told in the large number of stillborn babies listed in
Berwick Cemetery records. The graves of members of the Paternoster family, Berwick storekeepers, are
particularly sad memorials to the pioneer life. Deaths in that family last century included William
Simon (6 weeks) in 1888, William (5 years) in 1896, Rensalier (8 months) in 1897, and Jack (11
months) in late 1899. Young Mrs John Paternoster, who died earlier in 1899, may have been Jack's
mother.

19. Berwick Cemetery records checked. but gazettal information is missing,
20 The Township of Berwick, Public Lands Department, Melbourne, 23 March, 1858,
21. Town and Suburban Lots at Berwick, Department of Lands and Survey, Melbourne, surveyed

by M. Callanan, Assistant Surveyor, 1871.
22, Early Days of Berwick, p.131.
23, Cemeteries. Qur Heritage, ed. Celestina Sagazio, 1992, p.91.
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However, many settlers survived into their sixties, seventies and eighties. The oldest death recorded in -
* these records was that of Catherine Buchanan, who was buried in July 1902 aged 106.

Graves of notable residents include those of storekeeper William Brisbane; hotelkeeper Robert Bain;
and Dr. Elmes, as well as various members of the Greaves, Kelly, O'Connor, Robinson, Vieusseux and
Barr families.2* There are a number of German names in the Independent compartment of the
cemetery such as Warmbrunn and Meyer, recalling the German Lutheran families who came to the
district early last century. Other compartments set aside for Anglicans, Methodists and Presbyterians
are reminders of the important role played by these denominations in Berwick's early history.

Located at the corner of Buchanan and Inglis Roads, the cemetery can be entered from either road; the
Buchanan Road entry has wrought iron gates with timber gate posts. The cemetery has been divided
into compartments separating the different denominations, each area identified by ornate cast iron
markers. The area is planted with melaleuca and eucalypt species. An octagonal shelter with timber
* frame and simple bracketing and balustrade, and two timber stores are built features of the site. Today

the cemetery covers an area of approximately 3.24 hectares and is managed by the Berwick Cemetery
Trust. : .

Significance

The Berwick Cemetery has high local significance as a small rural cemetery established in the 1850s as
part of the original Berwick township and as an important memorial to the district's pioneer men,
women and children.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property.

o Conserve the significant site layout ‘and the visual relationship between the significant
clements of the site, namely the demarcation of separate denominational areas, the timber
buildings, graves and plantings;

o Continue to use the site in a manner compatible with its historical uses and the conservation of
its significance;

o  Prevent development adjacent to this historic site from overwhelming the key features of the
site or adversely affecting the integrity of the site as a clearly identifiable feature of the
historical landscape.

24, Information supplied by Dr. Bruce Coller from Register of Burials in the Berwick Public
Cemelery.
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Lysterfield Reservoir

Reservoir Road Narre Warren North

History & description

The formation of the reservoir, situated at Narre Warren North but known as the Lysterfield Reservoir,
was commenced about 1929. The clay was taken from the western hillside and transported to the
embankment and dumped. The granite for the wall was quarried from the back end of the Barry
Ranges. The name Barry Ranges seems to relate to the foothills of the Dandenong Ranges in the
vicinity of the Churchill Park area. Earlier maps also used the name Lysterfield Hills. The stone was
loaded into horse-drawn skips and brought over a tramline to the western end of the wall. The same
material was used for mixing in the concrete in the construction of the tower. All the stone used was
granite of local origin. Martin Murphy was in charge of the work gangs and horses employed in the
construction, 2

The area resumed for the reservoir was part of Brookong, Mr, Goodsir's property on the north and Mr.
Mitchell's on the east. The old route of Horswood Road across the valley was submerged. Timber was
obtained from the nearby Barry Ranges to the north-west of the reservoir.26 The reservoir supplied
water to the Mornington Peninsula from 1936 to 1975, when the opening of the Cardinia Creck
Reservoir made it redundant. Plantations of eucalypt species were established by the State Rivers and
Water Supply Commission to improve the quality of the water caught from the previously cleared
farmland.?”

The area was proclaimed a park in 1981.28 Parts of this park are in the Shire of Sherbrooke and the
City of Knox whilst the southern part, bounded by Horswood Road, is in the City of Berwick. A
wildlife sanctuary was set aside in the north-east section to protect native flora and fauna. The
Lysterfield Lake Park has become a popular tourist spot with parklands and facilities for walking,

25. The Gazette, 11 Feb., 1972.

26. The Gazette, 11 Feb., 1972.

27. Dept. Conservation & Natural Resources, Lysterfield Lake Park leaflet, 1991.
28. Berwick City News, 4 May, 1989.
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canoeing and sailing. There is a thriving wetlands wildlife population. The park is used also for
environmental education purposes with a new education centre, built at a cost of $190,000. Designed
_to blend with the bush setting, the new visitor centre was officially opened in May 1989.7%

Significance

The Lysterfield Reservoir, formed in 1921 and part of the Lysterfield Lake Park since 1981, has
regional significance as an important engineering construction designed as a major component of the
district's water supply system. Built by local labour and using local granite and timber from foothills of
the nearby Dandenong Ranges, the reservoir has significance in recent years as part of a popular park
with tourist facilities, a wildlife sanctuary and a centre built in 1989 for environmental education
purposes.

- Conservation guidelines

In order o conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property.

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, in particular the eucalypt plantations which
demonstrate its transition from farmland to water catchment;

e Continue to use the site in a manner compatible with its historical uses and the conservation of
its significance.

29, Berwick City News, 4 May, 1989.
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Old Coach Road

Old Coach Road Berwick
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History escription

This steep remnant road, surfaced with basalt (bluestone) rubble, recalls the early days in Berwick's
history when poor transport facilities hindered travel throughout the district. Roads such as Old Coach
Road were planned in the Melbourne Office of the Department of Lands and Survey rather than on-site
where the terrain and contour of the country might be taken into account. This earliest road to
Harkaway shown on early maps ran due north and south over the steep intervening hills. A section of
this road was known as the 'Glue Pot' because of its sticky and slippery red clay surface.3°

As early as 1854, surveyor Robert Hoddle, after visiting Berwick was critical of the road plans of earlier
surveyors, describing the route for settlers to the north as ‘almost impractible' (sic).3! It has been
argued that the name Old Coach Road is inappropriate as coaches could never have used that route, 32
There is no conclusive evidence cither way, although coach services did come to the Berwick district in
the 1860s and the deviation road (the present Harkaway Road) was not constructed until 1890. Also,
the width of the road suggests that it was designed for vehicular traffic.

It is recorded that early road travellers coming from the south diverged from the north-south line on
reaching Grassmere Creek and proceeded for two-and-a-half to three chains west along the south bank
of the creek to a more accessible crossing place. Further field investigation is required to identify the
remains of the carlier crossing, Travellers then ascended straight up the face of the hill until at the top
the road rejoined the north-south surveyed route 33

30. Correspondence Norman E. Beaumont to the City of Berwick, 19 Sept., 1983.

31 Syd. B33. Berwick Town Plan, Hoddle, c1854.
32. Information supplied by Louise Reeve. The name the 'Glue Pot' is preferred.
33, Correspondence Norman E. Beaumont to the City of Berwick, 19 Sept., 1983.
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Some travellers, however, preferred to travel along Hessell Road to the old Harkaway township with its
German Church, bell tower and cemetery.34

In May 1890 an important case was heard in the Berwick Police Court under the Land Compensation
Act. Local farmer James Wilson was informed that,

they would require a deviation of the old road through his paddock, and (offered) a sum in
compensation,3’

However, at first, Wilson was unwilling. One witness explained that,

the old road to Harkaway passed over two or three steep hills, and was utterly impracticable for
vehicular traffic. The new road would skirt the hill and would be vastly better than the old
one 36

It was pointed out that about thirty acres would be severed from the properties owned by Wilson and
Troup, but that better access would increase the value of their land, particularly for building purposes.3”
After long arguments, Wilson and Troup agreed to the proposal. By early November 1890 J. Gardiner,
Shire Engineer was calling for tenders for grubbing and clearing the new Haxkaway Road. Later that
month it was announced that the new road would soon be open for traffic.38

With the establishment of the new road, the old road fell into disuse. However, it has survived as a
walking and fire track and is regarded by district people as an interesting relic of pioneer days. It is
known still as Old Coach Road.

Ironically, the deviation along the Grassmere Creck shown on the maps of the 1930s and 1940s was
fenced off from the public in recent times following an application to Berwick Council by the owner of
adjoining land. Therefore, according to one writer, 'leaving only the impassable north-south line'.3°

Travelling north along Harkaway Road from Berwick, Old Coach Road is clearly visible as the linear
extension of Harkaway Road, rising over the hill. At the crest of this hill, looking south, there are
spectacular views of the plains and the straight line of the road is visible almost to the horizon as it
heads to Cranbourne. In the opposite direction, heading almost due north, the road reserve continues
along this straight route to Harkaway township, via a ford across Grassmere Creek. Remnants of
hawthorn hedges survive mainly on the western side of the road.

Today the section of road north of the hill is described as 'not trafficable' and is used as a fire track.40
The surface of the road appears to have less basait rubble and hence be more prone to vegetation
growth, and is currently cleared regularly by Council. The road crosses Grassmere Creek and follows a
steep incline to join the end of Baker Road at the Marks Court intersection.

Current occupants of a large property off Beaumont Road have mentioned the existence of an old track
leading off Old Coach Road (which borders their property) to the site of Lotha Schmidt's former
house. 4!

Significance

Old Coach Road has high local significance as a remnant road dating from the early 1850s survey,
illustrating the transport problems of early district settlers travelling to and from the pioneer township
at Harkaway, and its remnant hawthorn hedges recalling a past rural landscape.

34, Early Days of Berwick, p.88.
3s. The Dandenong Advertiser, 13 May, 1890.

36. The Dandenong Advertiser, 22 May, 1890. The witness was Alexander Crichton, Gembrook
grazier,

37. The Dandenong Advertiser, 22 May, 1890,

38. The Dandenong Advertiser, 19 June, 1890.

39, Correspondence Norman E. Beaumont to the City of Berwick, 19 Sept., 1983.

40. City of Berwick Base Map 12-13.
41, Information supplied by John Fulton, 1993.
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The road has aesthetic value allowing spectacnlar views north and especially south, tracing the linear
course of the old road as it connects with roads still in use as major thoroughfares today. Old Coach
Road may also have scientific value should evidence remain to demonstrate early road construction
techniques. '

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in its future maintenance or development.

o Conserve the original road alignment and the visual relationship between it and Harkaway
Road;

v Retain views of the road from Harkaway Road, preserving its intcgrity as an casily identifiable
featuré of the historic landscape;

= Maintain the road in good condition and protect views to (he south and north, along the
original route of Old Coach Road, in any works on or adjacent to the road;

o Emncourage further investigation of first the existing road swface to determine the methods of
construction used at different periods, and second the crossing place on Grassmere Creek,
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Wilson Quarry & Botanic Park

Princes Highway Berwick

History & description
Wilson's Bluestone Quarries, a major Berwick industry, was part of the original Wilson property owned
by district pioneer brothers, James and William. When they divided their holding, William took the
southern portion with the Quarry Hills homestead facing the road to Gippsland (subsequently the

Princes Highway), and the quarry site. Quarry Hills remains today as one of the district's most
important and earliest farm houses. 42

There was some small-scale quarrying on the site about 1859. Later, in the 1870s, stone from the
quarry was used as ballast for the Gippsland railway and crushed stone was used on the district's roads.
On a property known as Mansfield House (now gone) near the quarry, a high bank was thrown up
across the road from the quarry entrance and a crushing plant erected on the end of this bank.43

Around 1884, William's eldest son, William Wilson Jnr., took over the quarry, working it for forty
years until about 1918. As time went on two crushing plants were erected on the bank just outside the
quarry. The crushers were driven by a Marshall steam engine. In 1890 a loop line was laid down from
the railway station yards through the Mansficld Estate to the bank across the highway. During this
period, thousands of yards of metal from the Berwick quarries were poured into the railway stations of
Warragul, Drouin, Korumburra and intervening towns, providing much needed road making
materials. 44

At the end of the First World War, the Berwick quarry closed down and the plant and line from
Berwick was lifted and sold to a Cranbourne sand company. 45

42, History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', Evan C. Henry, in Mining and Geological Journal,
vol.7 No.2, 1972, p.1.

43, Early Days of Berwick, p.25; History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', Evan C. Henry, p.1.

44, 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', pp.2-3.

45, 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', p.3.
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In 1936, following William Wilson Junior's death, the Daniel Brothers, who had been working at a
quarry at Lysterfield, shifted their plant into the Berwick Quarry. They operated from there for about
ten years supplying the Berwick and Cranbourne Shires, the Country Roads Board and also private
customers.

The next quarry operators in 1947 were Bayview Quarries owned by Roy Ross, a civil engineer. They
had opened up operations at Narre Warren but the stone was considered inferior to that at Berwick.
Their crushing plant was built on the bottom of the quarry, and remained there uatil 1970 when it was
replaced by a new plant.46 This company remained at the Berwick site for ten years after which the
quarries were regarded as 'about finished'. The quarry face had reached the Wilson House boundary by
this time. Later, in October 1966, the Bayview Group sold to Boral Limited. Boral, or Albion Reid,
carried on for a further eleven years. Stone was provided for a great number of residential subdivisions
spreading eastward from Dandenong.4?

Finally in 1973, after the Wilson family had owned the quarry for over a century, they agreed to
transfer the property to the Berwick Shire Council. They requested that the park to be established there
should be called Wilson Park in memory of the family's long association with the site. Quarrying
ceased in the mid-1970s and the masterplan for the park was completed by 1987. Jock Marshall, a
founding professor of Zoology at Monash University, carried out detailed research on the quarry,
probably at around this time.#® Marshall lived adjacent in the former Wilson homestead, Quarry Hills.

The quarry site was acquired in two stages. The northern section of the quarry was donated to the City
of Berwick by Mr George Wilson, grandson of the original owners, for use as a Botanic Park. The
southern section of the quarry was later purchased by the City of Berwick. The Park covers
approximately 36 hectares.

The quarry, as it remains today, comprises a large quarry hole (Anniversary Lake) with a smaller
extension to the north. The basalt (or bluestone) is overlain by a thick layer of soil. Extensive faces of
bluestone are exposed on the eastern side of the quarry. The earliest working areas have long since
been removed by later quarrying. Roadways throughout the site still follow benches created for
quarrying. Poplars, pines and peppercorns are scattered throughout the site, remnants of earlier
plantings. Recent developments to convert the quarry to a park have included creation of a marsh area,
a new administration building, rotunda, and extensive plantings. The Wilson Botanic Park was opened
to the public by the Governor-General of Australia, the Hon. Bill Hayden AC, on the 26th July 1992.4°

Significance

The Wilson Botanic Park has regional significance as a historic quarry site owned by the Wilson
family, district pioneers, for four generations. The Wilsons owned the Berwick Quarry from the 1850s
until its closure in 1973. A major district industry, the Berwick Quarry supplied stone for ballast for
the Gippsland railway in the 1870s and crushed stone for roads throughout west Gippsland. More
recently, stone from the quarry was provided for a great number of residential subdivisions spreading
eastward from Dandenong.

The park is also of national significance as the site of important palaco-botanical discoveries, with the
oldest evidence of eucalyptus species in Australia having been found here. 50

46, 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', pp.3-4.

47, 'History of Berwick Bluestone Quarries', pp.1, 3-4; 'Wilson Bluestone Quarries', Lionie Tuit,
Berwick High School, 1986.

48, Millicer, H., 'A Brief Cultural Review of the City of Berwick', 1991.

49. Wilson Botanic Park. Open Day. City of Berwick.

50. Wilson Botanic Park. Open Day. City of Berwick.
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Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritape significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property.

o Conserve the significant elements of the site, namely the original quarry pit surrounded by
benching and approached by the old quarry roads;

e Conserve significant plantings on the property, in particular the peppercomrn, poplar and pine
plantings, and others which form a landmark on Wilson Hill as viewed from the Princes
Highway approach to Berwick township;

v Prevent development adjacent to this historic site from overwhelming the key features of the
site or adversely affecting the integrity of the site as a clearly identifiable feature of the
historical landscape.
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Historical landscapes: other significant
examples

Many other historical landscape elements remain within the City of Berwick. In addition to those of
national, state, regional and high local significance which have been researched and documented in this
study, the following places also comprise an important part of the City's heritage.

Based on field inspection and available information, these places are ranked as of probable local
significance, that is an important part of the heritage of a locality within the City, of historical interest
(although not intact), or as requiring further research to fully determine their importance.

o The Grange site
a'Beckett Road, Narre Warren North

This site has historical and social interest for its associations with the a'Beckett and Boyd
families, prominent owners of the large residence located there from the 1860s until its
demolition in the 1960s. Built in 1862 for Sir W. A. C. a'Beckett, Solicitor-General and
Supreme Court Judge, the house was designed by local architect George Washington
Robinson.’! The house was rented from 1948 and purchased soon after by Martin Boyd, the
noted Australian author. He lived there, carried out alterations and additions to the Victorian
house, and commissioned his nephew Arthur Boyd to paint murals on the dining room walls.
He converted the house into two flats, one for himself and the other for his relatives to stay,
and sculpt and paint. Boyd only lived there for about 4 years, owning it for 2 of those years.>2

The property was sold to Leith Buchanan in 195553, and later sold for quarrying purposes.
Before the house's demolition, the Boyd murals were removed by art dealer, Joseph Brown.>4
The Harkaway murals were regarded as the culmination of Arthur Boyd's religious
paintings.’> The hilltop site, with the garden area now dominated by pines, remains a local
landmark in the Narre Warren North area.

= Gottlab Schultz site
Harkaway Road, Harkaway (close to Melrose)

Gottlab Schultz was one of Harkaway's Lutheran pioneers. He is said to have arrived in the
area in 1844, and built a dwelling on land several hundred yards north of where Melrose now
stands.>¢ Until recent years a few fruit trees and depressions in the ground were believed to
mark the site of this dwelling.>7 The exact location was not able to be located during this study
and further field investigation is required.

o Quarry site
Western end of King Road, Harkaway (Map 12-14, O13, in powerline easement)

Early quarry site believed to have been established by Aurisch, and run by John Troup. Some
suggest that stone was quarried here to build the Campbelifield church.’® Requires field
inspection and research.

51. Peter Freeman, Brick Homes of Berwick.

52. Information provided by Elspeth Longney.

53, Information provided by Mrs J. Minson via Elspeth Longney.

54. The Australian National Gallery holds a 4 panel Boyd mural entitled "Harkaway"
ss. Bernard Smith, Australian painting 1788-1990, OUP, 1992, p. 285.

56. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p. 107.

57. Information supplied by Max Thomson.

s8. Information supplied by Max Thomson.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Historic landscapes « 75



Bruhn site
Foxmoor, King Road, Harkaway (Map 13-13, R14)

Site of Brubn's dwelling marked by pittosporum tree (Pitfosporum undulatum), to the east
other plantings remain marking the former alignment of a track from King Road to Cardinia
Creck and another dwelling site. Site was later part of Roads End property. It was purchased
by Sir Sidney Sewell and known as the Hermitage block.? Requires detailed field inspection.
Early land ownership has been researched and material lodged in the Berwick Local History
Archive.

Sunnyside site
Parkhill Drive, Berwick

Sunnyside was built for the Hillbrich family in 187360, later occupied by the Sweeney family
and demolished following acquisition by the Urban Land Authority. Important for its
associations with two significant local families, the Hillbrichs and Sweeneys.

Narre Warren Memorial Gates
Princes Highway (outside Berwick Civic Centre) Fountain Gate

This memorial originally stood at the entrance to the Narre Warren Recreation Reserve.
Designed in the form of an arch in granite, it was made and erected in 1922 by F. Hallett and
Son, Monumental Masons of 25 Bridge Street, Richmond at a cost of £200. It was a memorial
to Narre Warren residents who enlisted in, and also those who lost their lives in the 1914-18
War 6!

In June 1948, a public meeting was called in Narre Warren to discuss ways of reconditioning
the memorial and adding the names of the residents who enlisted in or died in World War II,
1939-45. The War Memorial Committee recommended the erection of new granite pillars on
the outer ends of the wings and to reface these concrete wings in granite. On the left hand
pillar the words would read: RETURNED SERVICEMEN 1939-1945 with 27 names, on the
right pillar the words would read: LEST WE FORGET 1939-1945 with the names of two
servicemen. This work carried out by Burwood Monumental Works at a cost of £200 was
unveiled on Anzac Day, 25 April 1949. Further work was carried out at a cost of £63 in May
1949 to prevent the memorial collapsing.62 In 1981 a public meeting agreed that because of
vandalism and the reconstruction of the Princes Highway the memorial should be re-sited -
above6and east of the City of Berwick Civic Centre Ornamental Lake. This was done in March
1983.63

The Narre Warren Memorial Gates are of local historical and social significance as a
community icon, erected in memory of those Narre Warren residents who enlisted in, and
those who died in the First and Second World Wars.

59.
60.
61.

62,

63.

Information provided by Dimitee Hogg Ramage.

Registrar-General's Office records.

Narre Warren War Memorial Committee records, Berwick Local History Archives, Narre
Warren District Library.

Narre Warren Welcome Home Committee records, Berwick Local History Archives, Narre
Warren District Library. The memorial was unveiled by Lieut.-Col. R. S. Ryan, M.H.R., with
a Guard of honour of Narre Warren State School pupils.

War Memorial Removal Committee records, Berwick Local History Archives, Narre Warren
District Library.
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Aqueduct system
Quarry Road, Narre Warren

Sections of the aqueduct system thal used to transport water from Upper Beaconsfictd via
Lysterfield to the Momington Peninsula remain.5* Some sections have been incorporated into
open space within new subdivisions. This section adjoins the regional landfill site.

Scout camp site
Robinson Road, Narre Warren North

Site used for many years as a scout camp, with many of the trees planted by the scouts.5
Recognised in the City of Berwick Conscrvation Strategy as a site containing significant
indigenous vegetation. Now a reseirve.

‘Wilson House site (open space reserve)
Shute Avenue, Berwick

The site of James Wilson's house is marked by trees from the formér garden, including a large
Moreton Bay fig tres .66

Florenceville site
Yictor Crescent, Narre Warren

The site of Florenceville, once the home of the Kent famitly,57 is marked by remnants of the
garden trees incliding cypresses, eucalypts, and poplars.

65.
66,

Max Thomson, Littie Hills, p.18.

Information supplied by Max Thomson.

J. Welis & M. Medlie Berwick. Some aspects, 1980, p. 34-35.
In the Walke of the Pack Tracks, p.124.
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Towns & estates

Introduction

Towns and residential estates are important elements within the City of Berwick. The towns are the
carlier elements, their location and form illustrating the complementary relationship between town and
country. Residential estates are a more recent phenomena, and within the City of Berwick reflect the
continuing demand for housing, particularly in attractive landscape settings such as those found within
the City.

Planning towns & estates

The early development of what is now the City of Berwick was centred around a series of towns,
Berwick township being the largest and serving a wide community. A town site was surveyed at Narre
Warren North (then known as Narre Warren) and then later at Narre Warren, after the railway had
been built. Harkaway just grew without a survey and served as a small rural centre.

This early pattern of townships set in a rural landscape has changed since the 1950s with the expansion
of Melbourne and Dandenong. The Doveton Estate, developed by the Housing Commission from the
early 1950s, was an important step in the conversion of broad rural acres into suburbia. Private
developers such as Isador Magid, developer of Princes Domain Estate and the later Fountain Gate,
recognised opportunities for private housing estates to meet the needs of an expanding community. The
development of the three factories in Doveton - GMH, Heinz and International Harvester (see Buildings
section) - were critical influences on the decisions made by the Housing Commission and Isador Magid.

In the north-western part of the municipality, the Endeavour Hills estate led the expansion of suburban
development into the countryside during the 1970s. A product of the Lewis Land Corporation, Finance
Corp. of Australia and Cambridge Credit, it was said to be one of the largest residential subdivisions
underway in Melbourne at that time.
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Fountain Gate Estate

Fountain Drive, Narre Warren

History

The founder of the Fountain Gate complex, Isador Magid, was born in 1914 in Harbin, China, of
Russian parents. Isador's father was an accountant who had fled from Tomsk in Siberia to escape
persecution. The Magid family came to Australia in 1951. Magid's first business venture in Melbourne
was supplying goat hair to GMH for car rugs. More successfully, he was involved in making popcorn
and Twisties.

However, Magid's greatest success was as a land developer. His projects included Mountain Gate in
Knox (with more than 1,000 residential sites) and the development of Brandon Park shopping centre
sold in. 1985 to SECV superannuation fund for $51 million.!

Most successful, however, was Magid's Fountain Gate project at Narre Warren. From 1956 Magid
began buying several hundred hectares of Berwick district farmland. He began with land near what is
now the intersection of the Mulgrave Freeway and Princes Highway, extending east nearly six
kilometres to the Narre Warren North Road. The proposed development related to the need for local
housing for workers at the nearby General Motors Holden, H. J. Heinz and International Harvester
factories which opened at Doveton in the early 1950s. Magid soon won the support of local and State
authorities.2

By 1960 the grid of roads had been built at Fountain Gate, but Magid ripped them up on the advice of
Robin Boyd who persuaded him to redesign the estate on Radburn principles.>

Radburn (New Jersey), designed in 1928 by Clarence Stein and Henry Wright of the Regional Planning
Association of America, was seen as the prototype garden city for the motor car age. The design
concept involved separating pedestrians and vehicles by providing short cul-de-sac entries and internal
spines of open space.*

The Radburn design concept has been applied to a number of subdivisions in Melbourne and elsewhere
in Australia but did not become a dominant form of subdivision design. Other examples in Melbourne
include Elliston (1969) and Milgate Park (early 1970s). In Hobart, Radburn subdivisions were proposed
in 1946 for the steep hill areas, in the 1960s Gold Coast planner Karl Langer substituted canals for the
open space areas, and Harry Seidler adopted Radburn principles in a private new town project for Lend
Lease near Campbelltown (Sydney NSW) in 1969.5

Despite this, even the estates that did adopt the Radburn model met owner resistance; houses continued
to face the street, and despite the attractive parklands, most owners wanted a back fence between them
and the park to create at least a semi-private backyard.

By employing Boyd to design the estate, Magid immediately distinguished it from much of Melbourne's
expanding suburbs. Other developers had also recognised the benefit of good design, resulting in an
emergence of innovative housing developments from the early years of the twentieth century.

Subdivision design had moved away from the traditional grid in the early years of the twentieth -
century, influenced by the garden city movement. While in Australia, the garden city or suburb was
largely a design concept, its originators envisaged it as the start of a radical process of land reform and
increased social justice. In Eaglemont, Walter Burley Griffin designed his first two Australian estates,
Mount Eagle Estate (1914, built on after the war) and Glenard (1916, most buildings are post-1930).
Both challenged the grid plan. The roads curved gently around the hillslopes, creating unusually-

Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.
Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.
Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.
R. Freestone, Model communities, p.35.
Freestone, Model Communities, pp.219-221.
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Reserve with paths & eucalypt plantings, Fountain Gate Estate
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shaped blocks. Parkland was contained at the rear of houses. Each was applauded as an example of
modern town planning principles.

Another important estate developer was Albert Victor Jennings (later Sir Albert). He founded A.V.
Jennings Construction Company in 1932, recruiting other jobless tradesmen to create a house market
where brick houses could be sold at prevailing timber house prices. He started developing estates in
1933 in Caulfield South, Murrumbeena and Ivanhoe. In the latter, the design used a series of cul-de-
sacs off a feeder road. Cul-de-sac planning had been used earlier in 1927 at Rothesay Avenue,
Brighton.”

Project house builders in Melbourne started to commission independent and forward-looking architects
to design both estates and project houses, responding to a market for more individuality without the
expense of a one-off architectural design. Merchant Builders, lead by David Yencken and with architect
Graham Gunn, were the first Melbourne firm to start building such project homes. Other firms, such as
Leighton Constructions and CHI followed suit.®

An important example was Lend Leasc Homes' Appletree Hill, which illustrated the clustering of
architect-designed project homes into small communities where the design of the house and its
landscape was in unity.? ‘At Appletree Hill, houses were set in a refined suburbia, a park-like landscape
with no visual barriers between houses. Apparently a suburban delight, it attracted many visitors but
few buyers. The project failed financially, and was not able to progress beyond the initial stage.!

At Elliston, another Heidelberg estate, a collaborative team of designers sought to create an integrated
landscape and built environment. Earle Shaw and Partners designed the subdivision, and Merchant
Builders Pty Ltd assembled the architectural team. Each purchaser worked with an architect to
integrate their personal requirements within the overall design. Ellis Stones created the overall design.
Architects involved included Charles Duncan, Daryl Jackson, Evan Walker, David McGlashan, Neil
Everist, Graeme Gunn, all winners of architectural awards. The estate development occurred over
several years after 1969. In 1972 Merchant Builders won the RAIA Bronze Medal in the Robin Boyd
Environment Award for Elliston.1!

Another estate designed on Radburn principles is Milgate Park in Doncaster East, an estate developed
by Jim Hedstrom of Discol Developers Pty Ltd, and designed by Peter Mulcahy (Peter Mulcahy &
Assoc. Pty Ltd.) The first 'Home Owners' Association', a forerunner of the body corporate, was
established for Milgate. The estate won the RAIA Community Design Award Citation in 1976.12

Perhaps the next most significant step in suburban design was that seen in Winter Park, Australia's first
cluster housing development, designed and built by Merchant Builders. Graham Gunn (Gunn Hayball
Pty Ltd) was the project architect for Stage 1, Robert Whyte for Stage 2, and Ellis Stones the landscape
architect. The design grouped houses to take maximum advantage of views and solar orientation,
challenging the conventions of traditional subdivision. In contrast to the Arcadian orientation of
Appletree Hill and Fountain Gate, Gunn created an inward-looking development protecting the natural
qualities of the site and creating small pockets of common land. Winter Park won an RAIA Housing
Award Citation in 1975.13

Boyd's design for Fountain Gate incorporated elements of cul-de-sac planning with rear open space
between housing areas. Boyd provided an explanation of the design for the benefit of purchasers and
the Shire:

6. G. Butler, Heidelberg Conservation Study, pp.127- 133.

7. G. Butler, Heidelberg Conservation Study, 146-147,

8 Cross Section, 1 August 1966, Issue No. 166.

9 Cross Section, 1 August 1966, Issue No. 166.

10. Cross Section, 1 August 1966, Issue No. 166.

11. G. Butler, Heidelberg Conservation Study, pp.165-168.

12. City of Doncaster & Templestowe Heritage Study, p.121.

13. City of Doncaster & Templestowe Heritage Study, p.125; Property, Age, 24. 3. 1993.
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Three Courts house designed by Robin Boyd, Oakwood Court, Fountain Gate Estate

House designed by Reg Grouse, Pinelands Court, Fountain Gate Estate
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The unusual two-faced nature of the building sites - houses facing the park as well as the cul-de-
sacs - called for an entirely fresh approach to house planning. In the range of designs produced by
the architects' consortium there are no conventional facades and no "back elevations", but a wide
variety of architectural forms conceived in the round and designed to be admired from any angle.

The different architects agreed on certain general principles to guide their design approach. As a result
the houses are mostly low in height, expansive in plan, flexible in internal arrangement. The general
mood may be described as advanced contemporary. Orientation is carefully considered for sunlight and
privacy. Bathroom accommodation is generous. Outdoor living is encouraged. All houses have at least
three bedrooms and alternative living rooms. Finally, a varied but integrated range of external colours
and materials ensures an overall harmony.

Yet with all that in common the houses exhibit an exciting diversity of expression, each reflecting in
some way the individual touch of one of four architects in the consortium.

Each architect contributed three entirely different designs and each of these is made variable again by
means of alternative design elements. This means a choice between literally dozens of designs all
offering different facilities for personal patterns of living, and all as different looking from each other
ad they are from the conventional villas of ordinary suburbs.!4

In 1967 the project was described in a contemporary journal in glowing terms as 'Australia’s most
ambitious and forward-looking project housing development'.!> This innovative scheme, the 'multi-
million dollar brainchild' of Magid's company, Overland Construction Corporation, involved a new
planning concept in which a residential estate was combined with a civic and shopping centre. The
overall project plan provided for about one thousand home sites, two small shopping-centres, a major
drive-in shopping centre, primary and secondary schools and parkland.!6

Magid employed prominent architects to advise him on the design of the Fountain Gate houses.
Prototype houses (priced from $13,000 to $15,000 plus land) were prepared by architectural firms and
demonstration structures built. There was W. Coleman Kerr's Beau Abri House, Reg Grouse's Link
House, the Colonnade House designed by Daryl Jackson and Evan Walker, and the Three Courts House
designed by Frederick Romberg and Robin Boyd.!” A number of these demonstration houses remain,
including the Link House at 15 Fountain Drive, Boyd's Three Courts House at 7 Oakwood Avenue, and
the Colonnade House at 7 Ridge Avenue. However as Magid admits, most Fountain Gate residents did
not favour these advanced ideas but 'actually wanted homes just like their mum and dads'.!8

Magid ensured the success of Fountain Gate by giving 20 acres within the project area to the City of
Berwick for offices and parks. He also gave $500,000 to the City in 1978 to start work on its offices.
Since then Fountain Gate has been extended eight times. The Centre's customers come from as far
away as the Mornington Peninsula and Gippsland. In 1990 the State Government declared Fountain
Gate a dilgtrict centre, designating it as the retail centre for the fastest population growth corridor in
Victoria.

Description .

Fountain Gate residential estate consists of a series of small cul-de-sacs built along four roads. The
estate is bounded on the west by Tinks Road, by Sweet Gum Avenue on the east, by Prospect Hill Road
on the north and Dawn Drive (parallel to the Princes Highway) to the south. The original plan provided
for 196 allotments and a large site for a primary school (which has since been developed for housing).

Each cul-de-sac is separated from the next by parkland which links together into three large areas.

14, R. Boyd, Notes to be added to description of Fountain Gate, 29 August 1966,
15. Australian Home Beautiful, October 1967, p.41.

16. Australian Home Beautiful, October 1967, p.41.

17. Australian Home Beautiful, October 1967, pp.41-45.

18. Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.

19. Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Towns & estates o 83



Display houses were built in key locations throughout the western part of the estate, the first part
developed.20 Boyd's Three Courts design is set directly at the end of Oakwood Court; a key element,
the carport set almost on the street has been removed and replaced with garden, demonstrating the
conflict between the designer's intentions the public's preferences. Other examples remain more intact.

The estate was sold with a series of special conditions which included a design covenant preventing the
building of any buildings other than the one to be used as a dwelling (apart from necessary outbuildings
and garages) and requiring the dwelling to be built of brick or brick veneer. Fences of wooden palings
or corrugated iron between an allotment and a road or reserve were not allowed. In practice an open
fence using horizontal palings has been used consistently throughout the estate (perhaps reflecting a
subsequent change in the covenant).

The important role of the Shire in the implementation of the design philosophy was expressed by
Overland Construction Co. Pty Ltd in a letter to the Shire of Berwick in May 1967 which requested the
Shire's co-operation in recognising the special conditions at the time of issuing permits.2!

The result is a subdivision of unusual quality. The main streets form gentle curves, fitting with the
undulating landform. Front lawns roll down to the kerb, without the usual interruption of footpaths.
‘The contemporary houses designed as display homes, or created by the same team of architects, stand
out from the hipped and tiled roof forms of the houses which dominate. Street plantings vary but
include eucalypts and melaleucas. The adjoining areas to the east of Sweet Gum Avenue were
developed later, and express a different design approach. These later areas lack the large open space
areas, but have adopted a 'no front fence' rule; footpaths are provided.

The overall landscaping of the reserves (and perhaps the roadways) was undertaken by E. H.
Hammond, Landscape Contractors and Consultants of Box Hill. Eric Hammond is a highly regarded
landscape contractor, working extensively with Edna Walling in the construction of gardens such as
Mawarra (Sherbrooke).22 His plan, approved in 1966 incorporated a mixture of eucalypt and exotic
tree species.23

The entry arch - a fountain - and the 'Hollywood-style' Fountain Gate sign on the Princes Highway, are
the trade-marks of the estate. The fountain, designed by Robin Boyd, is said to have operated only once,
at the opening of the estate. Boyd's office completed several designs for the fountain, and some of these
illustrations are held by the Council.

Adjoining the residential area is the civic and shopping complex, also a result of the foresight of Isador
Magid. The complex reflects a contemporary interpretation of a town centre, with its civic buildings,
shops and recreation areas. Unlike older town centres, Fountain Gate is set in a landscape of rolling
lawns and extensive carparks. There are no churches, and the schools are on the periphery. Some of the
early plans showed a civic square, art gallery, pre-school, police and hall - elements not yet part of the
development.2 The Civic Centre, built with the assistance of Magid,2’ is a formal modern building,
set partly into the slope, and appearing from different angles as a series of pavilions.

Notable houses which form an integral part of Fountain Gate
Estate
The following houses date from the first stage in the Fountain Gate residential estate development, and

represent the architectural ideals of those involved in the design of the estate. The information
contained in the descriptions is based on the City of Berwick Valuation Cards and field work.

20. Plan entitled "Princes Domain East', K. J. Noonan & Noonan Surveyors, 16.12.1965.
21. Correspondence, 23 May 1967.
22, P. Watts, Historic Gardens of Victoria, p.158.

23. Plans held by City of Berwick File Application S/1692.

24, The Berwick Town Centre, plan by J. E. Moore and C. Frank-Mas, 1976; Tonkins, Shaw and
Evans plan, 1978.

25. Business Review Weekly, 29 March, 1991.
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House 5 Fountain Drive

Built ¢1966/67 and originally owned by Fountain Gardens P/L. and Overland Construction
P/L. Transferred into private ownership in 1970. Described on the Valuation Card as a
contemporary house, using a fawn coloured (concrete) brick and a shingle roof. One of a group
of contemporary houses clustered at the entry to the estate.

House 7 Fountain Drive

Built c1967/68, probably to the designs of Reg Grouse, one of the four architects involved in
house designs for the estate. The first owners were Henry and Suzanne Bates. It is described
on the Valuation Card as a contemporary brick veneer house with concrete tiled roof, with a
garden courtyard in the centre of the house. One of a group of contemporary houses clustered
at the entry to the estate.

House 11 Fountain Drive

Built possibly as early as 1965, this house has a flat steel deck roof and is built of white
painted bricks, the original finish. It was originally owned by Fountain Gardens P/L and
Overland Construction P/L. One of a group of contemporary houses clustered at the entry to
the estate.

House 15 Fountain Drive

Built c1966/67 as one of the display houses on the estate. This is the Link House, designed by
architect Reg Grouse, using white-painted brickwork and a low pitched concrete tiled roof. It
was originally owned by Fountain Gardens P/L and was featured in The Australian Home
Beautiful (October 1967). Attributes noted in this article include the relationship between
indoor and outdoor living spaces, and the efficient system of natural cooling via hinged panels
below the fixed windows. A copy of the design held by the City of Berwick shows the Link
House, described simply as House No. 3 to be developed on Lot 40 Warren Lea Drive - the
present site.26 It is one of the group of contemporary houses clustered at the entry to the estate.

House 7 Green Ridge Avenue

Built c1966/67 as the Colonnade House, one of the estate's display houses. It was designed by
the architects Daryl Jackson and Evan Walker. It was first owned by Fountain Gardens P/L,
later being sold into private ownership. The Colonnade House was featured in The Australian
Home Beautiful (October 1967), and externally remains substantially intact to its original
design. The article noted the white painted brickwork, with the rooms designed to take
advantage of available views. Its rectangular form is suited to narrow and corner sites (it is
located on a corner site in the estate).

House 3 Ashwood Court

Land originally owned by Fountain Gardens P/L. and Overland Construction P/L. and sold
without a dwelling in 1971 to private owners. The purchasers, G. and M. Lee, planned the
present house which was built that same year. It is a contemporary house, using dark brown
brick, concrete tile roof and elongated floor to ceiling windows. A good example of
contemporary design of this period, and probably architect-designed.

House 2 Pinelands Court

Built prior to 1966 for J. and B. Harle and designed by Reg Grouse. Its pyramidal roof is of
note. A copy of the drawing for this house held by the City of Berwick (Lot 28 Pinelands
Court) is shown as having been prepared by Reg Grouse for the Overland Development
Corporation.??

26.

217.

File entitled 'Fountain Gate architects house plans, Overland Development' and numbered
68/3/2/TE and 3.7365.330.93
File 'Fountain Gate architects house plans, Overland Development'.

Heritage of the City of Berwick Towns & estates o 85



House 3 Pinelands Court

Built prior to 1968 (when the house was first sold), using fawn coloured concrete bricks (like 5
Fountain Drive). The first owners were P. and S. Jackson.

House 9 Pinelands Court

Probably built c1966/67 for Fountain Gardens P/L and Overland Construction Co. A copy of
the drawing for this house held by the City of Berwick (Lot 32 Pinelands Court) is shown as
having been prepared by Reg Grouse for the Overland Development Corporation.?8 It is a
contemporary design, using white-painted brick and steel deck roof.

House 2 Oakwood Court

Another contemporary design using white painted brick veneer construction. May be a Grouse
design. Its corner site shows the house to advantage. The first owners were F. and C.
Sankijohanser,

House 7 Qakwood Court

Built ¢1966/67, this is the Robin Boyd Three Courts design which served first as a display
house in the estate. Located at the end of the court, the house would have been a dramatic
feature. In The Australian Home Beautiful (October 1967) the house was described as having
three external courts, that is screened outdoor living areas. Views across the parklands and to
the courts were a feature. The courts were screened with 'reverse fixed timber planks', the type
now common as fencing throughout the estate. The carport has been demolished.

House 7 Hollydene Court

Built before 1968, this contemporary house uses white painted brick and originally had a
shingle roof. The first owners were D. and A. Broadbent.

House 6 & 6A Prospect Hill Road

Overland Construction Co. was the original owner of this contemporary duplex. While a 'pair’,
in appearance it is a large house, the best example of contemporary design in this street, and
the only example of a duplex on the estate. Like many of the contemporary houses built by
Overland, it is brick veneer with steel deck roof.

Heritage characteristics

Key heritage characteristics of the Fountain Gate Estate precinct which contribute to its heritage value

are.

The overall design of the subdivision using the Radburn principles of vehicle and pedestrian
separation to create large parklands and small cul-de-sac residential precincts.

The quality of the contemporary architect-designed suite of housing created for the estate,
much of which remains substantially intact.

The character of the streets created by garden and street plantings and the extension of the
lawn to the kerb without the interruption of a footpath.

The landscape quality of the parklands achieved by the use of specimen trees, now
approaching their mature forms.

The historical importance of Fountain Gate in the history of innovative housing developments.

28.

File 'Fountain Gate architects house plans, Overland Development',
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Fountain Gate Estate precinct
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Significance

Fountain Gate Estate precinct is of at least regional and possibly state significance as an innovative and
imaginative housing development designed by Robin Boyd in collaboration with the developer Isador
Magid, and involving four equally notable architectural firms in the provision of a suite of
contemporary house designs. Fountain Gate is one of few Victorian examples of the Radburn design
concept which separates traffic from open spaces and provides communal ownership of extensive
parklands, and this is probably the best realised example. The overall concept of an integrated
residential, civic and commercial complex - essentially a new town for the car age - was the creation of
Isador Magid, a man whose firm Overland Development Co. created many of Melbourne's later suburbs
(Mountain Gate in Knox, Brandon Park, and many others). The 1950s industrial developments at
Doveton sparked Magid's interest, leading to his long and continuing involvement in the shaping of
this part of Narre Warren, and essentially in the creation of a location now identified with the
formation of the new City of Berwick.

Heritage objectives

Conserving the significance of the Fountain Gate Estate precinct will require the development of
policies and guidelines that address the following objectives:

Retain the overall form and design concept of the Fountain Gate residential subdivision by:
o protecting the open space areas from future development;
o restricting dual occupancy and multiple unit development opportunities; and

o protecting the architect-designed houses created as part of the overall estate concept (see list of
notable houses above), and requiring planning approval for demolition, removal and
alterations affecting their external appearance.

Maintain the character and plantings in the open space areas of the residential estate by:
v ensuring adequate maintenance programs as the trees reach maturity; and

e replacing specimen trees as required.
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Berwick Township
High Street Berwick

Introduction

Most of the City of Berwick, including the Berwick township, was originally part of Robert Gardiner's
Berwick pastoral run. There are said to have been early wattle and daub huts built on the eastern side
of the Berwick Hill for families drawing water from the Cardinia Creek.2’ However a permanent
Berwick township was not established until the 1850s. At that time when large pastoral runs were
subdivided and homestead blocks and other Crown Allotments sold, a Berwick Village Reserve began
to appear on official maps. This reserve was bounded by the main Gippsland Road (later the Princes
Highway), the Cardinia Creek, Inglis Road and Clyde Road.3?

The earliest Berwick Township plans located the proposed town on the north side of the Gippsland
Road close to the Cardinia Creek. Surveyor Robert Hoddle's plan showed twelve blocks, stretching
from Campbell Street to Cardinia Street, bounded on the north by Palmerston Street. No town blocks
were planned for the present High Street commercial precinct, nor for any land west of Campbell
Street. Hoddle commented that the numbered blocks had been pegged out and 'will be sufficient for the
requirements of the locality for some time'. The land west of Campbell Street to Lyall Road he
considered was an area where the township might expand in the future. This plan marked with a cross
a possible site for a church and school house as 'required here by Gardiner and others'.3! This was the
site chosen soon afterwards for Bain's Berwick Hotel.

However, early purchasers of town land were more influenced by topography than surveyor's plans
dreamed up in Melbourne. The development of the township turned out to be from west to east rather
than from east to west, with a concentration of occupancy along High Street. Much of the story can be
learned by studying the sequence of township maps drawn up from the late 1850s until the present
time.

An 1858 Public Lands Officc map showed the township at this time still bounded on the north by
Palmerston Street. However, new Blocks 13-16 had been already marked out, stretching along High
Street from Lyall Road to Peel Street and backing onto Wilson Street (now known as Wilson and
Scanlan Streets).32 By this date most allotments with High Street frontages had been sold. This
included the new Block 16 between Lyall Road and Wheeler Street, the site of the Berwick High Street
commercial precinct. About half this block had been purchased by Robert Bain, owner of the historic
Berwick Hotel.

The 1858 map also showed many allotments sold in Blocks 8 and 9 bounded by Neill, Palmerston and
Havelock (now Scotsgate Way) Streets. Very few allotments had been sold in the blocks at the eastern
end of the township near Cardinia Creck. This became the site of much later development and was the
area where post-war residential housing occurred. The streetscapes within this area are mostly planted
with Spotted Gum and ash. These gums, (Eucalyptus maculata), have local significance as evidence of
period planting of the 1960s, while the earlier ash plantings, (Fraxinus angustifolia - Narrow-leaf ash),
are typical of inter-war street plantings throughout Melbourne.33

Most of the older historically significant houses in the area east of Campbell Street have High Street
addresses. They range in style from Lumeah, an 1890s weatherboard cottage at 163 High Street, to the
Federation timber villa at 175 High Street and the 1920s timber house at 191 High Street.

Fritzlaff Court, now closed off at the Manuka Road intersection and continuing at Allan Street, forms
part of the triangular block comprising suburban allotments 26A and 26B purchased by M. Keany in

29. Early Days of Berwick, p.17.

30. Bibbs, map, c1866; Roll Plan 25, Parish of Berwick.

31. Berwick Township, Syd. B33. Hoddle, c1852.

32, The Township of Berwick, Public Lands Office, Melbourne, 22 March, 1858.
33, P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
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1868 and R. Bain, the owner of the Berwick Hotel, in 1871. Fritzlaff Court relates to an early road that
led to the Recreation and Swimming Reserve in 26C and an early track to the Cardinia Creek.

North of Allan Street, large blocks on the east side of Manuka Road retain something of Berwick's early
rural character. Clover Cottage at 54 Manuka Road, once the site of the extensive Tuckfield gardens
and now Clover Cottage Restaurant, still has extensive grounds. Minard, a Neo-Gothic late 1890s
brick villa at 62-70 Manuka Road, was originally part of the large Manuka Park property with its
gracious homestead (now gone), the home of Malwyn G. a'Beckett.

The 1858 map also showed the location of a cemetery allotment of eight acres far north of the early
township near the Village Reserve boundary now Inglis Road.

Several decades later, an 1871 Department of Lands and Survey map of Berwick Town and Suburban
Lots3* indicated a further extension of the township westward and included all the land marked as part
of the original Berwick Village Reserve. The township then comprised 32 blocks bounded by High
Street, Cardinia Street, Brisbane Strect and Lyall Road. It now included all the area west of Campbell
Street that makes up the Older Residential Area identified in the present study.

There were also twenty-six suburban lots bounded on the north by Inglis Road and on the west by
Cranbourne (now Clyde) Road. The cemetery block of eight acres was indicated bounded on the north
by Inglis road and on the west by Buchanan Road.

Early views of the township in 1877,35 188736 and 1891,37 however, indicate that, apart from the
cluster of buildings along High Street and the old residential precinct west of Campbell Street, Berwick
remained an extremely small town during the last century. It remained, relatively small well into the
present century, retaining a village-like character.

Later township maps, c1912 and later, indicate another important feature in Berwick's development,
the setting aside of land for public parks and recreation reserves. Ten acres in Crown Allotment 10,
south of the Cemetery site, became a public park. This was formerly known as the Berwick Recreation
Ground and is now the Arch Brown Reserve. Along the Cardinia Creek public reserves were marked
out, including the sites of the Akoonah Park and the Berwick showgrounds.

Specific streets which have plantings of local aesthetic significance include Langmore Lane, Gloucester
Avenue, Peel Street, Edwards Street, and High Street, which each contain an eclectic mix of mature
exotic plantings. These mixed avenues, with species alternating, are an interesting phenomena of the
1920s to 1940s and are reminiscent of streets in Berkeley Hills, (California), where street planting is
the responsibility of householders.3® Other avenues are uniform plantings of ash, creating a pleasant
residential quality to many of the streetscapes in the older part of Berwick township.

The Berwick townscape has a distinct grid plan aligned parallel to the section of Princes Highway
running approximately north-west to south-east. The areas with the most distinct heritage character
occupy a portion of the grid, with a second older area located south of the highway, (outside the
original town survey), and north of the railway line. These have been described as the Older
Residential Area and the Gloucester Avenue Area. :

The town's commercial core has a distinct character of its own, located skew to the main grid at the
intersection of Lyall and Clyde Roads. It is a densely developed precinct containing historically
important civil and commercial premises. The heritage aspects of this area are discussed under the
Berwick High Street Area.

The entries to the township have particular landscape significance. The Berwick Avenue of Honour
enters the town along the highway from the south-east. In the opposite direction, Wilson Botanic Park
and adjacent escarpment create a landmark gateway. From the north, the road from Harkaway and also

34, Town and Suburban Lots, Berwick, Department of Lands and Survey, 16 Oct., 1871.

3s. Early Days of Berwick, opposite p.16 (Berwick Hotel shown with its second storey).

36. Early Days of Berwick, opposite p.24 (Street plantings indicated in High Street precinct).
37. Early Days of Berwick, opposite p.32.

38, P. Lumley: Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
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Beaumont Roaci are important features of the landscape with historical landscape integrity. Each entry
is discussed separately.

Extent of precinct

The history of development of the Berwick township is reflected in the variation in heritage character
between the different areas of the township. An outline of the development and an analysis of the
distinctive landscape characteristics describe the four heritage areas within the Berwick Township
precinct:

o High Street Area

o Gloucester Avenue Area

u  Older Residential Area

o Gateway Entrances to Berwick Township.

A statement of significance and a summary of the heritage characteristics has been compiled for each
area, followed by a list of heritage objectives for conserving the significant elements and qualities of the
Berwick Township precinct.

High Street Area
History

- The earliest Berwick Township plans drawn up after the first land sales in the early 1850s indicated a

town located on the north side of the Gippsland Road (now the Princes Highway and High Street) close
to the Cardinia Creek. Surveyor Robert Hoddle's plan showed twelve blocks stretching from Campbell
Street to Cardinia Street, bounded on the north by Palmerston Street. No town blocks were planned for
the present High Street commercial precinct, or for any blocks west of Campbell Street. Hoddle saw
this as an area where the township might expand in the future.3?

However, following topography rather than surveyor's plans drawn up in Melbourne, early township
buildings began to appear in the area now occupied by the High Street precinct from an early date. An
1858 Public Lands Office map shows that blocks in that area had already been sold by that time to
people whose names became well-known in Berwick's early history, such as the hotel owner, Robert
Bain, and the wheelwright, Robert Grant.4 Early commercial buildings in High Street included the
Berwick Hotel on the corner of Lyall Road, blacksmith's and wheelwright's shops and some early
stores.4! The only known survivor of the period is the 1857 portion of the Berwick Hotel. This
building has been a landmark at the entrance to the township for over 130 years.2

The Berwick Town Site was proclaimed in 1861 and a District Roads Board inaugurated in 1862.
Early Board meetings were held in the hotel. 43 A Berwick Mechanics' Institute and Library was
established in 1862 but not on its present site. At that time it was in Peel Street.44

Following the beginning of coach services to Berwick, the advent of the railway and improvements in
the road network, Berwick township settled into its role as an important service centre for the
agricultural and dairying communities within the region. A number of new commercial and public
buildings were constructed in High Street, particularly in the 1880s boom years. On the north side, a
second storey was added in 1877 to the Berwick Hotel, making it an even more prominent building
within the precinct.4’ ‘

39. Township of Berwick, Robert Hoddle, c1852.

40. Township of Berwick, Public Lands Office, Melbourne, 22 March 1858.
41, Early Days of Berwick, pp.19, 20, 28.

42, Early Days of Berwick, pp.128-129,

43, Early Days of Berwick, p.128.

44, City of Berwick rate records.

45, Historic Buildings Council File No. 603861L.
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View looking north-west to top of Berwick High Street with former Paternoster's Store and shops
in centre, Berwick Entrances, Berwick
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In the following year, the Mechanics' Institute was moved to its present more central site.46 A few
years later, Simon Paternoster, who had run a store in High Street from the 1860s on a different site,
opened a new architect-designed store in 1884 on the Wheeler Street corner of the High Street hill.47
This building survives as the present Berwick Licensed Supermarket.

Three important public buildings were added on the south side of High Street and today still form an
impressive part of the commercial precinct. The combined Post Office and Court House, a notable
example of the work of the Public Works Department architect, J. T. Kelleher, was erected in 1884.48
The former Rechabite, or Temperance Hall adjacent was built in 1886. This building was used as an
RSL Hall in the 1920s and, most recently, was sold in 1960 to the Berwick Freemasons for Lodge
meetings.® The former Christians Meeting House was built in 1886 as a Church of Christ Chapel.’%
It is now the Berwick Neighbourhood Centre owned by the City of Berwick.

A twentieth century addition to the High Street commercial precinct that makes an important
contribution to the streetscape is the half-timbered shop group at 71-75 High Street financed by Sir
Sidney Sewell of Roads End, a prominent district resident. This group was known in the 1920s as the
Blue Plate Tea Rooms and in the 1930s as Jan's Tea House.’! A variety of these exotic tree species
which today stand in the median strip, were planted by Sir Sidney Sewell and Dr. Percy Langmore,>2
around this time

The Berwick median strip, previously known as the Berwick Boulevard,%3 was grazed by cows for
many years until the 1950s.4 Early photographs of the area show fences protecting the linear
plantings of cypresses and enclosing the area from the roadway.’®> A rose garden, designed and
maintained by Dr. Percy Langmore, was also a feature of the boulevard until the 1920s.56

There have been great changes in the High Street Area including the removal of verandahs, a
distinctive streetscape feature in early views. There have also been alterations and extensions to old
buildings, such as the Mechanics' Institute (now the Berwick Library) and the former Paternoster store.
However, the important historic buildings remaining within the precinct help retain some of High
Street's original village-like character.

Description

The Berwick High Street Area is the section of the Princes Highway running approximately east-west
from the intersection of Lyall and Clyde Roads and extending to the point at which the Highway turns
south-east and commences the Avenue of Honour. B

Originally known as Berwick Boulevard, this section adds a distinctive character to the street,
containing a number of significant street plantings. The haphazard planting of trees of various ages
include several of local significance for their aesthetic contribution to the historical streetscape. One
such example is a large poplar (Populous x canadensis) at the western apex of the reserve near Lyall
Street. A Peppercorn (Schinus molle) and a Bunya Bunya Pine (Araucaria bidwillii) are large
specimens located midway along the reserve. A large Mexican Cypress (Cupressus lusitanica), is also
an important part of this landscape.>” There are several other mature plantings in this reserve which
do not merit local significance statas but which contribute to the character of the area and should also
be retained. Individual trees of local or higher significance have been listed in the section Trees and
gardens: other significant examples.

46. Berwick Mechanics' Institute and Library records.

47. City of Berwick rate records.

48, Post Office, Berwick, Victoria, Charge of Annuity Report.

49, Berwick Temperance Hall records; Early Days of Berwick, p.43.
50. Berwick City News, 31 Oct., 1991.

51, Rose postcard 1930s; Information supplied by Bill Hudson.

s52. Information supplied by Bill Hudson.

53, Max Pawsey, "Berwick Village"; discussion with Norman Beaumont, 2 June 1978.
54, Information supplied by Bill Hudson.

s5. Early Days of Berwick, opposite p.24.

56. Information supplied by Bill Hudson.
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Large areas of the median have been developed as car parking with other additions including a public
toilet block and seating. Near the intersection of Lyall Road stands a war memorial and two lion
statues. The lion statues were moved to this site from Brentwood in the 1970s.

The Berwick Inn is an important landmark at the western entrance to the street. It marks the beginning
of the older commercial strip, which was mainly built on this side of the road. Directly opposite is a
large willow, another local landmark. Other significant buildings along this street front include the old
Mechanics' Institute and the former Paternoster Store, strategically located at the top of the block.

Across the road, on the southern side of High Street, dense attached commercial development is all
relatively modern, extending from Clyde Road to Gloucester Avenue.

North of Gloucester Avenue is an important collection of institutional buildings, including the
important Post Office and Court House (facing Gloucester Avenue), the Masonic Hall and the former
Christians Meeting House.

Extent of Area

The Berwick High Street Area within the Berwick Township precinct is defined by the streetscape and
allotments fronting the section of High Street between the intersection of High Street extending
between the intersection of Lyall Road and the junction with Wheeler Street.

Heritage characteristics
The key characteristics of the Berwick High Street Area within the Berwick Township precinct include:
o The wide median strip containing mature exotic trees;

@ The strip commercial development on both sides of the road creating a continuous wall of shop
fronts on the southern side. Several significant buildings are located on the northern side;

@ The corner landmark building, the Berwick Inn, marking the gateway to the township main
street; and

o The cluster of institutional buildings, east of the Gloucester Avenue junction, which have
historical importance as civic buildings. .

Significance

The High Street Area within the Berwick Township precinct is significant as the historic commercial
and civic focus of Berwick. This section of street continues to function as the commercial centre and it
is significant that built development has continued in the traditional linear arrangement of individual
shops fronting the street. This shopping environment offers opportunity for specialised commercial
services and community meeting places which are an important part of the continuing social value of
the Berwick High Street area.

The Berwick High Street is significant as an example of an area within a surveyed township plan which
historically evolved as the commercial focus due to its topography and proximity to the junction with
main roads to Harkaway and Cranbourne.

Gloucester Avenue Area

History

This area was originally part of Crown Allotment 18, 400 acres located south of the Berwick Township
and the Gippsland Road (Princes Highway), purchased in the early 1850s by the pioneer run holder
Robert Gardiner. It was adjacent to Crown Allotment 19 containing Gardiner's station buildings and
160 acres of land.>®

57. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
58. Berwick Parish Plan; Roll Plan 235, Parish of Berwick.
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Langmore Lane, looking west from no. 44, Gloucester Avenue Area, Berwick

Gloucester Avenue looking north from school, Gloucester Avenue, Berwick

Heritage of the City of Berwick Towns & estates « 95



Subdivision led to the creation of Langmore Lane (named after Dr. Langmore who lived there),
Gloucester Avenue, (originally known as Station Street), and at its southern end, Reserve Street,
running parallel to the railway line. The name Station Street was changed to Gloucester Avenue after
the visit of the Duke and Duchess of Gloucester in 1945,

This area has a strong residential character, some houses dating from the Victorian era. Two late
Victorian cottages remain at the east end of Langmore Lane. The doctor's surgery and residence at 26-
30 Langmore Lane has a long association with Berwick's doctors, being occupied first in 1895 by Dr.
Bennie, then by Dr. Percy Langmore, his son, Dr. Leonard Langmore, and more recently by Dr. Noel
Stephenson. Kingussie at 42 Langmore Lane dates from the same period.

Early families living in Gloucester Avenue were the Trethowans, Hartleys’® and Kents. Berwick rate
records list houses in the early 1880s in Station Street (now Gloucester Avenue) owned by Mrs
Trethowan and A. B. Kent, member of a notable district family. Kent let houses to Berwick doctors
" including Dr. W. H. James and Dr. Bennie.50

The Warne family was also associated with early houses in Gloucester Avenue. The symmetrical
Victorian house with ashlar block front, Gloucester cottage, now known as Flat 1 at 66 Gloucester -
Avenue, was reputedly built about 1882 for John Joseph Warne, who had an early established paint and
decorator's business in Station Street. 1

The most important cluster of buildings in this precinct is probably the St. Margaret's School complex
at 27-47 Gloucester Avenue. This includes a c1878 Neo-Gothic brick cottage known as The Cottage,
acquired by the school in the 1940s; a c1911 substantial red brick bungalow residence Kippenross, once
the home of the Hon. J. Pearson, MLA, and used by St Margaret's from 1930; Gloucester House built in
1918 for George Wilson Snr. and his wife Marie and acquired by the school in the 1940s and Campbell
House, built specially for the school in 1930, a two storey brick Federation residence designed to match
Kippenross.

The Berwick Bush Nursing Hospital has been an important institution in the Gloucester Avenue Area
for some years. It has a long association with well known local doctors. Part of the new hospital wing,
opened in 1953, was named the Dr. Percy Langmore Block. Also notable is the Coronation Tree, a
lilly-pilly, growing in the south-east corner of the Hospital, facing Gloucester Avenue and Gibb Street.
This tree was planted by Mrs. L.D. Beaumont on 2 June 1953, to commemorate Queen Elizabeth's
accession.

Description

This area is defined by the axis of Gloucester Street, extending from Princes Highway (High Street) to
the railway station, and the residential street of Langmore Lane.

Gloucester Avenue contains a small number of significant houses dating from late last century, and is
most noted for its spectacular oak plantings along a large portion of the street. At the entrance from
High Street is a cluster of commercial and civic buildings aligned with a series of uniform allotments
extending to the Langmore Lane intersection. Beyond this point the residential blocks vary in size with
St Margaret's School dominating the eastern area, but sglll mamtalmng the residential character of the
street.

At the southern end of Gloucester Avenue, Reserve Street runs parallel to the railway line, with a
cluster of modest residences, including the former Station Master's House at 24 Reserve Street. A
massive Sugar Gum, (Eucalyptus cladocalyx), stands in the station carpark, providing a dramatic
termination to the Gloucester Avenue landscape. It is typical of large windbreak species planted in
rural Berwick, and has aesthetic significance for its contribution to the landscape.2 Another
significant tree is the native Rusty Gum Myrtle (dngophora costata), at the corner of Reserve Street,
and Gloucester Avenue.

59. Early Days of Berwick, p.31.

60. City of Berwick rate records.
61. Early Days of Berwick, p.29.
62. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
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Langmore Lane has a different streetscape character either side of Gloucester Avenue. The eastern side
contains established street trees complimented by mature plantings in some of the larger properties.
Oak plantings, (Quercus robur), dominate the mixed street plantings and are complimented by large
plantings of mature exotic species in the gardens on the southern side of Kingussie and the Doctor's
Surgery and residence. 63 Other species of note in the gardens of Langmore Lane, include the weeping
cypress, (Cupressus macrocarpa 'Conybearii'), which is of striking appearance and also appear in
several Peel Street Houses.%* The western section of the street is more open, with sparsely planted front
gardens and an eclectic mix of street trees. The street plantings of Langmore Lane and Gloucester
Avenue are individually listed in the section Trees and gardens: other significant examples.

Extent of Area

The Gloucester Avenue Area, within the Berwick Township precinct, is defined by the following
streetscapes, comprising allotments fronting those streets:

o the entire length of Gloucester Avenue, including the intersection with Reserve Street, and the
vicinity of Berwick Railway Station;

o the entire length of Langmore Lane, extending both sides of Gloucester Avenue;

o the entire length of Reserve Street.

Heritage characteristics

‘The Gloucester Avenue Area within the Berwick Township precinct, contains the following heritage
characteristics:

o The strong avenue character of Gloucester Avenue with its eclectic mix of native and exotic
plantings. ‘

o The leafy streetscape of Langmore Lane east, and the east side of Gloucester Avenue, creating
a secluded residential environment with a number of significant large residences.

o The open streetscape of Langmore Lane west, with its eclectic tree plantings and more modest
turn-of-thecentury and inter-war housing stock, creating a more suburban character. The
uniform allotment sizes and low fencing contributes to the character of this section of the
street, which developed in this area due to its proximity to the main street and railway station.

o The large Sugar Gum in the station carpark has local aesthetic significance and provides a
landmark at the termination of Gloucester Avenue. The nearby Rusty Gum Myrtle at the
corner of Reserve Street and Gloucester Avenue is also important.

Significance

The Gloucester Avenue Area is significant as an historically important residential area within the
Berwick Township, whick was not part of the origiral township survey, but which developed due to its
opportune location, linking the town's main street to the railway.

The residences to the west of Gloucester Avenue, on'R_eserve Street and Langmore Lane demonstrate
the type of modest turn-of-the-century development which probably located here for reasons of access to
the main street and railway.

63. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
64. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
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Peel Street, looking east, between Rutland Road and Edwardes Street, Older Residential Afea,
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Older Residential Area
History

When the Berwick township was being extended and its commercial precinct consolidated in the
1870s,5° a prestigious residential area was established on elevated High Street sites and blocks to the
north facing streets such as Brisbane, Peel and Palmerston. Here some of Berwick's most prominent
citizens built substantial homes on large garden blocks in the late nineteenth century and first decades
of this century. It was an area also chosen for landmark church buildings, and for two important
educational establishments, the Berwick Primary School and the former Berwick Boys Grammar
School, where well-to-do local families sent their sons for a private school education.

The building used as a grammar school in the 1880s was designed first as a villa residence in 1877 for
Miss Adelaide Robinson, member of an important local family. The Melbourne architects Beasley and
Little designed this ornate ashlar fronted Italianate villa with its outbuildings at 76-80 Brisbane Street.
Now known as Mary Blackwood House, it remains important within this prestigious precinct.

Another notable Victorian house in the area, Inveresk, at 93 High Street, has been a local landmark for
over a century. It was designed by Little and Beasley in 1891 for the Berwick draper, George Brown.

The area was also popular for the residences of the well-to-do in the 1920s and 1930s. Dhuringa, at 59
Peel Street, a 1925 timber bungalow, was built as the home of Mrs Hutchinson, grand-niece of John
Kennedy Hume, brother of the explorer, Hamilton Hume. Its neighbour, the bungalow at 61 Peel
Street, was built about 1932 for the Rev. H. Cole, Anglican minister at Christ Church, on his
retirement. The land was donated by the Hutchinsons. Glenfalloch, a large 1930s rendered brick
residence at 88-92 Brisbane Street, which stands on a very large allotment, was the town house of the
prominent district farmer, Evan Clarence Henry.

Innovative modern architects were responsible for the designs of a couple of later residences within this
precinct. Sunways, on the corner of Lyall Road and Wilson Street, is an example of the work of the
architect, Norman Seabrooke, of Seabrooke and Fildes. This weatherboard flat-roof house with crazy
paving, a pebble patio and established garden, was built in 1947 for the Loveridges, important Berwick
storckeepers.

Also notable within the precinct is the Boyd house at 11 Rutland Street built in 1955 for Gertrude
a'Beckett, widow of William a'Beckett. It was designed by her nephew, the architect Robin Boyd.

The key building in a most important church complex within this predominantly residential area and
an important landmark over many years, the splendid brick Anglican Christ Church stands on the
corner of Palmerston and Church Streets with its associated Victorian brick vicarage, timber Sunday
school and parish hall. The church was built in 1876-77 with a porch and vestry added in 1888-92.
The Parish Hall was constructed in the 1950s,

The High Street hill was chosen for St Andrew's Uniting Church, another landmark building. The
brick church was built 1879-1880 from the designs of the distinguished architects Reed, Henderson and
Smart. Although without its intended spire, this former Presbyterian Church is notable for its broad
four-bay buttressed nave with plate-tracery windows.

High Street is also the site of the considerably later red brick Neo-Gothic 1930s former St Michael's
Catholic Church, associated Primary School and 1920s timber presbytery. St Michael's replaced an
earlier 1870 weatherboard church. This complex symbolises the importance of the Catholic community
within the Berwick district from the 1870s.

One of the oldest and most prominent buildings in this precinct is the Berwick Primary School at 2 Peel
Street constructed in 1869-70 and extended in the 1870s, 1920s and 1970s. Last century it occupied an
isolated site surrounded by paddocks. It replaced an earlier 1850s wattle and daub structure and has
been an important community building for over 120 years.

65. Town and Suburban Lots. Berwick, Department of Land and Works, 16 Oct., 1871.
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Description

This area is contained within the grid of the original township survey and has a distinct streetscape
character created by avenues of mature exotic plantings. Predominantly a residential area, it also
contains Berwick Primary School, the three oldest churches in the town and most of the larger homes
with historical significance.

The relatively hilly topography of this area is a feature which contributes to the streetscape character,
allowing views only short distances along leafy avenues. The diagonal alignment of Peel Street creates
irregular blocks and interesting views. The predominance of exotic strect tree plantings is
complemented by garden plantings of a similar nature. The post-war residential development in this
area is also identified by its established canopied gardens.

Pecl Street has a particularly strong avenue character, with a line of Algerian Oaks (Quercus
canariensis) of considerable size and early age, which are of local significance on aesthetic grounds. A
section of continuous planting on Peel and Rutland Streets are conspicuous landscape features and
include two Bunya Bunya Pines (4draucaria bidwillii), a Norfolk Island Pine (Araucaria excelsa) and a
Canary Island Pine (Pinus canariensis), a Moreton Bay Fig (Ficus macrophylla), and several Algerian
Oaks (Quercus canariensis). These trees have local aesthetic significance, and could have further
historical significance if more information about the planters were to become available. Other
plantings of importance on Peel Street include an overgrown Monterey Cypress hedge, (Cupressus
macrocarpa) and a small avenue of Italian Cypresses (Cupressus sempervirens) which presumably once
lined an entrance to a residence, now gone, 6

A triangle of land at Peel and Edwardes Street is another site of botanical interest, containing Monterey
Pines (Pinus radiata) and oaks. This area could provide a good opportunity to preserve these pines
which provide a backdrop to many plantings in Berwick.67 Scanlan Street contains large specimens of
English Oak (Quercus robur), which are of local aesthetic significance, while a large Camphor Laurel
(Cinnamomum camphora) in 17 Scanlan Street, is also worthy of local significance status, for its rarity
and contribution to the landscape.%8

Brisbane Street forms a definite border to the grid, with more recent subdivisions to the north having a
distinctly different streetscape quality compared to this older area.

Extent of Area

The Older Residential Area, within the Berwick Township precinct, is defined as the area within the
early township plan, bounded by parts of the following roads and including the streetscapes of these
roads:

o Brisbane Street to the north and north-west, from Lyali Road to the junction with Sandgate
Place;

e High Street to the south and south-west, between the intersections of Wheeler Street and Peel
Street;

o Lyall Road to the west, excluding the area bounded by High Strect, Wilson Street and Wheeler
Street. '

e William Street, Campbell Street, and Sandgate Place to the south-east.
Heritage characteristics
The key characteristics of the Older Residential Area within the Berwick Township precinct include:

o The hilly topography, which is the historical rationale for the alignment of Peel Street,
creating irregularly shaped residential blocks and visually interesting views along the streets.

66. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
67. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
68. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
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o Established eclectic, exotic street tree plantings creating a strong avenue character in this area
as compared to the eucalyptus plantings in the more recently developed residential area within
the grid plan.

o The leafy exotic character of the garden plantings which compliment the avenue qualities of
the streets, particularly the plantings in numbers 17 and 19-21 Scanlan Streets.

e The deep-set back of most houses in relation to the street boundary.

o The diversity of fence types with a predominance of low, visually unobtrusive fences, allowing
views across property boundaries.

Significance

The Older Residential Area is significant as evidence of how the earliest residences of Berwick were
located in relation to the original township survey. This area is closer to the main street commercial
area and is important for its content of key community buildings, including three churches and the
primary school. .

The streetscapes are important for their avenue character typical of desirable residential landscaping at
the turn of the century. The Older Residential Area contains a number of significant houses,
demonstrating a variety of popular housing styles of various periods ranging from 1870-1950.

Gateway Entrances to Berwick Township

There are four entries to the township of Berwick, three containing elements of heritage significance.
The roads from Melbourne, Harkaway and Cranbourne all intersect at the western end of the Berwick
High Street Area, with the Poplar Avenue of Honour entrance from the east. The Clyde Road entrance
has been remodelled during the development of the Freeway and no longer retains features of historical
importance, whereas, the High Street entrance from the east, the Princes Highway entrance from the
west and the Lyall Road entry from Harkaway do have qualities which reflect their long history of use.

A spectacular avenue of poplars lines the entry to Berwick from the vicinity of Cardinia Creck to the
east, rising over the hill and descending towards Berwick High Street. At the crest of the hill,
Edrington, the historically important mansion, now surrounded by a subdivision, is a landmark feature.
Wide, grassy verges accompany the avenue plantings, protecting the residential development on both
sides from traffic.

This avenue is on the Register of Significant Trees of Victoria as an important memorial avenue and
has regional significance for aesthetic and historical reasons. It is listed in the Trees and gardens
section as a significant place. The Princes Highway entrance and the Harkaway/Lyall Road entrance are
~ each of heritage significance and are described below.

Extent of Area

The extent of the Princes Highway entrance (as defined on the attached map), is the escarpment on the
north side of Princes Highway, between the intersection with Lyall Road and the entrance to Berwick
Brae Retirement Village.

The extent of the Harkaway/Lyall Road entrance (as defined on the attached map) is the section of
Harkaway Road in the vicinity of the historic Old Coach Road intersection.

The east entrance to Berwick Township is the Poplar Avenue of Honour which is a key element in the
historic townscape. Due to its historic importance and special landmark qualities, it has been
separately listed in the Trees & Gardens section.

The Berwick Boulevard is also an important linking element between the east and west entrances to the
town, forming a strong definition of the main street. The Boulevard has been described as locally
significant in the Trees & Gardens section.
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Entry to Berwick along Harkaway Road, looking south, Berwick Entrances, Berwick

- r A ~

Cluster of pines & cypresses near Kilkirean, off Princes Highway, Berwick Entrances, Berwick
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1. Princes Highway entry
History and description

This important entry to the Berwick town centre from the west is marked by a prominent escarpment on
the northern side of the road. The high pine plantings along this ridge are visually reinforced by the
landmark plantings at the hill crest in the Wilson Botanic Park. Until recently, the pine ridge was
mirrored on the opposite side of the Highway creating a dramatic gateway entrance to the township.

The escarpment which remains was probably planted with pines at the time of William Wilson's
development of Liskie Brae (now known as Kilkirean), around the turn of the century. This cluster of
landmark plantings could offer the opportunity to conserve a group of these trees which provide a
characteristic backdrop to many of the views of Berwick.6?

2. Harkaway/Lyall Road entry

History and description

Harkaway Road approaches Berwick from the north with an arc around the.-base of Wilson Hill. It
adjoins Lyall Road in the vicinity of Berwick Primary School, and meets the High Street at the acute
corner marked by the Berwick Inn.

The Harkaway Road route has heritage character with fragmented hawthorn hedge plantings north of
Old Coach Road. Hawthorn hedges were a feature of the area especially around Harkaway and Narre
Warren North. Outstanding sections of hawthorn hedge also remain along parts of the following roads:
Pound Road, Narre Warren-Cranbourne Road, Narre Warren North Road, aBeckett Road, Hessell
Road, Harkaway Road, Old Coach Road, King Road and Robinson Road. A list of the major roadside
plantings of hawthorn hedges that remain can be found under Trees & gardens: other significant
examples at the end of the following section. It is important for its link with the Old Coach Road, still
largely intact, which is an important historical feature of the landscape. The undeveloped nature of the
kerb and verge of this section of Harkaway Road, plus the open views east of the road, contribute to the
rural character of this historic route to Berwick.

3. High Street entry (Poplar Avenue of Honour)

History and Description

This section of High Street runs parallel to the longitudinal roads in the original township grid plan.
Despite the intention of Surveyor Robert Hoddle that the eastern part of the town should be developed
first, this area developed slowly as a residential street, while the Berwick High Street commercial area
developed to the west of this section. There are a number of older historically significant houses on the
northern side of High Sireet, ranging in style from Lumeah, an 1890s weatherboard cottage at 163 High
Street, to the Federation timber villa at 175 High Street and the 1920s timber house at 191 High Street.
Edrington stands apart as a landmark on the hill on the opposite side of High Street.

The Avenue of Poplars was planted along this section of High Street after the First World War, in

honour of residents of Berwick and Beaconsfield who had served in that war.7® Today the avenue . .

creates a spectacular entry to Berwick. The poplar avenue is listed in the section on Trees & gardens.

Heritage characteristics
The key characteristics of the Gateway Entrances to the Berwick Township precinct include:

o Stronng avenue character of the High Street entry (Poplar Avenue of Honour) with spectacular
views to the edge of Berwick High Street commercial precinct from the hill east of the Berwick
Boulevard.

o Landmark plantings of mature pines on the escarpment adjacent to Wilson Hill which signal
the entry to the Berwick township area.

69. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study.
70. National Trust of Australia (Victoria), File, Significant Trees - Berwick.
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o The winding approach to the township from the north, along Harkaway Road and Lyall Road,
lined in the northern sections by hawthorn hedges, and having a rural character without kerbs
and guttering.

Significance

The three entrances to the Berwick Township are significant features of the landscape, marking
traditional points of entry into the town's main strect. At the Princes Highway and High Street
‘gateways', the plantings form landmarks, defining the area of more dense residential subdivision
associated with the township area.

All three approaches to the town are from a raised point, allowing views over the main street area,
which retains its historic and picturesque character.

Heritage objectives

Conserving the heritage significance of the Berwick township precinct will require the development of
policies and guidelines that address the following objectives for each of the significant areas and
elements within the precinct.

Berwick High Street Area

Retain the streetscape character by:

o encouraging the conservation of the significant buildings that form important elements within
High Street;

o preserving the continuous facade of the strip commercial development;

@ conserving and maintaining the median plantings; and

o preventing further carpark development in the median strip.

Retain significant institutional and commercial buildings in High Street by:

v preserving views to the buildings from the road in any works, developments or plantings on
the adjacent roadside;

o preventing unsympathetic building development in front of or adjacent to significant
buildings; and

o encourage the continuation of community or public use in these buildings.
Retain the streetscape of High Street by:

o retaining the avenue of plantings along Berwick High Street both on the median and along
each side of the road on the eastern side of the town; and

o preventing any further development in the High Street median.
Gloucester Avenue Area
Retain the streetscape character by:

@ encouraging the conservation of the significant buildings that form important elements within
Gloucester Avenue;

o protecting and maintaining the significant established tree plantings in private gardens and
within the road reserve;

o retaining the existing grassed verges and footpaths;
@ encouraging front fence heights that will allow views of residences; and

o preserving views to the buildings from the roads in any works, developments or plantings on
the adjacent roadsides.
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Older Residential Area

Retain the streetscape character by:

encouraging the conservation of significant and contributory buildings that form important
elements within the Older Residential Area;

protecting and maintaining the significant established tree plantings in private gardens and
within the road reserve;

retaining the existing grassed verges and footpaths;
encouraging front fence heights that will allow views of residences;

preserving views to the buildings from the roads in any works, developments or plantings on
the adjacent roadsides; and

retaining what remains of the town grid street pattern.

Gateway Entrances to Berwick Township

Retain the landmark plantings at Princes Highway entry to Berwick on the escarpment
adjacent to Kilkirean and Wilson's Quarry hill by:

protecting these plantings and requiring planning approval for the removal, lopping or works
within 5 metres of these plantings.

Retain the undeveloped and rural character of the Harkaway Road and Lyall Road town
entries by:

minimising the impact of engineering works on the roads, giving particular consideration to
the form of gutters, kerbs and verge design;

retaining existing hawthorn hedge plantings.

Retain the avenue character of the High Street entry by:

maintaining the trees in good condition;

requiring detailed analysis by a tree surgeon prior to removal or replacement of trees.

Significant buildings and places

Throughout the whole Berwick Township precinct, retain significant buildings by:

- a

protecting significant and contributory buildings and requiring planning approval for
demolition, removal and alterations affecting their external appearance.

Significant places in Berwick Township

The following places contribute to the significance of Berwick Township precinct:

a

House : _64-66 Brisbane Street High local
Mary Blackwood House 76-80 Brisbane Street Regional
Glenfalloch 88-92 Brisbane Street High local
Memorial Avenue of Oaks . Church Street Local
Christ Church vicarage (fmr) 1 Church Street ) High local
Clyde Cottage (fmr) 11 Clyde Road High local
House 6 Edwardes Street Local
Carinya 11 Edwardes Street Local
Coronation tree Gibb Street Local
River Red Gum Gloucester Avenue Local
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Sugar Gum

St Margaret's School
Gloucester Cottage
Boulevard Reserve

Mexican Cypress

Poplar Avenue of Honour
Red Cross Tree

Berwick Township

Deodar Cedar

Port Jackson Fig

Berwick Inn

Mechanics' Institute

Shops

Paternoster's Store (fmr)
Inveresk

Post Office (fmr)& Court House (fmr)
St Andrews Uniting Charch
Rechabite Hall

Christians Meeting House (fmr)
House

St Michael's Church & School complex
House

House

House

House

House & garden

Doctor's surgery & residence
Kingussie

Sunways

Ranmore Cottage

Christ Church (Anglican)
House

Kinross

Macadamia Tree

Black Bean Tree

Berwick Primary School
Smooth Arizona Cypress

Commemorztive Oak

Gloucester Avenue
27-47 Gloucester Avenue
66 Gloucester Avenue
High Street

High Street

High Street

High Street

High Street

High Street

High Street

1-9 High Street

15 High Street

71-75 High Street

81 High Street

93 High Street
102-104 High Street
105 High Street

106 High Street

108 High Street

123 High Street
125-137 High Street
139 High Street

4 Langmore Lane

5 Langmore Lane

8 Langmore Lane

9 Langmore Lane
26-30 Langmore Lane
40-42 Langmore Lane
Lyall Road

1 Marygate Place

8 Palmerston Street
26 Palmerston Street
41 Palmerston Street
Paternoster Lane
Paternoster Lane

1-11 Peel Street

1-11 Peel Street

1-11 Peel Street

Local
Regional
High local
Local

Local

High local
Contributory
High Local
Contributory
Local
Regional
High local
High local
High local
Regional
Regional
Regional
High local
High local
High local
High local
Local
Contributory
Local

Local

High local
High local
Regional
High local
Contributory
High local
Local

High local
Local

State

High local
Local

Local
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o Plumridge

o Dhuringa

o Bhuotan Cypresses

o House (fmr Sunbury)
e House

©  House

o House

o House

o Rusty Gum Myrtles
o House

o aBeckett house

o House

o Bunya Bunya Pines
o Sweeney House

o English Oak

o Kensworth Cottage

37 Peel Street

59 Peel Street

59 Peel Street

61 Peel Street

9 Reserve Street

17 Reserve Street

19 Reserve Street

24 Reserve Street

Reserve Street near Gloucester
7 Rutland Road

11 Rutland Road

15 Rutland Road

Rutland Road & Peel Street
8-10 Scanlan Street

19-21 Scanlan Street

8-10 Scotsgate Way

Local
Regional
Local

High local
Local
Contributory
Contributory
High local
Suate

Local
Regional
Local

Local

High local
Local

High local

More information on places of regional and high local significance can be found in the section on

Buildings.,

Heritage of the City of Berwick

Towns & estates « 109



Harkaway Township

King Street Harkaway
History

Although a small German Lutheran farming settlement was established at Harkaway at an early date,
an official township was never proclaimed. However, this rural district 4.5km (three miles) north of
Berwick was most probably settled at a time when Berwick was still the cattle run of the pastoral
pioneer Robert Gardiner.

At least two German settlers, Gottlob Scholtz and John Martin Friedrich Fritzlaff are said to have come
to the Harkaway area in 1844-45. This was before the district land sales. No documentary evidence
has been found so far to confirm this early date.”!

A number of German settlers were certainly living at Harkaway in the 1850s, many buying land along
King (or Koenig) Road, marked on early maps as 'Cattle Road to water' that is, the Cardinia Creek.”2
Some descendants of these families of the 1850s included the Wankes and the Hillbrichs, as well as
August Bolduan, J. F. Wilhelm Aurisch, Gottfried Tschirner, Gustav Koenig and their families.”? A
small number of non-German families also settled at Harkaway at this time. Among the most notable
were George Washington Robinson who designed and built a number of important district brick houses,
James Kelly from Tyrone in Ireland, and James and Francis Barr.74

The Harkaway settlers came to farm, they made bridges and roads to get their produce to market, some
were brickmakers and carpenters, and they built many farmhouses throughout the district. Some of
these early farmhouses (typically modest timber dwellings but sometimes mud and wood or brick
structures), or at least portions of them, have survived. These old buildings help to retain something of
the district's early rural character. Remaining hawthorn hedges, once a distinctive feature in the
Harkaway landscape, contribute to that character.

Although there was no gazetted Harkaway township a cluster of surviving farmhouses, an 1870s
schoolhouse, an early post office and a later post office and store, and a turn-of-the-century public hall
around the intersection of King and Harkaway Roads forms an unofficial township precinct. The
approach to this precinct by roads lined with hawthorn hedges has been described by a number of early
travellers. Driving by buggy from Berwick in the 1890s one writer noted as he approached Harkaway
the 'long rows of neatly kept hawthorn hedge'. They reminded him of English scenery.”> Later, a
1920s tourist walking from Berwick to Harkaway, described approaching Tyrone (now Treverbyn), the
Kelly house near the intersection, and wrote of

a lane with high hawthorn hedges, which present a magnificent sight in the spring, for they are
veritable banks of bloom, and they grow without restraint. At the foot of the lane is a creek rich in
wattles and the sofi-foliaged swap tea-tree...76

King Road was still an unmade road in the 1920s becoming a mere track as it approached Cardinia
Creek.7” '

A distinctive entry to the town from the north down Harkaway Road was provided this century by the
Avenue of Honour, with its oak and eucalypt plantings designed to commemorate the Harkaway men
and women who served in the 1914-1918 War. More recently, on Anzac Day, 1959, Councillor George
Rae unveiled a memorial stone at the southern entrance to the Honour Avenue. A distinguished local

71. Early Days of Berwick, p.68.

72. Plan of Portions of Land in the Parish of Berwick, Surveyor General's Office, Melbourne, 16
Nov., 1855,

73. Early Days of Berwick, pp.69-83.

7. Early Days of Berwick, pp.75-71.

75. Hllustrated Guide to the Beaconsfield Ranges, 1899, p.39.

76. Robert Henderson Croll, The Open Road in Victoria, 1928, p.34.

77. Cranbourne, Victoria, June 1922; Ringwood, Victoria, Aug., 1924..
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resident, the artist and Army nurse Jessie Traill, was responsible for obtaining this monument. Jessie
Traill and the children from the Harkaway State School as well as local residents laid wreaths during
the ceremony. The names on the memorial and remaining on some trees, include those of many well-
known district families such as the Wankes, Halleurs, Fleens and of course Traill.”®

A section of land adjacent to Harkaway Road, extending south of King Road along the creek line, is
named Jessie Traill Reserve.

A most important building in the township precinct is Harkaway Primary School No. 1697, a one-
roomed brown brick school house. It has stood at the top of the King Road hill for more than a century
and has played a major role in local community life. It replaced an earlier German School held in the
old Lutheran Church (now gone), located in Hessell Road next to the Lutheran Cemetery and bell-
tower. The State School, built by Dalton and Son, was opened in 1876 on land bought from James
Gardiner. A German settler, Jacob Hessell, was the first Head Master.”®

Two buildings used as post offices remain on the opposite side of King Road. Kilfera, a mud and wood
cottage, was built about 1856 as the home of Wilhelm Wiese, a German settler. This house was used as
an early post office and again between 1946 and 1970,%0 an important building in a small rural
township. The house next door at 68-70 King Road, dating from early this century, was also used as a
post office and store as well as a residence. 8!

Most townships boast a public hall. The Harkaway Hall located on the north side of King Road near
the intersection, a typical rural structure, is simple in form and built of timber with an iron roof.
Opened in 1909, it has remained as an important element in Harkaway's community life and is a key
component in the small township precinct. The hall fell into disrepair but in 1958 was restored by a
group of volunteers and reopened in January 1959.82

Two nineteenth century King Road farmhouses associated with prominent early settlers stand opposite
each other on the west side of Harkaway Road. They bring back memories of the village-like quality of
Harkaway last century. Treverbyn (formerly Tyrone), a symmetrical brick farmhouse, still stands at 2-
12 King Road. It was built in the 1880s for Robert, son of the pioneer farmer James Kelly from Tyrone
in Ireland. The foundations of the earlier cottage are said to remain on the west side of this property.33
The rendered brick cottage of the Swiss settler Wilhelm 'Butter' Meyer was originally known as
Ratharnay and now as Wickham. It was built about 1854 for Meyer who conducted a butter-dealing
business, using a horse and wagon to take his produce to Dandenong and Melbourne. In 1874, a new
owner, Jacob Hessell, who taught at the Harkaway German School, secured the property. Hessell ran a
boarding school at Ratharnay for some years.

The farming community which settled around the Harkaway/King Road precinct was well served by
local transport routes to take their produce to market. Harkaway Road was linked to the south with the
Old Coach Road to Berwick, a major service centre for the whole region. To the north King Road
linked up with Robinson Road which went to Narre Warren (now Narre Warren North). To the east,
King Road was a mere track to the Cardinia Creck. But to the west it was linked with the track to
Dandenong, an important market town.34 To the south, King Road was linked with Hessell Road, an
alternate route to Berwick. Hessell Road was also the location of a group of German community
buildings that included the Lutheran Church (now gone), the 1856 German Cemetery and the 1869
bell-tower.

78. Early Days of Berwick, pp.86, 87.

9. John Wells and Maggie Mackie, Berwick Some Aspects, p.56.

80. City of Berwick Valuer's records; 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Berwick Primary School
Project.

8l. Early Days of Berwick, p.85.

82. Early Days of Berwick, pp.76, 71.

83. Historic Buildings Council File No.8519445; City of Berwick Valuer's records.

84, Plan of Portions of Land in the Parish of Berwick, 1856,
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View looking west along King Road in vicinity of Primary School an

View looking south along Jessie Traill's Memorial Avenue, Harkaway
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Description

The heritage precinct of the Harkaway township can be defined as the intersection of Harkaway and
King Roads including the section of King Road extending eastwards to the cluster of significant
buildings surrounding the Harkaway Primary School. The historical importance of these roads is
evident in their hawthorn hedge plantings and their links with main routes to Berwick. East of the
township, King Road connects with the Old Coach Road and to the west, with Hessell Road, and the
Cemetery, bell-tower and site of the church. The Avenue of Honour composed of eucalypts and oaks
signifies the importance of Harkaway Road to the settlement in the 1920s.

The townscape itself is relatively obscure, but can be defined as a cluster of buildings representing the
very basic community functions of school, (former) post office and hall. There is a new store today in
the vicinity of these buildings which may have been built on the site of an older store (although no
mention of this function was found in historical research).

The pair of early residences (both used as a post office at different times) are located on King Road
immediately opposite the school. A block to the east, the community hall is sited opposite Dalton
Reserve, a section of mostly natural vegetation with barbeques and playground equipment. Between
these two points a subdivision of small residential blocks, serviced by a road either side of King Road,
constitute the township of Harkaway today.

The small cluster of historically significant buildings is a reflection of Harkaway's tradition as a small
service centre, as opposed to a residential core, for the surrounding, mainly German, farm settlements.
The importance of the intersection of Harkaway and King Roads is evident in the Avenue of Honour
and in the established nature of the hawthorn hedge plantings which abound along the road sides.

Extent of precinct
The Harkaway Township precinct is defined as:

o The streetscape of King Road between the Harkaway Road intersection and the eastern border
of Harkaway Primary School, including all allotments and reserves fronting this road.

o The streetscape of Harkaway Road from the northern extremity of the Avenue of Honour and
adjacent drainage reserve, to the southern extremity of the adjacent Jessie Traill Reserve.

o The segments of hawthorn hedge along King Road and Hessell Road along the route between
the cemetery and bell tower and the Harkaway Road intersection.

Heritage characteristics

Key characteristics of the Harkaway Township precinct which contribute to its heritage significance
are:

o The informal streetscape of King Road, east of Harkaway Road, with deep set backs of
residential buildings and wide roadside verges with no concrete kerb and guttering, creating a
vision of the streetscape as a rural road.

o The low scale or lack of fencing along King Road, lending an informal or semi-rural quality to
the streetscape.

e The visual relationship between the Harkaway Primary School and the two old residences
opposite, this cluster representing the historical community centre.

e The close proximity of residential development in King Street in relationship to the road
boundary, creating a sense of a town centre, which has only recently been consolidated.

o The relationship of the Harkaway Hall to the road and its immediate context of mature
plantings, including the drainage reserve to the rear and the natural vegetation in Dalton
Reserve opposite.

o The Avenue of Honour on the northern side of King Road, along Harkaway Road, composed of
eucalypts and oaks.
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o Established hawthorn hedge plantings on the northern side of King Road which are an
important visual element in the landscape, and are particularly common in the Harkaway area.
Significance

Harkaway Township precinct is of high local significance for its demonstration of its historical role as a
small service centre for the surrounding early farm settlements. Although it has been subdivided
recently into residential allotments, key buildings remain, with significant relationships to one another,
demonstrating the role of this small village in providing basic services for a rural community. The
distinctive rural character of the King Road streetscape and its immediate environs is historically and
aesthetically significant.

The intersection of King and Harkaway Roads is marked by significant hawthorn hedge plantings, a
historic characteristic of many boundary plantings but now becoming rare in the area. The Avenue of
Honour is important in demonstrating the significance of the township in the Inter-war years.

Other landscape features include the Dalton Reserve and Jessie Traill Reserve, both demonstrating a
local recognition of the value of natural vegetation.

Heritage objectives

Conserving the heritage significance of King Street, Harkaway, will require the development of policies
and guidelines which address the following objectives:

Retain aspects of the streetscape which contribute to its heritage character by:

o protecting the Avenue of Honour in Harkaway Road and the hawthorn hedges on the north-
west side of the Harkaway and King Road intersection and requiring planning approval for the
removal, lopping or works within 5 metres of these plantings;

e maintaining the Avenue of Honour; and
o retaining the undeveloped roadside verges.
Retain significant buildings and their relationship to the street by:

o protecting significant buildings and requiring planning approval for demolition, removal and
alterations affecting their external appearance.

o preventing unsympathetic building development in front of or adjacent to significant
buildings; and

s preserving views to the buildings in any works, developments and plantings on the adjacent
roadside.

Significant places in Harkaway Township
The following places contribute to the significance of Harkaway Township precinct:

@ Avenue of Honour Harkaway Road Contributory
o Harkaway Hall 56-58 King Road High local

= Nichol House 63 King Road High local

o Harkaway Primary School 67 King Road High local

o House (fmr PO) 68-70 King Road High local

o Kilfera 72-92 King Road Regional

e King & Robinson Roads hawthorn hedges King Road Local

More information on places of regional and high local significance can be found in the section on
Buildings.
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Narre Warren North Township

Main Street Narre Warren North
History

Narre Warren North began as the small farming township of Narree Worran, established in the 1860s.
When the Government surveyed the Parish of Narree Worran, the township was laid out in one and a
half acre blocks with two properties divided into residential blocks. The present recreation ground and
the site of the hall was originally reserved for a cemetery.®> An 1867 map of Village Allotments in the
Parish of Narree Worran sketched a small township bounded on the south by the road from Dandenong
(Mormington Road), and on the north by the road 'to the Emerald Diggings' (a'Beckett Road). A site for
a Wesleyan Church was marked on this map.86

The small township served a local rural community of dairy farmers, market gardeners and orchardists.
Families who kept large herds included the Raes, Troups, Schneiders, Aslings and Keebles. Export
quality apples and pears were grown by the Baileys, by P. Aurisch and A. G. Robinson.8” The main
area for market gardens was Troup's Flat, truck loads of vegetables being taken to Melbourne. The
Brundrett's Rose Farm, a property worked since 1926, became known throughout the state.38

A c1895 photograph shows Narre Warren North as it was last century, a small rural township with a
Church of England, store, hall, school and blacksmith's shop.8? Two of these early buildings, the old
store and school remain. The store at 15 Main Street, a brick building with a hip roof, dates from about
1880. It was built as a post office and store for the post master George Rae, a district pioneer.9® In
1963 a later storckeeper H. Ellis, built a new self-service store on the east side of the old one, the
business being known for many years as Ellis and Bailey's.’! The old store is substantially intact
despite later additions but has lost its original verandah.

The oldest township building is the Narre Warren North Primary School No. 1901, a simple
weatherboard school house built by Henry Powis of Dandenong and opened in 1877.92 It once had an
attached residence.

Raduchel's blacksmith's shop shown in the 1890s photograph survives on a new site in Narre Warren
North. However, the home of another early blacksmith, MacDonald, a timber cottage, still stands on
the corner of Robinson's Road and Randle Court. Now known as Randle's Cottage after a later owner,
it is a reminder of the important role of the local blacksmith in a small country town. MacDonald's -
blacksmith's shop, once located nearby, has gone.3

Only the site and some trees remain of the St. John's Church of England, another weatherboard
building erected in 1876, enlarged and reopened in 1906 and burnt down about 1928.94 The triangular
piece of land bounded by Robinson Road and Main Street purchased from the Crown in 1868 is now
the Claire Robinson Reserve, presented to the community by the Robinson family. Claire was the
second wife of Cr. Arthur Robinson, son of George Washington Robinson. The Robinson family were
very involved with the Church of England and Claire served the local community for many years.
Afier her death the reserve land was purchased by her husband and named in her honour.93

85. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.1117.
86. Village Allotments. Parish of Narree Worran, M. Callanan, Surveyor, 12 July 1867.
87. Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.15.

88, Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.16.

89, Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.54.

90. Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.18.

91. Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.21.

92. Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.52-55.
93, Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.21.

94, Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.25.

95. Information supplied by Max Thomson.
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View along Memorial Drive looking south from Robinsons Road, Narre Warren North
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George Washington Robinson, a district pioneer, was a devout Anglican and for many years engineer,
secretary and treasurer to the Shire of Berwick. Robinson designed and built a number of notable brick
homes in the district including his own house, Hillsley, in 1890, in Robinson Road.®6

The old 1888 Mechanics' Institute and Free Library, an important township building, the scene of many
local dances, concerts and bazaars, was replaced in 1968-69 by the present brick hall 97

The Avenue of Honour, oak trees planted at the entrance to the town centre, has been an important
Narre Warren North feature for some decades. The avenue was planted to commemorate the district
soldiers who served, and those who died, during the 1914-18 War.%3

Other important township buildings include the 1933 weatherboard and fibro Uniting Church on the
corner of Main Street, replacing an earlier 1876 Methodist Chapel, 99 and a 1930s gable roofed cottage
with a rear skillion at 23-25 Main Street. 100 The Jatter building contributes to the rural atmosphere of
the Narre Warren North township.

Description

Narre Warren North township is nestled against a gentle hillslope, over looking plains to the south-east
and retaining a picturesque rural character. The main road from Narre Warren enters the township
from the south via Memorial Drive while other traffic bypasses the centre on an arc to the west,
continuing as Belgrave-Hallam Road.

The form of the town centre is created by the dominant diagonal alignment of Main Street, diverging
from Robinson Road at 45 degrees and joining a'Beckett Road in a similar manner.

The triangular block bounded by Main Street, a'Beckett Road and Tom Jones Court represents the
section of the town gazetted around 1867. This forms the core of the town with subdivision of land to
the west of Tom Jones Court and south of Robinson Road occurring much later. The triangular block
of Claire Robinson Reserve, adjacent to the Randle's Cottage property, and the Memorial Drive are all
features of the precinct. The open rural land to the south-east contributes to the setting of the town,
having historically created a boundary to the expansion of the residential area.

Memorial Drive creates a spectacular entry, enclosed on both sides by mature oaks, extending from the
memorial near the bend in Memorial Drive, across Robinson Road to Main Street, continuing along the
southern side of Main Street for about 30 metres. The east side of the avenue is in good condition, but
the opposite line of trees is in poor condition. 0!

Historically, the majority of early residential and community development occurred along Main Street.
A dominant feature is the former post office and store, situated at the north end of Memorial Drive, and
pictured in historical photographs dating from 1895. 102

The elevated site of the Uniting Church was originally reserved for the Wesleyan Chapel in 1865, while
the triangular block to the south, now Claire Robinson Reserve, was gazetted in 1868 as land for the
Anglican Church. Located on the main road axis and elevated above the town, these two churches
would have been important landmarks.

At the perpendicular corner of the plan, a square allotment, now a Recreation Reserve, once
accommodated the Mechanics' Institute (c1887), and is still marked by a stand of mature pine trees.
The Narre Warren North Primary School, which continues to be a community focus today, is located
adjacent to the reserve. Hawthorn hedge plantings extend along the north side of a'Beckett Road,
around the corner and north along Tom Jones Court and Belgrave-Hallam Road.

96, Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.11, 25, 118.

97. Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.26, 27.

98, Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.48.

99. Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.23, 24.

100, City of Berwick Valuer's records.

101. P. Lumley, Tree assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Conservation Study, p.].
102. Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.23.
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Extent of precinct
The extent of the Narre Warren North Township precinct is defined as:

o The area with the original township plan, bordered by a'Beckett Road to the north, Main Street
to the south-east and Tom Jones Court to the west.

o The streetscapes of a'Beckett Road and Main Street, mcludmg the hawthorn hedge plantings
bordering the properties north of a'Beckett Road.

o The hawthorn hedge plantings bordering the properties east of Tom Jones Court between
a'Beckett Road and the junction at Belgrave-Hallam Road.

o The Claire Robinson Reserve and the streetscapes of Main Street, Memorial Drive and
Robinson Road which bound it.

o The property known as Randle's Cottage at 1-3 Randle Court.

o The entire extent of the Memorial Drive, from Main Street to the memorial at the bend in the
Drive.

Heritage characteristics

The key characteristics of the Narre Warren North Township precinct which contribute to its heritage
significance are:

o The original triangular plan of the town, with an emphasis on the relationship between the two
early church reserves one on either side of Main Street.

e The avenue of oaks along Memorial Drive which provide a spectacular canopied entry into the
town's main street.

o The open rural landscape to the east of Memorial Drive, allowing views of the adjacent hill
slopes and historically serving to contain the residential development to the west and north of
the town.

o The views of significant buildings as observed from the roads which intersect around Claire
Robinson Reserve, these places being, Randle's Cottage, the former Post Office & Store and
the Uniting Church hall.

o The tree plantings on the Claire Robinson Reserve, which has historical significance as the
site of the 1876 St. John's Church.

o The hawthorn hedge roadside plantings along aBeckett Road and continuing along to
Belgrave-Hallam Road are a distinctive landscape feature, particularly in the Narre Warren
North and Harkaway areas.

Significance

The Narre Warren North township is of high local significance as the only example in the City of
Berwick of a planned township, apart from the Berwick township itself. The unusual triangular plan
retains its important built and landscape features, located in the context of the surrounding pastoral and
agricultural land uses.

The streetscape of Memorial Drive has aesthetic and landmark importance as the only formal public
plantings in the old township, creating a picturesque avenue approach to the original main street.

The townscape retains evidence of early land use patterns, including Claire Robinson Reserve (as the
site of the former Anglican Church), the adjacent site of the Wesleyan Chapel and later church
building, the building once occupied by the post office and general store, and the adjacent rural land.
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Heritage objectives

Conserving the heritage significance of the Narre Warren North Township precinct will require the
development of policies and guidelines that address the following objectives.

Retain the layout of the original township plan and the two church reserves by:

o

retaining a relatively open landscape north of a'Beckett Road and south-east of Memorial
Drive as a contrast to the residential subdivision within the triangular town plan itself;

retaining the predominantly residential use of the original township allotments; and

restricting commercial uses to Main Street in the vicinity of the existing shop, in keeping with
the traditional location for such developments within this township.

Maintain the visual qualities of the landscape by:

o

a

protecting the oak avenue and older plantings on Claire Robinson Reserve and requiring
planning approval for the removal, lopping or works within 3 metres of these trees;

maintaining the oak avenue and protecting it from damage associated with car parking;
retaining the hawthorn hedges along a'Beckett Road;

retaining the unconstructed roadside verges;

maintaining the open, rural character; and

retaining open views across rural land east and south-east of Memorial Drive.

Retain significant buildings and their relationship to the street by:

protecting significant buildings and requiring planning approval for demolition, removal and
alterations affecting their external appearance.

preventing unsympathetic building development in front of or adjacent to significant
buildings; and

preserving views to significant buildings in any works, developments and plantings on the
adjacent roadside.

Significant places in Narre Warren North Township

The following places contribute to the significance of Narre Warren North Township precinct:

o

a'Beckett Road a'Beckett Road &

hawthorn hedges Tom Jones Court Contributory
Narre Warren North

Reserve trees a'Beckett Road, Contributory
Narre Warren North

Primary School 15-31 a'Beckett Street  Local

Claire Robinson Reserve Main Street Contributory
Uniting Church 1-13 Main Street Local
Dwelling (fmr PO and store) 15 Main Street High local
Cottage 23-25 Main Street ~~ High local
Oak Avenue of Honour Memorial Drive High local
Randle's Cottage "~ 1-3 Randle Court High local

More information on places of regional and high local significance can be found in the section on
Buildings.
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Doveton Estate

Power Road Doveton
History

The Doveton area was once known as Grassmere and was originally part of the large Eumemmerring
pastoral run. Dr. Farquhar McCrae was the first to take up land there followed by J. V. F. L. Foster.
From 1842-46 Edward Wilson and James Stewart Johnston held the run. Then T. H. Power acquired
the lease and, when the land was opened up for selection, built up a substantial freehold.103

During the 1880s boom years some of the large estates in the area were subdivided and sold. Notorious
land boorners James Munro, James Mirams and Frederick Illingworth were involved in the sale of John
Tremearne's Grassmere Estate. Making much of its proximity to Dandenong, advertisements described
it as a 'Noble Estate situated in the most Beautiful Spot in Victoria. Picturesque Dandenong'.104

Some of the purchasers were speculators but a few lived on their holdings and turned to farming.
Among them was Captain Doveton, who settled in the area in the 1890s and whose name was later
adopted for the district. However, Doveton remained as farmland until the 1920s and later.105

Industrial development began in 1942 when William A. Smith Pty. Ltd., a Nottingham firm purchased
land on the Princes Highway close to Eumemmerring Creek. The first factory in the area, a lace
factory, was opened in 1950.106

In the same decade three international companies built huge factory complexes on the south side of the
Princes Highway close to Dandenong. In 1950 International Harvester bought land at the junction of
the South Gippsland and Princes Highways, opening a major truck plant in 1952. A second large
factory complex, that of H. J. Heinz and Co. was opened in 1955 on a 70 acre site next to International
Harvester. In 1956 another motoring company, General Motors Holden, opened a huge factory on 154
acres on the same side of the highway at an initial cost of £9 million.107

To provide local housing for the huge labour force needed for this new factory area, the Victorian
Housing Commission (created in 1937), began buying up large tracts of land in the Doveton area.. In
its 1953-54 annual report, the Commission explained that:

In view of the intense industrial development which is taking place at Dandenong, the Commission
has purchased land well ahead of its immediate requirements so that the number of houses being
built can be readily increased to assist in providing the labour required for these new industries.98

It was planned to build 2,500 houses on the Doveton Estate at a cost of £7 million. The majority of
those homes would be of concrete construction. 199

As early as 1939 the HCV had built 60 concrete houses at its first estate at Fishermen's Bend, using the
Fowler System of pre-fabricated concrete construction. This system was invented by T. W. Fowler of
Werribee, who devised a method of casting concrete walls on an elevated flat metal table, each wall
complete with the required window and door openings. After Fowler's death in 1942 the HCV took
over his plant and in 1947 a factory was established at Holmesglen. 19

103. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.88.

104, South Bourke and Mornington Journal, 18 Nov., 1888.

105, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.88.

106. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89. ,

107, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.89; GMH records.

108. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1953-54, p.30.

109. Niall Brennan, Chronicles of Dandenong, p.139; Jean Uhl, Call Back Yesterday, pp.87, 92..

110. George Tibbits, 'The enemy within our gates' in New Houses for Old, ed. Renate Howe,
pp.125-138.
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Concrete house, Doveton Estate
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During 1948-49 the Commission's Concrete House Project had completed 503 concrete houses and in
1951 the number had almost doubled to 962.111

These concrete houses were chosen for working-class housing because of their low production cost, far
below that of either brick or timber houses. In 1955-56 about 399 houses were buili in the Doveton
Estate, 374 of which were concrete.!12 The Doveton estate was classed as a 'country' rather than
metropolitan estate by the Commission at this time.113

The Doveton houses are typically three-bedroom houses with small front and rear porches, a lounge
room, small hallway, kitchen, laundry, bathroom and toilet. Although the work was supervised by the
Commission's Architects Panel of eminent architects with long experience in public housing, by the
1990s some concrete houses at Doveton were exhibiting significant structural problems. These were
among the earlier houses built between the mid-1950s and early 1960s on highly reactive soils.
Redevelopment of those houses remaining in public ownership is currently being considered.114

In the design of large estate, the Housing Commission recognised that it was necessary to provide for
community needs, and sites were designated for schools, churches, a police and fire station (etc) and
sold to the appropriate authorities.!!> These principles were applied to the design of the Doveton
Estate.

After the establishment of the Doveton Estate there followed a protracted struggle between the Councils
of Berwick, Cranbourne and Dandenong for ownership of the lucrative new industrial area with the
associated residential estate. It was argued by some that Doveton was much more like a suburb of
Dandenong, which was rapidly changing from 'a market town serving a mainly rural population to an
industrial colossus.!16 Although 'the creek enforces an element of separation...Doveton's vast sprawl of
new small tidy workers' homes ... belong to Dandenong's explosion of the fifties. 117

However, the area had been part of the Shire of Berwick since its inception in 1868. Eventually, after a
long legal battle, the Shire of Berwick retained Doveton. Subsequently, the area became part of the
Doveton Riding of the Shire of Berwick in 1964 and of the City of Berwick after its creation in
1973.118

The design of the Doveton estate was overseen by the Housing Commission's Architects Panel, a group
of eminent architects with a commitment to and long experience in the planning of company and public
housing.

The Architects Panel was established from amongst those who had submitted for a national design
competition for low cost housing at Fishermen's Bend. It consisted of representatives of four firms who
were contracted on a fee for service basis to provide a comprehensive service.

The Architects Panel comprised: Harold Barlett (Chair), A. C. Leith, Frank Heath, E.C. Laird, Best
Overend, John P.D. Scarborough, T.J. Buchan. In 1956, the Commission terminated the fee for service
arrangement with its Architects Panel and established its own Architects' Branch,!19

Post-war housing and materials shortages, combined with an interest in new materials, encouraged a
number of architects to propose the use of industrial building techniques for housing. The precast
concrete panels, based on Fowler's system was adopted, and the Commission began the Concrete House
Project, leaving a legacy of houses throughout Victoria that met many of the demands for quickly
constructed housing, but no longer meets today's standards.

111. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Reports, 1947-49, 1950-51.

112. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Reports, 1955-56; Annual Report, 1956-57 pp.14, 26
(illustration Concrete Houses, Doveton Estate).

113. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1955/56, p. 20.

114. South Doveton Redevelopment Strategy Plan, Operations Planning Branch, Nov. 1991,
pp.2-3.

115. Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1953/54, p. 11.

116. Niall Brennan, Chronicles of Dandenong, p.128.

117. Niall Brennan, Chronicles of Dandenong, p.128.

118, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp. 22-23, 90.

119. New Houses for Old, pp. 189,
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Autumn Place Shopping Centre, off Paperbark Street, Doveton Estate

Hawthorn Road streetscape, Doveton Estate

Heritage of the City of Berwick Towns & estates « 125




Ventilation, heat loss and condensation are serious problems, and in Doveton the construction of these
buildings on stumps in unstable soils led to extensive demolition and rebuilding. Ultimately it was the
continuation of this concrete construction technique and the domination of the Commission by a mass-
production philosophy that created the inner-city highrises, and ultimately led to a major reorientation
of the Housing Commission's work.120

Following the formation of the Doveton Housing Estate, other housing developments occurred within
the Shire of Berwick to cope with the residential needs of an expanding workforce. The Princes
Domain Estate at Hallam (1954), and the Fountain Gate Estate at Narre Warren (1960s), were both
associated with Magid's Overland Development Company.

Description

Doveton Estate was designed and developed in stages. Section A, extending from Eumemmerring
Creek northwards to Kidds Road and west to Power Road, was the first part designed and developed.
The Plan is dated 1954 and the hand-over dates start around 1956 in streets such as Cherry, Hawthorn,
Paperbark, Tristania, Tarata, The Birches and Wattle. It was also probably the only part involving the
Architects Panel, as the other plans appear to have originated from the office of the Chief Architect of
the Commission. The subsequent two stages date from the early 1960s. Section B, extending west from
Power Road towards Dandenong Creek and south of Kidds Road, was designed in 1960. Section C,
directly to the north of Sections A and B was designed in 1963.121

The overall estate design incorporated community and commercial sites. In the first stage (Section A),
the design included the Autumn Place shopping centre, and adjoining sites on Hawthorn Strect were set
aside for a police station and later (1959) a site was allocated to the RSSATLA (Returned Soldiers,
Sailors and Airmens Imperial League of Australia). The rent office was located on the south-east corner
of the Autumn Place Reserve (that is, the corner of Hawthorn and Paperbark Streets). In 1955 the site
for the Doveton Primary School and the adjoining site (now Doveton Swimming Centre) were added to
the subdivision plan, and in 1955 and 56 respectively church sites were reserved - one for the Church of
England in Power Road on the corner of Eugenia Street (converted to a Community Health Centre in
1976 and later extended to the designs of architects Stephenson Turner) and the other for the
Presbyterian Church in Ti Tree Drive (now a kindergarten).122 A library was built.

Building allotments within the Autumn Place shopping centre were subdivided from the eastern end
first, with fourteen allotments initially available. Some original shop fronts with their tiled finish and
metal-framed windows remain in the Autumn Place shopping centre. Later a service station was built
(now converted to a library by the City of Berwick), and a pre-school centre.!123

The stages in development of the Estate are also apparent in the overall design, although a consistent
theme of U-shaped streets and cul-de-sacs was adopted throughout. In Section A, the designers set the
pattern for the rest of the Estate, creating interesting residential groupings through the layout of the
estate rather than through the quality of the houses. The best groupings are those at the corners of the
U-shaped streets where street and garden plantings create a pleasant and intimate setting. Some of the
later sections of the estate present a more simplified plan on flatter land, with a predominance of longer
streets offering long views and emphasising the repetition of housing forms. Many of these strects have
no plantings, and the architecture of the buildings is the only feature, creating a much bleaker
landscape than in other parts of the estate. The consistency in the streetscape is increased by the
uniform low cyclone wire fences, concrete footpaths, and grassy verges, often with mature and effective
street tree plantings.

120. New Houses for Old, pp. 190-191; South Doveton Redevelopment Strategy Plan, Nov. 1991;
M. Lewis, 200 Years of concrete in Australia, pp. 104-107.

121, Overall layout plans of Doveton Estate, Section A (1954), Section B (1960), Section C (1963).

122, Doveton Neighbourhood No. 2, Section 'A’, Housing Commission of Victoria, The Architects
Panel, 4 August 1954; Article (no title) Dandenong Journal, 10 June 1976, Plans for Doveton
Hallam Community Health Centre, Stephenson Turner, 1985

123. Doveton Library opens in a new home' Pakenham Gazette 17 August 1980, 'Library will
replace garage' Times, 29 April 1980.
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In Section A, the houses were predominantly built using concrete prefabricated walls and concrete roof
tiles. Of the 399 dwellings built or under construction by 30 June 1956, 374 were concrete and the other
25 were timber.124 The dwellings consist of a mixture of detached houses and duplexes. The Housing
Commission determined the number of standard designs to be used on each estate and often added
other designs as they were developed. The houses had either two or three bedrooms.125 Early houses in
the estate are said to have assumed that the tenants would not have a refrigerator, washing machine or
1 car 126

The concrete houses adopted two basic designs, each with a number of variations. One design was
based around a broad-hipped roof form, some variations with a central entry and others with aside
entry. The other basic design used a gabled roof form, generally with the main gable aligned across the
site and a smaller gable projecting forward at right angles. Chimneys were often used as an important
feature, and were simple entry porches. The port-hole pattern used on many porch designs is a
characteristic of this period of concrete houses.

Later parts of the estate incorporated other designs, with modernism even more apparent in some of the
cement sheet houses with low-pitched roofs, and large glazed windows. In the mid 1960s a large
complex of flats, Peace Court, was built. The mid 1980s areas such as Louis and Rebecca Streets are
mostly brick veneer houses. '

While some may consider the repetition of a limited number of housing designs as creating a poor
residential environment, it can create a consistency of scale and a quietness of architectural character,
qualities sought after in the garden city designs and also in Robin Boyd's work. The resources available
to the public housing architects were, however, so much less and the demands for speed of housing
production and low cost much greater. In the Doveton Estate, these qualities are apparent only in parts
of the Estate.

The Doveton Estate is predominantly detached housing, with some duplexes and a major block of flats
.at Peace Court (c 1965). The housing designs vary, but generally adopt the conventional hipped-roof
form seen in other Commission estates of concrete housing. Earlier examples include the first use of
precast concrete in their Fishermen's Bend Estate. where 60 houses were built starting in 1939, and a
second series of metropolitan estates at Brunswick, Richmond, Preston and Northcote dating from
1940. While predominantly conventional bungalows, the Estate also contains some examples of 1960s
contémporary architectural forms, similar to those espoused by Boyd and incorporated within the
Fountain Gate Estate, but necessarily mass-produced for Doveton. A neighbourhood centre is created by
the shops and community uses just off Paperbark Street, and many of the shops retain their original
character.

Extent of area

Historically, the whole of the Doveton Estate is of importance. The precinct is defined as the earliest
part (Section A) which provides the best evidence of all aspects of the significance of the Estate.

Section A is bounded on the north by Kidds Road, on the west by Power Road, on the east by
Eumemmerring Creek and a north-south line one block east of Laburnum Grove, and on the south by
Eumemmerring Creek.

Heritage characteristics

The key characteristics of the Doveton Estate precinct which contribute to its heritage significance are:

o Historical importance of the development of Doveton in relation to the industrial development
of Dandenong and particularly of the GMH, Heinz and International Harvester factories.

124, Victorian Housing Commission, Annual Report, 1955/56, p. 20.

125. - Preliminary . Subdivision Plan, Doveton Neighbourhood No. 2, Section 'A', Housing
Commission of Victoria The Architects Panel, 4 August 1954,

126. Information provided by Elspeth Longney.
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o The overall subdivision form which creates attractive residential environments in some parts
of the Estate, and the general intactness of much of the Estate.

o As a late example of the work of the Architects Panel, and a continuing expression of their
commitment to good estate design combined with the necessity of the rapid production of
housing stock.

o For its extensive use of prefabricated concrete housing which creates cohesive and attractive
streetscapes in Section A of the Estate.

o As the only major example of large scale public housing development within the municipality,
representing an important aspect of the post-war development of the then Shire of Berwick.

Significance

Doveton Estate (Section A) is of high local significance within the City of Berwick as the earliest part
of the only example of a large public housing estate in the municipality. Historically, its development is
associated with the post-war industrial development of GMH, Heinz and International Harvester and it
represents an important phase in the development of the Shire into the present City of Berwick. The
design of the Doveton Estate is one of many examples of the work of the Housing Commission and the
Architects Panel, and on a state-wide scale is representative rather than an innovative, early or
outstanding example.

Heritage objectives

Conserving the heritage significance of Doveton Estate precinct will require the development of
guidelines and programs that address the following objectives:

Retain examples of the variety of original housing styles and development forms that
characterise the Doveton Estate by:

o locating suitable individual examples and/or small clusters that remain within public
ownership for conservation of their external form and appearance as a demonstration of the
design and residential quality sought to be achieved by the Housing Commission;

v selecting a single example that remains highly intact internally and externally, and presenting
it to the public; this may involve its use as a community building;

o encouraging private owners to enhance their houses and gardens in sympathy with the
intended design character of the Estate; assist owners by providing design guidelines and
practical information to improve the liveability of the concrete houses.

Enhance the streetscape qualities of the Doveton Estate by:

o developing a street tree planting program that reinforces the intended design character and
respects well-established street plantings, filling gaps with the same species.
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Narre Warren Town Centre & Railway Station

Webb Street Narre Warren

Introduction

The Narre Warren township has been changed dramatically in recent years by the widening of Princes
Highway and the recent shopping developments on the site of the late nineteenth century town centre.

The town developed in an unplanned manner, as a cluster of buildings, directly associated with the
transport of produce from the surrounding area by railway. Gradually these early buildings have been
replaced with consolidated commercial development, having the effect of drawing the focus away from
the traditional corner buildings. However, a few features of the old townscape remain as evidence of
the early history of the area.

The opening of the Narre Warren Railway Station in c1882!27 resulted in the formation of a small new
township centre along Webb Street and at the intersection of Webb Street and the Princes Highway.
The new township took over the name Narre Warren, the earlier township to the north becoming Narre
Warren North.128 From the 1880s Narre Warren township became an important service centre for the
affluent orchard and dairying families who settled in the district.

Prior to that date the intersection of the Highway and Webb Street was important as the site of the
Mornington Hotel, run from about 1855 by James Gardiner. It was still there in late 1870s when
Sidney John Webb came to Narre Warren but has since gone. Webb played a major role in the creation
of Webb Street and the development of Narre Warren and its early township centre, 129

Extent of precinct

The history of development of Narre Warren has resulted in the establishment of two areas which today
have distinctive heritage characteristics. These two areas, the Narre Warren Railway . Station and the
Narre Warren Town Centre, are separated by a dense commercial shopping strip.

Narre Warren Town Centre

History

The early post-1880 township on the corner of the Highway and Webb Street served an affluent orchard
and dairying district. The 1924 Narre Warren Cool Stores near the station have gone!3? but some of
the earlier commercial buildings at the intersection, or parts of them, have survived. In its hey day, this
historic corner boasted a baker and butcher's shop, a blacksmith's shop, a small 1880s primary school
and an 1890s Mechanics' Institute. What remains is a reminder of Narre Warren's rural past when
local families like the Webbs, Baileys, Kents, Sweeneys and Nobelius came to the corner to do their
shopping. 13!

The former bakery exists today as part of This and That Cottage and is a single storey brick building.
The associated residence shown in early photographs has gone.!32 Bread was baked here by Woodley
whose son, Albert, became a well-known music hall comedian. Later bakers were G. R. Bailey,
member of an important local farming family, and H. Murdoch. It is said that Murdoch not only
delivered bread by horse and cart throughout the district but as far as Lysterfield, Ferntree Gully and
Belgrave Heights, 133

127. Information supplied by Dr. D. Stephan.

128. Early Days of Berwick, p.92; In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.123.
129. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.121; Early Days of Berwick, p.92.
130.  Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station'.

131. Berwick City News, 21 November, 1991.

132. Berwick City News, 21 November, 1991.

133, Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station'.
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The old butchers shop, once a landmark on the corner of Webb Street and the Princes Highway, has
now gone. Miss Lucy Bailey (grand-daughter of S. J. Webb), who still lives in Narre Warren on her
Araluen property, remembers the bakery and butcher's shop. An early photo shows five prominent
local residents, Ralph Moran, Harold Keys, John Lloyd, Jack Nobelius and Pat Sweeney, in front of the
old butcher's shop.134

Another survivor is the former blacksmith's shop on the Highway. Now known as Mower World, it is a
corrugated iron-clad shop. Its exact date of construction is unknown but it was there in the 1920s and
provided an important service to the small agricultural community.135

A 1960s former hay and corn store, a timber-framed building next to the bakery in Webb Street and
now known as Narre Warren Produce, is a landmark at this intersection and still demonstrates the ways
in which the old town centre served the local agricultural community.

Opposite the bakery stand two public buildings which made major contributions to community life.
The oldest, the Mechanics' Institute, a weatherboard gable roofed hall, was originally known as the
Narre Warren (Railway) Mechanics' Institute and Library. It was built in 1890-91 with additions in
1898-99 and 1903 and stands on land donated by Webb. Over the years it has been an important
community meeting-place and is currently used by the Narre Warren Adult Literacy Group. 136

The adjacent Primary School also stands on land donated by Webb. An earlier school, opened on the
site in 1889, was known as the Narre Warren Railway Station Primary School No0.2924. It was a
wooden building 24 feet by 18 feet with attached quarters of three rooms. In 1929 it was replaced by a
new school building, the earlier structure being moved to Beaconsfield in 1933. The new school kept
the old name until it was replaced by a later school in Cranbourne Road in 1974. The 19205 building is
now used for student services. 137

As well as the group of remaining commercial and public buildings, the importance of this historic
corner is enhanced by the row of oaks, planted as an avenue in 1890 by Sir Sidney John Webb, which
indicate the approach to the former Narre Warren town centre. The trees were seedlings from the
Nobelius Nursery at Emerald, well-known throughout the district.!3% The southern row of the oak
avenue was lost in 1970 when the highway was duplicated,!3° but the trees that remain are a powerful
reminder of an important early township centre and the part played in its development by the
prominent local resident S. J. Webb.

Description

The town centre today is a busy retail centre with mostly new development on the south side of the
highway. However, evidence of the historic precinct is found in the remaining oak avenue plantings
~ and a small number of older buildings to the north of the intersection.

The row of oaks forms an impressive landmark along the entrance route to Narre Warren. Beginning
at Magid Drive, some 800 metres west of Webb Street, these mature trees create a distinct sense of
entry. The intersection is the focus addressed by the former blacksmith's shop (Mower World), and the
Narre Warren Produce Store. The other buildings at the intersection do not contribute to the heritage
character of the precinct.

134, Berwick City News, 21 November, 1991,
135. Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station", Berwick Ctty News, 21 November, 1991,
(illustration shows the Narre Warren mtersectnon in 1910 with a view of Rolstone's

blacksmith's shop).

136. Narre Warren (Railway) Mechanics' Institute Minute books; Early Days of Berwick, p.92.

137. Vision and Realisation, p.1252; Rebecca Carland 'The Terrible Twenties. Narre Warren in the
1920s',

138. Early Days of Berwick, pp.91-92.
139. Information supplied by Max Thomson.
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View of oak plantings from Brechin Drive looking east along Princes Highway, Narre Warren
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Immediately adjacent to Narre Warren Produce Store, the former bakery building faces Webb Street,
contributing to the corner landmark buildings. On the opposite side of Webb Street, a little further
north, are the early town's institutional buildings. The former Mechanics' Institute is a landmark in the
street, with significant oak plantings to the rear of the property. The Primary School next door no
longer contains its original building, however, the successive building, built in the 1920s, remains
reasonably intact.

Extent of area
The extent of the Narre Warren Town Centre Area is defined on the map below.

Heritage characteristics

The key characteristics of the Narre Warren Town Centre Area, which contribute to the heritage
significance of the whole precinct are:

o The oak plantings along the northern side of Princes Highway contribute to the sense of entry
into the historic part of the old town's commercial core, which ence contained buildings
associated with storage, wholesale and retail of fruit and dairy produce from the area.

o The dominant form of the three corner buildings at the north-east side of the Webb Street-
Princes Highway intersection have landmark significance and identify the old part of the town.
Although these buildings date from this century, they are built on the site of earlier
commercial premises and address the street in a traditional manner.

o On the western side of Webb Street, north of the intersection, two important buildings remain
intact and maintain continued use as community buildings, namely the former Mechanics'
Institute and the 1920s Narre Warren Primary School building.

Narre Warren Railway Station

History

In 1874 a Railway Construction Bill was passed to allow the building of a railway into Gippsland.
Sidney J. Webb, who came to live in Narre Warren during that decade, played a major role in the local
agitation for the construction of the Narre Warren Railway Station on its present site. He was also
instrumental in the purchase of the land needed to create Webb Street which linked the station to the

. Highway.140 Township buildings were subsequently built along Webb Street near the station and an
early commercial centre (part of which remains) was established at the intersection of Webb Street and
the Highway.141

The Narre Warren Railway Station was mainly used at first to transport milk and fruit from the dairy
farms. and orchards of the Narre Warren district. In those early years Narre Warren was one of the
main suppliers of fruit and milk to Melbourne. It also supplied flour to families within the Berwick
district.142

The area along Webb Street near the railway station was once an important precinct with cool stores
and sheds, a general store and post office.

However, all these buildings have gone, including the large 1924 Narre Warren Cool Store and
associated sheds. 143

140. Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station'; Early Days of Berwick, p.92.

141. Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station', (ref map of Narre Warren during the 1920s).
142. Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station'.

143."  Anne Lyon, 'The Narre Warren Railway Station'.
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North-cast corner of Webb Street & Princes Hwy intersection, Narre Warren Town Centre Area
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View of signal box and former railway house, Narre Warren Station Area
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Description

All that remains today in this historically important precinct is the railway station, a timber structure
with corrugated iron roof, its signal box and a gable-roofed store. Nearby at 1 and 3 Shrives Road, two
modest timber houses remain. These houses are examples of the simple weatherboard homes once
typical of the area around the railway, and may have been built as railway houses.

The Webb Street landscape near the station is open in character. Views north towards the intersection,
are cluttered with the advertising of the adjacent shopping centre. There are only sparse tree plantings
in the vicinity, making no contribution to the heritage character of the area.

Extent of area :
The extent of the Narre Warren Railway Station Area is defined on the map below.

Heritage characteristics

The key characteristics of the Narre Warren Railway Station Area which contribute to the heritage
significance of the whole precinct are:

o The view of the Railway Station buildings from Webb Street.

o The visual relationship which links the station and house at 1 and 3 Webb Street, all built at
approximately the same time, and now being the oldest buildings in this Area.

Significance

Narre Warren precinct, containing the Town Centre and Railway Station Areas, is of high local
significance for the evidence it provides of a pattern of development which occurred with the advent of
the railway in the region.

It provides historical evidence of the unplanned development of commercial land uses at the
intersection of the road to the original township of Narre Warren and the main route from Melbourne
(Princes Highway). The importance of the railway station to the emerging township is demonstrated by
the proximity of the small number of historically significant buildings to the station,

Heritage objectives

.Conserving the heritage significance of the Narre Warren precinct will require the development of
policies and guidelines that address the following objectives for both areas within the precinct.

Narre Warren Town Centre
Retain the row of oaks, other oaks and mature trees within the precinct by:

o requiring planning approval for the removal, lopping or works within 3 metres of these trees;
and

@ maintaining the trees in good cordition.

Retain the landmark buildings at the north-east corner of the Webb Street/Princes Highway
intersection by:

o protecting the former bakery and former blacksmith's shop (Mower World) and requiring
planning approval for demolition, removal and alterations affecting their external appearance;

o ensuring that in the future redevelopment of the comner site, building forms characteristic of
this corner are adopted; '

@ continuing the historical use of the corner buildings for commercial retail purposes; and

o preserving views to the buildings from the road.
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Retain the significant community buildings on Webb Street by:

e protecting the Mechanics' Institute and former primary school and requiring planning
approval for demolition, removal and alterations affecting their ¢xternal appearance;

© preventing unsympathetic building development in front of or adjacent to significant
buildings; and

o preserving views to those buildings in any Council works on the adjacent roadside or public
land.

Narre Warren Railway Station
Retain the streetscape character by:

o protecting the raitway station and house at 1 Webb Street and requiring planning approval for
demolition, removal and alterations affecting their external appearance; and

®  preserving open views of the railway station buildings from Webb Street in any works,
developments and plantings on the roadside.
Significant places in Narre Warren Town Centre & Railway
Station

The following places contribute to the significance of the Narre Warren Town Centre & Railway
Station precincts:

o Qak Trees (Row) - Princes Highway Regionat

o Mower World 422 Princes Highway Local

& Railway Station Shrives Road Local

o House 1 Shrives Road Local

o House 3 Shrives Road Contributory
o Fmr Bakery " 44 Webb Street Local

©  Narre Warren Produce Store Webb Street Contributory
o Fmr Primary School 53 Webb Street High local

o Mechanics' Institute 59 Webb Street High local

More information on places of regional and high local significance can be found in the scction on
Buildings.
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Towns & estates: other significant examplés

The study has identified the major towns and estates which have heritage qualities. In future some other
places may become of interest. These include;

s Princes Domain Estate
Princes Domain Road, Narre Warren

The first estate developed by Isador Magid within the municipality. Unlike Fountain Gate,
Princes Domain was based on traditional subdivision design, Of possible historical interest.

o Endeavour Hills Estate
50 Monkhouse Drive, Endeavour Hills

A major subdivision by Lewis Land Corp, Finance Comp of Australia Ltd and Cambridge
Credit, designed in the 1960s and developed since the 19705, At the time it was the largest
residential subdivision underway in Melbourne. ¥4 The land sales office (now a doctor's
surgery) remains, next to the symbol of the estate - a statue of Captain James Cook designed by
Marc Clark (Victorian College of the Arts) - at 50 Monkhouse Drive.14* Stage 1 of the estate
was at the north-western end.!46  The building identified as the former land sales office and
statue are within Stage 2 of the Estate, the boundary between Stages 1 and 2 being the north-
south linear park between Heatherton Road and Charles Green Reserve.

The design of the estate, based on cul-de-sacs, with interconneciing walkways between the
"heads' of courts reflects the Radburn estate planning principles seen in a fally developed form
in the earlier Fountain Gate estate.

The estate is worthy of further research and metropolitan-wide assessment of similar estates to
determine its relative significance,

144, Journal 15.8.1972; Endeavour Hills: a completely new prestige community, undated
promotional broadsheet.

145, Information from Dr, R, Johnston via Elspeth Longtey.

146, Endeavour Hills: a completely new prestige community, undated promotional broadsheet,
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Trees & gardens

Introduction

The City of Berwick has a rich heritage of trees, hedgerows, windbreaks and gardens both in the towns
and the rural areas. Major avenues and tree plantings mark the entriées to Berwick, Narre Warren and
Narre Warren North. On the western side of Berwick the entry is marked by pines and cypresses
cascading down the northern hill slopes. Within Berwick township, mature tree plantings on the wide
road reserves reflect an unresearched but valuable nineteenth century endeavour to create a special
township character.

In the rural areas, remnants of hawthorn hedges mark property boundaries. Many hedges remain along
roadways, creating a seasonal pattern of blossoms, greenery, berries and autumn colour. On the other
hand, the hawthorn berries spread by birds can lead to weed invasions in bushland.

Farm windbreaks appear to have been predominantly cypress or pine, much the same as was used
elsewhere in Victoria. A few remain in the urban areas, protected as part of the subdivision plan. Some
of these trees mark farmn homesteads, others the site of outbuildings. In those areas still rural, many
windbreaks remain, and a continuing tradition of replacement with conifers will maintain this special
rural character.

Gardens contribute to the significance of many historic properties. Some are old, others more recent.
But all reflect skilled design and reflect the current care lavished on them by owners.

Some individual trees are remarkable for their form, size, historical associations or landmark qualities.
A number have been identified in this study.

Memorial avenues

Memorial avenues commemorate those who served during the First and Second World Wars in several
townships with the municipality. These avenues are important historical memorials as well also
creating fine town entrances. Of the examples that remain, two have been singled out as of particular
importance in this study - the Honour Avenue of poplars in High Street, Berwick and the Honour
Avenue of oaks in Narre Warren North. Two other Honour Avenues are within precincts recognised in
this study - the Honour Avenue of oaks and eucalyts on-Harkaway Road, north of King Road
(Harkaway Township precinct), and the Honour Avenue of oaks on Church Street, Berwick which
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commemorétes students of the Berwick Boys Grammar who died during the First World War (Berwick
Township precinct).!

Major plantings

Of the many major plantings throughout the municipality, some examples stand out. One is the row of
oaks on the Princes Highway at Narre Warren, half of an avenue planted in 1890 by Sidney John Webb,
an important local identity.2

Informal plantings are also important within the municipality. For example the pines and cypresses that
mark Wilson Hill at the western entry to Berwick are an important landscape element. Throughout
Berwick township, many of the streets are graced with similarly informal yet dramatic planting
patterns. These plantings form an important element within the Berwick Township precinct.

Historical plantings marking former farm sites

Throughout the rural landscape are many trees that indicate former farm sites. These include old fruit
tree plantings, remnants of hawthorn hedging and windbreaks. The story behind many such features
remains as yet undiscovered. However, several sites associated with the German Lutheran settlers have
been positively identified, and the sites and the plantings that remain are described in the section on
Historical landscapes. Other examples include the Mansfield house plantings, a row of conifers on
south side Princes Highway, western entry to Berwick; the tree plantings which mark the former extent
of the driveway into Roads End, but are now part of Beaumont Road; tree plantings at the eastern end
of King Road (including a large oak) appear to mark a former road alignment.

Hawthorn hedges

Hawthorn hedges were a feature of the area, especially around Harkaway and Narre Warren North.
Outstanding sections of hawthorn hedge remain along parts of the following roads: Pound Road, Narre
Warren-Cranbourne Road, Narre Warren North Road, a'Beckett Road, Hessell Road, Harkaway Road,
Old Coach Road, King Road, Robinson Road. A list of the major roadside plantings of hawthorn
hedges that remain can be founded under Trees & gardens: other significant examples at the end of the
present section.

There are also examples known to remain within private property, and many more probably remain
unrecorded. For example, Willurah Park, on Harkaway Road north of Rowallan Road, has retained
hedges along the road boundary and dividing paddocks; some are cut as formal hedges. These are an
important element of this significant place.

Gardens

Gardens are recognised as an important part of the significance of the following individual properties.
For information on these places see the section indicated:

Buildings section

o St Margaret's School, Gloucester Avenue, Berwick: elements of the gardens associated with
the earlier houses remain, especially that of Gloucester House and Kippenross.

©  House, 9 Langmore Lane, Berwick: highly regarded example of cottage gardening.
o Doctor's surgery and residence, 26-30 Langmore Lane, Berwick: garden design and planting.

1. Early Days of Berwick, pp.45, 46.
2. Early Days of Berwick, p. 91.
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Kingussie, 42 Langmore Lane, Berwick: established exotic garden with important relationship
to similar plantings in neighbouring front gardens.

Sunways, Lyall Road, Berwick: gardens established in late 1940s and provides excellent
example of period.

Clover Cottage, 54 Manuka Road, Berwick: camellia garden established by Tuckfields,
contains fine specimen trees dating from earlier owners. Garden redesigned by John Stephens
in early 1960s. Current owner has added a number of elements including fine Victorian
fountains.

Dhuringa, 59 Peel Strect Berwick: lush garden setting.
Kilkirean, 692 Princes Highway, Berwick: retains sweeping drive and substantial trees.

Kensworth Cottage, 10 Scotsgate Way, Berwick: garden setting with substantial trees,
hawthorn hedge.

Farms & rural properties section

Essex Park, 13 Aquila Crescent, Endeavour Hills: some garden structures and overall design
remains.

Burnbank, 64-72 Beaumont Road, Berwick: a large hedge encloses garden retaining Victorian
clements.

Roads End, Beaumont Road, Berwick: exceptional garden.

Brentwood, 121 Clyde Road, Berwick: major tree plantings.

House, 37 Doveton Road, Doveton: trees and garden elements.

Willurah Park, 306 Harkaway Road, Harkaway: hedgings, entry drives, trecs.

Piney Ridge, 82 Heatherton Road, Endeavour Hills: formal garden dating from 1940s.
Edrington, 132 High Street, Berwick: garden contemporary with house.

Wickham, 37-39 King Road, Harkaway: trées and garden form.

Araluen, 301 Narre Warren North Road, Narre Warren North: garden extended in 1924/26,
and many plantings remain, although the garden has been simplified.

House, 357 Narre Warren North Road, Narre Warren North: remnants of typical 1920s/30s
garden.

Glen Cairn, 21-27 Robinson Road, Narre Warren North: remnants of garden design.
Hillsley, 84 Robinson Road, Narre Warren North: fine Victorian garden elements remain.
Rowallan, Rowallan Road, Harkaway: lush cottage garden.
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Poplar Avenue of Honour
High Street, Berwick

History & description

At the end of the First World War an avenue of 123 trees was planted to honour residents of Berwick
and Beaconsfield who had served in that war.3

This avenue is on the Register of Significant Trees of Victoria as an important memorial avenue. The
trees originally planted were Hybrid Black Poplar (Populus x canadensis "Robusta’), a large group of
hybrids between the American Populus deltoides (Cottonwood or Necklace Poplar) and forms of the
European Populus Nigra. They are collectively known as Hybrid Black Poplar. Recent replacements
have been Populus deltoides hybrids of unknown provenance in order to achieve better rust resistance.
(One parent of P. x canadensis is P. deltoides.)

3. National Trust of Australia (Vic), File, Significant Trees, Berwick.
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Today the avenue creates a spectacular entry to Berwick from the vicinity of Cardinia Creek, rising
over the hill near Edrington and descending towards Berwick High Street. Wide grassy verges
accompany the linear plantings, with the residential development to the north, visually separated from
the main streetscape by a landscaped service road. There has been disturbance on the south side of
High Street by recent roadworks.

Significance

The Poplar Avenue of Honour in High Street Berwick has high local significance as a First World War
memorial, and is listed on the Victorian Register of Significant Trees. It has regional significance on
aesthetic grounds as a fine poplar avenue.

Conservation guidelines

Much disturbance to the Avenue, particularly on the south side, has come from road works. There are
many young replacements but the trees are fast-growing and a uniform avenue should result. It is
recommended that the poplar avenue be maintained and any removal or replacement of trees should be
carried out only after detailed analysis by a tree surgeon and after community consuitation.
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Narre Warren North Honour Avenue

Memorial Drive Narre Warren North

History & description

This avenue of oaks along Memorial Drive and a single row along Main Street, with a stone memorial
nearby, commemorate the district men who served in the 1914-18 War and the three who 'paid the
supreme sacrifice’. The names inscribed on the monument are Herbert Battersby, M. Collis and R.
Moors.* The first was a member of a well-known local family. The Battersbys were early settlers at
Narre Warren North. George Battersby settled at the north end of Hallam Road in 1862. His son,
John, who lived on part of the holding, had ten children, two of whom continued to live in the area.’

The plaques associated with the tree plantings have long since gone.® The Honour Avenué at Narre
Warren North is one of a number of similar memorial avenues within the district and, indeed,
throughout Victorian country towns.

The Avenue begins at the bend in Memorial Drive and extends northward. It crosses Robinson Road
and meets the diagonal Main Street, continuing on the south side of this road for about 30 metres. The
effect of a canopied entrance to Narre Warren North township is of aesthetic and landmark importance,
defining the road which is otherwise ill-defined by property boundaries or verges.

An Honour Board in the local hall also commemorates the war service of district men and women
during the Boer War, 1914-18 War, the Second World War and the Vietnam War.”

Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.48.

Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.7.
Information supplied by Max Thomson.
Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.48.

SO
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Significance

The Honour Avenue and associated monument have high local significance as a memorial to the men
from the Narre Warren area who served as soldiers, and the three who gave their lives during the 1914-
18 War. It is typical of the many memorial avenues and monuments erected in Berwick and throughout
Victoria after the First World War. The Avenue has landscape and aesthetic significance, creating a
spectacular canopied entrance to the centre of the Narre Warren North township.

Conservation guidelines

The east side of this Avenue is in fair condition. Much of the west side is in poor condition. Removing
but not replacing moribund trees in this avenue is recommended, but only after community consultation
and detailed analysis by a tree surgeon. It will be difficult to establish new trees and the character of
the avenue will be spoilt. The trees will outlive the comrades of those who died, but the trees also have
a limited life. Inevitably they will die and leave gaps. A decision will then have to made as to the
viability of planting new young trees in the gaps. While the best option in terms of retaining an avenue,
such trees may be out-competed by their older neighbours and fail to thrive. This will need detailed
assessment when the time comes. The remaining trees should continue to be maintained. Thought
should be given to some continuing memorial, in addition to the memorial at the southern end, which
will outlive the 150 years of an oak.
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Black Bean tree

Paternoster Lane Berwick

Description

The Black Bean tree (Castonaspermum australe) is a species of subtropical Australian plant, and is not
commonly cultivated in Victoria. This specimen is relative large for Victoria, It is classified by the
National Trust as of state significance,

The Paternoster Lane site is a garden now used as a car park. The condition is reasonably good but the
use of the area as a car park may be inappropriate for the long-term protection of the tree.

Significance

Of state significance as a large example of a tree not commonly cultivated in Victoria.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority:

@ Require planning approval for the removal, lopping or works within 5 metres of this tree;

o  Ensure the tree is protected in any adjoining developments or works, including any works or
uses associated with the surrounding car park use; and

o Ensure an appropriate management and maintenance program is undertaken.
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Oak Trees

Princes Highway Narre Warren

History & description

This row of hybrid oaks (closer to Quercus robur. Common or English Oak than Quercus canariensis,
Algerian Oak) has been a local landmark since 1890 when they were planted by the prominent Narre
Warren resident, Sidney J. Webb. The trees were young seedlings from the famous Nobelius Nursery at
Emerald.®

Webb, who arrived in colonial Victoria in 1854, was employed on The Age, Leader and Australian
News. After 18 years service. he took over the Hotham and West Melbourne Newsagency. Webb was
founder of the Victorian Authorised Newsagent's Association and its first treasurer. On his retirement
from business he purchased Holly Green at Narre Warren in 1880, later known as Brechin, and now
demolished. Webb's farming activities included the introduction of the double-furrowed plough into
the district and the first reaper and binder. He was active in district concerns, playing a major role in
obtaining the Narre Warren railway station and donating land for the local school and Mechanics'
Institute ®

Three of his sons. Henry. Robert and Percy became famous. Robert's apple orchard at Narre Warren
was considered 'the best in the State'.!° Sidney Jnr., became President of the Authorised Newsagent's
Association founded by his father. Two of his daughters married members of the well-known local
Bailey and Kent families.!!

In February 1955 a tablet was unveiled to S. J. Webb's memory at the intersection of Narre Warren
North Road and Princes Highway. It read:

8. Early Days of Berwick, p.91.

. Early Days of Berwick, p.92,
10. Early Days of Berwick, p.92.
11, Early Days of Berwick, p.92.
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Honouring
Sidney John Webb
who planted this row of
Qak Trees in the year 1890.12

The memorial was designed by a Mr Smith, who also designed the well-known memorial 'The Man
with the Donkey' near Melbourne's Shrine of Remembrance. 3

The southern row of the oak avenue was lost when the highway was duplicated.!4

The row of oaks, listed on the National Trust Register of Significant Trees, extends along the north side
of the Princes Highway from Magid Drive to the east of Webb Street. Despite the removal of the
parallel row on the south side of the highway, the oaks today are an impressive feature of the landscape.
Individual trees appear to be in uniformly good condition, with wide, evenly distributed canopies. The
simple granite plinth memorial (quoted above) is located at the north-west corner of the Webb Street
and Princes Highway junction.

Significance

This 1890 row of oaks is of regional significance as a district landmark for over a century, contributing
to the character of this corner, and for its historical associations with the man who planted the trees,
Sidney J. Webb, well-known Narre Warren farmer, prominent resident and community benefactor.

Conservation guidelines

Individual trees in this row of oaks are in good condition and are protected from traffic damage.
Removing but not replacing moribund trees in this avenue is recommended, but only after community
consultation and detailed analysis by a tree surgeon. It will be difficult to establish new trees and the
character of the avenue will be spoilt. The trees have a limited life. Inevitably they will die and leave
gaps. A decision will then have to made as to the viability of planting new young trees in the gaps.
While the best option may appear to be replace losses with new oaks, these young trees may be out-
competed by their older neighbours and fail to thrive. This will need detailed assessment when the time
comes. The remaining trees should continue to be maintained. '

12, Early Days of Berwick, p.91.
13. Early Days of Berwick, p.92.
14, Berwick City News, 21 Nov., 1991,
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Rusty Gum Myrtles

Reserve Street Berwick

Reserve Street contains several good specimens of Angophora costata (Rusty Gum Myrtle), one of
which - near Gloucester Avenue - has been classified by the National Trust as being of state
significance. A similar specimen near Clyde Road is also of good form and size, and both contribute to
the landscape of this locality. Both trees are in good condition.

Significance

The specimen near Gloucester Road is of state significance for aesthetic and scientific reasons, that is
for its large size and good form, and as a good example of the species. The other example in Reserve
Street is of regional significance for its size, form and contribution to the landscape.

Conservation guidelines

In order to comserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority

o Require planning approval for the removal, lopping or works within 3 metres of these trees;

o Ensure the trees arc protected in any adjoining developments or works, including road works;
and

o Maintain the trees in good condition.
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Trees & gardens: other significant examples

Many other trees, plantings and garden elements remain within the City of Berwick. In addition to
those of national, state, regional and high local significance which have been researched and
documented in this study, the following places also comprise an important part of the City's heritage.

Based on field inspection and available information, these places are ranked as of probable Jocal
significance, that is an important part of the heritage of a locality within the City, of historical interest
(although not intact), or as requiring further research to fully determine their importance.

Memorial Avenues

Memorial Avenue of Honour
Church Street, Berwick

An avenue planted to commemorate students of Berwick Boys Grammar who died during the
First World War.1> The school operated in the building opposite, now known as Mary
Blackwood House (see Buildings section) between 1882 and 1918. Of local significance.

Avenue of Honour
Harkaway Road, Harkaway

An avenue of eucalypts and oaks was planted along Harkaway Road to the north of King Road
to commemorate the Harkaway men and women who served in the 1914-1918 War. A
memorial stone was unveiled on Anzac Day in 1959. Jessie Traill, local identity, renowned
artist and Army nurse, organised the monument. Of contributory significance within
Harkaway Township precinct. 16

Parks & gardens

Brechin site (former Holly Green)
Princes Highway, Narre Warren

This site is associated with Sydney J. Webb, an important early Narre Warren identity. Webb
became the owner in 1880 of the historic Holly Green property, later known as Brechin. After
arriving in Victoria in 1854, Webb worked on the Age and Leader newspapers for some years
and later founded the Victorian Authorised Newsagents Association. When he retired, Webb
purchased Holly Green at Narre Warren from a Mr Walton. Webb became a successful local
farmer, introducing new district farming methods such as the use of the double furrowed
plough and the reaper and binder. Prominent in community affairs, Webb was associated with
the opening of the Narre Warren Railway Station, and the local State School and Mechanics'
Institute.!?

The older trees probably date from the late nineteenth century. The original house was built in
1855 but no longer remains. The very large Quercus canariensis (Algerian Oak) near the
entrance has a trunk much larger in girth than any others in Berwick. It is unlikely the hilltop
site was specially favourable for growth and this tree could date back to the 1860s. However,
there is no way of establishing this without historical photographs.

The following trees within the garden are of local significance for aesthetic reasons
(contribution to the landscape):

Araucaria bidwillii (Bunya Bunya Pine): two specimens one just outside the garden and
the larger of the two inside the garden are visible on the skyline from the Freeway.
Condition fair.

15.
16.
17.

Early Days of Berwick, pp.45, 46..
Max Thomson, Little Hills, pp.52-55.
Early Days of Berwick, p.93; Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.12.
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Quercus canariensis (Algerian Oak): a massive tree in quite good condition.

Lagunaria patersonia (Norfolk Island Hibiscus or Pyramid Tree): a large specimen of this
coastal species. Condition quite good.

Other trees on the site which are worthy of note, and which should be retained if possible, are
a large healthy specimen of Quercus aff. coccinea (Scarlet Oak), a pair of Cupressus torulosa
(Himalayan or Bhutan Cypress) and the short and uneven avenue of Quercus palustris (Pin
Oak). If the garden was to be retained these trees would rate local significance. Whether they
rate that status as individual trees within a new development is debatable. However, the short
avenue of oaks could be protected for its historical association with the garden. A poor
specimen of Paulownia tomentosa (Royal Paulownia) is interesting but is past saving. There
are several other oaks of good size and shape.

Brechin garden is of local significance for its historical associations and the quality of the
remaining plantings.

o Buchanan Park
Clyde Road, Berwick

The Berwick and District Tree Society were involved in planting this park. If details of the
plantings can be researched, some of these trees may have historic significance because of this
association.!® The park contains a broad marginal band of predominantly native trees, some
specimen trees planted in the last thirty years and some older oaks and ashes. The oaks
(Quercus robur, English Oak), both the specimens in the grass and the row along one edge of
the park, are good specimens and are of local interest, but do not merit individual heritage
significance.
o Boulevard Reserve
High Street, Berwick

This reserve contains what appears to be a haphazard planting of trees of various ages. The
area west of the public conveniences contains a mixture of species characteristic of older
plantings. The following trees are of local significance on aesthetic grounds for their
contribution to the landscape:

Ar;aucaria bidwillii (Bunya Bunya Pine)
Schinus molle (Peppercorn Tree)
Cupressus lusitanica (Mexican Cypress)

Populus x canadensis (Hybrid Black Poplar): large tree at western apex of Reserve near
Lyall Road.

All are in good condition and probably c75 years old. The eastern part of the Reserve has
several large oaks and poplars and good specimens of Angophora costata (Rusty Gum Myrtle)
and Eucalyptus sideroxylon (Red Iron Bark). These should be retained as contributions to a
historic reserve but are not regarded of individual heritage significance. The Cedrus deodar
(Deodar Cedar) commemorates the work of Frederick Tuckfield, founder of the Berwick and
District Tree Society, and is of historical interest.

The Boulevard Reserve is an important element of local significance within the Berwick
Township precinct (see Towns & estates section).

18. Records of the Society are held in the Berwick Local History Archive, Narre Warren Library.
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Street plantings

The following street plantings are within the Berwick Township precinct (see Towns & estates section)
and make an important contribution to the significance of this precinct.

Langmore Lane
Berwick

The street planting is of mixed species and of mixed age. Quercus robur (English Oak)
predominates. This is typical of many of the older streets of Berwick. The landscape effect is
attractive. The general style of planting can be easily maintained by removing senescent trees
and planting young trees without creating a major visual impact. Since there is no formal
avenue the style can be maintained indefinitely.

No 46 has a large Quercus canariensis, Ulmus x hollandica (Dutch Elm) and Eucalyptus
globulus (Tasmanian Blue Gum) as well as large and moribund conifers. The Quercus
canariensis (Algerian Oak) could be of local significance for its contribution to a historic
garden and its contribution to the street landscape.

No 42 has a pair of large Lophostemon confertus (Brush Box) at the gate. They contribute to
the treescape but are not of local significance. No. 42 also possesses a large specimen of
Cupressus macrocarpa which is of aesthetic significance for its size and contribution to the
landscape. It may have historic significance. It was not inspected except from the road. A very
large Pinus radiata (Radiata Pine) is in too poor a condition to render significant.

At no. 34-36 a row of four Quercus robur (English Oak), presumably once planted along the
edge of a larger property, are of aesthetic significance for their contribution to the streetscape
and their size and age. They possibly have historic significance, dependent on what can be
discovered of their planting.

Gloucester Avenue: street & garden plantings
Berwick

Like Langmore Lane, the street planting appears haphazard but the character is worth
retaining. The individual trees are not worthy of classification. The style of planting and
landscape effect make streets like this significant reminders of Berwick's past interest in tree
planting, much of it carried out by enthusiastic residents. There is a need to classify such
streets as locally significant for this reason but this should not mean protection for all the trees.
The landscape effect would involve continued replacements to maintain the eclectic mix of
native and exotic species. This would be the best way to retain the influence of the individuals
who contributed to the style. Certain specified streets in Berwick have aesthetic and historic
significance because of their eclectic planting style and the effect of the large trees and the
great mixture of ages. The eclectic planting of old Berwick is reminiscent of streets in the
Berkeley Hills (California) where street planting is the responsibility of householders.

Peel Street: roadside and garden plantings

Between Lyall and Rutland Roads is a line of Quercus canariensis (Algerian Oak) of
considerable size presumably planted soon after the street was laid out. These are of local
significance as aesthetic contributions to the landscape and possibly of historic significance.
The trees are in reasonable condition.

Of similar age are a group of trees in Peel Street and Rutland Road which form a continuous
planting. They include two Araucaria bidwillii (Bunya Bunya Pine), Araucaria excelsa
(Norfolk Island Pine), Pinus canariensis (Canary Island Pine), Ficus macrophylla (Moreton
Bay Fig) and several Quercus canariensis (Algerian Oak). The two 4. bidwillii and the Ficus
are conspicuous landscape features which merit local significance on aesthetic grounds.
Historic significance is justified by use of these species characteristic of large gardens in the
late nineteenth century. If the planter could be established they would have more historic
significance. They are unusual street plantings. Their condition is quite good considering their
position.
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Number 40 Peel Street is a vacant block fronted by a very old and overgrown hedge of
Cupressus macrocarpa. The garden contains what appears to be a small avenue of Cupressus
sempervirens which presumably lined a narrow path to the house, now gone. Unless some
historic details of the garden can be traced, these trees are just well grown specimens of this
cypress and have no heritage significance.

Individual trees

Red Cross Tree (Liquidambar styraciflua, Liquidambar or American Sweet Gum)
Boulevard Reserve, High Street, Berwick

This tree planted in August 1959 to mark the centenary of the Red Cross is of historical
interest for its associations and commemorative purpose. The Berwick Red Cross was formed
in the early period of the First World War. The tree planting ceremony was presided over by
the President, Mrs K. Dawson, and supported by Immediate Past President Mrs J. Pearson and
Mrs. S. A Greaves, daughter of a foundation member. The tree was planted by Mrs
Beaumont.!® Of contributory significance to the Boulevard Reserve and Berwick Township
precinct.

Liquidambar styraciflua grows into a very large tree - much too large for the situation of the
Red Cross Tree, which will either become stunted or cause damage to the nearby retaining
wall. It is in fair condition but not large for its 24 years growth. It should be moved to a more
suitable site in the Reserve.

Coronation Tree (Lilly Pilly)
Gibb Street and Gloucester Avenue (corner), Berwick

The Coronation Tree was planted on 2nd June 1953 to mark the coronation of Queen
Elizabeth II. :

It was planted by Mrs L. D. Beaumont on the south-east corner of the Berwick Bush Nursing
Hospital, an important local institution. Mrs Beaumont, wife of a prominent district farmer,
was the daughter of the pioneer settler, James Buchanan.

Sugar Gum (Eucalyptus cladocalyx)
Gloucester Avenue, (car park), Berwick

This is a massive tree in the Berwick Railway Station car park which is in fair condition. It is
typical of the large wind-break species planted in rural Berwick. Without more historical detail
it is not possible to give it historic significance. Its contribution to the landscape is dramatic
and it could be regarded as of local significance if better documented examples cannot be
found. The new car-park may adversely affect it.

River Red Gum (Eucalyptus camaldulensis)
Gloucester Avenue, (St Margaret's School), Berwick

A very large Eucalyptus camaldulensis is of local significance on aesthetic grounds for its size
and contribution to the landscape. It presumably predates the buildings. It appears to be in very
good condition and should be inspected regularly.

Mexican Cypress (Cupressus lusitanica)
High Street, Berwick

This tree in the Boulevard Reserve is possibly a hybrid with Cupressus torulosa. 1t is of local,
aesthetic and historical significance for its contribution to the Reserve planting. Its age is
probably about 75 years and its condition is good.

19,

Early Days of Berwick, pp.51-52.
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Deodar Cedar (Cedrus deodar)
High Street, Berwick

This tree in the Boulevard Reserve was planted to commemorated the work of Frederick
Tuckfield, once owner of Clover. Cottage. The plaque reads: This tree was planted by the
citizens of Berwick in memory of Frederick Stevens Tuckfield who founded the Berwick and
District Tree Society. September 30th 1964. This tree is of local historical interest.

Rusty Fig (Ficus rubiginosa)
In front of 126 High Street, Berwick

This is a fine specimen of a tree usually grown as the variegated cultivar. This tree is probably
about 75 years old and is in good condition. It is of local significance for aesthetic reasons, and
as a tree that is relatively rare in cultivation.

Macadamia (Macadamia integrifolia)
Paternoster Lane, Berwick

In good condition in spite of the car parking, this specimen is growing very close to a young
Ginkgo biloba (Maidenhair Tree) which should be moved. Rare in cultivation in the region,
this tree is of local significance.

Smooth Arizona Cypress (Cupressus glabra)
1-11 Peel Street, Berwick Primary School, Berwick

This tree is one of a line of trees along Lyall Road which includes the commemorative oak
planted in 1910. The cypress is probably younger. It is of quite good form and in good
condition. Cupressus glabra is commonly planted in Victoria. Of local significance as
probably the only specimen in Berwick.

Commemorative Qak
Berwick Primary School, 1-11 Peel Street, Berwick
Commemorative oak planted in 1910.

This Coronation tree celebrated the end of the reign of Edward VII and the succession of
George V. This oak tree was rediscovered by Herb Thomas and a commemorative plaque
unveiled on 14 December 1979.

Bhutan Cypresses (Cupressus torulosa, pendulous form - ? 'Corneyana')
Dhuringa, 59 Peel Street |

This very pendulous form of Cupressus torulosa is not infrequently found in Victoria. Its
precise name is uncertain. The pair in this private garden were planted by the first owner Mrs
Fanny Hume Hutchinson, probably c1925. She obtained the trees from the Royal Botanic
Gardens.20 The trees may be around 75 years old and are of local aesthetic significance for the
form of the trees and contribution to the landscape. They are within the garden of a significant
building (see Buildings section). The condition of both trees is good.

Bunya Bunya Pine (Araucaria bidwilli)
Peel Street and Rutland Road (near corner), Berwick

Two large specimens which form a local landmark on this corner. Of local significance for
their size, landmark location and as examples of this species, a characteristic nineteenth
century species.

20.

Information from Mrs M. Phillips.
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English Oak (Quercus robur)
19-21 Scanlan Street, Berwick

There are large specimens of Quercus robur on the border of the property and the nature strip.
These trees as a group are of local significance on aesthetic and historic grounds for their
contribution to the landscape.

Hawthorn hedges

a'Beckett Road hawthorn hedges
a'Beckett Road, Narre Warren North

At Narre Warren Noﬁh, on the north side of aBeckett Road and the east side of Belgrave-
Hallam Road north of the township. Forms part of the Narre Warren North precinct (see
Towns & estaltes). :

Harkaway Road hawthorn hedges
Harkaway Road, Berwick

From Old Coach Road northwards, long stretches of hedge remain on both sides of the road
almost to King Road. This route dates from the early 1890s. Of local significance.

Hessell Road hawthorn hedges
Hessell Road, Berwick

North of Hessell Road Retarding Basin, small sections remain on both sides of the road almost
up to King Road (with considerable evidence of hawthorns spreading as a weed). Contributes
to a rural landscape, now being developed for suburban housing, that contains two important
properties - Rossmoyne Park and Warrenwood.

King & Robinson Roads hawthorn hedges
King & Robinson Roads, Harkaway

From Harkaway Road along the northern side of the road and along both sides of Robinson
Road for half a kilometre; towards Narre Warren North sections of hedge continue along one
side of Robinson Road, and another hedge on private land marks the boundary of the closer
settlement scheme and the alignment of the aqueduct pipeline. Parts of these hedges are within
the Harkaway Township precinct (see Towns & estates). Of local significance.

Narre Warren North Road hawthorn hedges
Narre Warren North Road, Narre Warren North

Sections on the east side near Prospect Hill Retarding Basin, south of Quarry Road, south and
north of Ernest Wanke Drive; on the west side, north of Araluen. Remnant rural landscape
feature in developing area.

Old Coach Road hawthorn hedges
Old Coach Road, Berwick

Between Harkaway Road and the Gluepot (creek crossing), mainly on the west side of the
road. See Old Coach Road in the Historical landscapes section.

Pound Road - Narre Warren Cranbourne Road hawthorn hedges
Pound Road, Narre Warren South

Extend along Pound Road and Narre Warren Cranbourne Road, marking the corner. Also
sections from the drain northwards and along Centre Road. Remnant rural landscape feature
in developing area.

There are also hawthorn hedges on individual properties such as Willurah Park (see Farms & rural
properties).
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Farms & rural properties

Introduction

Farming has played an important role in the history of European settlement in the City of Berwick. A
large number of the older homes remaining throughout the municipality are associated with various
forms of farming, including dairying, horse and cattle breeding, and agriculture. Today, rural
properties and set within a landscape of rolling pastures, edged by hawthorn hedges and divided by
cypress windbreaks are an important part of the municipality's heritage.

Farm houses and their garden settings, sometimes with associated outbuildings and rural landscape
features, have been identified in this study. Some elements, such as hawthorn hedges, are listed
separately in Trees and gardens.

- Rural environment

The rural and farm properties identified in the present study cover a wide range of periods from early
farms associated with the German Lutheran settlers of Harkaway, to the larger grazing properties
around Berwick, to the farms of soldier settlers. Their diversity is remarkable.

The earliest properties generally used local materials, timber or hand-made bricks, although several
buildings of mud and sapling construction remain. Later and larger properties used more elaborate
materials. Some of the larger farm complexes contain very early structures within the fabric of the
grander buildings. Architects have also played their part. George Washington Robinson, architect and
member of a local family, designed at least four farm houses in the 1870s, of which three remain.

A wide variety of outbuildings have been recognised in the study, including a blacksmith's shop,
smokehouse, barns, dairies, stables, and other storage sheds. Cheese factories were a feature of several
district farms, and two remain today. The arrangement of the house, outbuildings and yards provide
valuable evidence of early farming practices. Plantings are important features, with domestic gardens
and orchards, windbreaks, hawthorn hedges, and driveway plantings still a feature of some properties.

Most of the farms and rural properties remain within a rural or semi-rural setting. Around Hallam,
Narre Warren and Berwick suburban development is encroaching rapidly on the surrounding rural
landscape. In the west of the municipality, in Endeavour Hills and Eumemmerring for example, the
only examples of early farms that remain are within a suburban setting.
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Wallerview
101 a'Beckett Road Narre Warren North

History & description

This fine Victorian house with its timber ashlar facade may date from as early as 1875, when Thomas
Cox owned the site. Cox was one of the earliest residents on a'Beckett Road. Before coming there, he
built one of the earliest houses in the district constructed of wattle and daub. It stood at the intersection
of Station Street (Main Street) and a'Beckett Road. !

Cox's property was later owned by Daniel Kennedy who married Miss Elizabeth Cox, who was one of
the first students at State School No. 1901 (Narre Warren North, which opened on 1 July 1877).2

By 1963 the Wallerview property was owned by A. R. and J. S. Champion de Crespigny, who sold in
February 1971 to Rodney and Heather Oaten and Henry Joseph Whelan. At the 1981 auction it was
purchased by Ian Richard and Susan Maree Chasemore. Wallerview was described at this time as an
old weatherboard house with four bedrooms, kitchen, family room, lounge, bathroom and workshop.3

Later, the 1991 auction, the old house, estimated to be 100 years old, was described as ‘completely
restored ... re-stumped, re-roofed and totally stripped inside'.4

Today the house is located on approximately 0.68 hectares amidst rolling lawns and established exotic
and native plantings. The facade is decorated in timber ashlar with an Edwardian entrance, pendant
brackets along the eaves and a new return verandah. The interior of the old section of the house has
been ‘partially retained with its Baltic pine floorboards, ceilings and walls stripped back'.5 The recent

1. Max Thomson, Little Hills, 1839-1977, p.9.

2. Lintie Hills, p.9; Early Days of Berwick, p.100; In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp.81, 117,
119.

3. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

4. Berwick Journal, 4 Nov. 1991.

s; Berwick Journal, 4 Nov. 1991.
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extensions to the house have been designed to match the older section. The present owners are Terence
and Traci Rutherford and Victoria Holloway.

Significance

Wallerview, built c1875, has high local significance as a beautiful Victorian asymmetrical villa with
timber ashlar facade in a leafy garden setting, associated with two early Narre Warren North residents,
Thomas Cox and his son-in-law, Daniel Kennedy.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.
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Forres Farm

182-200 a'Beckett Road Narre Warren North

History & description

The first owner of this farm was Gustav Bernard Bolduan, farmer,® son of Auguste Bolduan, early
district brickmaker and roadmaker.” Bemard married Emily, daughter of R. E. Halleur, another
pioneer German settler.® The symmetrical villa with its unusual stucco rendered facade and return
verandah may have been built by Auguste Bolduan, who worked on brickmaking and roadmaking with
William Martin 'German' Brown.? Bricks of Brown's making may be found in some of the older
buildings in the Berwick district. ! Auguste also grew oats, which he cut into chaff.1!

Gustav Bernard Bolduan purchased the site of Forres Farm between 1883 and 1889. Part of Crown
Portion 3 Section 23 Parish of Narre Warren, it was owned originally by the Crown Grantee George
Alexandra.!? The property remained in the hands of the Bolduan family at least until Gustav Bernard's

death in 1924. His executor was another pioneer German settler Immanuel Wanke, son of Dr. J. G.
Wanke. 13

The villa was later part of the dairy farm of Clifford and Hilda Forrest, who sold in 1972 to the
Charman family (current owners). It was described at this time as a weatherboard and roughcast
building with a brick dairy building.!4 Neil Charman, a former school teacher from Frankston, his

6 Registrar General's Office, Search No. 47059, 12608.
7. Early Days of Berwick, p.74.

8. Early Days of Berwick, p.74.

9, Early Days of Berwick, p.77.

10. Early Days of Berwick, p.77.

11, Early Days of Berwick, p.74.

12, Registrar General's Office, Search No. 47059, 12608.
13, Registrar General's Office, Search No. 47059,

14, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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wife and four children had previously lived in a rental farm at Somerville. They made the change
believing that it would improve the family's 'quality of life'. They carried on the 80 acre farm, running
seventy head of cattle and growing oats. All members of the family became involved in local Narre
Warren North community activities.!’

The unusual roughcast construction distinguishes this house from other houses of similar symmetrical
form in the area. Smooth rendered quoins and architraves are a feature. The verandah returns on both
sides and is supported by square timber posts with timber capitals but no lacework. Recent boards
fence the verandah. There are weatherboard additions to the rear of the building. Towards the rear of
the property is a collection of corrugated iron sheds and a brick dairy building. The entrance to the
property is flanked by roughcast curved corner walls with the name Forres Farm inscribed.

The house is set within a traditional garden, partly enclosed by a simple picket fence, and entered from
the drive via concrete steps. Cypresses mark the entrance, and a large camphor laurel at the rear
complements the site. It is located on a rural allotment of around 32 hectares.

Significance

Forres Farm has high local significance as a farm residence dating from 1900 or earlier, and built for
and most probably by members of the Bolduan family, district German pioneers. It remained in
Bolduan family ownership at least until 1924. This symmetrical villa is notable for its unuisual stucco
rendered facade with return verandahs and its traditional garden setting,

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

e Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

e Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a wsual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Retain views of significant building(s) and plantings from the street;

o In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to the retention of
the outbuildings and their visual relationship to the house and the retention of the existing
gateway and drive.

15. The Gazette, 15 Sept., 1976.
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Essex Park Homestead

13 Aquila Crescent Endeavour Hills

History & description

This double-fronted weatherboard villa with its concrete balustrade (a most unusual design for this
area), was built for a Mr Anderson in 1939, some thirty vears before the subdivisions which created the
new suburb of Endeavour Hills. The original farm house on this Endeavour Hills subdivision was
reputedly moved to Gladstone Road near its intersection with Heatherton Road. '6

Essex Park is built on carefully landscaped slopes in the midst of the Endeavour Hills subdivision. The
front garden is carefully landscaped in a formal manner with a stone wall containing an oval lawned
space with central rectangular pond. Cypresses and other exotic plantings dating from the middle of
this century surround the house.

The house is a pretentious classical design in the form of a symmetrical villa with sprawling hip roof,
It features a colonnaded verandah with ionic concrete columns and balustrade. A central pediment
protrudes from the verandah with steps rising at the sides and below a recess with surrounding relief
work but no statue. The fenestration is typical of many houses of the inter-war period, with central
fixed pane and side sashes.

To the rear of the house there have been weatherboard additions, including a caretaker's flat and
garage. A well also remains to the rear of the house.

The area was once known as the Pines Estate, 600 hectares owned in 1900 by Captain Commans, a
Frenchman. His son, René Jules took over the property, using it for general farming until 1928, when
he gave it to his three daughters. Pat Shinners managed The Pines sheep property from 1902 to 1930.
In 1932 the estate was divided into a number of smaller allotments. One part was bought by Mr
Brown, owner of the Essex Dairy in Pickett Street, Dandenong. He ran the property as a dairy farm,

16. Wells and Mackie, Berwick: some aspects, pp.8-9.
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naming it "Essex Park’. Brown sold to Mr Anderson who, in 1939, built the existing house. Anderson
lived there for only three years, then sold to 2 Mr Richardson who, in 1952 sold to H. L. Luxton. 17

The property was purchased by the Shire of Berwick on 1 October 1971, when the farm was subdivided.
Since Council ownership, the rear portion of Essex Park has been leased out to a number of tenants,
beginning with Andrew James Ralph in 197113 The front two rooms of the dwelling have been
available for various community activities and are managed by the Essex Patk Homestead Committee of
Management.

Significance

Essex Park Homestead is of high local significance as possibly one of the oldest houses in Endeavout
Hills, predating the establishment of the suburb by some thirty years. Its site has historical importance,
demonstrating an earlier farming use of the land, as the location from 1900-1930 of the Pines Estate
and from 1932-39 (after subdivision), as the location of the Essex Park dairy farm of Brown, owner of
the Essex Dairy in Dandenong,

Its grand 1939 design and formal garden setting is substantially intact, demonstrating the architecture
and tastes of this period. The front garden is of design interest and has a significant visual relationship
with the house:

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:
o (Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;
o  Conserve the significant garden layout and the visual relationship between the house and
garden;
o Inthe case of further building development on the property, particular attention should be paid
to the conservation of the well, '

17. Wells and Mackie, Berwick: some aspecis, pp.8<9.
18. City of Berwick Valwer's Records; Journal, 15 Aug., 1972,
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Aranmore

Aranmore Crescent Narre Warren North
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History & description

Aranmore, formerly Cleveland, was the home from 1862 of the early Narre Warren North settler,
Francis Barr and his family. Barr came from one of the northern counties in England. His Cleveland
property, taken up in the 1850s, became one of the best farms in the area and stretched towards the
German settlement at Harkaway. Barr became a district identity. He was one of the first members of
the Berwick Road Board established in 1862 and, in 1868, when the Berwick Shire was formed,
represented the Berwick riding for many years. Four of his sons became Shire councillors. Barr was
respected as 'a humorous and shrewd speaker, a great citizen and very fine pioneer’, 19

The earliest part of the Cleveland homestead, a four-roomed brick cottage, was designed and built by
George Washington Robinson, the notable local builder and architect. Robinson was associated with
three other important Narre Warren brick houses - Hillsley built for the Robinson family, the a'Beckett's
house, The Grange, and John Troup's Glencairn.?® All survive today with the exception of The
Grange, built for the a'Beckett's and later associated with the Boyds.

Barr's Cleveland property was listed in the earliest surviving 1875 rate book, with 280 acres of land and
a high valuation.2! This valuation doubled during the 1880s boom years,?2 which suggests either
additions at that time, or just a reflection of the rise in property values during a period of prosperity.

Francis Barr's son, Cr. Harry Barr, later worked the Cleveland property. He then sold to Jack Casey
who, in turn, sold to Reg Kurll. Barr then moved to Grassmere (the early name for Doveton) and later,
to the Neerim district.2? The Kurlls lived at Cleveland for more than 40 years 24

19, Early Days of Berwick, pp.97-98.

20, Early Days of Berwick, pp.98-99;, Max Thomson, Little Hills, 1839-1977, pp.10-12.
21. Berwick rate books 1875, No. 18, (NAV £96).

22. Berwick rate books 1889-90, No. 33, (NAV £153).
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In the 1920s Cleveland was added to, the brickwork was rendered, and the roof form altered. Today,
the house appears with a broad gabled hip roof with a protruding hip section, containing earlier parts of
the house internally. Half timbered exterior wall cladding with weatherboard dado and elongated
wooden brackets to the verandah posts, add a gracious Federation bungalow character to the house.
Internally, much of the 1920s timber work is intact but the uneven floor reveals sinking footings near
the creek side of the house. Further research is required to identify those parts of the building which
relate to the 1870s house.

The house is set within a rural landscape setting, traversed by a creek (quite close to the house), and the
property retains hawthorn hedges along Robinson Road. Part of the property has been recently
subdivided.

The property was purchased by Roger and Mary Robinson in the early 1970s and today Aranmore is
located on approximately 70.25 hectares. Part of the original property in the north-west has been
subdivided into low density allotments.

Significance

Aranmore has regional significance as one of the most notable and early district farm houses, the home
of pioneer farmer Francis Barr and his family from c1862. Originally a four-roomed brick cottage,
Aranmore has significance as one of fourbrick farm houses designed and built at Narre Warren North
by George Washington Robinson. Of these, Hillsley (Robinson's own house), Cleveland and Glencairn
built for the Troup family survive.. The 1920s reshaping of the building changed its 1870s character
but created a fine example of the Federation bungalow style. Aranmore is also associated with another
prominent district farming family, the Kurlls, who lived there for over 40 years.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

e Promote further research on the fabric of the building to identify the sections that form the
original building and the subsequent 1920s stage of development; further investigate any other
site features or farm buildings that may remain;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.

23. Early Days of Berwick, p.98.
24, Early Days of Berwick, p.98; information supplied by current owner.
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The Grattons

8-10 Bailey Road Narre Warren North

William Martin Brown (1827-1920), who was born in Pomerania and commonly known as 'German
Brown', was the original owner of this brick Edwardian farm house?* Brown arrived in colonial
Victoria in 1845 and while he was living in Richmond married Ellen Barry from Limerick in Ireland.
In 1854 he came to Berwick as an employee of Peter Brisbane, a district pioneer. He later worked for
Robert Buchanan. As well as milking and cheese-making, Brown also made bricks and was employed
in road-making, 26

Later, Brown went to Narre Warren North, his residence, The Grattons, being constructed in ¢1900.
He died there in 1920, aged 93. It is claimed that:

Bricks of his making are in some of the older buildings in Berwick, newer portions of the hotel
and parts of the older portions of the State School 27

His old kiln site was 'in Beaumont's paddock near the road (Gardiner Street) connecting Engel's (Inglis)
Road and the Harkaway Road'.2® More recently, the 107 acre property The Grattons, was part of the
Wilfred Bromby Estate and is the home of Barrie and Rhonda J. Nicholls. It was described recently
during the Nicholl's ownership as a brick residence and outbuildings 'all very old', including dairy
buildings and a galvanised iron and brick cow shed.

The house is a fine example of a Victorian-style featuring generous windows with sidelights
complementing those of the central door. The straight hip roofed verandah displays delicate cast iron
lacework. The brickwork uses stretcher courses, indicating cavity brick walls, and confirming the

25. Information provided by Max Thomson.
26 Early Days of Berwick, p.77.
27, Early Days of Berwick, p.77.
28. Early Days of Berwick, p.77.

166 o Farms & rural properties Heritage of the City of Berwick



dating of the building. There have been several additions over the years to rear sections of the house
which do not detract from the original part. The grounds with orchard plantings on the slopes of the
hill in front of the house have Iandscape value.2® The house remains on a large rural allotment of
approximately 43.7 hectares and retains its long entry drive.

Significance

The Grattons has high local significance as the former home of William Martin ('German’) Brown,
early district dairy farmer, brickmaker and roadmaker, and a pioneer in the 18505 in the German
settlement at Harkaway.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:
e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of silgniﬁcance;
o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the bmilding from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;
o  Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant paris of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;
»  Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;
o In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid ic retaining as
much as possible of the orchard immediately in front of the property which has rural landscape

character and is important for its demonstration of historical land uses associated with The
Grattons.

29, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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42 Baker Road Harkaway

History & description

This large intact bungalow with bluestone foundations, walls and fireplaces was constructed from stone
taken from the site of the Harkaway Quarry,* which is located on part of the original Glenlea property.

The house is a fine example of a Californian Bungalow with broad gable over the verandah supported
by rubble pillars with rendered columns on top. Exposed rafters on the gable eave and timber brackets
at the base of the gable add detail to the dominant roof feature which frames the main entrance.
Rolling lawns immediately in front of the house and a backdrop of mature cypresses create a
picturesque setting for this farm complex. The property was used as a dairy farm but the old dairy and
sheds constructed from handmade bricks were destroyed when a hayshed caught fire in 195831 The
road takes its name from the Baker family.

George Bell, florist (later of Malvern), was rated as the first owner/occupier in 1918.32 However, from
1919, after his return from the First World War, the property was occupied by farmer Alexander
Sydney Baker.3 From c1924 Baker was rated as owner.3* The name 'Glen-Lea' was given to the farm
by the Baker family after a western district property where they had lived.

In 1957, the farm property was purchased by Jack Lewien. who also owned Harkaway Farm in
Rowallan Road, and used for cattle storage until the Harkaway Quarry commenced operations in
1960.3* Glenlea is now located on a small 0.4 hectare allotment and is owned by Phillip Lewien.

30. 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School Project, 1988.
3L Harkaway Primary School Project.

32. Berwick rate books, 1918-19 No.41.

33, Berwick rate books, 1919-20 No.31.

34, Berwick rate books, 1924-25 No.2296.

3s. Harkaway Primary School Project.
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Significance

Glenlea has high local significance as an intact large former Harkaway dairy farm house built in 1918
using stone taken from the site of the Harkaway Quarry, originally part of the property. It has design
significance as a fine example of a Californian Bungalow in a mature garden setting. It has
associations with the Baker family from 1919 when it was occupied by Alexander Sydney Baker afier
his return from the First World War.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a wsual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of thé building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

Retain views of Glenlea and its surrounding plantings from the street.
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Roads End

Beaumont Road Berwick

~REA

History & description

Sir Sidney Sewell, a Melbourne surgeon noted for his research into tuberculosis, was the first owner of
Roads End a two-storey, Berwick country residence in a park-like garden setting. It was built for
Sewell and his family of eight children between 1921 and 1928 from the designs of the architectural
firm, Blackett and Forster 3 The builder. William McLean, worked for the Sewell family for at least
35 years, and occupied a cottage on the property which still survives. 37

EE T

The Sewell family originally lived at 12 Collins Street. which was later demolished and replaced by the
Victor Horsley Chambers, designed by Blackett and Forster in 1926. The family then owned a house,
Avoca, in Gordon Grove, South Yarra, which they sold in the early 1930s. Roads End at Berwick
became their permanent home. 38

Sewell had a long interest in Berwick as a rich dairy farming district through his involvement in a
company formed prior to the construction of Roads End. This company was formed with Edwin Flack,
owner of the nearby Burnbank property at 64 Beaumont Road and the celebrated winner of two gold
medals for athletics at the 1896 Olympic Games. Flack and Sewell's company ran a joint dairying
venture and established one of Victoria's premier Friesian herds at Burnbank. The combined dairy
herds won a number of awards and broke several Australian and world records for milk production in
the 1920s and 1930s. A mineteenth century farmhouse stood near the 1921 residence around this time
and was used as a cheese factory.?® It is possible that this building was rebuilt as The Cottage which
now stands at 181 Beaumont Road in a much altered state 4°

36. Historic Buildings Council File No. 6038593,
37. Historic Buildings Council File No. 6038593.

38, Historic Buildings Council File No. 6038593,
39. Information supplied by D. Hogg-Ramage, 1993.

40, 'Historic Homes of Berwick', Harkaway Primary School project.
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In 1922, Sewell retired and William Gamble, former principal of Dookie Agricultural College, joined
the partnership. The company also leased the Ardblair and Mansfield properties, formed the Burnbank
Cheese Company and opened a cheese factory near Mansfield House. After Flack's death, Gamble
carried on alone.4!

It is of historic interest that the sites of Burnbank, Roads End, Ardblair and Mansfield were all part of
the original land owned by James and Robert Buchanan. When this property was divided, James kept
Ardblair (part of which is now known as Beaumont Farm), while Robert's division included the sites of
Burnbank, Roads End and Cloverfield. 42

Roads End was run as a dairy farm at first but in 1934 was taken over as a research farm under the
direction of Dr Murnane. In 1939 stud flocks of both Romney Marsh and Southdown sheep were
established for the production of commercial fat lambs. In later years the stud was managed by Sewell's
daughter, Mrs Matthews. Today, the property is no longer run as a farm, but as a residence in a garden
setting. The Roads End property is now 24.42 hectares. Part of the surrounding land, which was once
part of the property, is now in other hands. Roads End's present owners, Martm and Josephine Hogg,
acquired the 1920s house and garden in 1974.43

Sewell's 1920s Berwick residence is regarded as ak outstanding and intact example of the work of the
architectural firm, Blackett and Forster. Biackett was an extremely successful and significant
Melbourne architect of the period. He was a member and president of the Royal Victorian Institute of
Architects, founding president of the Royal Australian Institute of Architects, and winner of the first
RVIA Medal for Street Architecture (1928), for Francis House in Collins Street.44

Roads End is constructed in a variety of materials, forming a complex Craftsmans Bungalow with a
character suggestive of a sequence of different design intentions. However, this hybrid style appears to
be a style charactesistic of Blackett and Foister's work in the 192Cs. It has besn described as featuring
the Arts & Crafts, Bungalow, Shingle Style ard Sydney Balcony Style idioms.45

The foundations and feature columns are constructed in bluestone. The ground floor walls are
unpainted roughcast render and the upper level is a composition of gable sections with vertical timbers
above a shingled apron. Exposed rafters in the eaves and consistent multi-paned sashed windows are
characteristic bungalow features, as are the brick potted chimneys. Stone retaining walls, containing
flower gardens, surround the house.

Roads End retains its original stables and stable master's quarters, and the original builder's cottage
near the swimming pool (once the site of a lawn tennis court). A cheese factory building, or dairy,
which once stood near an old well has gone, as has a weatherboard Federation style cottage destroyed
by bushfire.  However, the garden retains many unusual plantings collected from all over the world,
some by the Sewells and many by the present owners. These include oaks, pines and elms and several
Californian Redwoods (Sequoia sempervirens), Giant Sequoias (Sequoiadendron giganteum) and other
conifers. South-east of the house, near the site of the old farmhouse (which was used as a cheese
factory), there is a collection of old statues, the old well and a sundial with the words around its base:
'Roads End Was Not the End of Time'. The impressive gates at the entrance to the property came from
the former East Melbourne Market.46 The former entry drive, now part of Beaumont Road, retains fine
specimen trees.

Significance

Roads End has state significance as an outstanding and intact example of the work of the notable
architectural firm, Blackett and Forster, and as an important representative of a hybrid architectural
style of the 1920s era which incorporated the Arts and Crafts, Bungalow, Shingle Style and Sydney

41, Gazette, 15 July 1992,

42, Early Days of Berwick, p.217.

43. Historic Homes of Harkaway, pp.41-46.

44, Historic Buildings Council File No. 6038593.
45. HBC File 6038593.

46, Inspection of property on 11 March 1993.
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Balcony Style idioms. It has significance for its associations with a noted surgeon Sir Sidney Sewell
(for whom the house was built between 1921 and 1928) and who ran an important dairy complex there.
As a partner in a joint dairying company formed with Edwin Flack of nearby Burnbank, Sewell helped
establish one of Victoria's pioneer Friesian herds which held various Australian and world records for
milk production. The property is also significant for its spectacular garden setting, former entry drive
specimen trees, its original stables and stable master's quarters, a small builder's cottage, and an old
well and sundial, which are located near the site of a nineteenth century farmhouse where cheese was
made and stored in the 1920s.

View of garden, Roads End

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place. it is recommended that the ‘following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

@ Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of primary significance;

@ Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

@ Conserve significant plantings on the property. and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

@ Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage charactenstics of the building and the site as a whole;

@ Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

© In the case of building development on the property, particular attention should be paid to the
conservation of the well and sundial.
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New Ardblair

53-81 Beaumont Road Berwick

History & description

Berwick farmer and historian, Norman E. Beaumont's Spanish Mission villa was built as a farmhouse
in 1933 from the designs of the Sydney architects, Greenwell and Shirley. The original plans of this
symmetrical villa with its courtyard and wrought iron balconette survive in the possession of a
Beaumont descendant, Mrs Louise Reeve 7 Carl Greenwell was the uncle of Eileen Beaumont,
Norman's wife. The sand for the concrete blocks came from the Cardinia Creek.4® The name of the
house was taken from the early farming property (which came to be known as 'old Ardblair')
established by district pioneer, the Hon. James Buchanan in 1854.4° This property was taken over in
1892 by L. D. Beaumont following his marriage to Buchanan's daughter, Ellie. Beaumont established a
notable herd of Ayrshire stud cattle, Southdown stud sheep and Suffolk Punch farm horses. Norman,
the first owner of the new Ardblair, was L. D. Beaumont's son.??

The 1930s house is no longer owned by the Beaumont family. It has suffered substantial alterations
and the adjoining land has been subdivided. The dwelling is now located on a site of approximately
5140 squarc metres. A wrought iron balcony has been removed, there is a new lounge room door, and
the circular front windows have been enlarged and the crested leadlighting removed. However, the
crested leadlighting is in the possession of Mrs Louise Reeve. It carries the Buchanan motto: 'For the
King' (that is, the Stuart Kings) and the Beaumont motto: Trust but believe in whom you trust'. Many

47. Proposed Residence. 'Ardblair’. Berwick. Victoria for N. Beaumont. Esq., Greenwell and
Shirley, 9. Dec. 1932. (Original architectural drawings held by Mrs Louise Reeve).

48, Information supplied by Mrs Louise Reeve.

49 Early Days of Berwick, p.37.

50. Early Days of Berwick, p.39.
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. original garden plantings which were designed as appropriate for a Spanish Mission villa have gone
together with the original fence and gate.’! The present owners are Lec and Camille Gilmour.

Significance

New Axdblair has high local significance as a fine example of a Spanish Missio villa, although much
altered, designed by the architects, Greenwell and Shirley. It has historica! significance as the home
from 1933-51 of the local farmer and historian Norman E. Beaumont, a descendant of two important
pioneer district farming families, the Wilsons and the Buchanans.

Conservation guidelines

In order to consetve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original scction of the house, which is of significance;

=  Prevent development adjacent to significant paris of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

» Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.

51 Information supplied by Mrs Louise Reeve. Louise's father bought the old windows from the
builder when the house was being altered.
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Burnbank

64-72 Beaumont Road Berwick

History & description

The early history of this property is associated with the Berwick district pioneer farmer Robert
Buchanan who, with his brother, James, bred Ayrshire cattle. The earliest portion of the building
(although considerably altered) is believed to date from the Buchanan ownership c1854.32

Burnbank was later owned by H. H. Ryan, director of the New Loch Fyne Gold Mine at Matlock and
associated with the Long Tunnel Gold Mine at Walhalla.>® Edwin Flack, another early owner, may
have added the front verandah, rooms at the back. and divided the house into two parts to accommodate
a female friend >* Flack was an Olympic Games athlete who won two gold medals in 1896. With Sir
Sidney Sewell (owner of Roads End in the 1920s), Flack established one of Victoria's premier Friesian
herds at Burnbank. In 1922 Sewell retired from the partnership and was replaced by William Gamble,
the former principal of Dookie Agricultural College. About this time, the Burnbank herd was increased
and Flack and Gamble leased the nearby Ardblair (part of which is now Beaumont Farm) and
Mansfield properties. The Burnbank Cheese Company was formed and a factory built 'which produced
high quality cheese'.’5 Afier Flack's death, William Gamble continued to run Burnbank with sheep and

pigs.56
Later owners were Colin Campbell, Stewart John Robinson, and, more recently, the Dawsons.5” The

residence has been renovated by the Dawsons and an old cottage at the rear turned into a separate flat
for visitors. 8

52. Norman E. Beaumont, James F. Curran and R. H. Hughes, Early Days of Berwick, p.21.
53, Early Days of Berwick, p.32.

54, Pakenham Gazette, 15 July 1992,

55, Pakenham Gazette, 15 July 1992.

56. Pakenham Gazette, 15 July 1992.

57, City of Berwick Valuer's records,
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Burnbank as it exists today, is an elegant Victorian villa with a timber ashlar finish on the facade. It is
presumed that this symmetrical form surrounds the 1850s original building but this requires
verification. The-verandah alterations are a recent addition with Federation-style timber fretwork.
Internally, the house has been reconstructed in sympathy with Victorian era decor.”® These changes
appear to have replaced previous alterations from the 1920s and 1940s. 1t is possible that a cellar, once
used for storing cheese, remains beneath the house. 50

The garden features a magnificent cypress hedge, an abundance of exotic species and mature examples
of flowering gums, two forming highlights of the driveway turning circle in front of the house.

Significance

Burnbank has regional significance as one of a number of important, district farming properties. It was
run at the turn of thé century and later as a joint dairying venture by its owner, Edwin Flack, and Sir
Sidney Sewell of Roads End, and from c1922 by William Gamble, former principal of Dookie
Agricultural College and Flack's partner. In the 1920s, the Burnbank herd was increased and nearby
farming properties Ardblair (part of which is now known as Beaumont Farm), and Mansfield were
leased by the partnership. Burnbank also has significance for its early associations with Berwick
district pioneer farmer, Robert Buchanan, who bred Ayrshire cattle there. The earliest portion of the
buildings may date from this time.

The design significance of Burnbank has been reduced due to recent alterations which have removed
1920s and 1940s sections in order to reconstruct the Victorian house. There is research significance
relating to the location and identification of the 1850s house and old cheese cellar. The garden has
importance as an example of a formal landscape containing an interesting combination of exotic and
native mature specimens.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a ﬁsual rela'tionship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

a  Promote further research on the fabric of the building to identify sections associated with the
original building or other important stages of development;

e Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the house and outbuildings from
overwhelming the heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Conserve the significant garden layout and plantings and the visual relationship between the
significant buildings on the site.

58. Pakenham Gazette, 15 July 1992,
59, Gazette, 15 July, 1992.
60. Information supplied by J. Dawson, 1993.
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Beaumont Farm (former Ardblair)

115-129 Beaumont Road Berwick

History & description

The earliest part of Beaumont Farm originally known as Ardblair, was constructed about 1854 for
pioneer district farmer, James Buchanan. Scottish brothers, James and Robert Buchanan, purchased
land in the first sale of Berwick lands. When they divided the property, James called his section
Ardblair %! James and Robert established an Ayrshire cattle herd and won awards for their wheat %2
An 1860s two-storey section of Ardblair was used for cheese-making 63

A large proportion of this original house remains today, with some internal alterations to accommodate
modern uses. The kitchen is the oldest part of the building, now divided into two kitchenettes. It is
still possible to identify the position of the fireplace in the 1854 building. This building is joined, by
more recent additions, to the double-storey 1860s former cheese factory. The floor of the upper level is
constructed of hand hewn beams. The hand-made brick walls are rendered and painted. The verandah
which once skirted the lower storey has been removed. A recent addition to the stairway and landing
gives access to the side of the building,.

James Buchanan was a prominent Berwick resident. He was one of the founders and trustees of the
Berwick Presbyterian Church and the Mornington Farmers Society, was on the Berwick District Road
Board established in 1862, and was a member of Berwick Shire Council. He was M.L.C. for South
Eastern Province from 1876 until c1900.64

61. Early Days ofBerwick.'p.?.?.

62. Information supplied by Mrs Louise Reeve,
63. The Gazette, 12 Aug. 1992,

64. The Gazette, 12 Aug. 1992.
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After their marriage in 1892 Ellie Buchanan (James' daughter) and L. D. Beaumont became the owners
of Ardblair. They bred Ayrshire cattle, imported stud Southdown sheep and Suffolk Punch farm
horses. L. D. Beaumont was twice President of the Berwick Shire Council 3

There were red brick additions to Ardblair c1899.6 This section extends on the western side of the
1850s kitchen. A broad hip roof extends over the return verandah, shading a sequence of floor to
ceiling sashed windows. Exposed rafters in the eaves and brick pillar supports represent an interesting
early bungalow influence in this design.

An old corrugated iron shed is located on the opposite side of the driveway next to a more recent
building used as a visitor's residence. A well is located immediately to the east of the cheese factory.
During the 1920s the dairying partnership of Gamble and Flack (of Burnbank) had an interest in
Ardblair and it was one of the properties they leased during that era.5? The sites of Burnbank,
Ardblair, Mansfield and Roads End (all associated with the dairying company) were all part of James
and Robert Buchanan's original Berwick property.58

In 1932, Ardblair was sold to Walter B. Guest of Switzerland, who renamed it Neuchate! after a Swiss
village, and ran it as a dairy farm and cheese factory.5° About the same time, L. D. Beaumont's son,
Norman, who spent his childhood at Ardblair, transferred its name to his new Spanish Mission villa at
53-81 Beaumont Road. This house came to be known as the 'new Ardblair'.70

The next owner of the former Ardblair was Norman Steele, manufacturer, who renovated the buildings.
Subsequently, when the property was known as Green Hills, it was purchased in 1958 by David Charles
and Mrs Biggs (nee Baillieu), and their five children. They gave the property its present name,
Beaumont Farm.”! It was described in 1974 as including a house built in two stages, 1854 and 1899.72
Today, Beaumont Farm is located on approximately 3.57 hectares of land.

Significance

Beaumont Farm, originally known as Ardblair, has regional significance as one of the district's most
important and earliest farming properties with sections of its buildings dating from c1854, the 1860s
-and 1890s or c1900. It has important associations with two major district pioneer farming families, the
Buchanans and Beaumonts. The Buchanans were involved in cattle breeding, wheat growing and
cheese making and the Beaumonts bred Ayrshire cattle, imported stud Southdown sheep and Suffolk
Punch farm horses.

The buildings are good examples of building technology and design approaches dating from 1854,
1860s and 1899 respectively. Each stage of development is in a reasonable state of intactness and in
the context of surrounding landscape, this provides a good illustration of the history of land use in the
Beaumont Road area.

It retains one of two cheese factories extant within the City of Berwick, the other being on the
Springfield property and now known as The Old Cheese Factory. The building at Beaumont Farm is
the earlier of the two, and although altered, is of regional significance as evidence of this important
farm-based industry.

65. Early days of Berwick, p.39; Berwick rate books, (Transfer to Beaumont ownership not
recorded until 1901-2, No.46).

66, The Gazette, 12 Aug. 1992. These additions were for L. D. Beaumont.

67. The Gazette, 15 July 1992.

68. Early Days of Berwick, p.27.

69. The Gazette, 12 Aug. 1992.

70. See research into New Ardblair, 53-81 Beaumont Road.
71, The Gazette, 12 Aug. 1992.
72. City of Berwick Valuer's records. These additions were for L. D. Beaumont.
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Former cheese factory, Beaumont Farm

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house and cheese factory, which is of
significance;

Conserve thosc parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property,

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage charactenstics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to the retention of
the driveway approach and the retention of open views from the house across the north-eastern

slopes;

In the case of the building development on the property, particular attention should be paid to
the conservation of the well adjacent to the former cheese factory section of the house.
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Robertson Property (former)

Belgrave-Hallam Road Narre Warren North

History & description

The early history of this property was associated with the squatter James Robertson, who took up a
large cattle run north-west of Berwick, known as Watwillroon. This run covered much of present-day
Narre Warren North.”? Robertson established his homestead on Crown Allotment 1 in Section 22 in
the Parish of Narree Worren, 160 acres, which included the site of the present Bellfield property. This
allotment is shown in one early 1859 Land Department map as Robertson's Pre-Emptive Right 74

However, it was the squatter Robert Vercoe, who may have been in the area even earlier and who made
the Pre-Emptive Right application in 1854. This application was for 320 acres,”> which most probably
included the adjoining allotment 2, the site of a two-roomed cottage built for the Vercoe Brothers.”6
This no longer exists.

Robertson's house was reputedly built of cedar wood brought from Singapore. The timber was cut and
jointed in the Straits Settlement, and 'enough was prepared for a spacious four-roomed villa'7’
Probably dating from the pre-1862 period, Robertson's house once had blackwood shingles on the
roof.”® A photograph of James Robertson's property dated 1922, reveals a brick building with wide
gable roof and chimney attached to a smaller hip roofed building. It is difficult to identify the roof
material, which could be shingles on the hip roof section.”®

73. Early Days of Berwick, p.93; Max Thomson, Little Hills, p.9.
74, County of Mornington, Public Lands Officc, Mclbourne, 28 June, 1859.
75, Marjorie Morgan, Crown Lands Pre-Emptive Right Applications: Victoria 1850-1854, p.19.

76. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp.117-119.
7. Early Days of Berwick, p.93.

78, Information supplied by Max Thomson.

79. Photo dated 1922, courtesy of Max Thomson,
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The house was rebuilt on the same site in about 1943. According to Norman Crowley, a local resident
who lived in the reconstructed house in the 1950s, during the dismantling of the former building, an
attempt was made to remove the roof in a single piece using a tractor.80 When the house was rebuilt,
an L-shaped plan replaced the original symmetrical design. It is difficult to determine from observation
of external surfaces of the building, whether any original Singaporean fabric remains. All structural
timbers in the roof appear to date from the 1940s recomstruction. It is possible that some of the
weatherboard pieces are very old. There is a mix of materials used to clad the exterior, including sheet
metal, cement sheet, timber and brick to the rear. The bathroom is attached as a skillion to one end of
the house and has a thick rubble wall on one side with part constructed of handmade bricks matching
those in the twin fireplace. This section could relate to the brick building in the 1922 photograph.

The later history of Robertson's Narre Warren North allotment is told in Registrar General's Office
records. In 1862 Robertson was listed as Crown Grantee of Crown Allotment 1 in Section 22, 160
acres purchased for £160. By 1911, as the result of an agreement made in 1907, Crown Allotment 1
became the property of Louis William Schneider. A second house, built on the property at this time
and known as St. Leonards, still stands on the hill overlooking the older house. An inspection of St.
Leonards was not permitted by the current owners at the time of survey and further research into the
intactness of this building is required. Originally a simple weatherboard cottage, the house is said to be
in poor condition, with Hardiboard cladding over the original walls, collapsing floor and deteriorated
footings. The building is sited on a rocky outcrop with established cypresses which distinguish the site
in the surrounding landscape of grassy undulating hills,

The property, including both residences and several outbuildings, remained in the hands of the
Schneider family until its sale in 1971 to Licensed Freeholds Limited. Tusko Nominees Pty Ltd were
purchasers in 1979 and John and Lillian Bellfield bought the land containing the old Robertson house
in 19818! which is considerably altered and rebuilt (possibly using some early material), and is
surrounded now by a large collection of disused Army machinery assembled for museum purposes.

Significance

This site, with buildings located on two properties has high local significance as an historic site that
was part of district squatter James Robertson's large Watwillroon cattle run, once covering much of the
present day Narre Warren North. The older house, although altered and rebuilt, may still contain
clements of Robertson's pre-1862 four-roomed home. The home built at the top of the hill, now
subdivided onto a separate title, requires investigation, but is believed to be historically and
architecturally significant also. Located on a hill containing a rocky outcrop and established cypress
plantings, the former St. Leonards is an important feature in the historic landscape .

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Promote further research on the fabric of the old Robertson house to identify sections
associated with the original building or other important stages of development, and investigate
the significance of the St Leonards house;

o In the case of building development on the property, particular attention should be paid to the
conservation of outbuildings (one contains a well) and, if the house is demonstrated to contain
the original materials of the Singapore prefabricated building, retain the house in its existing
form.

80. Information supplied by N. Crowley, 1993.
8l. Registrar General's Office, Search No. 57714.
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Burr Hill
3 Burr Hill Court Berwick

History & description

The original owner of this site on Allotment 11 (seven acres on the north-west corner of Brisbane Street
and Buchanan Road) was district pioneer John Brisbane.#2 An early member of the Berwick District
Road Board, Brisbane was one of the first Shire Councillors in 1868.83 In 1876 the Brisbane Street
property was transferred to the Wilson family and then to James Buchanan, who was married to Anne
Jane Wilson 8 All three families were related by marriage.

A number of dates of construction have been suggested for the oldest part of Burr Hill, ranging from
1854 to 1863.8% However, the date may be as late as 1876 when Buchanan became the registered
owner or 1878-79 when a house was rated first on Allotment 11.%¢ The writers of Early Days of
Berwick, who included Norman Beaumont, a Buchanan descendant, claimed that Burr Hill was built by
Buchanan after he finished farming at his earlier property Ardblair (now known as Beaumont Farm).?7

The Buchanan brothers were district pioneers, purchasing the Ardblair site in 1854. The Hon. James
Buchanan, M L.C. (1827-1914), was born in Scotland and arrived in Port Phillip in 1849, He was
involved in pastoral pursuits in New South Wales at first and then went to the Castlemaine and
Bendigo goldfields. In 1851 Buchanan commenced farming in the Plenty district, where he bred
Aytshire cattle. He became a successful wheat farmer in the Gippsland district. Buchanan was a
member of the Mornington Branch of the Port Phillip Farmers Society, a first member of the Berwick

82. Andrew Keith Ballantyne, "The History of "Burr Hill", Berwick'. (Includes a Title search).
83 Early Days of Berwick, pp.19, 21.
84, Andrew Keith Ballantyne, "The History of "Burr Hill", Berwick'".

85. 1977 Auction brochure; 1990 Auction brochure,

86. Berwick rate books 1878-99 No. 53. No house listed on Allotment Eleven 1875-1877. rate
books prior to 1875 are missing.

87. Early Days of Berwick, p.37.
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District Road Board and Shire Council and a member of the Royal Agricultural Society of Victoria. He
retired from politics in 1900.88

On his death, Buchanan bequeathed his Burr Hill house and grounds to the Presbyterian Church for use
as a manse.®? It was owned by the Church from 1916 until 1941.99 Over the years, its grounds have
been subdivided and in 1985, Burr Hill Court was created. From that date it has been listed at 3 Burr
Hill Court, replacing the earlier Brisbane Street address. The property is currently owned by John and
Marie Wilde.

The residence itself has been subject to alterations and additions, The oldest identifiable section of
Burr Hill is the neo-Gothic building attached to the rear section of the house, containing a cellar of
three rooms, one featuring an old bread oven, suggesting the room was used as a kitchen. The portico
entrance, chimney and overall massing of this early building present a picturesque image. The original
cast iron on the verandah was removed during Norman Steele's ownership.?!

Attached to the old building (by 2 new addition), is a symmetrical villa with large windows and
generous verandah overlooking sloping lawns to the south, probably built in the 1890s. Later Arts and
Crafts features include a double-posted verandah probably dating from the 1920s. The garden features

a very old rose garden and some large established trees. More recent additions are revealed in 1977
922

and 1990 sketch plans of the house contained in Auction brochures.

—

Original 1854/1863 section of Burr Hill Residence

Early Days of Berwick, p.38.

Early Davs of Berwick, p.38.

Andrew Keith Ballantyne, "The History of "Burr Hill", Berwick'.

Information supplied by Louise Reeve

Compare illustration Early Days of Berwick, opposite p.15 with photographs and sketches in
1977 and 1990 Auction brochures; City of Berwick Valuer's records.

82888
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Significance

Burr Hill has regional significance as one of Berwick's earliest homes with its oldest section built in
1878 or earlier for the notable district farmer and parliamentarian, the Hon. James Buchanan, M.L.C.
It was most probably built after he finished farming at his earlier property Ardblair (part of which is
now known as Beaumont Farm). Despite alterations and additions, some original features remain, such
as the cellar, a very old rose garden and some large established trees. The 1890s symmetrical additions
are externally intact and feature a later Arts and Crafts verandah treatment. The 1977 and later
additions and the subdivision of the land have reduced the design and landmark significance of the

property.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original sections (1854/63 and 1890s) of the house, which is of
significance;

s Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

= Encourage the continuation of use(s) of the premises for purposes which are compatible with
historical uses of the site.
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Four Oaks

13 Cardigan Street Endeavour Hills

History & description

This property is the original homestead on the large Grassmere Estate once owned by Dr. John
Tremearne and subdivided and sold during the 1880s boom years.”> Although retaining its rural
atmosphere for some time afterwards, it finally became part of the suburbs of Endeavour Hills, Doveton
and Eumemmerring.

Originally part of the pastoral run of district pioneer Thomas Herbert Power, the site of Four Oaks (on
Portion 1, Parish of Eumemmerring) was included in Power's 1850s subdivision. Power became Crown
Grantee of Portion 1 in December 1852 and continued to own the land until 1875. Throughout this
period Power made considerable sums of money through the leasing and mortgaging of Portions 1, 2, 3,
4,5,6,6A,7, 10 and 15. In 1856 he leased them for eight years to Gustave Aldophe Von Lenney for
£500 per annum. Three years later he raised £5000 on the property and in 1875 sold the lot to Richard
Colclough at a good profit for £7260.94

Dr. John Tremearne of Creswick was associated with the former Power properties from 1883 when he
bought Portions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 6A, 7, 10 and 15 from Colclough for £10,899. Tremearne immediately
leased the property to Robert Brown Ridler for £550 a year.%% It is not known how much Tremearne
made from the subdivision and sale of these lands together with other Power properties he purchased in
the 1880s.

The story of Four Oaks became part of the financial excesses of the 1880s boom period with the names
of prominent land boomers such as James Munro, James Mirams and Frederick Illingworth as major
actors. Fourteen days after Tremearne sold to Mirams much of the land was sold by the Real Estate

93, Registrar-General's Office Search No.20037 (Tremearne).
94, Registrar-General's Office Search No.20037.
95, Registrar-General's Office Search No.20037.
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and Mortgage Bank to Illingworth.9 James Munro, who founded the Real Estate Bank and his son,
Donald, were partners in the firm Munro and Baillieu that auctioned the Grassmere Estate.
Illingworth, a Yorkshireman and M.L.C. for Northern Province, helped form the Centennial Land
Bank.. In the 1880s he borrowed and owed six-figure sums of money. When the boom burst,
Illingworth fled to Western Australia to escape his bad debts and, ironically, later became State
Treasurer.>”

The Grassmere Estate of over 3,000 acres was advertised as a 'Noble Estate situated in the most
Beautiful spot in Victoria'. It was 'only a few minutes walk' from Dandenong, a 'pretty township, now
so fast becoming a Favourite Residential Suburb'.98

Tremearne's. dealings with the Real Estate Bank went on until May 1891, when he transferred the
remainder of his property. The bank immediately mortgaged to the City of Melbourne Bank (another
boom period creation). In December 1891 four banks collapsed including the Real Estate Bank. It was
the City of Melbourne Bank which in 1895 sold Block 1 (the site of Four Oaks) to Charles Chaplyn
Grover.%?

The later history of Four Oaks has been far less dramatic. It was some years before the area was
developed into the suburb of Endeavour Hills with its streets named after the members of the crew of
Captain Cook's ship Endeavour. By the 1960s, Four Oaks had been purchased by W. A. Jones, a
vet.100 The land was further subdivided in 1972 when the old house was located in Lot 96 on the west
side of Cardigan Street.19! Later owners were Rolf and Alisa Wessell in 1975 and Glenda Thomas.
The current owner is Ruth Pease who purchased the property in 1991.102

Facing away from its current strect entrance, Four Oaks remains today as a symmetrical villa centred
on a haif acre block. The property contains two large oaks indicating the position of the former oak-
lined driveway from Heatherton Road.193 A majority of the house appears to date from the Victorian
era, as indicated by the ornate central doorway. Boxed triple-light windows with central fixed panes
are later additions, as are weatherboard additions at the side of the verandah. Internally there are
features of note, including an old fireplace in the former kitchen plus ceiling cornices and roses, all
dating from late last century.

Significance

This weatherboard Victorian villa has high local significance as the original farm homestead on the
large Grassmere Estate. It was most probably built for Dr. John Tremearne, owner in 1883, of the site
that was once part of Power's pastoral run. It was sold in 1888 at the height of the land boom and is
now surrounded by the suburban Endeavour Hills. Whilst the house has lost its original landscape
context it still retains many late Victorian architectural features and, most significantly, two of the four
oaks after which it was named. ‘

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

96. Title vol. 1765 folio 916.

97. M. Cannon, The Land Boomers, M.V. P., 1966, pp.4, 17, 18, 36, 73, 74, 84, 85, 122.
98. South Bourke and Mornington Journal, 18 November 1888.

99, Title vol. 1765 folio 916.

100. Information supplied by Ruth Pease.

101. Lodge Plan No. 89567, dated 7 July, 1972.
102 Title Vol, 8942, fol. 240.

103. Information supplied by R. Pease.
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o Conserve those paris of the house which demonstrate imporiant successive stages in the
development of the property and/er provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques,

~ o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;
o Prevent development adjacent to significant paris of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design,
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Chadwick Farm
Chadwick Road Harkaway

This farmhouse of vertical slab construction with mud infill was constructed in 1900 or earlier by a
local Harkaway farmer. Maurice Chadwick.!%* The property once covered 100 acres but after
subdivision in 1972 now stands on 20 acres. %%

An eccentric district character who lived an almost hermit-like existence, Chadwick was fascinated by
early building technology'?. In 1906 he added two rooms to his original one-roomed farmhouse. The
building was built in two gabled sections, similar in form and materials and is reasonably intact today.
The method of construction involves a timber frame with wide slabs of timber nailed to cross-beams,
forming the exterior of the building. It appears that Chadwick was attempting to recreate the early
timber slab building technique which involved slabs slotted into top and bottom plates. The infill
material may have originally been mud, which is evident in sections of the wall, and is mostly replaced
with concrete. (It is likely that Chadwick himself used concrete as he was evidently using the material
in the construction of the later house). The roof is clad in corrugated iron with long timber palings
beneath, and weatherboard gable ends. Both halves of the building have pre-cast concrete chimneys (of
the Pickering Flemington variety seen in many older Berwick buildings), with one section recently
paved in brick and the other retaining wooden floorboards.

Later Chadwick built the house next door using hand made concrete blocks.!®” The new house is also
intact, and utilises an interesting type of square brick with porous surface which has been painted. A
number of old trees surround the houses which are set well back from the road and form a picturesque
farm landscape when viewed from the driveway approach. A large oak is particularly notable.

104, Information supplied by Max Thomson.

105. Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School Project; Lodge Plan 111786.
106. Information supplied by Max Thomson.

107, "Historic Homes of Harkaway'.
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Chadwick was the owner of Chadwick Farm until the early 1960s. By the 1970s the property was
owned by David Karl and Susan Miriam Axelson, who carried out renovations 1o the old cottage.108

Significance

Chadwick Farm, built c1900 with additions in 1906, has high local significance as the home of
Harkaway farmer, Maurice Chadwick. Fascinated by early building techniques, Chadwick wsed timber
frame and slal> construction with mud and concrete infill to create this unusual building. He aiso built
the house next door using hand made concrete blocks, and together the buildings have design interest,
with the property as a whole having aesthetic significance.

Conservation guidelines
In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the original sections of both houses, which are of significance;

o Conserve those parts of both houses which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and provide intact evidence of changing construction techniques;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, particularly the large ozk between the two
houses, and maintain a visual relationship between the plantings and the significant buildings
on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of both buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant paris of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o In the case of building development on the property, particular attention should be paid to the
conservation of the driveway approach to the farm.

108, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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Brentwood (former Kippenross)

121 Clyde Road Berwick
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The former name of this property, Kippenross, was taken from the Scottish estate of the Pearson
family,!%9 important Victorian pastoralists and parliamentarians, who were associated with Brentwood
during its early years.

The site of Brentwood was owned in 1883 by John Samuel White, a South Melbourne contractor.!10
By 1887 it was owned by George W. Taylor,!!! and. in December 1893, during Victoria's economic
depression, by the grazier Michael McCormack of Tallarook.!12

At the turn of the century, the Berwick property came into the hands of the Pearson family. At this
time, the present weatherboard residence was most probably built for Olive Kate Pearson of Berwick,
married woman. Olive, the owner in 1903, was the daughter of George Gooch and wife of the Hon.
William Pearson of Kilmany Park, Hampton.!!? The property was owned by the Pearsons and in 1905
was transferred to the Hon. William Pearson and Alexander Gooch.!!'# In 1911 the Hon. John Pearson,
MLA, and family moved to another Kippenross, an imposing red brick, double-storey bungalow on the
Gloucester Avenue hill. In the 1930s, this residence became part of St. Margaret's School, 113

109. Paul de Serville, Port Phillip Gentlemen, O.V.P., 1980, p.183.
110. Title vol. 1197 fol. 299378.

111. Title vol. 1922 fol. 384266.

112, Transfer No. 342320

113, Title information supplied by present owners.

114, Transfer No. 507630.

115. Early Days of Berwick, p.141.
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Former Stables, Brentwood
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eway entry, Brentwood
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Other notable owners of Kippenross in Clyde Road included the Davy family, retired sheep farmers
from the Riverina.!1® Humphrey Davy was the registered owner in February 1912.117 A view of the
house survives, a photograph reputedly taken by Davy. After Davy's death in 1913, his widow, Mercy
Jane, became the owner.!18 From the 1920s until the 1940s, the property was the home of Moira Ethel
Pennefather, spinster, daughter of H. C. Pennefather, 'known throughout Australia as an eminent sheep
classer, classing many of the famous studs'.!!® They may have renamed the property Ardsley.!20 A
number of alterations and additions were carried out during the Pennefather ownership including the
replacement of the original bay windows. Col. Cecil Mervyn Thomas, who became the owner in 1946,
in 1959 won the Victorian Fodder Conservation State Championship for dairy farm under dry farming
conditions. The property was named Brentwood during the Thomas ownership.!?! A Toorak
managing director, Henry Wells Rowden, was the new owner in 1962.122. By this date, the valuer's
records describe Brentwood as consisting of a weatherboard homestead, a smaller weatherboard house
and two cottages, as well as stables, barns, haysheds, an old wool shed and grain silo, cattle yards,
weatherboard garage, implement shed, and to suit contemporary lifestyles, a swimming pool and tennis
court.123

At the time of the 1980 auction ‘Brentwood Homestead' was described as a historic home with ‘all the
qualities for an idyllic lifestyle’. The original symmetrical villa form of the house has been obscured by
additions to the sides and rear of the building, and in particular by changes to the pattern of
fenestration. One of the brick cottages, formerly used as servants quarters, has been restored by the
current owners Peter and Lyndell White. The stables and hay shed are good, intact examples of their
type, and in conjunction with the other outbuildings, demonstrate the various farming uses of this
property over the decades of this century. Set in an established garden and on an allotment of nearly 21
hectares, Brentwood is notable for the cypress-lined drive to the homestead.!?4 Residential
development is now occurring across the rural landscape that once surrounded the homestead.

Significance

The former Kippenross, although much altered, has high local significance as an important district
homestead illustrating the comfortable lifestyle of prosperous local farming families. It has historical
associations with the Pearsons, a prominent Victorian family, who owned the property from 1903-1911
and named it after the family estate in Scotland. The Pearsons, who arrived in the colony at an early
date, combined pastoral pursuits with successful parliamentary careers, and included the Hon. William
Pearson and the Hon. John Pearson. The latter was president of the influential Mornington Farmer's
Society from 1904-1906.'25 Brentwood is notable for its striking cypress-lined driveway and fine
garden setting. The collection of intact outbuildings, in particular the stables, hayshed and restored
brick cottage, are valuable evidence of the various farming uses of this property and represent one of
four such collections of farm outbuildings remaining within the City.

116. Information supplied by present owners.

117. Title information supplied by present owners.

118, Photograph copied by Jim Poynter, 1992; Transfer No. 58393,
119. Early Days of Berwick, p.32; Transfer No. 2091464.

120. Early Days of Berwick. p.32.

121, Early Days of Berwick, p-32.

122. Caveat No. 104410; Transfer No. B560322.

123. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

124. Auction Brochure, 29 March 1980.

125. Early Days of Berwick, p.61.
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Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property, in particular the driveway plantings;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of these buildings and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to the retention of
the significant outbuildings within the allotment containing the house. In any subdivision
plans the driveway should be retained as the approach to the allotment which contains the
significant buildings.
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Doveton Heights

24 Doveton Avenue Eumemmerring

History & description

This Victorian house, a rare survivor in the area, may date from 1894 when James Facey purchased its
site, Lot 57 in Crown Portion 16 Parish of Eumemmerring, from the City of Melbourne Bank.12¢ The
early history of its sitc is an interesting one. Like a number of other sites in Doveton Avenue it was
originally in the 1850s part of George Darley Boursiquot's Crown Portion 16 of 292 acres.!?” In 1885
the site became known as Lot 57 and was included in Dr. John Tremearne's subdivision of that year.!28
Following the 1880s boom years, during the 1890s depression, Lot 57 was one of a number of
allotments in Tremearne's subdivision acquired by the Real Estate Mortgage Bank and then the City of
Melbourne Bank.'?® Both these banks were associated with the notorious land boomer, James Munro,
and were involved in land speculation. !3°

It was thought that the former Doveton Heights was the house of Captain John Doveton, Marine
Surveyor, whose name was adopted later for the district where he lived and farmed in the 1890s.
However, Titles Office records confirm that Doveton's wife was the registered owner of Lot 53,13! the
site of a house that no longer exists.

In May 1967, the old farm house known as Doveton Heights was sold by Mr. Schoneville to its present
owners, Enid and Gregory Gibb. The house was described in Berwick Valuer's records as a 'Brick early
dwelling over 60 years old. Approx 1900.'32 Its early date of construction for this area is confirmed

126. Title Vol. 2546 fol. 509048 (with adjacent Lot 58).

127. Registrar-General's Office Search No. 20037 (Tremearne).
128. Title Vol. 1765 fol. 917 (Lodge Plan 1240).

129. Title Vol. 2358 fol. 471423.

130. Michael Cameron, The Land Boomers, pp.106-107.

131, Title Vol. 2144 fol. 428662.

132. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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by its location. Its front faces the Princes Highway rather than Doveton Avenue, suggesting that the
house was built before the street was formed.

The house is a good example of a Victorian villa and a rare one in the Doveton area. Constructed in
red brick, it features an unusual siring course at window sill level in addition to a verandah height
cowrse. The corbelled chimneys are particularly attractive as is the verandah with its bull-nosed roof
and timber brackets. Doveton Heights is now sited on 960 square metres of land.

Significance

The former Doveton Heights has high local significance as a rare example of a surviving Victorian
house in this urbanised and industriatised area. It is one of two such houses remaining in Doveton
Avenue, The orientation of the house towards the highway is evidence of its early date of construction.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the herilage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

v Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

s Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built fogn, bt be clearly contemporary in design;

v Retain views of the house and plantings from the street;

o Promote further historical research to determine whether the housc was built for James Facey
or 2 later owner of the site.
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House

37 Doveton Avenue Eumemmerring

.k

History & description

This house (later used as a farmhouse), is said to have once been used as a coach stop for stage coaches
travelling along the Gippsland Road (now the Princes Highway) to Berwick 133 Early 1850s maps
show Crown Allotment 16 in the Parish of Eumemmerring (the site of this property), 292 acres fronting
the Gippsland Road. 134

Further research is needed to provide documentary evidence for the claims that the Doveton house was
a coach stop. It is known that the first coach service through Berwick was in 1865, there being a six
times weekly run from Berwick to Melbourne and a three times weekly service from Berwick to Sale.
There was considerably greater traffic along the road after 1876 'when the rush set in for Gippsland',133
Some passengers had meals at the Border Inn (now known as the Border Hotel). Cobb and Co., which

had their own stables at Dandenong, ran coaches to Berwick after the main road was formed in
1865.136

The site was identified as Lot 38 in Dr. John Tremearnes' 1885 subdivision.!37 It was sold in 1886
with adjacent Lot 39 to Alexander Norquay a Dandenong farmer. In 1890, after Alexander's death,

John Norquay a Lyndhurst farmer was granted probate. Later that year Arabella Brown became the
new owner. 138

133, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.88.

134, Run Map 3714, Berwick, Central Plan Office, Melbourne.
135, Early Days of Berwick, p.24.

136. Early Days of Berwick, pp.24-25,

137, Lodge Plan 1240.

138, Title Vol, 1869 fol. 373800.
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The Victorian timber house on its large allotment was the home latér of the widow of Victorian Premier
McLean.13% The house appears to be a fairly intact example of a Victorian villa and an early
construction date is suggested by the lack of eaves in the roof and by the simple window treatment.
Views of the house from the street are obscared by a substantial pepper tree in the fromt garden,
probably dating from the construction of the hous, indicating it to be at least 200 years old. The privet
hedge is another feature of the property, -

During the 19605 when a second house was built, another weatherboard, the owmer was W. R
Cameron. 10 Today the dwelling is located on a large site of around 1.9 hectares. The present owner is
Margaret Carns.

Significance

This Victorian timber house on iis large allotment has high local significance as an early building
surviving in a highly urbanised area, reputedly once used as a stopping place for coaches travelling
along the Gippsland Road and later, the home of the widow of Victorian Premier McLean. The pepper
tree and privet hedge make the property a landmark in Doveton Avenue.

Conservation guidelines
In order 1o conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the foture maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve significant clements and plantings, including the hedge fence and pepper tree, and
maintain a visual relationship between the plantings and the significant buildings on the
property, ' E

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the bunilding and the site as a whole;

@ Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

139. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, pp.88. This needs confirmation,
140. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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The Springs

97-99 Greaves Road Narre Warren South

History and description

This red brick Queen Anne style residence with its associated cottage, stables and blacksmith's shop
was built in 1903 for Edwin Greaves, member of a family of pioneer English farmers.!4! Its site once
formed part of the historic Clarke Estate, an extensive property taken up in the 1850s by William John
Turner ('Big') Clarke (18017-1874), and owned from 1874 by his son, Sir William Clarke (1831-1897).
The estate was run as a dairy farm complex with an 1860s homestead and an associated 1875 brick
cheese factory. located in what is now Homestead Road, Berwick. Both of these building survive.!42
This property was originally known as The Springs.!43

In 1903, the Clarke Estate was sold. The homestead with 1280 acres was purchased by William Wilson
IJnr, and the Sweeney Bros. Wilson took the homestead section. The balance of the property, about
1620 acres, was purchased by Greaves, who built his fine brick home there. Natural springs were
located here so Greaves named the new house The Springs. The original homestead, 1 km distant,
became known as Springfield,'#4 and is now known as the Old Cheese Factory.

Edwin was a son of John Greaves, who came to Victoria in 1847 with his family from Buckingham
Shire in England. In 1906 Edwin established a Border Leicester sheep stud at the Springs and later,
his son Sydney established a Southdown stud and imported sheep from Tasmania. For many years
Sydney was a member of the Council of Breeders of British Sheep. He and his brother, Charles, were
local Councillors and presidents of the Berwick Agricultural Society,'4> while younger brother Clyde
continued to run The Springs. The property remains in the family, and is now owned by Jeff Spencer.

141. E. Henry, Six Homesteads of Berwick, p. 32.
142, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
143, E. Henry, Six Homesteads of Berwick, p. 29.
144, E. Henry, Six Homesteads of Berwick, p. 32.
145, E. Henry, Six Homesteads of Berwick, pp. 33-34.
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Located on the crest of a rise, The Springs is set well back from the road, commanding spectacular
views of the valley to the north. Established cypress and pepper tree plantings provide a sheltered rear
yard where the stables and blacksmith's shop stand.

The residence is largely intact, consisting of a symmetrical design decorated with Federation features
such as a diagonal bay window at the north-east corner, two tall potted chimneys and a gabled hip roof
which retains its corrugated iron cladding beneath recent sheet tile cladding. A wide verandah returns
on both sides. A clay tile floor is bordered in slate and supported by cast iron posts and brackets, A
garden bed fringes the verandah, flanking a gracious entrance with concrete steps to the leadlight
Edwardian doorway.

Internally the house retains a lot of its original carpentry. There are extensive beaded pine walls in the
skillion and the ceilings of the bathroom and kitchen. The house is comparable to The Downs
(formerly known as Rahiri), in Buchanan Road.

The blacksmith's shop, constructed in hand made bricks is remarkably intact, with its hearth and
bellows still operational. Benches and equipment are also intact. The stable building north of the
blacksmith's shop has a broad gable roof with a loft and pulley below the ridge. The house and
outbuildings remain on a large rural allotment of around 107 hectares. Suburban housing is
encroaching on the surrounding rural landscape.

Former stables, The Springs
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Significance

This property, which includes a 1903 red brick Queen Anne style residence, an associated brick cottage,
a very. intact blacksmith's shop and nearby stables, has state significance as an important turn of the
century farming property. It is a local landmark in a fine rural setting. It has significance for its
associations with the Greaves family, pioneer English farmers, who established important Border
Leicester and Southdown sheep studs there.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o

Conserve the fabric of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve the significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the
outbuildings and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retaining the
significant outbuildings within the same allotment as the house. In any subdivision plans the

. driveway should be retained as the approach to the allotment containing the significant

buildings.
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Glencairn

159 Greaves Road Narre Warren South

.

History & description

This hip-roofed farm house with its unusual long bay windows at the front was the first home of Sydney
A. Greaves, one of the four sons of Edwin Greaves, JP, a district pioneer, after Sydney's marriage to
Anne Jane (Nana) Beaumont. !¢ The house was moved in about 1922 from the landing at Bass.
Transported by horse. it was reassembled and erected on the present site,'4” once part of The Springs,
the 1903 property owned by Sydney's father. Sydney worked on this property which by the 1960s was
run by his brother Clyde 4%

The Greaves family played a major role in the development of the Berwick district and were noted
horse breeders, particularly of Clydesdales, trotters and Shetlands.!*® They were prominent residents
who were active participants in local government. Sydney Greaves was Berwick Shire President in
1935-36!30 and earlier, between 1925 and 1927, was President of the Berwick and District Agricultural
and Horticultural Society.!*! His brother Charles F. Greaves also became Berwick Shire President.!%2

Glencaim is located in a fine garden setting with conifers along the drive. It was known for many
years as the "Tin House' because its exterior was clad with tin, 1?3 presumably pressed metal sheet such
as that produced by the Wunderlich company. Today it has had unfortunate alterations in the form of
hardiplank cladding. The house is rectangular, with hip roof and is surrounded on all sides by a

146. Information supplied by Louise Reeve.
147. Information supplied by Margaret Greaves (Sydney's half-sister).
148, Information supplied by Louise Reeve; City of Berwick Valuer's records.

149, Early Days of Berwick, p.14.

150. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.28.

151. Early Days of Berwick, p.62.

152, Early Days of Berwick. p.62.

153. Information supplied by Margaret Greaves (Sydney's half-sister).
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verandah featuring timber criss-crossed balustrade, probably recent. Glencairn is located on a site of
around 2 hectares, and the current owners are Julian and Prudence Blackburne,

Significance

Glencairn has high local significance as the first marital home of Sydney Greaves, member of one of
Berwick's earliest and most important district families, noted as horse breeders and for their
involvement in local government. The house, moved from Bass to its present site about 1922, is located
on land which was once part of The Springs, owned from 1903 by Sydney's father, Edwin Greaves.
Glencairn is located in a fine garden setting. .

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the original fabric of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve driveway and other contributory plantings on the property, and maintain a visual
relationship between the plantings and the significant building on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

= In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retention of the
driveway plantings as an approach to Glencairn.
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Reedbeck Farm

31-37 Halleur Road Harkaway

-~

= S

History & description

One of Harkaway's early Lutheran German settlers, Carl Friedrich Tschentscher, was the first owner in
1856 of the original 96 acrc site of Reedbeck Farm.!** This land is shown on a contemporary map and
is described as containing 'good red soil'. It is located north of the property of Wilhelm Wiese in King
Road (later known as Kilfera). There are tracks linking Tschentscher's property with Harkaway Road
on the east and to Berwick via King Road on the south.!3® Tschentscher raised finance on his
Harkaway property in 1857. 1860 and 1861 from other German settlers including Joseph Scholtz and
the well-known district pioneer Dr. Emst Gottlob Wanke. The Reedbeck Farm site became the
property of the Wanke family in 1865 and by 1924 was owned by Harry Victor Wanke.!%6

It is thought that the older hip-roofed section of the existing weatherboard house, still with its original
shingles, may date from the 1850s.!57 This section is said to have been constructed in 1854 and has
been described as ‘one of the oldest buildings in Harkaway'.!3%  Skillion extensions have been added to
either side of this building and a broad roofed bungalow style addition to one end creating a new main
facade. Established plantings surround the site, with a spectacular cypress canopy along the approach
from Halleur Road

The current owners. lan and Naida Baillie, who run the property as a hobby farm, purchased it in 1981.
They have retained the old house but subsequently built a new brick residence.!3?

154, Registrar-General's Office Search No.45766.
155. Plan of Portions of Land in the Parish of Berwick, Surveyor General's Office, Melbourne, 26

Nov. 1855.
156. Registrar-General's Office Search No.45766.
157. Harkawayv Primary School Project, 1988, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
158. Harkawav Primarv School Project, 1988.

159. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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Significance

Reedbeck Farm has regional significance as an example of the farmhouses built by Harkaway's German
settlers during the 1850s and 1860s. Harkaway was one of a number of German Lutheran farming
settlements in colonial Victoria. The importance of the Reedbeck Farm building relates to its early date
of construction (1856 or earlier) and further research and physical investigation is required to confirm
this date. As the home of pioneer Carl Friedrich Tschentscher, it may be one of the oldest buildings in
Harkaway.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Promote further research on the fabric of the building to identify sections associated with the
original building or other important stages of development;

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property and in particular the driveway
plantings;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.
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Melrose
137-163 Harkaway Road Harkaway

History & description

This imposing Victorian residence with its tower and elevated position commands panoramic views
towards Western Port and Port Phillip Bays and, in the distance, the Strzelecki Ranges. It was built
c1875 for John Edward Deeble. 190 The site on Crown Allotment 8 (shown on early maps as 'good
pasture'), was originally part of Robert Gardiner's Berwick run, purchased in 1856 by Dr. Ernst Gottlob
Wanke. Following subdivision, Wanke sold Lot 24 to Schache who sold to John Edward Deeble. This
lot stretched from Hessell Road to Baker Road.!®! Nothing more is known of Deeble.

The best-remembered period in the long history of Melrose was between 1938 and 1958 when it
became the Try Boys Home, a training farm for boys.!62 William Mack Forster, the founder of the Try
Boys Society, had a concern for disadvantaged youth and also established the City Newsboys Club and
the Gordon Institute for Boys.!63 After the closure of the Try Boys Home at Harkaway, the Society
continued as the Try Youth and Community Services, which incorporated the William Forster Try Boys
Society. 164

Shortly before Melrose was purchased, the Society's honorary treasurer, E. H. M. Ratcliffe died. A new
1930s building used as dormitory accommodation was named E. H. M. Raicliffe House in his
honour, 65 and stands next to the main house today. The boys grew vegetables and farmed, becoming
virtually self-supporting.’®¢ Melrose was later owned by the Jones family who ran a horse stud there

160. Early Days of Berwick, p.79.

161. Registrar-General's Office Search 11039. (See subdivisional plans).
162. Try-First 100 Years, Wallace Landells, 1983.

163. Herald, 19 March 1973, p.2.

164, Try-First 100 Years.
165. Try-First 100 Years.
166. Gazette, 10 June 1987.
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and in 1984 sold to Noel and Marlene Gould. It was the third historic home in the Berwick district
acquired and renovated by the Goulds. The others were Kinross in Palmerston Street and Glenfalloch
in Brisbane Street. For renovations to Melrose the Goulds employed the architects Whiteman and Peck
who had restored the famous Sefton homestead at Macedon. The Goulds ran the property as a cattle
stud.167 Melrose is presently owned by Alan, George and Agnes Curry.

Today, despite some alterations and additions, Melrose is substantially intact providing a good example
of a grand Victorian residence. The square tower positioned over the main entrance makes an
imposing landmark, but overall the design is very simple with Classical ornamentation on the tower
and main facade. The hip roof extends an extraordinary distance back from the facade, complete with
enclosing verandah on three sides. A recent rear addition features large windows overlooking the
garden. The Ratcliffe building, dairy shed, stables and garage, all dating from the 1930s Try Boys
Home era, are also intact. It is set on a rural allotment of 26.51 hectares.

Significance

Melrose, an imposing Victorian villa with a tower on an elevated site, built c1875 for John Edward
Decble, has regional significance as an important district landmark for more than a century and a fine
example of a nineteenth century rural retreat. It is significant for its use between 1938 and 1958 as the
Try Boys Home, a training farm for boys. It has associations with William Mack Forster, founder of
the Try Boys Society and also of the City Newsboys Club and the Gordon Institute for Boys. The E. H.
M. Ratcliffe Cottage (named after the Try Society's honorary secretary), and a number of outbuildings
provide significant evidence of the property's use during the 1930s era.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

e Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

v Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the buildings and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Retain views of significant buildings and plantings from the street;

o In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retaining the
significant outbuildings and plantings within the allotment containing the house.

167. Gazette, 10 June 1987.
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Wandeen Farm

191-207 Harkaway Road Harkaway

History & description

Wandeen Farm, a large c1880 farmhouse!®® in an attractive farm landscape setting is associated with
the Drews, a district family!%® who lived there until the turn of the century.!’® The double-fronted
gabled timber house is characteristic of its period. Details such as the double door entrance and the
crazy-pave verandah floor date from the 1930s. Pines lining the driveway are of a considerable size, as
are a number of other exotic plantings on the property which create a landmark from a distance, A
Victorian feature is the very old tree in the circular drive in front of the house.

A second smaller house was added in the 1920s, and is used now as a caretaker's cottage. 7!

The property on 12V; acres of land was sold in 1972 to Jaroslav and Robyn Hryckow of Dandenong.!72
It was described at this time as ‘centrally situated in the unique Harkaway Village ... a delightful
farmlette in this favoured district'.!”™ A 1990 auction brochure described Wandeen Farm as 'one of
Harkaway's original properties having been settled over a century ago'.!7# By this time as well as the
'main homestead' and 'caretaker’s cottage’, there was a tennis court, swimming pool and sauna room. 17

The property was purchased by Ninth Turiki Pty Ltd and covers approximately 5 hectares. Wandeen
Farm is used in association with Roads End for the purpose of grazing.

168, Information supplied by Max Thomson; 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary
School Project.

169. Information supplied by Max Thomson.

170. Information supplied by Max Thomson. Title search required to confirm.

171. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

172. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

173. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

174. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

175. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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Significance

Wandeen Farm has high local significance as a good example of a ¢1880 farmhouse in an attractive
farm landscape and for its associations with the Drews. The house is significant as a characteristic but
large example of its type, still with its Victorian circular drive in front of the house. . Pine plantings
along the driveway and the 1920s caretaker's cottage contribute to the landmark qualities of the

property.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

Retain views of significant building(s) and plantings from the street;

In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retaining the
driveway plantings.
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Willurah Park

306 Harkaway Road Harkaway

History & description

This late Victorian weatherboard house on its substantial allotment of around 88 hectares with
hawthorn hedges and a fine landscape setting was the site of Randolph Anderson's Harkaway farm
known as the '500 acres', land originally not considered suitable for farming.!”® Randolph's wife,
Mary, was a daughter of the Harkaway German farmer Johann Gottlicb Wanke (1814-1889),177
associated with Westbourne at 315-319 Hessell Road, Harkaway.!”® Randolph and Mary were the
parents of the Rev. Oscar Anderson and Arthur Anderson, a long time employee of Berwick Shire
Council !?

In 1910, Dr. Chris Griffiths lived at Willurah Park!3¢ with a surgery at the front of the house.!¥!
During the Great War period, it was the home of the Coote family. Later, Spencer's Bon Spiel Hereford
stud was located there.'82 More recently, between the 1960s and 1980s, the property was occupied by
Allan and Lois Williams. who used it for grazing and dairying purposes. In 1964, it held 120 head of
cattle. At this time, three houses were recorded - two weatherboard and a new brick veneer built for the
Williams.'33  This family sold their grazing property, which also contained a dairy in 1988. It
contained Willurah Park with its 'main homestead .. a modern verandah-style building', a three
bedroom brick veneer, and the original seven room weatherboard Victorian house with adjoining two

176. Early Days of Berwick, p.76; information supplied by Otto Wanke.
177. Early Days of Berwick, p.76.

178, 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School, 1988.
179. Early Days of Berwick, p.76.

180. Early Days of Berwick, p.76.

181, 'Historic Homes of Harkaway'.

182, Early Days of Berwick, p.76.

183, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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bedroom cottage.!3¢ The property was afterward run as a dairy farm.1835 It is now owned by Roblex
Pty Ltd.

The older residence at Willurah Park is located on the crest of a hill overlooking Harkaway Road. The
asymmetrical facade has a half timbered gable and a sequence of four narrow double-hung windows.
Two corbelled brick chimneys and a break in the roof ridge indicate the original centre of the facade
which has been extended to the north, Probably during these alterations the verandah floor and
lacework were added and repeated on the southern end of the building. A weeping elm and palm adorn
the front garden which is approached by a winding drive lined with ash trees. North of this house, red
brick dairy buildings appear intact.

The farm landscape is characterised by extensive hawthorn hedges along Harkaway Road, the paddock
boundaries and another entry drive lined with elms to the north, perhaps the original drive.

Significance

Willurah Park, constructed c1893, has high local significance as an example of a late Victorian
farmhouse on a large allotment in a fine landscape setting, and demonstrates its use for grazing,
agriculture and dairying for about a century. It has early associations with Harkaway farmer, Randolph
Anderson, who was married to Mary, daughter of Johann Gottliecb Wanke, district German pioneer.
Later it became Spencer's Bon Spiel Hereford stud farm, and more recently has been a dairy farm.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the Victorian house, which is of significance;

= Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings,
the Victorian house and the new house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these
buildings;

@ Conserve the significant rural landscape character created by the plantings on the property,
and maintain a visual relationship between the plantings and the significant buildings on the
property, '

@ Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the Victorian house, major plantings and

associated farm buildings from overwhelming the heritage characteristics of these features and
the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Retain views of signiﬁcant building(s) and plantings from the street;

@ Inthe case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retaining views
between the house and Harkaway Road and retaining the curved driveway and elm-lined
northern driveway and other plantings (including hawthorn hedges).

184, Newspaper cutting, 21 April 1988, in City of Berwick Valuer's records.
185. 'Historic Homes of Harkaway'.
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Piney Ridge

82 Heatherton Road Endeavour Hills

. - ot

History & description

This property, one of two old surviving farms in the Endeavour Hills area, was purchased in 1942 by
Charles Hartley, a Melbourne manufacturer of rotary sprinklers and irrigation supplies. Hartley (1905-
1986), was born at a house on the site of what is now St Margaret's School in Berwick, then owned by
his father, and was a founder of the Australian Primary Producers Union.!#6

The Hartleys lived at first in a small cottage on the Piney Ridge property, recently demolished. Their
large brick house was built in 1942 and was originally a triple fronted villa with gabled pavilions
featuring tapestry brick lintels and corbels. A second storey was added in 1954, enclosing the front
verandah and radically altering the form of the building.’8” However, the house retains an important
relationship with a fine landscaped garden featuring an abundance of conifers and protected from the
road by a substantial cypress hedge. The formal garden can be favourably compared with that of Essex
Park, although the latter has lost many of its plantings in recent years. To the rear of the house there is
an earlier red brick manager's cottage, an old dairy, garage and chicken sheds.!38 Overall, the house,
grounds and rural landscape setting are a significant landmark overlooking the Endeavour Hills
shopping centre.

An important Jersey stud was established at Piney Ridge, which became well known for winning prizes
in the Melbourne, Sydney, Warragul and Berwick Shows. Hartley made history as the first Victorian
farmer to import semen from Duke University in Carolina U.S.A., to produce a better breed of cattle.
From the 1940s the farm manager was Vivian Campbell, son of Sir Harold Campbell, Australian

186. Berwick City News, 8 June 1989, Information supplied by Bruce Coller.
187. Valuer's records.
188. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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representative at the inaugural meeting of the United Nations. Campbell and his family lived in the
brick cottage at the rear of the main residence.!8%

Distinguished visitors included the Duke and Duchess of Gloucester in 1945, owners of a dairy farm in
the United Kingdom. During the last war, United States and Australian troops at Rowville used the
paddocks at Piney Ridge for manoeuvres, employing Italian POWs to build trenches for them. Today,
the Campbells still live on and manage the property.

Significance

A well-known local landmark with its large brick residence set in landscaped gardens, Piney Ridge has
regional significance as an important Jersey stud from the 1940s, winning prizes at the Melbourne,
Sydney, Warragul and Berwick Shows. Its owner in 1942, Charles Hartley (1905-1986), was a
Melbourne manufacturer of rotary sprinklers and irrigation supplies and a founder of the Australian
Primary Producers Union. During the last war, the paddocks at Piney Ridge were used for manoeuvres
by U. S. and Australian troops. The farm manager from the 1940s, Vivian Campbell, is the son of Sir
Harold Campbell, Australian representative at the inaugural meeting of the United Nations.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant outbuildings (including the cottagé) and maintain a visual relationship
between the outbuildings and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of
these buildings;

o Conserve the significant garden plantings and layout and the visual relationship between the
significant buildings on the site;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
' significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to retaining the
significant outbuildings and garden plantings on the same allotment as the house.

189. Information supplied from Narre Warren Library Archives.
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Rossmoyne Park

129-153 Hessell Road Berwick

*» .

History & description

The site of this property was originally owned by the early settler Thomas Grant,!%? and later by the
Hillbrichs, a pioneer German farming family associated with the establishment of the Harkaway
community. Johann Gottlieb Hillbrich (or Hillbrick) took up land in the 1850s north of the Princes
Highway and on the west side of Hessell Road. which he divided between his five sons. The location of
the original Hillbrich homestead was described by J. F. Curran in 1948 as,

'in the forefront of Mr S. Hillbrick's present home. With the exception of Mr S. Hillbrick's
farm the land has now passed to other ownerships'. !9}

Thelma Everett, a Hillbrich descendant, has identified this early Hillbrich homestead as Sunnyside,
located nearer the Highway, south of Rossmoyne Park. Two timber houses were built here, an earlier
and later homestead. but both have now gone. All that is left of Sunnyside today are two old wells and
cypress windbreaks in what used to be the homestead site.192

Johann Gottlieb Hillbrich purchased Section 14 (the site of Rossmoyne Park and Sunnyside), in May
1855 for £1012. He took out mortgages in 1855 and 1858, which had been discharged by August 1864.
In 1873, he transferred the southern part of the property bounded by Hessell Road and the Princes
Highway (known then as the main Gippsland Road) to his son Johann Gottlieb Emst (known as Ernst),
one of his five sons. The northern part of the property was transferred to Ernst in 1880, title for this
portion being taken out in 1882.193

190. Berwick Parish Plan.
191. Early Days of Berwick, p.76.
192. Information supplied by Thelma Everett.

193, Registrar General's Office Search No. 15251 (Hillbrich).
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During the 1890s Ernst mortgaged and sold off various portions of the southern part of the property.
By the late 1890s Daniel Sweeney was the owner. It continued in Sweeney ownership and in the 1950s
was owned by William Patrick and Francis Michael Sweeney.194

According to Hillbrich descendants Rossmoyne Park was constructed in the 1890s or earlier. During
the 1914-18 war, the Hillbrichs reputedly sheltered German sailors who had deserted, hiding them in a
well under the middle of the Rossmoyne Park house. 195

During this century the Hillbrichs lost the ownership of Rossmoyne Park but continued to work for
other district farmers. Bert Hillbrich, the cousin of Stan Hillbrich, worked for the Sweeneys.1% In
June 1933 D. Cowe, a discharged soldier settler, became the registered owner of Rossmoyne Park. In
fact, the whole of Section 14 was acquired by the Government under the Closer Settlement Scheme.197

The name Rossmoyne Park was given to the property by a later owner, Sir Rupert Steel, VRC
Chairman, who ran an Angus stud there. This was probably a stud name which Steel also used for a
later property.198 In the 1970s the property was leased by Bob Marshall and worked in conjunction
with its neighbour Warrenwood (also leased by Marshall) as a dairy farm. During this period, there
was a brick and concrete dairy, cowshed and holding yards at Rossmoyne Park. The Housing
Commission acquired the property, which is now owned by the Urban Land Authority. It is one of a
number of properties in Hessell Road where the land is intended for future residential development.199

The house is in fair condition but still largely intact. The main facade is asymmetrical and features
pendant eave brackets and windows with sidelights.

The verandah has been removed. The bi-chromatic brickwork has been painted. It is built using cavity
brick walling, relatively unusual at this time. A second brick building, located directly behind the
house, has now been internally linked to the main dwelling. Its form suggests it may have been built
. for storage or possibly for a farm use. A concrete floor replaces the original timber floors in both parts
of the house.

The outbuildings comprise a timber barn, milking sheds, concrete dairy and holding pens. The barn is
a particularly fine example of timber construction using a post and girt rather than the more usual stud
walling technique. This suggests a German origin, and this appears consistent with the known history
of the property. '

The garden retains a landmark Norfolk Island Pine, with cypress lining the drive and peppercorns at
the rear of the house.

Significance

Rossmoyne Park, comprising a brick villa with Edwardian detailing, fine timber barn, garden elements
and cypress-lined entry, has high local significance as the only remaining propeity associated with the
Hillbrichs, important early German settlers in the Berwick district. It reputedly sheltered German
deserters during the 1914-18 war. The barn is a rare and highly significant survivor, warranting
further investigation and comparative analysis. The property has importance also as a farm homestead
acquired in 1933 by D. Cowe under the Closer Settlement Scheme for Discharged Soldiers. Its name
was given by Sir Rupert Steel, VRC Chairman, who ran a successful Angus stud there. More recently,
the property was run as a dairy farm in conjunction with its neighbour Warrenwood, and a dairy
remains from this period.

194, Registrar General's Office Search No.52042 (Sweeney).

195. Information supplied by Pat Sweeney, 4 May, 1993.

196. Information supplied by Pat Sweeney.

197. Berwick. County of Mornington, Dept. of Lands and Survey, c1935.
198, Information supplied by George Wilson, 4 May, 1993.

199. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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Warrenwood

155-307 Hessell Road Berwick

History & description

This property was once the site of the home of pioneer German settler, Dr. Ernst Gottlob Wanke. He
was Crown Grantee of Section 9 in the Parish of Berwick comprising 640 acres, which he purchased in
the Government sales of 1853 for £896.29° His son, Immanuel (1856-1934) who married Bertha, the
daughter of J. F. Wilhelm Aurisch (1826-1911), another German settler, later owned the property.2°!

Dr. Wanke (1823-1897). arrived in colonial Victoria as a ship's surgeon but 'jumped ship' to go to the
Castlemaine gold diggings. On his return he bought the Warrenwood property. His medical services
were welcomed by early settlers and his farm in Hessell Road remained in the Wanke family ownership
for over one hundred vears. It originally faced Narre Warren North Road before the creation of Hessell
Road in 1861. The original timber house was replaced in 1860 by a house known as Hillcroft with
interior brick walls and exterior weatherboards (known as brick nogged construction) and a shingle
roof. A cellar, dairy and barn were constructed at this time. About 1888, a third house was built 15
yards from Hillcroft.2°2 The two earlier Hillcroft houses have gone but some of the outbuildings that
remain may date from the Wanke ownership. These include a barn (possibly built by Peter Wiese): a
glasshouse still with its original brickwork, believed to have been used by Bertha Wanke, a keen
gardener; and an old cowshed. There is also a fine example of a dairy which is currently used as
stables. The dairy features a brick floor in part with a wooden floor mounted on a granite boulder and
tree stump supports. Low timber trusses support the roof with post and rail partitions throughout the
interior and it is possible that the remains of a cheese press exist beneath the floor.203

200. Registrar-General's Office Search No. 41635 (Immanuel Wanke).
201. Early Days of Berwick, p.72.

202, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.107.

203. Information supplied by Beryl Exell (nee Wanke).
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Barn and part of former shed & stables, Rossmoyne Park

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original sections of the house, which is of significance;

Promote further research on the fabric of the building to identify main stages of development,
such as the rear section of the house which was possibly originally an outbuilding;

Conserve significant outbuildings in particular the timber barn with its post and girt
construction. and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings and the main house
in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property in particular the Norfolk Island Pine and other
garden elements in front of the house, the peppercorns at the rear and the cypress lined
driveway, and maintain a visual relationship between the plantings and the significant
buildings on the property;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design,

Retain views of the significant buildings and plantings from the street;

In the subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to the conservation of the
driveway plantings which form a key feature of the historic landscape, indicating the
traditional approach to Rossmoyne Park from Hessell Road,;

In the case of the building development on the property, particular attention should be paid to
the conservation of open space between the key buildings of the Rossmoyne Park property.
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The former Hillcroft property was leased in the 1970s by Bob Marshall, who ran it as a dairy. The
Pacinga Friesian Stud was listed there in City of Berwick Valuer's records. Containing two houses, the
property was sold in 1974 to the Victorian Housing Commission. It is owned currently by the Urban
Land Authority with a number of other Hessell Road properties, which are being developed as a
housing area comprising the Timbarra Estate at Berwick.204 The site contains an interesting footbridge
with 'Wanke 1911’ engraved in concrete footings.

Significance

The outbuildings at Warrenwood have high local significance as part of an early farm complex and for
their associations with the pioneer German families who settled Harkaway in the 1850s. The property,
originally known as Hillcroft and owned by Dr. Ernst Gottlob Wanke and later, his son, Immanuel,
contains an old barn possibly built by Peter Wiese; a brick glasshouse associated with Bertha,
Immanuel's wife, a keen gardener; and an old timber dairy once used for cheese making. A bridge
crossing the creek on the property features the engraved family name of Wanke and the date 1911 in
the concrete foundations beneath the granite rubble and timber decking. Collectively these buildings
and structures comprise a rare grouping of farm buildings and warrant further investigation of their

significance,
Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o In the subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to conserving the
significant outbuildings and maintaining a visual relationship between each building in order
to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o  Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage the continuation of use(s) of the premises for purposes which are compatible with
historical uses of the site.

204, City of Berwick Valuer's records. The two houses were described in 1972 as a brick veneer
house and an old weatherboard cottage and miscellaneous buildings; Gazette, 17 April, 1991.
(Article on Timbarra Estate).
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Greenacres

178-188 Hessell Road Harkaway

¥
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History & description

David Avery, chemist, was the first owner about 1933205 of this weatherboard Inter-war bungalow,
which once stood on 90 acres of rich farming land. It was intended at first as a holiday house but the
Avery's decided to make it their permanent home and ran a successful dairy farm there. After they
died, it became the property of their daughter, Dr. March Avery. Dr. Avery had professional rooms in
Collins Street but spent the rest of her time at her Berwick home. In her later years Dr. Avery became
gravely ill and Beryl Exell (nee Wanke), from a neighbouring family, moved in to care for her. Beryl is
descended from Harkaway's pioneer German Lutheran farming families. Her great-grandfather, Dr.
Emst Gottlob Wanke, settled at Harkaway in the 1850s. Members of the Wanke family continued to
live and farm at Harkaway over the next 140 years.206

Dr Avery was an only child, had never married and had no children, and decided to leave Greenacres
and an acre of land to Beryl Exell. Afier her death, she didn't want Beryl to be without a home. Beryl
has lived there ever since.2%7

The house overlooks spectacular views to the north from raised foundations. The broad roof covering
the return verandah creates a dominant form, overshadowing dark stained weatherboard walls and
thick timber posts, and giving the house a Californian Bungalow character. Later extensions in timber
have been added to the side and rear of the building. An outbuilding has been converted as a garage
and accommodation. Established plantings of oaks, elms and poplars surround the house. Greenacres
is set on a rural allotment of around 8.6 hectares.

205. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
206. The Berwick City News, 26 Sept. 1991, p.7.
207. The Berwick City News, 26 Sepl. 1991.
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Signiflcance

Greenacres has high local significance as a good example of an intact Inter-war bungalow built by
chemist David Avery ¢1933 as a holiday house but run for many years as a successful dairy farm. It has
significance as the home of Melbourne doctor, Dr. March Avery, and, more recently of Beryl Exell,
whose great-grandfather, Dr. Ernst Gottlob Wanke, was one of Harkaway's pioneer German Lutheran

settlers.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those paris of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual reiationship between the
plantings and the house and other significant buildings;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.
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Westbourne

315-349 Hessell Road Harkaway

History & description

This property, opposite the historic Harkaway Bell Tower, like a number of others in Hessell Road, was
associated with the Wanke family. It was reputedly the home once of Johann Gottlieb Wanke (1814-
1889), perhaps from as early as 1869.2%% The existing house seems to date from a later period, possibly
the 1890s, and was most probably not the first house on the site. Today, Westbourne, a beautifully
intact weatherboard villa with several additions demonstrates the subtle design differences typical of
Italianate, Edwardian and Federation domestic styles.

The house features two projecting bays in the facade with different roof designs, the older probably
being the hip-roofed wing. Extensions to the rear of the building appear to be relatively recent. The
interior retains intact beaded pine ceiling and walls. Peppercorn trees and a mix of native and exotic
plantings form a garden surrounding the house which is bounded by a crimped wire fence.

The site, part of Crown Allotment 8, was owned in 1856 by the pioneer German settler Dr. Ernst
Gottlob Wanke. He purchased the over 640 acres allotment from the Crown Grantee and early Berwick
run holder, Robert Gardiner.?%” Wanke liked Harkaway so much that he encouraged his brother,
Johann Gottlieb Wanke, to settle there too, with his two sons and daughters.210 This family soon
became part of the German community at Harkaway. A son, Charles, married the daughter of the
Harkaway school teacher, Jacob Hessell.2!! A daughter, Caroline, married Peter Erdmann (1827-
1872), from the Island of Fumen.2!2 Another daughter married August Dubberke, a German seaman,

208, 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School, 1988.

209. Registrar General's Office Searches Nos. 11039 (Jager), 41635 (Immanuel Wanke).
210. 'Historic Homes of Harkaway'.

211, Early Days of Berwick, p.73.

212. Early Days of Berwick, p.73.
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who farmed after arriving in Victoria in 1864. Dubberke carried pigs and calves to Dandenong in a
spring cart, ‘a quaint figure with gold earrings to prevent deafness'.213

Westbourne, later owned by the Griffiths family,24 was sold in April 1970 to Alan Edward and Pearl
Elkington. In 1978 the old house was re-stumped and timber additions carried out costing $16,000. It
was described in 1979 as 'all renovated throughout' but still had an old store and stables which remain
today. More recent owners, Peter and Annette Kirby used the property, now covering 17 acres, for
horse agistment.215 The current owners are Mario and Barbara Bilotho.

Significance

Westbourne has regional significance as a beautifully intact weatherboard Victorian villa developed in
several stages and demonstrating subtle design differences in Edwardian, Italianate and Federation
idioms. It has important historical associations with the pioneer German Wanke family, who played a
major role in the early settlement of Harkaway, one of Victoria's German Lutheran communities.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve the significant outbuildings, including the stables, and maintain a visual relationship
between the outbuildings and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of
these buildings;

= Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

= Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

s Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

e Retain views of significant building(s) and plantings from the street;

213, Early Days of Berwick, p.76.

214, Early Days of Berwick, p.73. ('They sct up house on the present site of Mr. D. T. Griffiths'");
City of Berwick Valuer's records. (Confirms Griffiths as a owner of the property).

215. City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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Edrington
132 High Street Berwick

History & description

The property has a long history and was known formerly as Melville Park. Its first owner was the
pioneer squatter, Captain Robert Gardiner, the earliest and most important pastoral run holder within
Berwick City boundaries.

Born in Scotland about 1815, Gardiner arrived in Tasmania in 1829. Later, his Berwick Run (dating
from 1837), covered the site of the present Berwick township and much of the Berwick and Harkaway
areas 216 In the 1853 land sales Gardiner bought large portions of Berwick including his homestead
block in Crown Allotment 17 (the future site of Edrington), which fronted Cardinia Creek and was on
the Gippsland Road.2!7 Gardiner became a wealthy man and had close associations with the legendary
William J. Turner (‘Big') Clarke 218

In the post-1854 subdivision of the early pastoral leases, Clarke became the owner of Springficld,
which is among the finest homes of early major landholders in the Berwick district.2! Gardiner sold
much of his Berwick lands in 1854 and later moved to the Western District in the 1870s and then to
South Australia.22® Two sons, Melville and Abraham, born in 1850 and 1852 and educated at
Melbourne Grammar School, became South Australian pastoralists, 22!

216. 'Captain Robert Gardiner', Norman E. Beaumont Papers.
217. National Trust File No.4461.

218, Nina Valentine, The House That Wool Built, p.40.

219. Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.

220. 'Captain Robert Gardiner', Norman E. Beaumont Papers.
221. 'Captain Robert Gardiner', Norman E. Beaumont Papers.
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An assessment of the formal garden during this study, describes many of the species as dating from
around the 1880s. Particular specimens of importance include a spectacular multi-stemmed Cedrus
deodara (Deodar Cedar) of probable state significance for aesthetic reasons, and a large Araucaria
bidwillii (Bunya Bunya Pine) of regional significance for its size and contribution to the landscape.
Several trees have been identified as having local significance as relatively rare or good examples of
their type, including: Araucaria cuninghamii (Hoop Pine or Moreton Bay Pine); Pseudotsuga menziesii
(Douglas Fir); Agathis robusta (Queensland Kauri), Macadamia integrifolia (Macadamia) Ulmus
carpinifolia (Smooth Leaved Elm - variegated); Pinus canariensis (Canary Island Pine); Pinus
roxburgii (Long leaved Indian Pine), Cassine crocea (Saffron Cassine); and Quercus canarensis
(Algerian Oak). In addition to these plantings, a group of Pinus canariensis (Canary Island Pine)
situated in a plantation off the highway, reputed to have been planted by James Gibb, is also of local
significance for aesthetic and historic reasons.226

A grand driveway approaches tlie house from the north and terminates at the entrance to the house with
a turning circle. An alternative route circles the rear of the house to provide access to a public carpark
once the farm yard area adjacent to the barn and cottage.

The main house is an externally intact example of a Federation Arts and Crafts mansion, reminiscent of
English country villas in the late nineteenth century and influential in Australian suburban architecture
in the 1920s. It contains a mix of architectural motifs including Queen Anne brick arched porch
openings and bungalow features such as the dominant gable roof, ciad in French terracotta tiles, stucco
and shingled walls and boxed multi-paned windows.

The interior has been altered over the years, but retains most of the Californian cedar woodwork in the
ground floor rooms. The entrance is particularly striking with its exposed wood in the ceiling, rafters,
staircase, architraves and skirting boards. The large arched window off the staircase has coloured
leadlight highlights and overlooks the rear garden. It is possible that this feature window originally
contained gumnut and eucalyptus leaf stained glass motifs as mentioned im a 1985 National Trust
Report.227 The upstairs bathroom retains its Wunderlich embossed metal wall lining.

In 1910 MacKay sold to the grazier Andrew S. Chirnside, who renamed the property Edrington after a
family home in Scotland.228 It then passed to a Chirnside niece arid nephew, Maie Casey and Rupert
Ryan in 1934. Ryan was the member for Flinders between 1940 and 1952 when he died.2%°

Through a subsequent subdivision, Edrington became the home of Lord and Lady Casey, both
distinguished Australians. Casey (1890-1976) enjoyed a life of achievement in government, diplomacy
and administration in the service of both Australia and the United Kingdom, culminating in a life
peerage in 1960, and the office of Governor General of Australia, 1965-1969. His wife, Ethel Marian
Sumner (Maie) Casey, who died in 1983, was notable in her own right.230

Described as ‘an artist and author of incredible intellect'. Lady Casey studied under George Bell, a
Melbourne painter who was a leading figure amongst the first generation of Australian Modernists and
founder of the Contemporary Art Society in 1938. Ellis Rowan, a well-known artist famous for her
botanical watercolours painted at Edrington. Several of her paintings passed on to Lady Casey and are
now held by the Mechanics' Institute Library.23! A watercolour portrait of Lady Casey by Cecil Beaton
is also on display in the library and demonstrates the prominent social scene in which the Caseys were
active.

Edrington now forms part of the Edrington Park Retirement Village, located on 50.2 hectares. The
current owner of the property is Nicholas O'Donohue.

226. P. Lumley, Tree Assessment: City of Berwick Heritage Study, 1993.

227. National Trust of Australia (Victoria) File No.4461.

228, Historic Buildings Council File No.602803F.

229, Historic Buildings Council File No.602803F.

230. Historic Buildings Council File No.602803F. .

231. Millicer, H., 'A brief cultural Review of the City of Berwick', 1990; Dawson, Sarah (ed), The
Penguin Australian Encyclopedia pp.50-51.
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An early brick cottage and stone barn on the Edrington site may date from the Gardiner ownership in
the 1850s and 18605222 The symmetrical house is surrounded by a verandah supported on thick
timber posts. Attached to the eastern wall is a gable roofed weatherboard extension, containing kitchen
and bathroom. The house features six-paned double-hung sashes and stretcher coursing with header
courses every third layer. The barn is a substantial structure composed of irregular sandstone blocks
with tuck-pointed mortar. Two pairs of mezzanine doors are located in the end walls and several small
window openings in the side walls. A red brick skillion extends from the centre of the western wall.

The Melville Park property passed into the hands of James Gibb, local member in the new Federal
Government who, in 1906, sold to Samuel MacKay. Edrington, the Arts and Crafts mansion which
dominates the site today, was built in 1906-7 for MacKay, the West Australian pastoralist and race
horse owner, from the designs of the architectural firm Klingender and Alsop. The latter architect
subsequently designed the T & G buildings in Melbourne and elsewhere in Australia and New Zealand,
and the Hackett Memorial building of the University of Perth.223

Situated on the top of a hill close to the north-east extension of the Berwick main street, Edrington is
surrounded by a plantation of oaks, elms, pines and cypresses, appearing as a distinguished landmark
from a distance. There are two distinct parts to the garden, the formal lawn 4rea to the front of the
house with specimen plantings plus rose gardens, and the domestic garden including orchard and
vegetable patch. Examination of the garden in a 1980 state-wide survey concluded that it dated from
¢1906.224 Details of species contained within the formal garden have been recorded by M. Looker in
1986.225

G

View of garden, Edrington

2122, John & Thurley O'Connor, Pty. Ltd., Edrington, Berwick, Conservation Analysis and Plan,
June 1989,

223, Historic Buildings Council File No.602803F.

224. P. Watts, Historic Gardens Study, 1980.

225. M. Looker, Report - Garden at "Edrington’, Berwick, pp.23.
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Stone stables, Edrington
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Several of the rooms have been refurbished to accommodate its present function as a community centre
for the adjacent Edrington Park Retirement Village. The former servants quarters are now used as
beauty salons and have been remodelled internally. The old kitchen scullery is still easily identifiable
with its hip ceiling, beaded pine boards and cast iron stove with intact white tile surrounds.

Significance

Edrington, an important Arts and Crafts bungalow mansion, has state significance as a prime example
of the innovative designs of the architectural practice of Klingender and Alsop. The 1906 design is one
of the earliest examples of the Vernacular Revival style which was to become popular for suburban
residences over the next twenty years. Internally, features of the entrance foyer, bathroom and old
kitchen are intact and are good examples of the period. The garden, also believed to date from ¢1906,
provides an authentic setting.

The property has historical significance for its associations with the early pastoral history of colonial
Victoria. Its first owner, the squatter Robert Gardiner, was the earliest and most important run holder
within Berwick City boundaries. The remaining brick cottage and stone barn, built in the 1860s or
earlier, dates from the Gardiner ownership. Other notable owners included the pastoralist Samuel
MacKay, who commissioned the construction of the 1906 homestead (then known as Melville Park);
the grazier Andrew S. Chirnside, who renamed the property; and, more recently, Lord and Lady Casey.
The Caseys were both distinguished Australians. Lord Casey earned distinction in the fields of
government, diplomacy and administration, while his wife Lady Casey was a well known author, artist
and aviator.

Several plantings are significant, including a specimen of Cedrus deodara (Deodar Cedar) and
Araucaria bidwillii (Bunya Bunya Pine), of state and regional significance respectively, plus several
trees which are considered to be of local aesthetic, scientific and historic significance.

More recently the property has regional architectural significance because of the extensive renovations
carried out.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the early brick cottage, the stables and the house, which are all
significant;

@ Conserve those parts of the houses which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

@ Maintain a visual relationship between the main house and other significant buildings on the
site, in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

@ Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

@ Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the buildings and the site as a whole;

@ Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Retain views of significant buildings and plantings from the street.
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Springfield Homestead

34 Homestead Road Berwick

History & description

The Springfield Homestead was reputedly built c1855 for William John Turner ('Big') Clarke (18017-
1874) a pastoralist and landowner.23? Clarke acquired the site following the 1850s subdivision of early
pastoral leases in the Berwick district. The house is located on top of a hill and is a simple symmetrical
villa. A concave verandah with concrete floor surrounds the building on three sides with a skillion to
the rear. The roof is slate and internally the ceilings are all lined with beaded pine boards. New
window frames have been installed to the original design.

A three-roomed building containing kitchen and wash-house is located a short distance from the rear of
the house. A double-door wood stove is a feature of the old kitchen.

This property illustrates an important aspect of land use in the Berwick area - the holding of large
blocks of land by wealthy absentee landowners who leased them to local farmers or employed them as
managers.?>> The Berwick estate was only a small part of Clarke's enormous land holdings in Victoria,
Tasmania, South Australia. New South Wales and New Zealand.234

A well-known early tenant and manager of Springfield (or The Springs as it was then known)233 was
farmer and cheese maker Murdoch MacDonald (1835?7-1910), a Scot who arrived in Victoria in about
1853. He was listed as a Berwick grazier in 1868.236

When Clarke died in 1874, his son Sir William Clarke (1831-1897) inherited the property, which
became important as an early dairy farm complex. The new owner was notable for his establishment of

232. Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
233, Norman E. Beaumont, James F. Curran and R. H. Hughes, Early days of Berwick, pp.17-18.
234, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
235, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
236. Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
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model tenant farms, the encouragement of scientific farming and the importation of farm machinery.
In 1875, with MacDonald as manager still, a cheese factory was built which, like the associated
homestead, has survived.237

In 1904 Clarke's Berwick Estate was sold, the homestead portion being purchased by William Wilson
Jor., and renamed Springfield. The remaining 1280 acres went to the Sweeney brothers and Edwin
Greaves previously the tenant or manager.238 In 1924 Springfield was transferred to the Crown and
later became part of the Hallam Valley Settlement Scheme for returned soldiers. An example of this
type of Closer Settlement housing exists at 73 Homestead Road. The land was subdivided into smaller
allotments and the present 25 acre site of the homestead and cheese factory was occupied by C. M.
Hatten. Options to purchase were made to all returned soldiers but Hatten did not take up the offer and
on his death Springfield returned to the Crown. The surrounding farms were all returned to freehold.
The property now 6.79 hectares, is an Historical Interest Reserve under Section 4 of the Crown Land
Reserve Act under the control of the City of Berwick as Committee of Management239 .

Significance

Springfield Homestead, which dates from c1855, has state significance as a notable early homestead
property and, with the associated former cheese factory from 1875, as part of an important early dairy
farm complex. The buildings played an important role in the development of the cheese industry in
Victoria, and provide intact examples of early brick and wood construction techniques.

The Springfield property has early historical associations with William J. T. (‘Big") Clarke, one of
Victoria's leading nineteenth century public figures and an important landholder with extensive estates.
From the 1870s it had associations with his son, Sir William Clarke, who established the cheese factory
there, and was notable for his upgrading -of properties into model tenant farms complete with the latest
technology and equipment.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

.8 Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

o Conserve significant outbuildings and features (eg. well) and maintain a visual relationship
between these elements and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these
buildings; .

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.

237. Australian Dictionary of Biography.
238, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
239, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
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The Old Cheese Factory

34 Homestead Road Berwick

4

History & description
The building now known as The Old Cheese Factory was constructed in 1875 for Sir William Clarke,
owner of the associated Springfield Homestead property. The factory's first manager was the farmer
and cheese maker Murdoch MacDonald (18357-1910), a Scot who arrived in Victoria about 1853 and
was tenant and manager of Springfield from 1865 or earlier.24? Clarke, who inherited the property
from his father in 1874, was notable for his establishment of model tenant farms, the encouragement of
scientific farming and the importation of farm machinery.?*! From 1875 Springfield and the
associated cheese factory played complementary roles as part of an early dairy farm complex. The

former cheese factory appears to have been the most elaborate of a number of such factories built in the
Berwick area in the late nineteenth century.24? It is one of two surviving examples.

The other earlier cheese factory at Beaumont Farm in Beaumont Road, Berwick, is an 1860s double-
storey building. It was constructed for district pioneer farmers, James and Robert Buchanan. The
architect G. Browne designed the factory building, especially for the manufacture of cheese. The
building was constructed of handmade bricks made of local clay, a rare material in the Berwick
region.243 In March 1875 Browne called for tenders for the making and burning of about 75,000 bricks
at Berwick, and later, in August, called for tenders for the erection of 'a kitchen and dairy building' for
Clarke.244 The lower floor of the two storey dairy structure was used for the making of the cheese and
the upper floor for its storage and maturation.?4> Clarke not only funded the erection of the new

240, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.

241, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.

242, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.

243. Wells, J., Mackie, M., Berwick Some Aspects, 1980, p.24.

244, Argus 5 March 1875, p.3; 24 August 1875, p.3.

245, The Old Cheese Factory and Surrounds, A Concise History, City of Berwick, 1985.
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buildings but furnished the dairy with a first class cheese making plant with the latest technology and
equipment.246

The building was designed to maximise insulation and features a cavity brick wall with a nine inch
external wall and an internal wall of half that thickness with galvanised iron wall ties. The pattern of
bricklaying is unusual, possibly copied from a British style.247 The roof is also double-layered for
insulation with hardwood shingles beneath a corrugated iron cladding.2*8 The eaves are supported by
heavy timber brackets which have a decorative effect. At each end of the hip roof a chimney identifies
the position of an upper storey fireplace. An outside staircase has been built into the east wall.,
Windows have been reframed with fixed glass. The carpentry in the upper floor, both floor and ceiling,
provides an excellent example of early truss construction. The building has new concrete footings. A
brick domed well is located in the carpark to the west of the factory. Next to it is an inoperable hand
pump which has been relocated from The Springs. A second well with hand pump is also located at
south-east corner of the factory.

It is not known exactly when cheese-making on the property ceased. However, between 1904 and 1912,
William Wilson Jnr., the new owner, leased Springfield to the Anderson Bros. who trained and raced
ponies. Later, from 1912-1928, the Willmott family leased Springfield, training ponies and running
dairy cattle there. From 1928, when the property was transferred to the Crown, it became part of the
Soldier Settlement Scheme. It is ourrently an Historical Interest Reserve under Section 4 of the Crown
Land Reserve Act under the control of the City of Berwick as a Committee of Management. The Old
Cheese Factory is now run as an art gallery and craft centre,24?

Significance

This solid brick double-storey building constructed in 1875 is largely intact and is of state significance
as an important example of a phase of cheese-making and of model farm development in Victoria. It is
one of two surviving examples of cheese factories in the Berwick district and forms an integral part of
an important early dairy farm complex. Built as a dairy and fitted out specifically for the manufacture
of cheese, the Berwick factory was constructed of handmade bricks produced locally, and a relatively
rare construction material in the Berwick region at that time. The factory has design interest,
employing unusual bricklaying techniques and demonstrating contemporary dairy industry technology.
It is a notable design of the colonial architect George Browne. It is significant, also, for its associations
with the Clarke family and farmer and cheese-maker Murdoch MacDonald.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the original fabric of the building, which is of significance;

o Retain the visual relationship between this building and adjacent buildings associated with the
Springfield property;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Encourage the continuation of use(s) of the premises for purposes which are compatible with
historical uses of the site. '

246. The Old Cheese Factory and Surrounds.

247, National Trust of Australia (Victoria), Berwick Cheese Factory Classification Report, p.3.
248. National Trust of Australia (Victoria), Berwick Cheese Factory Classification Report, p.1.
249, Historic Buildings Council File No.603911E.
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Quorn Cottage

Berwick

26 Inglis Road

History & description

Patrick McMullen, a builder turned farmer, built this timber house as his own home at the turn of the
century. An earlicr house built by McMullen near Buchanan Road had burnt down. The new house is
located in an older part of Berwick on the north side of the township. McMullen, who owned a lot of
land in the Berwick district and at Officer and Gembrook,?3? (McMullens Road at Officer is named
after the family)23! lived with his family at Quorn Cottage for some years. He sold the property during
a period of economic depression. A grandson, Peter McMullen, recently donated an interesting
McMullen headstone to the Berwick Pakenham Historical Society. Carved from Kauri it was taken
from the grave of Elizabeth McMullen, who died at 17 and was buried in Funston's Paddock,2%? behind
the official cemetery.

Joseph Jones, farmer, was a later owner of Quorn Cottage.2* By the 1960s the owners were B. B. and
W. J. Drake of Mansfield. It was described at this time as a 'six-roomed weatherboard house with an
iron roof' 2%* Four years afier Norman E, and Betty Kirkham purchased the farmhouse it was described
as 'ready to be demolished when bought in 1968, but has been renovated and is now in quite good
order'.2%% Additions were probably made at this time.

The house has survived with its original form and subsequent weatherboard additions fairly intact. The
dimensions of the roof form reflect the turn of the century villa design, also indicated by a corbelled
brick chimney. The curved bargeboard with finial on the gabled section is in good condition and may

250. Information supplied by Peter McMullen, grandson.
251. In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.132.

252, Information supplied by Peter McMullen.

253. Information supplied by Sam Warne.

254, City of Berwick Valuer's records.

255. Berwick City News, 23 July, 1992,
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be a replacement. The fenestration also appears to have been altered. These changes make it difficult
to differentiate between the successive stages of building development.

Today, the property retains its established garden setting and is part of a small subdivision of 35
ailotments marketed as the 'Quorn Cottage Prestige Housing Estate’, The allotments were offered for
sale in July 1992.2¢ Quom Cottage is now located on an allotment of 3033 square metres.

Significance

Quorn Cottage has high local significance as a hip-roofed weatherboard farmhouse constructed ¢1200
as his own home by builder turned farmer Patrick McMullen. This Federation villa, with later
additions, is notable for its decorative timber detailing including the curved bargeboards in the gable.

- Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recominended that the following
objectives be given priority in the foture maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

v Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction technicues;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant building on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the building from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the sit¢ as a whole;

» Encourage any ncw development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be ¢learly contemporary in design;

©  Retain views of the significant building and plantings from the street;

@ Encourage the continvation of use(s) of the premises for purposes which are compatible with
historical uses of the site,

156, Berwick City News, 2317/92.
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Grasmere

27 Inglis Road Berwick

History & description

The first owner of this property. district pioneer J. Inglis (sometimes spelled Engles or English), may
have been the earliest storekeeper in Berwick. His store was reputedly built in 1855 or 1856 on his
Berwick land, Allotment 16 in the Parish of Berwick in the vicinity of the township.2%7 An early map
shows the Inglis land,238 the site of Grasmere.

Previously, Inglis had a business at Diggers Rest. It was here that he met the prominent district
pioneer, Hon. James Buchanan, M.L.C. (1827-1914). After Inglis' health failed, and on Buchanan's
advice, Inglis took up the land in Berwick. He called his farm on its large allotment Grasmere, with
memories of England's Lake District 239 The first section of the homestead was built about 1854, using
hand made bricks laid on boulders (a very early type of construction). In 1856 his nephew, George
Washington Robinson, visited him there.20 Robinson, who was both architect and builder, is
associated with some of the district's most notable brick farm homesteads.

Afier some years, Inglis lcft and Grasmere was bought by James Buchanan, who acquired a number of
district properties. It was owned later by Mrs S. A. Greaves, the grand daughter of James and Anne
Buchanan 26!

257 Early Days of Berwick, p.19

258. Township of Berwick. County Mornington, Hoddle. Syd. B33.

259, Early Days of Berwick, p.19; information supplied by Louise Reeve.
260. Early Days of Berwick, p.19; information supplied by Louise Reeve.
261. Information supplied by Louise Reeve.
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Today, Grasmere still has its original 287 acres, except for two acres taken out, the site of Louise
Reeve's property. Louise is a Buchanan descendant 262 The house, however, has undergone some
changes. The oldest 1850s section remains with later 1880s additions. The verandah is a later addition
and the building has been extended, rendered and the roof reclad. A storm at one time blew off the roof
causing damage to internal fabric263 Run as a dairy farm for many years, a number of intact
outbuildings remain including an old 1920s milking shed, pre-1920s stables with handmade bricks
forming the floor, brick creamery and a large well. There are also some 1950s milking sheds. A
Golden Oak on the property appears to be a rare specimen.

Ol dniry shieds; Gramiiese

Significance

Grasmere has high local significance as an example of the dairy farms on large allotments built for
Berwick pioneer families. The farm homestead is built around an early c1856 section made from
handmade bricks laid on boulders and has a number of intact outbuildings including an old 1920s
milking shed, pre-1920s stables, brick creamery and a large well. Grasmere has associations with two
district pioneers, J. Inglis, the namer of the property and its first owner, and the Hon. James Buchanan,
MLC, the second owner. His descendants, the Beaumonts, still own the property.

262. Information supplied by Louise Reeve.
263. Information supplied by Louise Reeve.
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Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the foliowing
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Promote further research on the fabric of the building to identify the sections associated with
the original building or other important stages of development;

e Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the oufbuildings
and the main house in order 10 demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritape characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

= Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and matetials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design,
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Myuna Farm
182 Kidds Road Doveton

History & description

A red brick Craftsman Bungalow with Dutch gabled main roof and dormer windows, which has
survived in industrial Doveton, is located on the site of a dairy farm run at the turn of the century by
Thomas Carroll, the Mayor of Dandenong.26* The existing homestead was constructed for the
McKinnon family, following the sale of the property in 1932. Arch McKinnon, engineer, was later a
Councillor of the Shire of Berwick. He used the property at first as a pig farm and then for
agistment, 263

The farmhouse demonstrates a number of design motifs typical of the Crafisman Bungalow style,
including attic windows, stepped external chimneys piercing the roof, and Mackintosh-style verandah
supports. The upper storey is half-timbered. The windows are all intact six-paned double-hung sashes,
mostly framed in boxes as singles, pairs and triplets. The rendered lintels above windows in the lower
storey are in a deteriorated condition. The verandah has a new timber floor and a concrete path
surrounds the perimeter of the house and diverges at the corner of the pathway.

Located in the rear yard is a large round brick tower, presumably containing a water tank, and a
collection of corrugated iron sheds, a weatherboard shed and a train carriage.

In the post-war years the farm was bought by the Ministry for Housing. The property was subdivided
for housing and a portion retained for development as a community farm. Due to a change in policy in
1984-85, the Ministry for Housing withdrew its support. In 1987 the farm was purchased jointly by the
City of Berwick and the Dandenong Valley Authority. The farm was operated by a manager under the

264, City of Berwick Valuer's records. Further documentation is required.
265. Myuna Community Farm - Development Plan, May 1984.
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guidance of a committes of management elected from the local community. The City of Berwick now
owns the farmland, now covering 11.3 hectares with the wetlands being owned by Melbourne Water.266

The Myuna Farm is imporiant as the only public community farm in the south-east area of Melbourne,
It is a reminder of the district's rural heritage and plays an imporiant educational role in demonstrating
various aspects of farming Jife with its large numbers of farm animals, replica shearing shed, orchard
and vegggble gardens. Frequent visitors are groups of school children, mainly from primary school
classes.

Slgnlﬂcance

MyunaFannhashlgh localmgmﬁcanceasararesmmmrmlhlsuﬂmnareaofaformerfann run at
the turn of the century by Thomas Carroll, the Mayor of Dandenong. The present homiestead was built
for the McKinnon family, who purchased the property in 1932, Arch McKinnon, engineer, and later
Berwick Shire Councillor, ran it first as a pig farm. It has social and educational value as a public
community farm demonstrating the agricultural history of Berwick and the district's rural heritage.
The former farm homestead has architectural significance as a good example of a red brick Craftsman
Bungalow with a3 Dutch gabled main roof, stepped chimneys and attic windows,

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:
o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;
o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;
®  Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;
o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;
o Encourage the continuation of use(s) of the premises for purposes which are compatible with
historical uses of the site;

o In the case of subdivision of the property, particular attention should be paid to the retention of
significant owtbuildings and plantings within the allotment containing the original farm
residence,

266, City of Berwick Valuer's records; Information supplied by Maria Harding,
267. Myuna Community Farmt, City of Berwick, 2 page brochure; The Gazette, 19 Feb, 1992,
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Treverbyn (former Tyrone)

2-12 King Road Harkaway

History & description

Robert Kelly, the son of James Kelly, from Tyrone in Ireland, built the present brown brick house on
the property when he married in the 1880s.268 Robert Kelly's house is listed in the 1889-90 rate
book.26° The property was run as a wheat farm.270 The oldest section of the house is a simple late
Victorian symmetrical villa constructed in exposed brown brick with a slate roof. The front
fenestration has been altered from the original with twin sashed windows. The convex verandah also
appears to be relatively recent and unadorned. Additions to the house extend to the north-west,
creating a U-shaped plan. Other buildings on the site include corrugated iron sheds, a small building
with a terracotta tiled roof and a very old building possibly constructed in wattle and daub with wooden
shingles beneath corrugated iron. The wattle and daub structure may relate to the time when the farm
was worked by Robert's father James, a pioneer Harkaway settler. James purchased Cochrane's
property, 151 acres on the north-east corner of King and Robinson Roads, shortly after the 1853 land
sale. Nothing remains today of the original James Kelly homestead located in the gully near Robinson
Road, although for some years old foundations, an old well and a quince tree marked the site.27!

Later owners, the Richards, renamed the property Treverbyn after a village in Cornwall, the original
home of the Richards family.2’? Treverbyn is now located on approximately 30 hectares.

268. Early Days of Berwick, pp.76-717.

269. Berwick rate books, 1889-90, No. 175.

270. Berwick rate books, 1889-90, No. 175; Harkaway Primary School Project. "Historic Homes of
Harkaway".

271. Early Days of Berwick, p.77; In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.106; Plan of Portions of Land
in the Parish of Berwick, B313, November 1855 (shows Cochrane's property); information
from Max Thomson.

272. City of Berwick Valuer's records; 'Historic Homes of Harkaway'.
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Significance

Treverbyn (the former Tyrone), has high local sigriificance as a brick farm house of the 1880s built at
Harkaway for Robert Kelly, son of the pioneer farmer James Kelly. The site also contains an older
building of wattle and daub construction which may relate to the earlier ownership of James Kelly from

c1853.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following

objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;
Further research the outbuildings that may date from James Kelly's ownership;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintaimarvisual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the propetty;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.
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Kalimna

13-25 King Road Harkaway
; ~p

L
£

History & description

This timber homestead appears to have been built in two distinct parts from the 1880s or earlier,2”> and
later a section from the turn of the century. The earlier section to the rear was once the home of the
Mackie family. The Mackies named the house using the Aboriginal word meaning 'lovely or
beautiful'.274 This section has a pyramidal roof with slightly taller brick chimneys. A verandah facing
east allows spectacular views over Berwick. A skillion and new verandah to the side of this building
contains some of the decorative treatment added recently to the later section of the house.

The main part of the house is generally symmetrical in form, with a projecting gabled section on the
west side. It once had a small tower with wrought iron railings.2’* It retains its Edwardian entrance
with decorative architraves featuring pilasters and highlights. The verandah surrounds the house on all
sides.

Miss Madge Mackie, who died aged 92. at one time received an illuminated address from Harkaway
residents for her dedicated community work.276

By the 1970s the property had become a horse stud farm. During the 1971 sale by A. S. and P. L.
Hawkins, the farm residence was described as a 'late Victorian' house of ten rooms built c1900 with
timber stables (c1941), brick feed room (c1951), and timber sheds of an earlier date. 2”7 An article in
the local press in January 1981 told of the destruction of four stables and two horse boxes in a storm.278

273, 'Historic Homes of Harkaway', Harkaway Primary School Project; Gazette, 30 Oct., 1985,
274, Early Days of Berwick, p.80,

27s. Information supplied by Max Thomson.

276, Early Days of Berwick, p.80.

277. City of Berwick Valuer's records.

278. Pakenham Gatzette, 21 Jan., 1981.
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It retains it rural landscape setting, being located on 12.3 hectares. The present owners are Haydn and
Geraldene Fargas.

Significance

Kalimna has high local significance as a landmark building sited to gain exceptional views of the
surrounding countryside. It was once the home of the Mackies, 2 prominent Harkaway family.
Kalimna was later associated with the Hawkins Kalimna Stud. The building clearly demonstrates two
separate phases of construction and retains important architectural features despite recent alterations.

-~-———-——"" " Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the foture maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques;

Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship betweez the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;:

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the siguificant buildings on the property,

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings fiom overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.
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Wickham (former Ratharnay)
37-39 King Road Harkaway

History & description

Wilhelm "Butter' Meyer, a Swiss settler who ran a district butter-dealing business, was the first owner
in 1854 of this cottage and its smokehouse both built of handmade clay bricks, and known earlier as
Ratharnay. Today the house. known as Wickham, is a gracious villa, symmetrical in form, with a
central entry and verandah on two sides. The multiple additions are in keeping with the scale and
character of the early building and cottage. The driveway with turning circle and the twin posted
verandah facade dates from at least 1899.277 The smokehouse is detached and retains exposed brick
walls with a new Colorbond roof which is believed to replicate the original roof form. Hand made
bricks produced on or near this property are also evident in the garden pathways.280 The lawns and
established cypress, pine and other plantings enhance the historic character of the site.

Meyer ran his business from Ratharnay, using a horse and wagon to transport the butter bought from
local settlers to the more densely populated Dandenong and Melbourne areas.?®! On 4 July 1855,
Meyer married Ernestine Beer, a widow, at the Independent Church in Collins Street. The huge pines
at the front of the property are believed to have been planted by Meyer.282

Jacob Hessell, another prominent early Harkaway resident, became the owner of Ratharnay in 1874283
after Meyer went to the Gembrook area which was just beginning to be opened up. Hessell, a school
teacher, taught at the first Harkaway school, which served as a Lutheran Church on Sundays. After the
new brick State School opened in 1876, Hessell is believed to have run a bearding school at Ratharnay.
It was probably around this time that major extensions were added to the cottage. One of his assistants

279. Information and photographs supplied by the current owner Mrs M. Doherty.
280. The Gazette, Wed, 1 April, 1992,

281. Early Days of Berwick, p.77; Historic Buildings Council File No.8519445,
282, The Gazette, 1 April, 1992,

283, Berwick rate books 1874-75, No.114.

242 « Farms & rural properties Heritage of the City of Berwick



was Edward Vieusseux who was later associated with the Berwick Boys Grammar School?84 (now
Mary Blackwood House). Hessell Road takes its name from Jacob Hessell.

A most distinguished owner of Ratharnay in the 19505, when it had become known as Wickham, was
Sir John Medley, Vice Chancellor of the University of Melbourne 285 Dr, Pesch, a cider manufacturer,
was the owner in the 19605 when the property was renovated both internally and externally.23¢ A later
owner, Michael McQueen, physiotherapist with the Lawn Tennis Association and consultant for
Richmond Football Club, carried out further renovations and made substantial rear extensions in the
1980s. By this time, the old smokehouse was being used as a wine cellar and the weatherbeard coach
house as a garage.287 The garage exists today fairly intact, located towards the southern boundary of

the

property. Today, Wickham is set on.0.56 hectares-and-is-owned by Mary Doherty, ———~— "7~ ™

Significance

The former Ratharnay, built in 1854 for Wilhelm Buiter' Meyer, Swiss seitler who ran a district butter-
dealing business, has regional significance as one of the earliest homestead buildings surviving at
Harkaway, one of Victoria's major German settlerments, Despite alterations and extensive additions at
the rear, Wickham has significance as a vety early brick cottage. The original smokehouse remains
detached and intact apart from roof replacement. Both buildings provide an excellent example of ¢arly
construction techniques in handmade bricks produced from the site. Tt has significance for its
associations with Jacob Hessell, German Lutheran school teacher, who was there in the 1870s, and with
Sir John Medley, Vice-Chancellor of Melbourne University, its owner in the 1950s,

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage siglﬁﬁcar;oe of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

Conserve the fabric of the original section of the housc and smokehouse, which is of
significance;
Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate imporiant successive stages in the

development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of chamging architectural
styles/construction technigues;

Maintain a visual relationship between the smokehouse and the main house in order to
demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property:;

Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole; -

Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design,

I84.
285,
286,
287.

Early Days of Berwick, p.84.

The Gazette, 1 April, 1992.

City of Berwick Valuer's records.

City of Berwick Valuer's records; The Gazette, 1 April, 1992,
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Kilfera

72-92 King Road Harkaway
T |

History & description

Kilfera, a mud and timber cottage. with alterations and additions in the 1890s and 1980s, is an
important early building in the Berwick district. Its earliest section was built about 1856 on land
owned by German Lutheran settlers. John W. Fritzlaff and William Wiese, carpenter/builders 28% An
1855 Surveyor-General's Office map shows their land with its 'good red soil’, 151 acres fronting King
Road, described then as 'Cattle Road to Water' (that is, Cardinia Creek).?%? Fritzlaff Bros. built a
number of Harkaway houses ?%°

The building was used as a post office. run by Mrs Jones in the 1890s, and by later owners from 1946-
1970.291

The oldest part of the house consists of two rooms with walls constructed with a wooden frame and
battens supporting a mud infill (with some concrete indicating later repairs), and a chalky paint wash.
The eastern wall of this early section has been covered with weatherboard and metal sheeting. Two
weatherboard rooms have been attached to the rest of the building, probably dating from about the same
time as the enclosure of the rear verandah. These sections have been altered recently as part of
renovations by the current owners. The house has a picturesque aspect, behind a privet hedge and
bordered to the side by cypress plantings, and is located on approximately 1.3 hectares. Marion
Marshallsea is the current owner.

288, Historic Buildings Council File No.603874Q.
289, Plan of Portions of Land in the Parish of Berwick, Surveyor-General's Office, Melbourne, 26

Nov., 1855,
290, Early Days of Berwick, pp. 70, 80,
291. Historic Buildings Council File No.603874Q.
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Significance

This former honse and later post office has regional significance as an important eariy building in the
Berwick district with associations with the German Lutheran settlement at Harkaway. It is one of the
eatliest remaining Harkaway buildings. Kilfera has associations with Harkaway pioneers John W.
Fritzlaff and William Wiese, carpenter/builders, the first owners in 1856. Despite alterations and
additions in the 1890s and 1980s, it is a rare surviving example of the simple pioneering homesteads
constructed in a vernacular colonial style.

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Congerve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property; ’

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant paris of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design;

o Relain views of significant building(s) and plantings from the street.
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Pine Lodge

146-148 King Road Harkaway

History & description
Two district pioneer families who inter-married, the Hillbrichs from Germany and the Kents from
England, were associated with the early history of this property.2°2 The old timber outbuildings, which
include a former farmhouse and shearers' hut, may date from this early ownership in the 1860s and
1870s. Once part of Robert Gardiner's pastoral run, Patrick Riley was the Crown Grantee for the site in
1856 (487 acres in Section 5 Parish of Berwick fronting on to King Road). He sold the following year
to Henry Engelke. The next owner in 1868 was John G. Hillbrich, another German settler. In 1877,293
following Anthony B. Kent's marriage in 1872 to Merri or Mary, a Hillbrich daughter,?®* Section 5
became Kent's property.2°* During this period the value of the land scarcely altered. Kent took out
title in 1877, mortgaging the property to the Land Credit Bank of Australasia.?’® This may suggest an

intention to build. That is, the remaining former farmhouse may have been the Kent's first home.
Oatlands was built for the Kent's at Narre Warren in 1892.2%7

The oldest buildings at Pine Lodge provide interesting examples of early construction technology. The
timber farm house, which has seven rooms, has beaded pine walls in parts with cedar dado, and fibre-
board walls elsewhere. The walls are mud-filled in the earliest section. There is a covered well and
water tank at the side of the house. The former shearers' hut has beaded pine walls and wooden board
ceiling, although added to later in fibro. The house would have been accommodation for the Kents and
their family of seven children, five sons and two daughters, but is now in a deteriorated condition.

292. Registrar General's Office Search, No. 9220. (Kent)
293. Registrar General's Office Search. No. 9220.

294, In the Wake of the Pack Tracks, p.123.

295. Registrar General's Office Search, No. 9220.

296. Registrar General's Office Search, No. 9220.

297. Berwick rate books, 1891-92, No. 190.
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The Pine Lodge property has been used for farming purposes over a very long period. The Rae family,
district pioneers, reputedly lived there at an early stage.2°®8 Lady Massey-Greene, who was owner from
1941,299 used the property for sheep brought down from her drought-stricken property in the Riverina.
During her ownership, the property was also occupied by J. Telford of Pakenham and a number of other
dairy farmers.3%% The property was sold in 1952 to D. K. Murdoch, 30! who ran it as a sheep farm until
the early 1960s, when the bottom fell out of the sheep market. Pine Lodge then became a share dairy
farm.392 The current owner/occupier, M. L. Ferguson, purchased the property in 1983 and runs a cattle
and dairy farm. Today, Pine Lodge is on only 40 acres. It has a new brick veneer house, an 'aged
timber dwelling', various timber outbuildings and a concrete-lined water storage tank dug in 1906 that
is still in use.303

Significance

The oldest buildings on this property dating from the 1870s or earlier, a former timber farmhouse with
pine and mud-filled walls and a timber shearers' hut, have high local significance as interesting
examples of early building technology. The property, which once covered 467 acres, has historical
significance for its associations with the pioneer district families the Hillbrichs and Kents who inter-
married. It may have been the first home of Anthony B. Kent (1844-1924), who married Mary
Hilibrich,

Conservation guidelines

In order to conserve the heritage significance of this place, it is recommended that the following
objectives be given priority in the future maintenance or development of the property:

o Conserve the fabric of the original section of the house, which is of significance;

e Conserve those parts of the house which demonstrate important successive stages in the
development of the property and/or provide intact evidence of changing architectural
styles/construction techniques. In particular the clay pipe guttering and mud-filled walled
sections of the house are of scientific importance and should be retained.

o Conserve significant outbuildings and maintain a visual relationship between the outbuildings
and the main house in order to demonstrate the historical use of these buildings;

o Conserve significant plantings on the property, and maintain a visual relationship between the
plantings and the significant buildings on the property;

o Prevent development adjacent to significant parts of the buildings from overwhelming the
heritage characteristics of the building and the site as a whole;

o Encourage any new development on the site to relate in form, scale and materials to the
significant parts of the existing built form, but be clearly contemporary in design.

298, 'Historic Homes of Harkaway’, Berwick Primary School Project.
299, Certificate of Title vol. 6487, fol. 1297.

300. ‘Historic Homes of Harkaway'.

301. Titles Office. Transfer No. 2507481.

302. 'Historic Homes of Harkaway'.

303, City of Berwick Valuer's records.
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62-70 Manuka Road Berwick

History & description

This Edwardian brick and timber cottage, originally of four rooms with a cellar under the house,3%4
once formed part of the prestigious Manuka Park Andalusian Stud, the home of this Southern Spanish
breed in Victoria. These horses were renowned for their strength, endurance, intelligence and good
tcmperamenl.3°5 The Manuka Park homestead (now demolished), was built in 1875 for Malwyn
a'Beckett, civil servant, brother of W. A. C. a'Beckett of The Grange. Malwyn married Miss Affra
Robinson, sister of George Washington Robinson, prominent Narre Warren North resident, architect,
builder and surveyor. The couple had three sons and four daughters. Later owners of Manuka Park
were Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Haynes3%® The owner in the 1960s was J. C. Wiggins, company
director.’7 The Andalusian Stud was established in 1976308

By the time of the 1982 auction Manuka Park included the old homestead which had been modemnised.
The house was set in an English style garden with mature trees, shrubs and roses. It included Minard,
a garage, float shed, loose boxes and a large manufacturing shed. A special feature of the Manuka Park
property was a ‘'magnificent manége' used for educating and showing the horses. The 1870s homestead
and Minard were on separate titles, comprising 20 and 30 acres respectively.3

Minard is an intact asymmetrical brick house built c1897-98310 on high footings with external access to
the cellar. There is a generous feature window with side-lights in the projecting gabled section with

304 Auction Brochure, Manuka Park, 20 March 1982.

305. Auction Brochure.

306. In the Wake of Pack Tracks, p.119; Berwick Rate records.

307. City of Berwick Valuer's reco